# CLINICAL EFFICACY OF BIOCELLULOSE WOUND DRESSING CONTAINING SILK SERICIN AND POLYHEXAMETHYLENE BIGUANIDE FOR SPLIT-THICKNESS SKIN GRAFT DONOR SITES



# ับทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR)

เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR)

are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Program in Pharmaceutical Care Department of Pharmacy Practice Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2017 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ประสิทธิศักย์ทางคลินิกของสิ่งตกแต่งแผลใบโอเซลลูโลสผสมเซริซินจากใหมและ โพลีเฮกซะเมธิลีน ใบกัวในค์ในการรักษาบาคแผลที่ถูกตัดผิวหนังบางส่วนเพื่อปลูกถ่าย



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาเภสัชศาสตรคุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาการบริบาลทางเภสัชกรรม ภาควิชาเภสัชกรรมปฏิบัติ คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2560 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	CLINICAL EFFICACY OF BIOCELLULOSE WOUND DRESSING CONTAINING SILK SERICIN AND POLYHEXAMETHYLENE BIGUANIDE FOR SPLIT-THICKNESS SKIN GRAFT DONOR SITES		
Ву	Miss Supamas Napavichayanun		
Field of Study	Pharmaceutical Care		
Thesis Advisor	Professor Pornanong Aramwit, Ph.D.		
Thesis Co-Advisor	Associate Professor Apichai Angspatt, M.D.		

Accepted by the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctoral Degree

> Dean of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences (Assistant Professor Rungpetch Sakulbumrungsil, Ph.D.)

## THESIS COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE Chairman (Associate Professor Thitima Pengsuparp, Ph.D.) \_\_\_\_\_\_Thesis Advisor (Professor Pornanong Aramwit, Ph.D.) \_\_\_\_\_Thesis Co-Advisor (Associate Professor Apichai Angspatt, M.D.) Examiner (Assistant Professor Thitima Wattanavijitkul, Ph.D.) งุพาสงกรณมห Examiner (Assistant Professor Chankit Puttilerpong, Ph.D.) External Examiner (Assistant Professor Sumate Ampawong, Ph.D.) External Examiner (Associate Professor Antonella Motta, Ph.D.)

ศุภมาส นภาวิชยานันท์ : ประสิทธิศักย์ทางคลินิกของสิ่งตกแต่งแผลไบโอเซลลูโลสผสม เซริซินจากไหมและโพลีเฮกซะเมธิลีน ไบกัวในด์ในการรักษาบาดแผลที่ถูกตัดผิวหนัง บางส่วนเพื่อปลูกถ่าย (CLINICAL EFFICACY OF BIOCELLULOSE WOUND DRESSING CONTAINING SILK SERICIN AND POLYHEXAMETHYLENE BIGUANIDE FOR SPLIT-THICKNESS SKIN GRAFT DONOR SITES) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ศ. ภญ. ดร.พรอนงค์ อร่าม วิทย์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: รศ. นพ. อภิชัย อังสพัทธ์, 290 หน้า.

้สิ่งตกแต่งแผลไบโอเซลลโลสประกอบด้วยเซริซินจากไหมซึ่งมีคณสมบัติในการเร่ง กระบวนการหายของบาดแผล และ โพลีเฮกซะเมธิลีน ไบกัวไนด์ เป็นสารฆ่าเชื้อที่มีประสิทธิภาพ และความปลอดภัยในการรักษาบาดแผล ในการศึกษานี้เป็นการศึกษาแบบไปข้างหน้า โดยจับคู่ เปรียบเทียบแบบส่มและปิดบังทางเดียว เพื่อประเมินความปลอดภัยและประสิทธิศักย์ทางคลินิก ของสิ่งตกแต่งแผลไบโอเซลลูโลสผสมเซริซินจากไหมและโพลีเฮกซะเมธิลีน ไบกัว ในด์ เปรียบเทียบกับแผ่นปิดแผลทางการค้า (แบคทิกราส) ในอาสาสมัครสุขภาพดี (การวิจัย ทคลองทางคลินิกขั้นที่ 1) และในการรักษาบาคแผลที่ถูกตัดผิวหนังบางส่วนเพื่อปลูกถ่าย (การวิจัย ทดลองทางกลินิกขั้นที่ 2) โดยมีอาสาสมักรสุขภาพดีทั้งหมด 105 คน เข้าร่วมในการศึกษาวิจัยทาง ้คลินิกขั้นที่ 1 ผลการศึกษาพบว่าค่าความแคงและความคำของผิวหนังที่ปิดด้วยสิ่งตกแต่งแผลไบโอ เซลลูโลสและ แผ่นปีดแผลแบคทิกราส ไม่แตกต่างกันอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ ส่วนการศึกษาประสิทธิ ้ศักย์ทางกลินิกในผู้ป่วย 21 ราย (32 บาคแผล) พบว่าระยะเวลาการหายของบาคแผลที่ปิดด้วยแผ่น ้ ปิดแผลทั้ง 2 ชนิด ไม่แตกต่างกันอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ แต่ก่ากวามแดง ก่ากวามดำ และก่าการสณเสียน้ำ ้จากผิวของแผลที่รักษาด้วยสิ่งตกแต่งแผลไบโอเซลลโลสต่ำกว่า แผ่นปิดแผลแบกทิกราส อย่างมี นัยสำคัญทางสถิติ ไม่พบอาการหรืออาการแสดงของการติดเชื้อที่บาดแผล หรือเหตุการณ์ไม่พึง ประสงก์จากการใช้แผ่นปิดแผลทั้ง 2 ชนิด คะแนนความเจ็บปวดของบาดแผลที่ปิดด้วยสิ่งตกแต่ง แผลใบโอเซลลุโลสต่ำกว่าแผ่นปิดแผลแบคทิกราสอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ ที่ 1 ถึง 5 วัน โดย ้สรุปสิ่งตกแต่งแผลไบโอเซลลูโลสผสมเซริซินจากไหมและโพลีเฮกซะเมธิลีน ไบกัวไนค์มีความ ้ปลอดภัยและมีประโยชน์ต่อการเพิ่มคุณภาพของแผลเป็น ลดความเจ็บปวดของบาดแผล ป้องกัน การติคเชื้อ โดยไม่ก่อให้เกิดเหตุการณ์ไม่พึงประสงค์ เหมาะสำหรับใช้เป็นแผ่นปิดแผลทางเลือกใน การรักษาบาดแผลที่ถูกตัดผิวหนังบางส่วนเพื่อปลูกถ่าย

ภาควิชา	เภสัชกรรมปฏิบัติ	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	การบริบาลทางเภสัชกรรม	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2560	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

# # 5576556033 : MAJOR PHARMACEUTICAL CARE

KEYWORDS: BACTERIAL CELLULOSE / SILK SERICIN / POLYHEXAMETHYLENE BIGUANIDE / PHMB / DRESSING / SPLIT THICKNESS SKIN GRAFT DONOR SITE / EFFICACY / SAFETY

> SUPAMAS NAPAVICHAYANUN: CLINICAL EFFICACY OF BIOCELLULOSE WOUND DRESSING CONTAINING SILK SERICIN AND POLYHEXAMETHYLENE BIGUANIDE FOR SPLIT-THICKNESS SKIN GRAFT DONOR SITES. ADVISOR: PROF. PORNANONG ARAMWIT, Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. APICHAI ANGSPATT, M.D., 290 pp.

A biocellulose wound dressing composed of silk sericin as an accelerative wound healing component and polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) as an antimicrobial agent which showed effective and safe wound treatment. A prospective, single-blinded, randomized controlled matched-pair study was designed to evaluate the safety and the clinical efficacy of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> in healthy volunteers (phase I clinical study) and in split-thickness skin graft (STSG) donor site wound treatment (phase II clinical study). There were 105 healthy volunteers in phase I clinical study. The results showed that the erythema and melanin levels of skin covered with both dressings were not significantly different. In the phase II clinical study, 21 patients with 32 STSG donor site wounds were included in the study. The wound healing time was not significantly different between dressings. The melanin levels, erythema levels, and TEWL levels of the group treated with the biocellulose wound dressing were significantly lower than the control group. No signs of infection and adverse effect were observed in wounds covered with either dressing. The pain scores of wounds covered with the biocellulose wound dressing were significantly lower than Bactigras® at days 1 to 5. In conclusion, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB exhibits safety and many benefits including high scar quality, pain reduction, infection protection without adverse events. It is appropriate for use as an alternative treatment for STSG donor site wounds.

Department:Pharmacy PracticeField of Study:Pharmaceutical CareAcademic Year:2017

Student's Signature	
Advisor's Signature	
Co-Advisor's Signature	

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First, I am really grateful to my advisor, Professor Poranaong Aramwit, Pham. D, Ph. D, Department of Pharmacy pratice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences and my co-advisor, Associate Professor Apichai Angspatt, MD, the Devision of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University for suggestions, supports, and encouragement. Second, I would like to thankful my thesis committees for any comments. Third, I am grateful to Tavornchai Harnsilpong, M.D, and Assistant Professor Dr. Sumate Ampawong, Ph.D for many kindly helps and supports. Fourth, I am appreciated all patients and staffs that participated in this thesis. Fifth, I would like to thankful my family and friends for always supporting me. The last, I gratefully acknowledge financial support from the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program (grant no. PHD/0200/2553) to Supamas Napavichayanun and Pornanong Aramwit, and the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University.

# CONTENTS

Page
THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
CONTENTSvii
List of Tablesxi
List of figuresxii
List of abbreviationsxiv
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background and Rationale1
1.2 Research questions
1.3 Objectives
1.4 Hypotheses
1.5 Conceptual framework
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Skin grafts donor site
2.1.1 STSG donor site assessment
2.1.2 STSG donor site wound management
2.2 Topical STSG donor site dressings
2.3 Biocellulose
2.3.1 Physical and chemical properties of biocellulose
2.3.2 Safety and efficacy of biocellulose
2.4 Wound healing accelerators derived from animals
2.4.1 Chitosan
2.4.1.1 Mechanisms of wound healing
2.4.1.2 Antibacterial effect
2.4.1.3 Biological safety
2.4.2 Collagen
2.4.2.1 Mechanisms of wound healing

2.4.2.2 Biological safety	Page
2.4.3 Honey	29
2.4.3 1 Antibacterial effects	30
2.4.3.2 Anti-inflammation effects	30
2.4.3.3 Biological safety	31
2.4.4 Anabolic steroids	31
2.4.4 All Mechanisms of wound healing	32
2.4.4.2 Piological safety	
2.4.5 Deptides	
2.4.5 Peptides	
2.4.5.2 Dielegieel gefetty	
2.4.5.2 Biological safety	
2.4.6 Proteoglycans $\dots$	
2.4.6.1 Mechanisms of wound healing	
2.4.6.2 Biological safety	
2.4.7 Sericin	
2.4.7.1 Mechanisms of wound healing	
2.4.7.2 Antibacterial effects	
2.4.7.3 Anti-inflammation effect	
2.4.7.4 Moisturizing effect	
2.4.7.5 Biological safety	
2.5 Topical antimicrobial agents and dressing	66
2.5.1 Topical antimicrobial agents	67
2.5.2 Topical antimicrobial dressings	77
2.6 Polyhexamethylene biguanide	
2.6.1 Physical and chemical properties of PHMB	
2.6.2 Safety and efficacy of PHMB	
CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	92
3.1 Study design	92
3.2 Sample and population	

	Page
3.2.1 Target population	92
3.2.2 Sample	92
3.2.3 Sample size calculation	92
3.2.4 Inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria	94
3.3 Random allocation	95
3.4 Wound evaluations	98
3.5 Definitions	99
3.6 Materials	100
3.7 Data collection instruments	101
3.7 Data analysis and statistical evaluations	102
3.8 Ethical considerations	102
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	104
4.1 Phase I clinical study	104
4.2 Phase II clinical study	108
4.2.1 Wound healing time of STSG donor sites	110
4.2.2 Wound quality of STSG donor sites	112
4.2.3 Number of STSG donor sites infection	120
4.2.4 Pain levels of STSG donor sites	121
4.2.5 Adverse events	122
4.2.6 Cost of dressings	123
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	124
Discussion	124
Limitations	133
Conclusions	133
REFERENCES	135
APPENDICES	148
Appendix A	149
Appendix B	150
Appendix C	152

	Page
Appendix D	
Appendix E	
Appendix F	
Appendix G	
Appendix H	
Appendix I	
Appendix J	
Appendix K	
Appendix L	
Appendix M	
VITA	



**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

# **List of Tables**

Page
Table 1 Types of dressings, advantage and disadvantage of the dressings14
Table 2 Clinical studies of biocellulose for wound healing
Table 3 Characteristics of $\alpha$ -Chitin , $\beta$ -Chitin , and $\gamma$ -Chitin
Table 4 In vivo test and clinical studies of topical chitosan treatment
Table 5 Type, properties and limitations of collagen obtained from different sources
Table 6 In vivo test and clinical studies of topical collagen treatment
Table 7 Clinical studies of topical honey treatment
Table 8 In vitro test and in vivo test of topical anabolic steroid treatment
Table 9 In vivo test of peptide treatment
Table 10 In vivo test and clinical studies of topical silk sericin treatment
Table 11 Advantages and disadvantages of animal-derived products in topical    wound application
Table 12 Advantages and disadvantages of topical antimicrobial agents and    dressings
Table 13 Topical antibiotic agents documents
Table 14 Topical antiseptic agents documents 73
Table 15 Advantages and disadvantages of topical antimicrobial wound dressings 78
Table 16 In vivo test and clinical studies of PHMB dressing treatment
Table 17 Demographic data of healthy volunteers  105
Table 18 Adverse events of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericinand PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> by dermatologists' assessment
Table 19 Demographic data of STSG donor site patients
Table 20 Biochemistry test (infection, renal function and hepatic function) ofSTSG donor site patients at day 0 and day 5 after operation

# List of figures

Page
Figure 1 Wound management
Figure 2 Wound location of measurement
Figure 3 Dressings in this study104
Figure 4 Erythema levels of health volunteers' skin covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at visit 1-5
Figure 5 Melanin levels of health volunteers' skin covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at visit 1-5
Figure 6 The skins of healthy volunteer after cover with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> 107
Figure 7 Wound appearance
Figure 8 Wound healing time of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup>
Figure 9 Melanin levels of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing comparing with normal skin
Figure 10 Erythema levels of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing comparing with normal skin
Figure 11 Transepidermal water loss levels of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing comparing with normal skin
Figure 12 Vascularity score of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing

Figure 13 Pigmentation score of STSG donor sites wound treated with	
biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and	
Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing1	.18
Figure 14 Pliability score of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing	19
Figure 15 Height score of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing	19
Figure 16 Vancouver scar scale of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing1	20
Figure 17 Pain score of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras <sup>®</sup> at day 1-5	
after wound healing	21



xiii

# List of abbreviations

ALP	=	Alkaline phosphatase
ALT	=	Alanine aminotransferase
AST	=	Aspartate aminotransferase
BMI	=	Body mass index
BUN	=	Blood urea nitrogen
Cr		Creatinine
ECM		Extracellular matrix
EGF		Epidermal growth factor
DNA		Deoxyribonucleic acid
FGF		Fibroblast growth factor
FTSG		Full-thickness skin graft
GAGs		Glycosaminoglycans
IL	=	Interleukin
IGF-1	จุฬาลงกรถ <del>ม</del> ีมหา	Insulin-like growth factor 1
LDI	CHULALONGKERN	Laser doppler imaging
PDGF	=	Platelet-derived growth factor
PHMB	=	Polyhexamethylene biguanide
PGs	=	Proteoglycans (PGs)
RNA	=	Ribonucleic acid
STSG	=	Split-thickness skin graft
TEWL	=	Transepidermal water loss
TGF	=	Transforming growth factor

TNF	=	Tumor necrosis factor
VAS	=	Visual analogue scale
VVS	=	Vancouver scar scale
WBC	=	White blood cells



## **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Background and Rationale**

A split-thickness skin graft (STSG) donor site wound is a wound that involves the epidermis and some part of the dermis because of skin detachment by instrument [1]. This area is painful, red, and swollen. It usually recovers in around 7-14 days [2]. The healing rate may be slow depending on the wound environment. A good wound environment, clean and with optimal moisture, leads to a short healing time. However, it may take a long time, up to a month, if a poor environment and infection result in a chronic wound. The goals of STSG donor site wound treatment are to accelerate wound healing, prevent infection, reduce pain, and maintain an optimal environment for healing promotion [3]. Dressings with healing acceleration agents and antimicrobial agents are very important in helping to achieve the goals of treatment. They are usually applied to the wound based on exudate level and infection risk [4]. Many dressings have been developed for the treatment of STSG donor sites. Moist wound dressings seem to have more advantages for treatment than non-moist wound dressings [3]. However, they are very expensive, which leads to a lack of their use in Thailand. Moreover, combination of a wound healing acceleration agent and an antimicrobial agent in the dressing has not been developed domestically. In Thailand, wound dressings that can activate collagen synthesis for faster healing are not currently used. The only wound dressings used today are imported at high cost. Therefore, most patients cannot afford the treatment and miss the opportunity to be treated with technologically advanced products. This study will investigate a new choice for STSG donor site wound treatment that could promote wound healing and prevent infection.

Biocellulose is produced by *Acetobacter xylinum* in ripe coconut water which is normally a waste product that is discarded into the environment and result in pollution. It has an ultrafine fibrous structure that can hold a large amount of water, more than 200 times its dry weight [5]. Because of the waterholding capacity of biocellulose, it can retain moisture and is a good environment for wound healing. It has a nanoporous structure that can transfer medication to the wound while maintaining a proper barrier for wound protection. Ultrafine networks of biocellulose are dense so they are barriers for cell migration into material, which leads to pain reduction [6]. Moreover, it has a cooling effect [7] without allergic reaction or irritation [8]. Biocellulose has many advantages for wound healing such as transparency, autolytic debridement, acceleration of reepithelialization, and fewer daily wound dressing changes [5]. Because of many benefits of biocellulose, it is used in many applications including cosmetics and medical devices such as wound treatment dressing material.

Silk sericin is a protein from silk cocoons which can accelerate the proliferation of fibroblast cells and activate collagen synthesis. Collagen is one of the important parts in the wound healing process. It is synthesized from fibroblast cells under the skin. Collagen is migrated into the wound and accelerates wound healing [9]. Silk sericin can promote wound healing and is a biocompatible agent. It can promote smooth treatment for skin defects, increase skin elasticity, and has an anti-aging effect. A previous study showed that it can activate the growth of fibroblast cells and promote collagen production without toxicity [10]. Silk sericin has been shown to reduce wound size without causing inflammation [11, 12]. In humans, silk sericin dressings accelerate wound healing without any sign of irritation [13]. Because of the properties of silk sericin, it is used in many applications including medical and pharmaceutical materials such as lotions, creams, ointments, gels, dressings, and bandages [14].

Infection is an important concern for wound care. It is a cause of delayed wound healing, morbidity, and mortality [15]. Protection from infection is a primary concern from the initiation of wound treatment. The organisms which are found in wounds are both Gram-positive and negative bacteria such as *Staphylococcus aureus*, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [16, 17]. Therefore, topical antimicrobial agents are very important for wound treatment. There are many antimicrobial agents that are used to treat wound infections. However, most have an effect on normal cells that leads to destruction of cells and delayed wound healing. Moreover, antimicrobial agents are usually causes of pain and discomfort. There have been many reports

about microorganism resistance to antimicrobial agents. Due to these limitations, finding other antimicrobial agents for wound care that have high efficacy and fewer adverse effects is of interest. Polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) is a broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent with high efficacy and low toxicity [18]. It is a biocide against aerobic and non-aerobic bacteria. Binding between the negatively charged phosphate head group of bacterial cell wall phospholipids and the cationic group of PHMB interferes with the bacterial cell membrane and leads to cell death [19]. However, this interaction is rarely found in human and animal cells. Moreover, PHMB can reduce biofilm in the wound and promote granulation tissue growth for healing without irritation [20]. It reduces local wound infection more rapidly and better than silver dressings [21]. For skin irritation, concentrations of PHMB more than 5% are harmful in rats [22] and more than 1% are unsafe in humans. However, the general concentration used in wound dressing is around 0.3% PHMB, which is safe for wound treatment [20]. Moreover, no development of bacterial resistance to PHMB has been reported [23].

Therefore, the combination of silk sericin and PHMB in biocellulose dressings would benefit STSG donor site wound treatment, because it can protect the wound from the outer environment, accelerate wound healing, reduce pain, and has an antimicrobial effect.

Our preliminary research investigated the safety and efficacy of biocellulose wound dressings containing silk sericin and PHMB, *in vitro* and *in vivo* [24]. The results showed that the optimal combination of silk sericin and PHMB could promote collagen type I synthesis and have antimicrobial activity. The efficacy of the dressing was compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (0.5% chlorhexidine acetate in white soft paraffin) on full-thickness skin wounds in rats. The wounds treated with the biocellulose dressing showed a significantly greater wound size reduction than those dressed with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>. No inflammation or irritation was shown in rats [24].

Long-term wound healing of donor sites is one cause of chronic wounds and patients may suffer from restricted motion that affects their daily activities. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate the safety of a biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB in healthy volunteers and the clinical efficacy of this dressing for STSG donor site wound treatment compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>, the standard dressing for this type of wound at King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, by monitoring the time required for complete re-epithelialization, wound quality, rate of infection, pain, and adverse events.

## **1.2** Research questions

Phase I clinical study

1. Does the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB irritate or inflame skin more than Bactigras<sup>®</sup> in healthy volunteers?

2. Does the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB induce more adverse events than Bactigras<sup>®</sup> in healthy volunteers?

Phase II clinical study

1. Does the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB show better efficacy than Bactigras<sup>®</sup> for STSG donor site treatment?

2. Can the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB reduce the pain levels compared to Bactigras<sup>®</sup> for STSG donor site treatment?

3. Are there any adverse events using the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB for the treatment of STSG donor sites?

# 1.3 Objectives

Phase I clinical study

1. To investigate the irritation or inflammation of healthy volunteers' skin covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

2. To investigate the adverse events occurring in healthy volunteers' skin covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

# Phase II clinical study

1. To investigate the wound healing time of STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

2. To investigate the wound quality of STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

3. To evaluate the number of infections in STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

4. To assess the pain levels of STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

5. To indicate the adverse events occurring from the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB treatment for STSG donor sites and Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

#### 1.4 Hypotheses

#### Phase I clinical study

1. The irritation or inflammation of healthy volunteers' skin covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB is less than or equal to Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

2. The adverse events occurring in healthy volunteers' skin covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB are less than or equal to Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

Phase II clinical study what has a sala what has

1. The wound healing time of STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB is less than or equal to Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

2. The wound quality of STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB is higher than or equal to Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

3. The number of infection in STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB is not more than Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

4. The pain levels of STSG donor sites treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB is less than or equal to Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

5. There are no significant adverse events occurring from the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB treatment for STSG donor sites and Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

# **1.5 Conceptual framewor**k

Phase I clinical study





**Chulalongkorn University** 

## **CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Skin grafts donor site

Skin grafting is a process used for wound healing treatment since more than 3000 years ago [25]. It is a common procedure for skin reconstruction and usually the first contemplation when primary wound care cannot be practiced or there is insufficient surrounding skin to cover the wound [26]. Grafts are pieces of skin that have been completely detached from their local source and transferred to a wound at another site. The grafts survive on the wound where new vascular connections are created and nutrients are diffused to them [27]. Skin grafts are divided into two types according to their thickness, split-thickness and full-thickness [28]. The sites from which skin is removed are called donor sites. These sites should be treated with proper dressings for wound healing acceleration and infection protection.

1. STSG donor sites

An STSG affects the epidermis and some part of the dermis. Its thickness is around 0.15–0.6 mm [1]. Therefore, the depth of an STSG donor site wound is the same as the graft thickness. Moreover, this type of donor site is closely related to a second-degree burn, so dressings are used as the major treatment device. If appropriate care is received, the wound will recover in 7–14 days [2]. However, there are many factors that have an effect on healing including age, comorbidity, and complications. A donor site wound treated unsuitably may lead to a deeper or infected wound that may result in systemic treatment requirement. Any STSG with a slow healing rate may cause hypertrophic scarring, so wound healing acceleration is most beneficial for the wound healing process [29]. Accordingly, this research will study STSG donor site wounds.

### 2. FTSG donor sites

An FTSG includes the epidermis and dermis but does not cover subcutaneous fat which is a barrier to nutrient supply. Its thickness is more than 0.6 mm [1]. Most donor site wounds are treated with a suture procedure, so there are fewer requirements for dressings.

#### 2.1.1 STSG donor site assessment

STSG donor site was assessed in term of wound healing efficacy, pain score, number of infections and adverse events.

1. Wound healing efficacy

Wound healing efficacy was evaluated in four conditions. First, wound healing was percentage of wound re-epithelialization or closure of more than 95% [30, 31] or 100% [32, 33] by at least two experienced wound specialists assessment [33]. Second, wound healing referred to wound healing time which was the day that the dressing detached by itself with no exudate and no air-contacted pain [13, 34]. Third, wound healing referred to number of wound requiring debridement, skin graft, and secondary excision [35]. The last condition, wound healing was evaluated in term of time of dressing change [36]

2. Pain score

Pain score was assessed using Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) [33, 37, 38] or Johns Hopkins Pain Rating Instrument [31] at 10–15 min before [20, 21, 30, 33, 35], during [20, 30], or 10–15 min after dressing change [20, 21, 33]. Moreover, pain also evaluated in term of frequency of pain medication requirement or number of pain medication doses per day [38].

3. Number of wound infections

Number of wound infections was evaluated in terms of signs of infection (erythema, swelling, malodor, tenderness, cellulitis, or visible purulent discharge [30, 31, 35, 38]), wound swab test [31, 38], WBC and neutrophil counts, and patient's temperature. There were many techniques for wound swab test including Levine technique [21] and sterile cotton-tipped swabs drawn over the wound 10 times in a zigzag pattern [30]. In the previous research, swab test were test every 6 days [32], every week [30, 39] or twice a week [35]. WBC and neutrophil counts were evaluated. The WBC and neutrophil count that were higher than normal range were recorded to be infection wound [40]. Moreover, patient's temperature (more than body temperature) was one of infection signs [41].

4. Adverse reactions

Adverse reactions were assessed in terms of allergic reactions (fivepoint scale was clearly relevant, probably relevant, probably irrelevant, surely irrelevant, and unable to determine.) [32], maceration and redness (four-point scale was none, slight, moderate, and high.) [21], general tolerability score (four-point scale was very good, good, moderate, and poor.) [21], irritation and maceration at periwound skin (0–10 scale) every dressing change [30], and systemic reactions (blood, urine, liver, and kidney function tests) [32].

### 2.1.2 STSG donor site wound management

Donor sites can be practically anywhere in the body. However, donor sites are usually selected in an area under clothing and with similar characteristics to the recipient site. The thigh is the most common area for STSG donor sites [27] among other areas including the scalp, buttock, back, upper arm, forearm and abdominal wall [28]. There are many factors which affect STSG donor site wound healing including the depth, site, and size of the wound, along with the age of the patient and comorbidity [4]. Therefore, appropriate wound management before and after surgery is required. Preparation of the donor site before surgery [27]:

- 1. Clean the area with antibacterial solution.
- 2. Wash off the antibacterial solution with saline and dry the area.
- 3. Apply a sterile lubricant to the area such as mineral oil or K-Y jelly.

The goals of STSG donor site wound treatment are [3, 4]:

- 1. Accelerated wound healing
- 2. Infection prevention
- 3. Pain reduction
- 4. An optimal environment to promote healing

The donor site heals by a process of re-epithelialization. The healing process is composed of three major phases which are inflammation phase, proliferation phase, and regeneration phase. The inflammation phase is around 1–3 days. Wound exudate control and wound sterilization should be carried out. After 4–14 days of injury, the proliferation phase will occur. Fibroblasts migrate

into the wound and collagen is synthesized. Moist wound management with dressings and pain control are important. The last phase is the regeneration phase. It occurs around 14-21 days after injury. Tissue differentiation, wound contraction, and scar formation are the main processes. Importantly, moist wound management will promote wound healing and good scar quality. Topical antimicrobial agents or dressings used as primary dressings are applied onto the wound, based on the exudate level and infection risk after operation. The ideal method of STSG donor site wound treatment is one dressing, which should be applied to the donor site and left in contact until the wound is healed, to avoid damage to the new epithelium [28]. Pain management with adequate pain medication is regularly used. Signs of infection - pain, redness, warmth, swelling, and odor - should be evaluated every day. A wound swab test for microbial culture such as the Levine technique is the other indicator to support infection assessment [42]. Biopsy of tissue from the wound is used to indicate a specific microorganism. Blood culture is used for systemic infections. Blood pressure, heart rate and urine output should be observed. Baseline laboratory results including hematocrit, urinalysis, electrolytes, and chest x-ray should also be followed up. During treatment, patients may have complications such as renal failure, gastrointestinal bleeding, and sepsis so they should be closely monitored for these effects. Long-term treatment should prevent wound contraction and hypertrophic scarring. After healing, emollient agents may reduce itching. Sun block cream is useful for burning protection.

#### 2.2 Topical STSG donor site dressings

Many dressings are available for the treatment of STSG donor site wounds. Moist wound dressings seem to have more advantages than other dressings [3]. Traditional dressings or non-moist wound dressings include mesh gauze and petrolatum gauze. These dressings allow airflow and allow the exudate to dry. They may adhere to the wound surface, lead to pain, and delay wound healing [4]. For high exudate, wounds require covering with secondary absorbent dressings. However, excessive absorbance also leads to dry wounds and delayed wound healing. Ideal STSG donor site dressing properties are [43]:

#### 1. Outer environment and infection protection

A dressing is a barrier to protect the wound from the external environment. A bad environment delays wound healing and may cause a chronic wound. Microorganisms are the major cause of inflammation and failure of the wound healing process. Moreover, uncontrolled mechanical strength from outside is the other cause of wound healing disturbance including cell proliferation, migration, and differentiation. Therefore, the protection property of a dressing preserves a suitable setting for the wound healing process.

2. Non-adherent and safe

In the wound healing process, new cells such as fibroblasts and keratinocytes are generated to close the wound. More than outer environment protection, the dressing should preserve the appropriate inner environment, cells and substances for wound healing. However, an adherent dressing eliminates important cells and factors, leading to non-healing and inflammation. Consequently, a non-adherent dressing will protect the suitable inner environment of the wound. Moreover, safety is the most concerning factor in all materials that are in contact with humans. A dressing that is highly efficient but highly toxic is unacceptable.

#### ิจุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

#### 3. Gas exchange

Insufficient oxygen is a cause of delayed wound healing. Oxygen is an important factor in energy production. This production preserves sources of energy for cell function together with proliferation, migration, differentiation, and angiogenesis [44]. A dressing should allow gas exchange support and balance oxygen and other gases for the wound healing process.

#### 4. Keeping the wound moist

Moist wound dressings have many advantages. They can prevent the drying and deepening of wounds. They minimize risks from mechanical damage. Moreover, they can promote an optimal environment, resulting in rapid wound healing [3]. Therefore, moist wound dressings are suitable for STSG

donor site wound treatment. Voineskos *et al* carried out a systematic review of skin graft donor site dressings, comparing moist wound dressings with nonmoist wound dressings [45]. The majority of studies showed that moist wound dressings had a faster healing rate, less pain, and were less expensive. However, the infection rate was not significantly different. These results agreed with the study of Wiechula about the use of moist wound-healing dressings in the management of STSG donor sites [3]. The number of days taken for wound healing with hydrocolloid dressings was significantly lower than for other moist products. However, pain and infection rate were not significantly different.

5. Non-inhibition of the wound healing process

The ideal dressing should not disturb the wound healing process. Disruption may delay wound healing, leading to a chronic wound.

6. Painless application

Pain is the one of concerning factors because it has an effect on patients' quality of life. It may influence patient compliance or acceptance. Painless application provides a benefit and is a good choice for wound treatment.

7. Ease of application and comfort

These properties are useful for patients and caregivers to improve compliance. They may help to decrease the time taken to change the dressing and decrease the opportunity for wound contamination. Good dressing design is important to ensure these properties.

8. Cost-effectiveness

Cost is the major problem for dressing selection. Because of financial problems, most patients in Thailand cannot be treated with costly dressings despite their having higher benefit than low-cost dressings. A costly dressing may not be highly successful in the market.

Many types of commercial dressing including composition, advantages, and disadvantages are shown in Table 1.

	ershi)O	Closely with	real skin					Closely with	real skin				
	Wound Wound												
ges	absorption Wound exudate												
ntag	<b>ssəlni</b> 64	+		]				+		]			
Adva	Wound healing acceleration	+					vound	+				wound	
	Moist wound Beeping					ctivity	eaned				ctivity	eaned	
	Control gas and water exchange	+		ages	f life	cterial a	te for cl	+		ages	cterial a	te for ci	
	лол-зафстенt			anti	sheli	tibac	pria			anti	tibac	pria	
	Environment Protection	+		Disadv	-Short	-No an	-Appro	+		Disadv	-No an	-Appro	
	Wound type treatments	Full or deep	wound					Thin or	deep	wound			
	Dressing Compositions	Biologic	products from	human or	animal			Biological	products,	synthesis	polymers and	chemical	
	Commercial products	Trancyte <sup>TM</sup>	Integra®	Apligraf®	Alloderm®			Biobrane®	Calcium	alginate	Glucan II®		
	Type of dressings	1. Biological	dressings					2. Biosynthetic	dressings				

Table 1 Types of dressings, advantage and disadvantage of the dressings [46-56]

								Adva	ntag	es		
Type of dressings	Commercial products	Dressing Compositions	Wound type treatments	Environment Protection	латэлайрв-по <mark>М</mark>	Сопtrol дая апd water exchange	bnuow tsioM gaiqəəA	Wound healing acceleration	Painless	absorption Wound exudate	bnuoW Jasment	ershi)O
3. Bacterial	XCell®	Bacterial	-Low to	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-Natural
cellulose	Suprasorb®	cellulose is	moderate									products
	Х	produced by	wound									-Ultrafine
		Acetobacter	exudate									network
		xylinum.	-Partial									structure
			thickness									-Good to be a
			and full									medicine
			thickness									deliver
			mom	Disadv	antag	se						
				-May lo	lo ss	prope	rties and	l diffic	ult to	rehydr	ate whe	n it is dry
				-Should	l keer	o in hu	mid stat	e				
4. Synthetic dress	ings											

	8194JJO	Extend time	of wound	dressing	change (3-5	days)	-	dherence and					
	bnuoW Veunda							ion, a					
s	absorption Wandate	ŧ						lehydrat		pr			
itage	Rainless	+						b bru		mom	u		
Advar	Wound healing acceleration							s to woi		exudate	nacerati		
	Moist wound Moist wound	+						on leads		or no e	n brunov		
	Сопtrol gas and чатет ехсћалде						ges	absorpti		e for low	of peri-v		
	лотэльные пол	+					vanta	xcess	on	uitabl	cause		
	Environment Protection	+					Disad	-The e	infecti	-Not s	-May		
	Wound type treatments	-High	mow	exudate	-Partial	thickness,	full	thickness,	deep wound				
	Dressing Compositions	Hydrophilic	polyurethane	or polyvinyl	alcohol foam	sheets							
	Commercial products	Allevyn <sup>TM</sup>	Biatain®										
	Type of dressings	4.1 Foam	dressings										

	eriərti O	Extend time of	wound	dressing	change (2-7	days)				dherence and					
	bruoW Wound									tion, a					
s	absorption Wound exudate	‡ +								dehydra		pu	ound.		
ntag	Painless	+								pun		WOU	he w		
Adva	Mound healing Briteration									ds to wo		exudate	iy into t	ng	
	bnuow tsioM gaiqəəd	+								tion lea		w or no	t and sta	y dressi	
	Control gas and water exchange								ges	absorpt		e for lo	split out	econdar	
	Juoradherent								vanta	xcess	u	uitabl	may	red s	
	Environment protection	+							Disady	-The e	infecti	-Not s	-Fiber	-Requi	
	Wound type treatments	-High	wound	exudate	-Partial	thickness,	full	thickness	former more	nacp would					
	Dressing Compositions	Sodium	carboxymethyl	cellulose											
	Commercial products	Aquacel®													
	Type of dressings	4.2 Hydrofiber	dressings												

	erəthO	Extend time of	punom	dressing	change (2-7	days)					dherence and			out	
	bnuoW Mound Monnd	+									tion, a			peel it	
es	absorption Wound exudate	‡									dehydra		pu	ficult to	cost
ntag	<b>ssəlni</b> B <sup>T</sup>										pun		WOU	dib b	high
Adva	Bullead buuoW Receleration										ls to wo		exudate	eces an	ng and
	bnuow taioM Briqsəd	+									ion lead		v or no	small pi	y dressi
	Control gas and water exchange	+								Ses	absorpt		for lov	rate to s	condary
	лотэльные поМ									antag	cess	g	itable	sepa	ed se
	Environment protection	+								Disadv	-The ex	infectio	-Not su	-It may	-Requir
	Wound type treatments	-Moderate	to high	wound	exudate	-Partial	thickness	and full	thickness-	puttom	TITIO				
	Dressing Compositions	Calcium	alginate which	is exacted from	seaweed										
	Commercial products	Algisite M	Comfeel®	Kaltostat®											
	Type of dressings	4.3 Alginate	dressings												

	rrərti O	Donate moist to	the wound								
	Wound Mound	+					pg				
ges	atebuxs bauoW Mound to a contro	‡					al wou				
anta	Reinless	+					erfíci				
νpγ	Wound healing Mound healing				date	sing	dns uo				
	burow isioM Briqsad	+++			igh exu	ry dres	in place				
	Сопtrol gas and water exchange			ages	le for h	seconda	o keep				
	Non-adherent	+		vant	uitab	ired	cult t				
	Environment protection			Disad	-Not s	-Requ	-Diffi				
	Wound type treatments	-Low	wound	exudate	-Partial	thickness	and full	thickness-	punom		
	Dressing Compositions	Organic	polymers and	water							
	Commercial products	Flexigel <sup>TM</sup>	Duoderm®	gel	Intrasite gel						
	Type of dressings	4.4 Hydrogels									

	rtənttO	Extend time of	wound dressing	change (2-7	days).	- Water proof	ability		erate wound				
	bruoW Wound	+							in mode				
ages	atebuxa bnuoW Mound to a to	‡							iin day				
vant	Painless	+						]	with				
ΡQ	Wound healing acceleration								changed		63		
	bnnow isioM Brigebing	+							uld be o		er glov(		
	Сопітої дая апі майт ехспалде							ages	ing shot	atment	caregiv		
	Non-adherent	+						vant	Iressi	te tre	y to		
	Environment protection	+						Disad	-The d	exudat	-Stick		
	Wound type treatments	-Low to	moderate	wound	exudate	-Partial	thickness	and full	thickness-	wound			
	Dressing Compositions	Sodium	carboxymethyl	cellulose	(CMC), pectin,	and gelatin							
	Commercial products	Duoderm®	Urgotul®	Tegasorb <sup>TM</sup>									
	Type of dressings	4.5 Hydrocolloi	d dressings										

	srəthO	-Water	resistance ability	-Permit	evaluation of	wound progress	without removal	of dressing				
	bruoW tramabirdab	+										
ges	noitqrosda Moutosda									ıdate		
anta	Painless								1	h ext		
Adv	Wound healing acceleration									e to hig		
	Moist wound Moist wound	+								noderat	skin	essing
	Control gas and water exchange	+							Iges	le for r	lealthy	ptive dr
	лол-адре-по <mark>И</mark>								vanta	suitab	tear h	tipsorj
	Environment Protection	+							Disad	-Not s	-May t	-Non a
	Wound type treatments	-Very low	wound	exudate	-Superficial	wound						
	Dressing Compositions	Transparent	adhesive films									
	Commercial products	Tegaderm <sup>TM</sup>	Opsite <sup>®</sup>									
	Type of dressings	4.6 Film	dressings									
### 2.3 Biocellulose

2.3.1 Physical and chemical properties of biocellulose

Biocellulose is a type of cellulose produced by Acetobacter xylinum, a Gram-negative acetic acid bacterium [57]. It uses oxygen and carbon sources including glucose for biocellulose production in static optimal medium with pH 4-6 [58-60]. Dahman et al found that fructose medium produced the highest biocellulose production, close to that of a sugar mixture medium of glucose, xylose, arabinose, galactose, and mannose [61]. Static biocellulose culture conditions promote more extension fibrils than agitated conditions. Fibrils of biocellulose in static culture accumulate on the medium surface because of high oxygen levels [58]. Biocellulose has the chemical structure  $(C_6H_{10}O_5)_n$ , like plant cellulose [62]. It has an ultrafine network structure of  $\beta$ -1,4 glucan chain bundle microfibrils of around 3-8 nm [63]. Biocellulose exists in Ia and I $\beta$  crystalline forms, with the I $\beta$  form mainly found in plant cellulose [6]. The properties of biocellulose are higher purity, crystallinity (more than 60%), degree of polymerization, and tensile strength than plant cellulose [6, 64, 65]. Because of the nanofiber structure of biocellulose, it can hold a large amount of water, more than 200 times its dry weight, while being high elastic [5]. In addition, biocellulose can contain medication and release it to the target area because of its many nanopores [62, 66]. Therefore, biocellulose is used in many applications including tissue engineering, headphone diaphragms, paper, and wound dressing [67]. However, biocellulose may lose properties and be difficult to rehydrate when it is dry, so it should be kept in a humid state [6]. The advantages and disadvantages of biocellulose compared with other types of dressing are shown in Table 1.

# 2.3.2 Safety and efficacy of biocellulose

Biocellulose has many advantages for wound healing which are transparency, autolytic debridement, acceleration of re-epithelialization, and fewer daily wound dressing changes [5]. Because of the water-holding capacity of biocellulose, it can retain moisture, which is a good environment for wound healing. It can be a barrier to protect the wound, deliver medicine to the wound, and is biocompatible [67]. Moreover, the ultrafine networks of biocellulose are dense so they are barriers for cell migration into the material, which leads to pain reduction [6].

In an *in vivo* study on the biocompatibility of biocellulose, biocellulose was implanted subcutaneously in 21 Wistar rats for 1, 4, and 12 weeks. The results of the study showed no signs of inflammation, foreign body reaction, abnormal cell ingrowth, or abnormal angiogenesis in the biocellulose implantation area. Therefore, it is safe and can be used as a dressing material [68]. Mendes et al. also studied the tissue reaction of subcutaneous biocellulose implantation in mice at 15, 30, 60, and 90 days. They found a mild inflammatory response and few lymphocytes until 30 days of implantation. However, foreign body reaction and penetration of connective tissue into the membrane were not observed at any time [69]. Park et al. studied the safety and efficacy of biocellulose in rats. For the safety test, six rats were implanted with biocellulose in the back and the other six rats were not implanted but had the same incision. They found that no signs of inflammation, laboratory abnormality, or liver or kidney toxicity were observed in the biocellulose group after 28 days. For the efficacy test in 20 rats at 7, 14, and 21 days, each rat was incised with three full-thickness wounds on their back and the wounds were treated with dressings of Vaseline gauze (control group), Algisite M<sup>®</sup> or biocellulose. After 15 days, the wound area in the biocellulose group was significantly less than the Vaseline gauze and Algisite M<sup>®</sup> groups (7.2% vs 33.0% and 14.5%). Neutrophil levels were significantly lower in the biocellulose group than the control group. Therefore, they concluded that biocellulose contributed to wound healing and was not toxic, and could therefore be used as a dressing material [70].

Biocellulose also showed several advantages as a biological dressing and had been suggested for use as a temporary skin substitute in wound treatment [71]. Moreover, biocellulose was suitable for use as a medicinedelivering dressing. Clinical studies about biocellulose for wound healing are shown in Table 2.

Side effects	Leg edema, wound exudates, wound odor, and maceration are not different in both groups.	No adverse reactions were presented in both groups
Outcomes	<ul> <li>- Healing time (&gt;75% re-epithelization of the wound treated with bacterial cellulose group was lower than that of the control group (43 VS 71 days, respectively).</li> <li>- Percentage of wound size reduction of the wound treated with bacterial cellulose group was higher than that of the control group after 6 and 12 weeks (39% VS 19%, 74 VS 49%, respectively).</li> <li>- Pain score of the wound treated with bacterial cellulose was significant lower than that of the control group after 3. 6, and 8 weeks.</li> <li>- Autolytic debridement of bacterial cellulose treated group was significant higher than control group after 3.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pain score of the wound treated with bacterial cellulose was significant lower than that of the control group after day 1, 3, 7, 14, 21, and 28.</li> <li>Score of quality of life of the wound treated with bacterial cellulose was higher than control group.</li> <li>Bacterial reduction of the wound treated with, bacterial cellulose was significantly higher and faster than control group.</li> </ul>
Control treatment	A non- adherent petrolatum emulsion impregnated cellulose acetate gauze plus a two-layer compression bandage	dressing
Study treatment	Bacterial cellulose dressing plus a two- layer compression bandage	Bacterial cellulose dressing containing PHMB
Number of subjects	24 (Sample 12, control 12)	38 (Sample 21, control 17)
Wound type	Chronic venous insufficiency and lower leg ulceration	Critical colonized or locally infected wounds
Study design	Randomized controlled trial [9]	Randomized controlled trial [25]

Table 2 Clinical studies of biocellulose for wound healing

	ide effects	o report	o report	o allergic action or ritation
-	Outcomes	<ul> <li>Pain score of the wound treated with bacterial</li> <li>Cellulose was significant lower than that of the control group.</li> <li>There was no significant difference of healing time between the bacterial cellulose dressing and silver cream group.</li> <li>The bacterial cellulose dressing and solver cream group.</li> <li>The bacterial cellulose dressing and solver cream group.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Complete epithelialization with no drainage N was found 12 wounds (75%) after 24 weeks.</li> <li>Slough in the wound bed at week 24 was less than day 0. (23% VS 62%).</li> <li>The mean percentage of granulation tissue at week 24 was significantly higher than day 0 (77% VS 38%).</li> <li>Pain score of all patients decreased after dressing change.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The wound that was treated with bacterial N cellulose dressing only once healed with full re epithelialization after 2 weeks.</li> <li>Bacterial infection did not found.</li> </ul>
	Control treatment	Silver sulfadiazine cream	1	
	Study treatment	Bacterial cellulose dressing containing PHMB	Bacterial cellulose dressing PHMB	Bacterial cellulose dressing
	Number of subjects	60 (Sample 30, control 30)	16	1
	Wound type	Partial thickness burn patients	Non-healing biofilm wound (no response to standard treatment for 2 weeks)	Face partial thickness burn wound
	Study design	Randomized controlled trial [37]	Uncontrolled before and after study [24]	Case report [10]

#### 2.4 Wound healing accelerators derived from animals

Wound healing accelerators derived from animals, including chitosan, collagen, honey, anabolic steroids, silk sericin, peptides, and proteoglycan were reviewed and compared in terms of their mechanisms of action, advantages, and disadvantages when applied in topical applications [72].

#### 2.4.1 Chitosan

Chitosan is a deacetylated derivative of chitin which is mostly found in the exoskeletons of arthropods including shrimp, crab, and insects [73]. It exists in alpha, beta, and gamma forms; the different characteristics of the three forms are summarized in Table 3. Chitosan is a polysaccharide composed of  $\beta$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4)linked glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine. It has a molecular weight between 50 and 2000 kDa. The physical and chemical properties of chitosan depend on the degree of acetylation and acetyl group distribution [74]. Chitosan is soluble in acidic solution and insoluble in high pH environments because the amine group is deprotonated and loses its charge [75]. Chitosan is biodegradable; that with a low degree of deacetylation or low molecular weight is degraded more rapidly [75]. Chitosan is also biocompatible and has low toxicity. It was reported that the glucosamine units of chitosan are an effective wound healing accelerator [76]. Therefore, various forms of chitosan are widely used for wound healing including powders, gels, films, fibers, and scaffolds. The commercial products of chitosan and its derivatives for wound healing are Tegasorb<sup>®</sup>, Tegaderm<sup>®</sup>, HemCon Bandage<sup>TM</sup>, Chitodin<sup>®</sup>, and Trauma Dex<sup>®</sup> [77].

#### 2.4.1.1 Mechanisms of wound healing

Chitosan promotes wound healing through two major pathways. Firstly, the N-acetyl-D-glucosamine unit of chitosan initiates fibroblast proliferation and collagen production [76]. The positive charge of chitosan has an electrostatic interaction with glycosaminoglycans, leading to growth factor attraction [78]. Secondly, macrophages are activated by N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, leading to phagocytosis and the release of mediators including TGF-β1 and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF). These biological mediators subsequently accelerate extracellular matrix (ECM) synthesis [79]. Moreover, chitosan activates the production of IL-1 which controls fibroblast proliferation and collagen synthesis [80]. It is also reported that chitosan stimulates the release of IL-8 by fibroblasts, which leads to angiogenesis and migration of neutrophils. Therefore, it helps in faster wound healing and scar prevention [77]. Previous studies on chitosan are shown in Table 4.

## 2.4.1.2 Antibacterial effect

The chitosan structure is composed of amine groups (cationic polymers) which can strongly bind to anionic proteins in the cytoplasmic membrane of bacterial cells, leading to an imbalance of the cell membrane and cell death [77]. Moreover, low molecular weight chitosan (less than 5 kDa) can penetrate the bacterial cell wall, combine with DNA, and inhibit mRNA and DNA transcription [81]. Differences in the antibacterial mechanism of chitosan against Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria have been reported. Zheng et al found that the antimicrobial activity of chitosan against Gram-positive bacteria (S. aureus) increases when the molecular weight is increased because high molecular weight chitosan can form an external barrier to block nutritional intake. Nevertheless, the antimicrobial activity of chitosan against Gram-negative bacteria (Escherichia coli) increases when the molecular weight is decreased because low molecular weight chitosan easily enters bacterial cells [82]. Chitosan with a low pH (pH < 6.5) and a low degree of acetylation is also more rapidly absorbed into the bacterial cell wall and chitosan cations are augmented [74], [83].

# 2.4.1.3 Biological safety

The degree of deacetylation of chitosan has no significant influence on keratinocyte and fibroblast cytocompatibility [84]. Chitosan dressing materials including gels, membranes, and sponges were proved to be safe *in vivo* and showed no erythema, irritation, or toxicity [85-87]. The chitosan sponge-treated group had no irritation on rabbit skin, which was comparable to the Vaseline gauze-treated group [85].

## 2.4.2 Collagen

Collagen protein is an important component in the human ECM of skin, bone, and other tissues. It can also be extracted from many kinds of animal including cows, pigs, and marine animals (fish, jellyfish, starfish, and squid). Table 5 shows the types, properties, and limitations of collagen obtained from different sources. The basic structure of collagen is composed of three polypeptide chains formed into a triple helix, and it has a molecular weight around 300 kDa [88]. The amino acid sequence of collagen contains an arginine-glycine-aspartic acid motif, a specific cell adhesion domain which promotes cell growth, differentiation, and activity [89]. Collagen is biocompatible and safe. However, it has a fast rate of biodegradation and low denaturation temperature. Some denatured collagen such as gelatin may lose its wound healing properties in production [90].

# 2.4.2.1 Mechanisms of wound healing

Collagen plays a chemotactic role to attract skin fibroblasts to the wound [91, 92] and supports fibroblast activity to produce granulation tissue. It can cross-link with fibronectin to generate an appropriate surrounding environment for the re-epithelialization process [93]. Moreover, collagen also binds platelets and generates thrombin in hemostasis [94], which is one of the important factors in inducing angiogenesis for the wound healing process [95]. Collagen types I and III are reported as the important factors in the wound healing process.

Normally, native collagen may be destroyed by elevated levels of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), leading to non-healing wounds [96]. Therefore, collagen dressings show a superior property by delivering substitute collagen to the wound and reducing the elastase level in the wound environment [97]. The collagen supports chemotaxis action between fibroblasts and native collagen to promote natural wound healing [90]. Moreover, collagen dressings can absorb wound exudate and provide a moist wound environment [96]. Many collagen studies are shown in Table 6.

# 2.4.2.2 Biological safety

In terms of safety, adverse reactions of collagen to wound tissue are rarely found [98]. A few cases of IgE-mediated reaction of bovine collagen leading to allergic reaction have been reported. Conjunctival edema presented after highly purified bovine collagen contact with the eye during ophthalmic surgery [99, 100]. A bovinederived type I collagen dressing showed development of dermatitis in three out of 20 cases [101]. Collagen dressings may induce overgranulation [102]. In addition, topical collagen products are expensive, so they may not be the best choice of wound dressing.

#### 2.4.3 Honey

Honey is produced from nectar that is stored and transferred by bees to the honeycomb. The enzymes secreted from the bee influence the physical and chemical characteristics of honey. The main constituents of honey are sugar and water. The major sugar components in honey are fructose (38.2%) and glucose (31.3%) [103]. The other components including enzymes, amino acids, organic acids, carotenoids, vitamins, minerals, and aromatic substances [104]. These components vary depending on botanical origin, geographic origin, storage conditions, and temperature [105]. The composition of honey also has an effect on its physical and chemical properties. For example, the water content in various types of honey leads to differentiated viscosity, crystallization, color, flavor, specific gravity, and solubility [104]. Other physical properties also darken the color. Honey has an acidic pH of around 3.2–4.5 [104]. It has a hygroscopic property to absorb water from the environment; because of its water content (18.8%), it can absorb moisture from the environment at humidity levels above 60% [106]. Various types of honey such as manuka honey, fynbos honey, and tualang honey, obtained from different trees or nectar, have been studied for wound treatment. Examples of clinical studies of topical honey treatment are shown in Table 7.

## 2.4.3.1 Antibacterial effects

Honey is reported as a bacteriostatic and bactericidal agent, depending on its concentration. A low concentration of honey (4-8% v/v of honey and 5–11% v/v of manuka honey) showed bacteriostatic properties while a high concentration of honey (5–10% v/v of honey and 8–15% v/v of manuka honey) had bactericidal properties [106]. Honey contains a high concentration of sugar, so it has high osmolality. It draws fluid out of the environment to create an unsuitable environment for the existence of organisms [107]. The low pH of honey (pH 3.2-4.5) creates an inappropriate environment for the growth of microorganisms [106]. Another mechanism of honey for antibacterial activity is hydrogen peroxide production. Hydrogen peroxide is a broad-spectrum antimicrobial molecule that is produced by glucose oxidase enzyme from bees. The hydrogen peroxide produced from bees is not toxic to the cells due to its low concentration, which differs from chemically synthesized hydrogen peroxide [108]. However, the osmolality may not be sufficient when honey is diluted or interacts with the enzyme catalase in wound exudate [109]. Therefore, bee honey may not be suitable for the treatment of high-exudate wounds. On the other hand, manuka honey has a methylglyoxal component as an antimicrobial agent that is unrelated to hydrogen peroxide production [110]. It also shows an antibacterial effect against biofilm and various microorganisms such as MRSA, S. aureus, P. aeruginosa, and E. coli [111]. In addition, honey is reported to reduce wound odor and has debridement activity [107].

# 2.4.3.2 Anti-inflammation effects

An excessive inflammatory reaction can delay the wound healing process. Honey can reduce the extent of inflammation. Honey suppresses activity of protease, an important enzyme in the inflammatory process. The acidic property of honey produces a low pH environment that is not appropriate for protease activity [112]. It increases nitric oxide which plays an important role in angiogenesis and the healing process. It also decreases prostaglandins in blood circulation and reduces inflammation and pain in the wound [113]. Moreover, honey contains antioxidants including flavonoids, phenolics, and vitamin C which interact with reactive oxygen species and reduce cellular damage [108, 114].

# 2.4.3.3 Biological safety

Honey is non-toxic, non-allergic, and non-irritating to wound tissue [115]. However, there are some cautions of use. Patients who have a history of pollen allergy may be allergic to honey. Furthermore, dehydration of tissue may be found in extensive honey treatment. Some patients may be sensitive to the acidity of honey [106]. Moreover, honey for medical treatment has to be sterilized by gamma irradiation to kill bacterial spores [107].

## 2.4.4 Anabolic steroids

Anabolic steroids are steroidal androgenic hormones, usually steroid hormones, obtained from either chemical synthesis or animal parts. Natural anabolic steroids are produced in pigs, boars, horses, and sheep [116]. Among these, pigs are the most common source of anabolic steroids for wound healing, especially porcine placenta and testis. Anabolic steroids are composed of four aromatic base structures, three cyclohexane rings and one cyclopentane ring. There are more than 100 possible substances created following molecular substitution to the ring base. For porcine testis extracts, the steroids with the highest content are 19-nortestosterone (nandrolone) (MW = 274.4 g/mol), testosterone (MW = 288.43 g/mol), and  $17\beta$ -estradiol (MW = 272.39 g/mol) [117]. They are easily soluble in alcohol but hardly soluble in water. Moreover, they have low stability and are easily oxidized [118-120]. Topical anabolic steroids have been used for wound treatment in the form of solutions and creams.

## 2.4.4.1 Mechanisms of wound healing

The activity of anabolic steroids increases net protein preservation in the wound for the new tissue formation process. They have an anticortisol activity which can decrease the catabolic response of cortisol, and decrease protein degradation without altering its antiinflammatory response [121]. They also have a direct effect on insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF-1), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), which play important roles in the activation of cell proliferation, cell migration, collagen synthesis, tissue formation, and angiogenesis [117, 122, 123], leading to wound closure. Examples of studies on topical anabolic steroid treatment are shown in Table 8.

## 2.4.4.2 Biological safety

The number of clinical studies on topical anabolic steroids extracted from animals is very limited because most topical steroids are modified by chemical synthesis. One study assessed the toxicity of cream + porcine testis-extracted steroid in wound healing by counting white blood cells. There was no significant difference in WBC count between the cream + porcine testis-extracted steroid-treated group and the cream without porcine testis-extracted steroid-treated group. No skin rash was found in either group [117]. However, a limitation of using topical anabolic steroids is that the anabolic steroids can enter the blood circulation and cause systemic effects [124].

#### 2.4.5 Peptides

Peptides are biological molecules that are important factors in enzymes, the healing process, and other metabolic functions of living organisms. They are polymers composed of amino acid residues linked with amide bonds (carboxyl group and  $\alpha$ -amino group linking) [125]. The molecular weight of peptides is less than 6000 Da, less than that of proteins [125]. Peptides have low stability and a short half-life, so they are easily degraded. Biotechnology to adjust factors such as pH or temperature can control peptide stability [126]. Peptides can be obtained by chemical synthesis or extracted from natural sources, especially amphibians. Amphibians such as salamanders and frogs have a special wound repair process. They can repair wounds by regeneration, like mammalian fetal skin, and show perfect wound healing. In contrast, the wound repair process in mammalian adult skin is scar formation, which leads to imperfect wound healing. Therefore, amphibian peptides have been extracted and applied for wound treatment. Tylotoin extracted from the salamander (*Tylototriton verrucosus*) is composed of 12 amino acid residues including two cysteines forming an intramolecular disulfide bridge [127]. AH90 is a peptide extracted from frog skin (*Odorrana grahami*). It is composed of 24 amino acid residues [128].

# 2.4.5.1 Mechanisms of wound healing

Peptides provide a function in wound healing. They bind cellsurface integrin, leading to cell adhesion and migration. They also trigger the invasion of fibroblasts or keratinocytes [129]. The transcription factor Prx1 is one of the key factors that activates fibroblasts in amphibian skin wound healing [130]. However, there are many peptides involved in this process. Previous research has investigated peptides extracted from salamander and frog skin as wound healing accelerators. The results showed that topical treatment with tylotoin extracted from salamanders increases proliferation and migration of keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and vascular endothelial cells. It also enhances secretion of TGF- $\beta$ 1 and IL-6, important factors in the wound healing process [127]. Liu et al found that AH90 extracted from frog skin at a concentration of 250 µg/mL significantly accelerates wound healing in mice compared with vehicle. It promotes re-epithelialization and TGF-B1 secretion to the wound, and increases cell adhesion to fibronectin and laminin [128]. In vivo tests are shown in Table 9.

#### 2.4.5.2 Biological safety

The safety evaluation of peptides has not been reported. Further research on the sequence, stability, and physical properties of these peptides is required.

#### 2.4.6 Proteoglycans

Proteoglycans (PGs) are complex extracellular macromolecules consisting of a core protein with one or more covalently attached glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) [131]. The chemical structure of PGs is complex. They are composed of many types of protein such as aggrecan, versican, and GAGs including hyaluronan, chondroitin sulfate, and keratin sulfate [131]. The properties of PGs also depend on their chemical structure. For example, aggrecan, with hyaluronic acid, is a structural component of ECM in cartilage, brain, intervertebral discs, tendons, and corneas [132, 133]. They provide water retention, osmotic pressure, and proper collagen organization to the cell. Small leucine-rich PGs are the most prevalent PGs found in ECM. They regulate cell processes including migration, proliferation, and angiogenesis. Decorin, a class I small leucine-rich PG, has an effect on collagen fibrillogenesis, fibroblast function, and wound healing [132, 133]. A part of cartilage, PG structures are similar to EGF-like module, a factor in the wound healing process [132, 133]. Among various sources of PGs, those extracted from salmon nasal cartilage are widely studied as wound healing agents [134]. Aggrecan with chondroitin sulfate is the major component of PGs extracted from salmon nasal cartilage [135]. Three globular domains and two GAG-attachment domains are provided in its core protein. It is a hydrated and viscous gel because of the attached chondroitin sulfate chains within its domain [136]. Chondroitin 6-sulfate, which has an effect on wound healing, is also found in PGs extracted from salmon nasal cartilage at around 60% compared with 40% in bovine PGs [137]. Therefore, bovine PGs are studied more for joint and other treatments than wound treatment [138, 139].

## 2.4.6.1 Mechanisms of wound healing

PGs bind growth factors, cytokines, enzymes, and ECM components including FGF, IL-8, EGF, and collagen [140], and regulate cell proliferation, migration, and angiogenesis in the tissue repair process and host defense mechanisms [141, 142]. In an *in vitro* test, PGs extracted from salmon nasal cartilage at concentrations of 0.1–10  $\mu$ g/mL could stimulate fibroblast proliferation and migration, leading to wound healing

acceleration. The important mechanism for wound closure was the interaction between chondroitin sulfate in the PGs and the cell surface. This interaction activated the intracellular signaling pathway to promote cell proliferation and migration. Moreover, PGs extracted from salmon nasal cartilage contained core polypeptides such as EGF ligand to stimulate cellular proliferation and migration. However, this effect was reduced when the PG concentration was 10–1,000 µg/mL [134]. Cream containing 1% and 2% PGs extracted from fish cartilage was used to treat second-degree burn wounds in rats. The results showed that the percentage of wound healing in the PG cream-treated group was higher than the cream without PG group after 7, 14, 21, and 28 days. The amount of PG had an effect on wound healing. The cream containing a higher PG content (2%) promoted a higher percentage of wound healing than that with a lower content (1%). Re-epithelialization and neovascularization of the PG cream-treated group were found to be greater than the control. The number of giant cells and macrophages was not significantly different, and continuously decreased after 14 days [143].

## 2.4.6.2 Biological safety

There is no clinical report on the biological safety of using PGs for wound treatment. However, there was no abnormality in rats treated with salmon cartilage powder containing PGs (1,000 mg/kg/day) for 90 days. Moreover, there were no clinical side effects or abnormalities in blood tests in adults who received salmon cartilage powder containing PGs (1,500 mg/kg/day) for 5 days [144].

## 2.4.7 Sericin

Sericin is a protein extracted from silk cocoons of *Bombyx mori*. It contains 18 amino acids. Serine, a moisturizing acid, accounts for around 30% of the total amino acid content [14, 145, 146]. Following serine, aspartic acid and glycine are also found, at around 10–20% [146, 147]. The molecular weight of silk sericin depends on the extraction method. Silk sericin obtained from heat extraction using an autoclave at 120 °C for 60 min has a molecular weight

around 25–150 kDa [147]. Silk sericin is a hydrophilic molecule which is watersoluble. [148]. The secondary structure of silk sericin is composed of two forms, a random coil and a  $\beta$ -sheet. At high temperatures (more than 50 °C), the major form of silk sericin is a random coil which is easily soluble. On the other hand, at lower temperatures, the major form of silk sericin is a  $\beta$ -sheet which has strong hydrogen bonds, making it more difficult to dissolve and which may form a gel upon cooling [14]. Recently, various biological properties of silk sericin have been elucidated such as wound healing, antibacterial effect, and anti-inflammatory properties. It was then introduced for use in medical and pharmaceutical applications in various forms such as lotions, creams, ointments, gels, dressings, and bandages [14]. Sericin has been widely studied as an acceleration agent for wound healing. Examples of clinical studies on topical wound treatment using silk sericin are shown in Table 10.

#### 2.4.7.1 Mechanisms of wound healing

Silk sericin is reported to accelerate proliferation of fibroblast cells and collagen synthesis [9]. Silk sericin from heat extraction using an autoclave at 120 °C for 60 min activated the highest production of type I collagen and showed the lowest toxicity to cells at a concentration range of 8–100  $\mu$ g/mL. Silk sericin from Chul Thai Silk 1/1 (0.2–1.0 mg/mL) can activate growth of L929 mouse fibroblast cells and the production of collagen type I in cell culture medium [10]. It could increase the number of skin fibroblast cells and collagen production to 250% of non-sericin levels after 72 h [149]. Furthermore, it accelerated proliferation of mammalian cells including human epithelial and human hepatoblastoma cells [146]. Moreover, it can increase skin elasticity, and has an anti-aging effect.

# 2.4.7.2 Antibacterial effects

Some research found that silk sericin can inhibit bacterial growth. Fabric coated with silk sericin exacted by ethanol could inhibit *S. aureus* and *E. coli* in a disk diffusion test. Moreover, it decreased these bacteria by more than 80% in a broth test [150]. Silk sericin extracted by an alkali process (0.25% sodium bicarbonate) showed

potent antibacterial activity to *E. coli*. Silk sericin extracted by a water degumming process possessed antibacterial activity to *S. aureus*. It caused membrane dysfunction and disturbed division and growth of both *E. coli* and *S. aureus* [151]. It also decreased colonies of Grampositive bacteria when the sericin concentration was increased [152]. However, some research showed that purified silk sericin extracted by a degumming process without Tris-HCl and alkali does not have an antibacterial effect [153].

## 2.4.7.3 Anti-inflammation effect

Silk sericin decreases the inflammatory reaction by suppressing cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) and nitric oxide genes in the inflammation process. This effect is concentration-dependent [154]. Silk sericin nanoparticles also decrease paw edema induced by carrageenan injection, decreasing the amount of cellular infiltration and the inflammation reaction [155].

# 2.4.7.4 Moisturizing effect

The main amino acid of silk sericin is serine which is a moisturizing acid. Serine can preserve skin moisture by generating a film on the surface of skin [145]. It was reported that 2% silk sericin gel can decrease transepidermal water loss and improve the smoothness of the skin [156].

# 2.4.7.5 Biological safety

Sericin is not toxic to cells [10]. However, it was found that sericin at high concentrations (more than 100  $\mu$ g/mL) may decrease cell availability [147]. When sericin material was implanted subcutaneously in rats, the local effect in terms of the infiltration of inflammatory cells, necrosis, fibrosis, and neovascularization showed that it was a non-irritating material [12, 13].

The advantages (in terms of wound healing promotion, antibacterial and antiinflammation properties, and safety) and disadvantages of these animal-derived products and extracts are demonstrated in Table 11. Because of the high efficacy, high safety level, and few adverse effects of silk sericin, it was incorporated into the biocellulose dressing for this study.



Chitin	Sources	Molecular arrangement	Reactivity for chemical and enzymatic transformation	Thermal degrada- tion	Solubility in common solvent	Chitosan viscosity [160]	Chitosan Molar Mass [160]
α- Chitin	Crab tendons, Shrimp shells, Lobster, Krill, Insect cuticle, Fungal and yeast cell wall	Two antiparallel molecule per unit cell with inter and intra- sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure	+	+	+	ŧ	ŧ
β- Chitin	Squid pens, Pogonophoran tubes, Vestimetiferan worms tubes	One parallel molecule per unit cell with intra but without inter- sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure	‡	ŧ	+	+	+
γ- Chitin	Cocoon fibers of the <i>Ptinus</i> beetle Stomach of <i>Loligo</i> squid	Two antiparallel molecule and one parallel molecule per unit with inter and intra-sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure (like $\alpha$ –Chitin than $\beta$ – Chitin)	‡	‡	+	‡	‡

**Table 3 Characteristics of \alpha-Chitin , \beta-Chitin, and \gamma-Chitin [74, 157] (+, ++, +++ indicate the extent of activity from low to high)** 

	Side effects		No report										
	Outcomes		- Granulation tissue of full thickness layer was	significantly elevated in chitosan-treated wound	after 6, 9 and 15 incision day comparing with	control group.	- Chitosan could accelerate the proliferation of	fibroblasts and the production of type III	collagen.				
Control		group	Bandage	without	chitosan								
	Study group		Chitosan	cotton fiber									
Number	of	subjects	24	wounds	(Sample	12,	control	12)					
	Wound types		Open dorsal	skin wound	of beagles								
	Study		In vivo test	[161]									

Table 4 In vivo test and clinical studies of topical chitosan treatment

	Side effects		No irritation	after 48 hours	in both group							No toxicity in	chitosan-	treated group				
	Outcomes		- Wound area of chitosan-treated group were	lower than the control (0.8 $\pm$ 0.3 VS 1.1 $\pm$ 0.3 cm <sup>2</sup> ,	respectively)							- Wound healing time and wound size of	chitosan-treated group were lower than the	control.	- Granulation tissue formation and	epithelialization of chitosan-treated group were	significant higher than control group.	
Control		dnorg	Vaseline	sterile	gauze							Without	any	treatment				
	Study group		Chitosan-	gelatin	sponge	dressing						Chitosan	hydrogel					
Number	of	subjects	24	wounds	(Sample	12,	control	12)				16	wounds	(Sample	8,	control	8)	
	Wound types		Surgical	wound of	rabbits	(0.3 cm	thickness	from coat to	muscle,	2 cm	diameter)	Full thickness	wound of	mice				
	Study		In vivo test	[87]								In vivo test	[68]					

	Side effects		No report						Chitosan was	non- toxicity to	human	fibroblast cells				
	Outcomes		- Epithelialization rate of the wound treated	with chitosan gel incorporating EGF was	significant higher than that of the EGF gel-	treated group after 14 days.			- Chitosan nanofiber mats showed the faster	wound size reduction than gauze dressing at	first week after tissue damage.					
Control		dnorg	EGF gel						Gauze							
	Study group		Chitosan gel	incorporating	EGF (10	μg/ml)			Chitosan	nanofiber	mats					
Number	of	subjects	24	wounds	(Sample	12,	control	12)	12	wounds	(Sample	6,	control	()		
	Wound types		Second	degree burn	wound of rats				Acute wound	of rats						
	Study		In vivo test	[162]					In vivo test	[163]						

		Number				
Study	DINOM	of	Study group	COLLEG	Outcomes	Side effects
	sadyn	subjects		group		
In vivo test	Burn wounds	30	Chitosan gel	2%	- The treated with high molecular weight	No report
[164]	of rats	wounds	(MW =	fucidin	chitosan (MW = 2,000,000) topical gel showed	
		9)	2,000,000,	ointment	the highest extent of epithelial and granulation	
		wounds	750,000,	(Positive	tissue.	
		in each	70,000)	control),	- The treated with high molecular weight	
		group)		Gei	chitosan (MW = $2,000,000$ ) topical gel had	
				without	fastest wound closure when compared with that	
				chitosan	treated with the low molecular weight chitosan	
				(Negative	(MW = 70,000) gel and gel without chitosan	
				control)		
Randomized	Skin graft	20	Chitosan	Bactigras®	- Chitosan mesh membrane showed positive	No side effect
controlled	donor site	wounds	mesh		effect on the re-epithelialization and	was observed
trial [165]	patients	(half	membrane		regeneration of the granulation layer than the	in both groups
		sample			control.	
		and half			- Pain and itching score in chitosan mesh	
		control)			membrane-treated group were less than control.	

	Cost	+
	Limitations	<ul> <li>Allergic report around 3% [166]</li> <li>Concerning about Bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) or Transmissible spongiform</li> <li>or Transmissible</li> <li>Spongiform</li> <li>encephalopathy (TSE)</li> <li>[104]</li> <li>Forbidden in some</li> <li>culture</li> </ul>
	Denaturation temperature (Td)	37°C
	Antigenicity	+
roperties	Biocom- patibility	‡
P	fibroblast viability	‡
	Cell binding property	‡
	Quality for skin treatment	‡
Most	collagen types	I, II
	Collagen sources	Bovine (Achilles tendon)

Table 5 Type, properties and limitations of collagen obtained from<br/>different sources(+, ++, +++ indicate the extent of activity from low to high)

	Cost	+	‡							
	Limitations	<ul> <li>Integration of porcine collagen into scar tissue [104]</li> <li>Concerning about zoonosis contamination [166, 167]</li> <li>Forbidden in some religion and culture</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cross reactivity among fish gelatin [170]</li> <li>Lower yield obtained (12 g of collagen per1 kg of raw material [166]</li> <li>Low denaturation temperature</li> </ul>							
	Denaturation temperature (Td)	37°C	18-30°C [169]							
	Antigenicity	+	+							
operties	Biocom- patibility	‡	‡							
Ł	fibroblast viability	‡	+++ [168]							
	Cell binding property	‡	‡							
	Quality for skin treatment	‡	‡							
Most	collagen types	I, II	н							
	Collagen sources	Porcine (Skin)	Marine (Bone, skin, fin, scales)							

_			<u> </u>					<u> </u>				
Side	offacte	sinalia	No report					No report				
	Outcomes		- The diabetic wound size of collagen-	treated group was statistically smaller than	control group after 7, 10, 14 days.			- Granulation tissue increased in the wound	after 6 weeks.	- Re-epithelialization was found in the	wound edge after 6 weeks.	
Control		group	Gauze	dressing								
	Study group		Oxidized	regenerated	cellulose/collage	n plus gauze	dressing	Topical collagen	gel			
Number	of	subjects	17	wounds	(Sample	9, control	8)	1 wound				
	Wound types		Diabetic	wounds of	mice			Ulcerative	necrobiosis	lipoidica	diabeticorum	
	Study		In vivo test	[171]				Case report	[172]			

 Table 6 In vivo test and clinical studies of topical collagen treatment

		Number				6110
Study	Wound types	of	Study group	COLLEG	Outcomes	Side
		subjects		group		enects
Case series	Chronic	20	Bovine-derived		- Wound closure was found 15 of 21 cases	Dermatitis
[103]	wounds with	patients	100% native		after 90 days.	3 cases
	-uou	with 21	collagen			
	responding to	wounds				
	other					
	treatments					
A	Chronic	120	Collagen dressing	Conventional	- Percentages of healing of collagen-treated	No report
retrospective	wounds	patients		dressing	group was not significantly higher than	
study		(Sample		(silver	conventional-treated group (87% VS 80%)	
[173]		<b>6</b> 0,		sulfadiazine,	after 8 weeks.	
		control		nadifloxacin,	- Healthy granulation tissue increasing of	
		(0)		povidone	collagen-treated group was faster than	
				iodine, or	conventional-treated group.	
				honey)	- The conventional-treated group	
					significantly required more treatment of	
					partial split thickness skin graft.	

Cido	anic	ellects	No report							No severe	local side	effect in	both	groups			
	Outcomes		- Healing time of collagen-treated group	was shorter than control group (7.75 VS	10.62 days).	- Pain score of collagen-treated group was	less than control group.			- The amount of healing wound of	collagen-treated group was higher than	control group (41% VS 31%, p = 0.079).					
Contucl		group	- Fine-mesh	gauze	dressing	$(Xeroform^{TM})$				Non-adherent	dressing	(Adaptic <sup>®</sup> )					
	Study group		Collagen-based	dressing,	(SkinTemp <sup>TM</sup> )					55% collagen	dressing	(Promagan®)					
Number	of	subjects	8	patients	with 16	wounds	(Sample	8, control	8)	73	patients	(Sample	37,	control	36)		
	Wound types		Donor site	wounds						Venous leg	ulcers						
	Study		Clinical	study [174]						Randomized	controlled	trial [175]					

Cido	anic	ellects	Collagen	was safe	for wound	healing											
	Outcomes		-Incidence of complete closure of FCG	group and GAM501 group were higher	than control (45%, 41% VS 31%)	- After 1 week, wound radius (mm/week)	of both FCG (-0.08 $\pm$ 0.61 to 1.97 $\pm$ 1.77, $p$	< 0.002) and GAM501 (-0.02 ± 0.58 to	$1.46 \pm 1.37$ , $p < 0.002$ ) significantly	increased healing rates comparing before	treatment.	- After 1 week, control group had no	significant effect on change in wound	radius (mm/week) comparing before	treatment $(-0.06 \pm 0.32 \text{ to } 0.78 \pm 1.53,$	<i>p</i> > 0.05).	
Control		group	Moist	dressing													
	Study group		Formulated	Collagen Gel	(FCG) and FCG	with Ad5PDGF-	B (GAM501)										
Number	of	subjects	124	patients	(FCG 33,	GAM501	77,	control	19)								
	Wound types		Chronic	diabetic	neuropathic	foot ulcers											
	Study		Randomized	controlled	trial [176]												

		Number		K		
Study	Wound types	of	Study group	Control	Outcomes	Side
		subjects		group		ellects
Randomized	Pressure	65	Topical collagen	Hydrocolloid	- Percentage of complete healing of	No
controlled	ulcers	patients		dressing	collagen-treated group was not significantly	adverse
trial [100]		(Sample			higher than control group (51% VS 50%)	event in
		35,			after 8 weeks.	both
		control			- Mean healing time of collagen-treated	groups
		30)			group was not significantly higher than	
					control group (5 VS 6 weeks).	
Randomized	Diabetic foot	75	Collagen-alginate	Gauze	- Percentage of complete healing of	Collagen
controlled	ulcers	patients	topical wound	moistened	collagen-treated group was higher than	was safe
trial [177]		(Sample	dressing	with normal	control group (48% VS 36%).	for wound
		: control		saline	- The mean percent reduction of the wound	healing
		ratio 2:1)			area of collagen-treated group was higher	
					than control group (80.6 $\pm$ 6% VS 61.1 $\pm$	
					26%, <i>p</i> > 0.05)	

		Number	1,000	[		
inne	Wound types	of	inoney.	COLLEG	Outcomes	Side effects
design	:	subjects	type	treatment		
Randomized	- Shallow wounds	87	Natural	IntraSite	- Healing times of both groups were not	Itching:
controlled	(deeper ≤2 cm,	(Sample	honey	gel®	significantly different.	Honey 27%,
trial [178]	size $\leq 100 \text{ cm}^2$ )	40,		(amorphous	- Satisfactions of both groups were not	IntraSite gel®
	- Abrasions wound	control		hydrogel	significantly different.	31%
	(size 10 -100 cm <sup>2</sup> )	42,		contain	- Honey was low average cost of treatment per	Pain: Honey
		dropped		propylene	patient than IntraSite® Gel (R0.49 VS R12.03).	10%
		out 5)		glycol)		Short time
						burning:
						Honey 2 case
Randomized	Partial-thickness	100	Natural	Mafenide	- Epithelialization of honey-treated group was	No irritation,
controlled	burns of less than	(Sample	honey	acetate	significantly higher than the control (100% VS	allergy, or
trial [179]	40% of TBSA	50,			84%, respectively, after 21 days).	other side
	(Total body surface	control			-Amount of bacterial reduction of honey-	effects in both
	area)	50)			treated group were higher than control (45 VS	groups
					32, respectively, after 21 days).	

 Table 7 Clinical studies of topical honey treatment

	Side effects		No report								Honey: no	adverse skin	reaction	Povidone-	iodine	dressing: 2	adverse skin	reactions
	Outcomes		- Healing times of honey-treated group were	less than the control (18.16 VS 32.68 days,	respectively).	- Bacterial reduction rate of honey-treated	group was faster than control.	- Percentage of complete healing wounds of	honey-treated group were significantly higher	than the control (81% VS 37%, respectively).	- Percentage of complete healing wounds of	honey-treated group were higher than the	control (31.82% VS 0%, respectively, after 6	weeks).	- Wound surface area and pain score in honey-	treated group were significantly less than the	control group.	
Contuc	COLLIN	group	Silver-	sulfadiazine	(SSD)						Povidone-	iodine	dressing					
Chudu:	innic	group	Natural	honey							Natural	honey						
Number	of	subjects	78	(Sample	37,	control	41)				42	(Sample	22,	control	20)			
	Wound types	!	First and second	degree of burn of	less than 50% of	TBSA					Chronic wounds							
	Study		Randomized	controlled	trial [180]						Randomized	controlled	trial[181]					

		Number	Study	Control		
Wound t	ypes	of	innic		Outcomes	Side effects
	1	subjects	group	group		
Split-thickne	ess skin	100	Natural	Vaseline	- Percentage of complete healing wounds of	No allergic
graft donor s	site	(Sample	honey	gauze	honey-treated group were significantly higher	reaction in
		50,			than the control (100% VS 76%, respectively,	both groups
		control			after 10 days).	
		50)			- No bacterial growth was found in both	
					groups.	
					- Pain in honey-treated group was not	
					significantly less than the control group.	
Neuropathic		63	Manuka	Saline-	- Healing times of honey-treated group were	No report
diabetic foot	ulcers	(Sample	honey	soaked	significantly less than the control group ( $31\pm4$	
		32,		gauze	VS 43±3 days, respectively).	
		control			- Number of patients required antibiotic	
		31)			treatment of honey-treated group was none but	
					that of the control group was 29%.	

						-								
Side effects	No report					No report								
Outcomes	- Proliferation of fibroblast cells cultured in	porcine placental extracts (30 mg/ml) was	significantly higher than control.			- TGF- $\beta 1$ and bFGF levels in wound skin of rat	which was treated with porcine placental extracts	were significantly greater than control at day 5 to	15 after burns.	- Healing time of the wound treated with porcine	placental extracts was significantly less than that	of control group.		
Control group	0.5%	Fetal	bovine	serum	(FBS)	Normal	saline,	No	treatment					
Study group	Porcine	placental	extracts	(30	mg/ml)	Porcine	placental	extracts						
Number of subjects	6	samples				144	wounds	(Sample	72,	control	72)			
Wound types	Fibroblast cells					Diabetic	wounds of rats							
Study	In vitro	test [184]				In vivo	test [184]							

 Table 8 In vitro test and in vivo test of topical anabolic steroid treatment

Study	Wound types	Number of subjects	Study group	Control group	Outcomes	Side effects
In vivo	Full thickness	60 rats	Cream +	Cream	- The healing efficiency in terms of collagen	No skin rash and
test [119]	wound of rats	(Sample	porcine	without	formation and tensile strength of the wound	toxicity in both
		30,	testis-	porcine	treated porcine testis-extracted steroid was higher	groups
		control	extracted	testis-	after 7 days of treatment	
		30)	steroid	extracted		
				steroid		
			ี้ เวิง ปม			

Side effects	No report	TNO TEDOT														
Outcomes	Tonical treatment with trilatain	- торісаг псапцеці міш і логоли	extracted from salamander at	concentration 20 µg/ml accelerated full	thickness wound healing process in mice.	- After 10 days, the wound areas of	tylotoin-treated group were almost	completely closed but the wound areas of	the control group were closed around	74%.	- Tylotoin increased proliferation and	migration of keratinocyte, fibroblast and	vascular endothelial cells.			
Control group	Vahirla	V CITICIC	of extract													
Study group	Tulatain	TIOIOIII	extracted from	salamander at	concentration	20 µg/ml										
Number of subjects	10 +nts (20	02) SIBT UI	wounds)	(Sample 10,	control 10)											
Wound types	Full thickness	L'UIL UIICKLICSS	wound of mice													
Study	Tavino	DAIA UT	test [129]													

 Table 9 In vivo test of peptide treatment

Side effects	No report													
Outcomes	- AH90 ointment significantly increased	percentage of wound closure in rats	comparing with control after 2, 4 and 6	days' post-injury.	- Fibroblast cells and collagen production	of the wound treated with AH90 peptide	were also significantly higher than those	of the control group after 2, 4, and 6	days' post injury.					
Control group	Ointment	without	AH90	peptide	and	without	treatment							
Study group	AH90 ointment	(1 mg raw	extracted and	ultra-filtrated	ointment)									
Number of subjects	48 wounds	(Sample 24,	control 24)											
Wound types	Full thickness	wound of mice												
Study	In vivo	test [185]												
Side effects	No report													
-----------------------	------------------------------------	--	---	--------------------	--	---------------------------------	--	-------------------------------------	--	-------------------------------------	---	--	--------------	--
Outcomes	- Frog skin ointment significantly	increased percentage of wound closure in	rats comparing with control after 4 and 6	days' post-injury.	- Number of inflammatory cells of frog	skin ointment-treated group was	significantly lower than control group	after 2, 4 and 6 days' post-injury.	- Fibroblast cells and collagen production	of the wound treated with frog skin	ointment were significantly higher than	those of the control group after 6 days'	post injury.	
Control group	Ointment	without	peptide	and	without	treatment								
Study group	Lyophilized	frog skin	ointment											
Number of subjects	18 wounds	(Sample 6,	control 12)											
Wound types	Full thickness	wound of mice												
Study	In vivo	test [186]												

Side	effects	No	report								No	toxicity	in both	groups			
	Outcomes	- Silk sericin in all concentration had higher rate of	wound healing than control group.	- High concentration of silk sericin could	accelerate corneal healing better than low	concentration.	- The corneal healing rate constant of rat eyes	instilled 10% silk sericin solution was approximate	12-fold that of rat eyes instilled with saline	solution.	- The percentage of wounds size reduction of silk	sericin cream-treated group was significantly	higher than cream base-treated group after 15 days	but was not significant difference comparing with	povidone iodine-treated group.	- Inflammatory reaction of silk sericin cream were	lower than control group
Control	treatment	Saline	solution								Povidone	iodine	solution and	cream base	without silk	sericin	
	dnorg (punc	Silk sericin	solution at	1%, 5% and	10%						8% silk	sericin cream					
Number of	subjects	3-5	independent	corneas in	each group						18 rats (36	(spunom	(Sample 18,	control 18)			
Wound	types	Corneal	abrasion	of rats							Full	thickness	wound of	rats			
Study	design	In vivo test	[187]								In vivo test	[15]					

Table 10 In vivo test and clinical studies of topical silk sericin treatment

Side	effects	No	report												
Outcomee		- Percentage of wound size reduction of genipin	cross linked silk sericin / PVA scaffolds -treated	group was significantly higher than control group.	-The number of macrophages of genipin cross	linked silk sericin / PVA scaffolds -treated group	was significant lower than control group after 7	days.	- The extent of type III collagen in wounds of	genipin cross linked silk sericin / PVA scaffolds -	treated group was higher than control group.				
Control	group	Genipin cross	linked PVA	scaffolds	without silk	sericin									
Study aroun	dnorg innic	Genipin cross	linked silk	sericin /	polyvinyl	alcohol	(PVA)	scaffolds							
Number of	subjects	24 rats (48	(spunom	(Sample 18,	control 18)										
Wound	types	Full	thickness	wound of	rats										
Stude	innic	In vivo test	[188]												

Side	effects	No	report					No	severe	adverse	reaction	in both	groups	
Outcomes		- Percentage of wound size of the silk sericin	dressing group was significant lower than control	group after 14 days.	- Percentage of type III collagen formation of	genipin cross linked silk sericin / PVA scaffolds -	treated group was higher than control group	- Healing time of the wound treated with 3% silk	sericin was significantly less than that of the	control group (12±5 VS 14±5.2 days,	respectively).	- Pain score of the wound treated with 3% silk	sericin was lower than that of the control group	from day 1-5.
Control	group	Ethyl alcohol-	precipitated	PVA	scaffolds	without silk	sericin	Bactigras®	(chlorhexidine	paraffin gauze	dressing)			
Study group	•	Ethyl	alcohol-	precipitated	silk sericin	/PVA	scaffolds	Ethyl	alcohol-	precipitated	silk sericin	/PVA	scaffolds	
Number of	subjects	24 rats (48	(spunom	(Sample 18,	control 18)			30 patients	(half with	sample and	another side	with	control)	
Wound	types	Full	thickness	wound of	rats			Split-	thickness	skin graft	donor site			
Study	•	In vivo test	[189]					Randomized	controlled	trial [17]				

-	Wound	Number of		Control		Side
	types	subjects	duorg yours	group	Outcomes	effects
ę	Second	29 patients	Silver zinc	Silver zinc	- Healing time of the wound treated with silver	No
_	degree	(Sample 15,	sulfadiazine	sulfadiazine	zinc sulfadiazine cream containing 8% silk sericin	severe
_	burn	control 14)	cream	cream	was significantly less than that of the control group	adverse
	wounds		containing		(22.42±6.33 VS 22.98±9.27 days, respectively).	reaction
			8% silk		- Percentage of wound size reduction of the wound	in both
			sericin		treated with silver zinc sulfadiazine cream	groups
					containing silk sericin -treated group was	
					significantly higher than that of the control group	
					after 14 and 42 days.	
					- Pain score of both groups were not significant	
					difference.	
					- No infection was found in both groups.	

Side	effects	No	systemic	adverse	reaction	in both	groups					
Outcomes		- Healing time of the wound treated with 1% silk	sericin was significantly less than that of the	control group (11±6 VS 14±6 days, respectively).	- Pain score of the wound treated with 1% silk	sericin was significantly lower than that of the	control group from day 1-5.	- Transepidermal water loss index of the wound	treated with 1% silk sericin was lower than that of	the control group after healing days.	- No sign of infection was found in both groups.	
Control	group	Bactigras®										
Study groun	dana S fanna	Bilayered	wound	dressing	containing1%	silk sericin						
Number of	subjects	30 patients	(Split	wound and	treated one	side with	sample and	another side	with	control)		
Wound	types	Split-	thickness	skin graft	donor site							
Study		Randomized	controlled	trial [41]								

Animal-		Adva	ntages		
derived	Wound	Anti-	Anti-		Disadvantages
products	nealing promotion	bacteria	inflammation	Salety	
					- Molecular weight has significant effect on wound healing
Chitocom	-	-		-	properties.
	F	F		-	- Allergy in patients who are allergic to arthropods including shrimp,
					crab, insects, and shell fish
					- Fast degradation rate
Collocan	4			-	- Concerning zoonosis contamination
COLLABOLI	Н			-	- Case report of allergic reaction to bovine collagen
					- Expensive
					- Antibacterial property can be decreased when in contact to wound
Honer	-	-	•	-	exudate except manuka honey.
TIOLOGY	F	F	•	•	- Pain in sensitive nerve ending patients
					- local atopic reaction
Anabolic	-			-	Abaarhad to bland nirmilation landing to matemic side affect
steroids	F			F	- ADSOLDED TO DIOOD CITCHIALION, ICAULING TO SYSTEMIC SIDE CLIECU

Table 11 Advantages and disadvantages of animal-derived produ	ucts in
topical wound application	

 $(+: positive activity, \pm: may have positive or negative activity)$ 

1.1.1. 1.1.1
1.1.3 10.76
Long Link
Librah.
11.11
1121
พยาวอัย
พยาลัย
ทยาลัย
ัทยาลัย
ทยาลัย
ัทยาลัย
ัทยาลัย NIVERSITY

### 2.5 Topical antimicrobial agents and dressing

Wound infection is an important cause of non-healing wounds. The risks of wound infection depend on many factors including wound size or depth, wound environment, cleaning, and the treatment process. Microorganisms including aerobic Gram-positive bacteria, aerobic Gram-negative bacteria, and anaerobic bacteria infect the wound and produce protease enzymes to destroy growth factors and proteins. They consume nutrients and oxygen from the wound. They also stimulate a human immune response to release inflammatory mediators that interfere with fibroblast production and the wound healing process. Infected wounds lead to unexpected pain, malodor, and excessive discharge. Moreover, wound infection may lead to osteomyelitis and sepsis by transfer of the infection from the skin to bone and blood. Bacteria can protect themselves from some antimicrobial agents with bacterial resistance processes including efflux pumps. Finding antimicrobial agents for wound treatment with high efficacy and fewer adverse effects is of great interest.

Topical antimicrobial agents and dressings should have a broad spectrum of action and be able to penetrate the eschar. They should release a high concentration of antibacterial agent at the site of the infection [158]. Using topical antimicrobial agents and dressings has many advantages including the avoidance of systemic toxicity and side effects, and decreased induction of bacterial resistance [159]. However, they have local side effects such as allergic contact dermatitis and lack of depth penetration. Advantages and disadvantages of topical antimicrobial dressings are shown in Table 12.

	Advantages [160-162]		Disadvantages [162-164]
•	Localized antimicrobial agent at the	•	Few topical antimicrobial agents
	site of infection		are effective in randomized clinical
•	Limited amount of antimicrobial		trials
	agent	•	Cannot treat severe or deep wound
•	High concentration at the site of		infections
	infection	•	Difficult to specify dose with
•	Contact directly with microorganism	12	certainty
•	New antimicrobial agents that do not	•	May absorb systemically if applied
	have systemic antimicrobial form		to large wounds
•	Easy to use	•	Affect the healing process
•	Good compliance for patient	•	May irritate or cause
•	Minimize toxicity and reduce multi-	4	hypersensitivity
	drug resistant microorganisms from		
	systemic antimicrobial agents	Par a	
Ide	al topical antimicrobial properties:		

# Table 12 Advantages and disadvantages of topical antimicrobial agents and dressings

l pi

- Broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent • antimicrobial agent
- Rapid action
- CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY Long duration of action •
- Do not induce drug resistance •
- Good distribution •
- Low systemic absorption •
- Safe and biocompatible •
  - 2.5.1 Topical antimicrobial agents

Topical antimicrobial agents for wound treatment have various forms such as creams, ointments, gels, or dressings. They are separated into two groups, antiseptic and antibiotic. Most antibiotics are produced from microorganisms but antiseptics are synthetic agents. They contain bacteriostatic or bactericidal activity. Antiseptics are different from antibiotics because antiseptics can be transported through the lymphatic system to destroy bacteria within the body. However, applying large amounts of topical antimicrobial agents may be toxic, induce acute inflammation, or decrease collagen. Examples of topical antibiotic agents and antiseptic agents are shown in Tables 13 and 14.



Antibiotic		Med-1-	Antibacterial	
agents	Froatcea from	MECHANISH OF ACTOR	activity	TOULLICATION
1. Neomycin	Streptomyces	- Bactericidal	Aerobic gram	- Cannot be against to other gram positive
[198, 199]	fradiae	- Bind to 30s ribosomal	negative bacteria	cocci and less active against anaerobic
		subunit of bacteria to inhibit	and Staphylococci	bacteria
		protein synthesis		- High drug resistance such as Staphylococci,
				Escherichia coli, Proteus and Klebsiella
				- Maybe cause of contact dermatitis or skin
				damage
2. Gentamicin	Micromonospora	- Bactericidal	- Gram negative	- Need to use for 3-4 times per day
[199]	purpurea	- Bind to 30s ribosomal	bacteria including	- Resistance and super-infection developed
		subunit of bacteria to inhibit	Pseudomonas	rapidly
		protein synthesis	aeruginosa	- Cautions when use in burn wound because it
			- Some gram	is rapid absorption associated with ototoxicity
			positive bacteria	and nephrotoxicity
			such as	
			Staphylococci,	
			Streptococci	

Table 13 Topical antibiotic agents' documents

Antibiotic	Durdund from	Madhanian of ortion	Antibacterial	Notification
agents	mon nannor r	INTECTION OF ACTION	activity	TAULITICALIUL
3. Polymyxins	Bacillus	- Bactericidal	Some aerobic gram	- Cannot be against to gram positive bacteria
[195]	polymyxa	- Disturb bacterial membrane	negative bacteria	- Rarely cause of dermatitis
			including	- Increasing level of microorganism
			Pseudomonas	resistance relate to dose
			aeruginosa	
4. Bacitracin	Bacillus subtilis	- Bactericidal	Gram positive	- A few reports about drug resistance and side
[195, 198]		- Interrupt the	bacteria	effects.
		dephosphorylation of		- Low toxicity and inexpensive
		molecule that is component		
		of bacterial cell wall		

Antibiotic agents	Produced from	Mechanism of action	Antibacterial activity	Notification
Mupirocin	Pseudomonas	- Bacteriostatic at low	Gram positive	- Cannot be against to Pseudomonas
[66	fluorescens	concentrations and	bacteria	aeruginosa and Enterococci
		bactericidal at high		- Often used to treat impetigo cause from
		concentrations		Staphylococcus aureus or Staphylococcus
		- Reversible inhibition of		pyrogen and nasal colonization of MRSA
		isoleucyl-tRNA synthesis so		- Less toxicity
		disruption protein and cell		- Cross drug resistance did not occur but it is
		wall synthesis		used for long time may be induced drug
				resistant Staphylococci.
Fusidic acid	Fusidium	- Bacteriostatic	- Gram positive	- May increase the risk of developing
	coccineum	- Binds to elongation factor G	bacteria	antibiotic resistance
		(EF-G) and the ribosome	Staphylococcus	- Some report about drug resistance
		result in inhibiting further	aureus,	
		bacterial protein synthesis	Streptococci,	
			Corynebacteria and	
			Clostridia	

Antibiotic	Produced from	Mechanism of action	Antibacterial	Notification
agents			activity	
7. Mafenide	Synthesized	- Bacteriostatic	- Gram positive	- Cannot be against to MRSA
acetate [200-		- Interrupt to bacterial folic	bacteria including	- Good penetration to eschars
202]		acid metabolism	Clostridrium spp.	- More appropriate for non-facial burns
			- Gram negative	- Side effects such as maculopapular rash,
			bacteria including	contact dermatitis
			Pseudomonas	- Metabolized to a carbonic anhydrase
			species	inhibitor result in metabolic acidosis
				-The large amount of absorption leads
				toxicity such as pulmonary function
		ן הו וא	A A A	

ej Ity 72

Antiseptic agents	Mechanism of action	Antibacterial activity	Notification
1. Hydrogen	- Bactericidal	- Gram positive	- 3% Hydrogen peroxide solution is most often
peroxide [59, 198]	- DNA damage	bacteria	used to clean wound
	- Inactivation of enzyme by	- Gram negative	- Inexpensive
	producing free radical	bacteria	- May be irritate or directly toxic to keratinocyte
			to the skin
2. Chlorhexidine	- Bacteriostatic at low	- Gram positive	- Long duration
[203]	concentrations and bactericidal at	bacteria	- Slow activity
	high concentrations	- Gram negative	- More hypersensitivity and dangerous to the eyes
	- Cationic molecule to negatively	bacteria	and ears
	charged bacterial cell walls		- Very painful
3. Triclosan [198]	- Bacteriostatic at low	- Gram positive	- Report about Escherichia coli resistance
	concentrations and bactericidal at	bacteria	- Concerned about other species resistance in the
	high concentrations	- Gram negative	future because of widespread using of this agent
	- Inhibit of fatty acid synthesis	bacteria	
	lead to damage cell membranes		

Table 14 Topical antiseptic agents' documents

Notification	- Iodine absorption result in renal and thyroid	dysfunction [204]	- Povidone iodine is one form of iodine that less	activity than controversy iodine so it is action by	longer contact to the wound about 2 minutes.	- Povidone iodine is less toxic or irritate to skin	and resistant report has not been documented.	- New form of iodine is cadexomer which is	sustain release and no toxic to tissue					
Antibacterial activity	- Gram positive	bacteria	- Gram negative	bacteria	- Biofilm									
Mechanism of action	- Bactericidal	- Destroy protein, fatty acid and	DNA of microorganism											
Antiseptic agents	4. Iodine (Povidone	iodine) [203]												

Antiseptic agents	Mechanism of action	Antibacterial activity	Notification
5. Silver (Silver	- Bactericidal	- Gram positive	- Short duration (repeated every 4 hours for silver
nitrate, silver	- Destroy cell wall, cell membrane,	bacteria	nitrate, every 12 hours for silver sulfadiazine)
sulfadiazine,	and enzyme	- Gram negative	- Rapidly inactive when contact with discharge of
Nanosilver) [196,	- Block DNA replication	bacteria	the wound
204]	- Interrupt bacterial respiration and	- Biofilm	- Cytotoxic to host cells in vitro
	adenosine triphosphate synthesis		- Side effect such as neutropenia, leukopenia,
			pseudoeschar, yellow-gray skin, and irritation
			- Sustain release silver such as nanosilver
			decreases frequency of using and has fewer side
			effects.
			- Hyponatremia and hypochloremia may be found
			when is used in large wound [49].
			- Silver resistance shows in some report such as
			Escherichia coli, Enterobacter cloacae,
			Klebsiella pneumoniae, Acinetobacter
			baumannii, Salmonella typhimurium and
			Pseudomonas stutzeri [205]

Antiseptic agents	Mechanism of action	Antibacterial activity	Notification
6. Polyhexamethylene	- Bacteriostatic at low	- Gram positive	- Should cover at the wound at least 5-15 minutes
biguanide (PHMB)	concentrations and bactericidal at	bacteria	- Safety and biocompatibility to skin
[193]	high concentrations	- Gram negative	- May not be suitable for treatment cartilage and
	- Binding between negative	bacteria	central nervous system because of
	charged phosphate head group of		incompatibility and toxicity
	bacteria cell wall and cationic		- No report of resistance
	group of PHMB		
	- Promoting interaction of		
	hexamethylene spacer groups with		
	hydrophobic interior of the		
	membrane bilayer causing		
	membrane fluidity and		
	permeability interfering and cell		
	death		

# 2.5.2 Topical antimicrobial dressings

Size, depth, patient sensitivity, allergy, and the amount of exudate are important factors to be considered in selecting the appropriate dressing for a wound [42]. Advantages and disadvantages of topical antimicrobial wound dressings are shown in Table 15. Because of the high efficacy, high safety level, and few adverse effects of PHMB, it was incorporated with silk sericin into the biocellulose dressing for this study.



Antimicrobial			
punom	Components	Advantages	Disadvantages
dressings			
1. Silver dres	sing		
1.1 Acticoat <sup>TM</sup>	- Silver nanoparticle	- A broad spectrum antibacterial	- Cannot absorb wound exudate (inappropriate to
	coated polyethylene	- Long acting (reduce wound	high exudate)
	mesh	dressing change) [206]	- Need secondary dressing
			- Painful
			- High cost
			- Report adverse effects: re-epithelialization
			impairment, bone marrow toxicity, leukopenia,
			and color of the wound changing
			- Bacterial resistance report [206]

Table 15 Advantages and disadvantages of topical antimicrobial wound dressings

_										· · · ·							
	Disadvantages		- The excess absorption leads to wound	dehydration	- High cost	- Report adverse effects: re-epithelialization	impairment, bone marrow toxicity, leukopenia,	and color of the wound changing	- Bacterial resistance report [206]	- High cost	- Report adverse effects: re-epithelialization	impairment, bone marrow toxicity, leukopenia,	and color of the wound changing	- Bacterial resistance report [206]			
	Advantages		- For moderate to high exudate	- A broad spectrum antimicrobial	<ul> <li>Prolong using to 7 days</li> </ul>	- Easy for application and	conformability [34]			- For low exudate wound	- A broad spectrum antimicrobial	- Non-adherence, easy for	removal [44, 207]				
,	Components		<ul> <li>Hydrofiber wound</li> </ul>	dressing containing	silver ion					- Polymer mesh	impregnated with	carboxymethyl	cellulose, petroleum	jelly and silver	sulfadiazine		
Antimicrobial	punom	dressings	1.2 Aquacel <sup>®</sup> Ag							1.3 Urgotul®	SSD						

Antimicrobial			
wound	Components	Advantages	Disadvantages
dressings			
2. Chlorhexid	ine dressing		
2.1 Bactigras®	- Gauze of leno	- Both bacteriostatic and	- Low antibacterial activity for Pseudomonas
	weave	bactericidal	aeruginosa [209, 210]
	impregnated with	- A broad spectrum antimicrobial	- Could not exhibit bactericidal activity more than
	a chlorhexidine	[208]	a 4 log reduction of Escherichia coli [210]
	acetate 0.5% in	- Low cost	- Does not have moist wound keeping property
	white soft		- Cannot absorb wound exudate
	paraffin		- Painful
<ol><li>Polyhexam</li></ol>	lethylene biguanide dress	ing	
3.1 Suprasorb	- PHMB-	- A broad spectrum antimicrobial	- May not be suitable for treatment cartilage and
X+PHMB	containing	- Biocompatibility with human cell	central nervous system because of incompatibility
bacterial	bacterial cellulose	- Low adsorption	and toxicity
cellulose	dressing (0.3%	- No known of bacterial resistance	
	PHMB)	- Good clinical tolerability	
		- Low risk of contact sensitization	

Antimicrobial			
punom	Components	Advantages	Disadvantages
dressings			
3.2 Excilon <sup>TM</sup>	- Sponges	- A broad spectrum antimicrobial	- The excess absorption leads to wound
AMD sponge	impregnated with	- Biocompatibility with human	dehydration
	<b>PHMB</b> (0.2%	cell	- May not be suitable for treatment cartilage and
	PHMB)	- High adsorption	central nervous system because of
		- No known of bacterial	incompatibility and toxicity
		resistance	
		- Good clinical tolerability	
		- Low risk of contact	
		sensitization	

#### 2.6 Polyhexamethylene biguanide

PHMB is a synthetic compound. Its structure is similar to that of the natural antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) of keratinocytes and inflammatory neutrophils [165]. PHMB was approved as a medicinal product in the 1990s [18]. It is a bacteriostatic if administered at low concentrations (1-10 mcg/mL) and bactericidal at high concentrations ( $\geq 10 \text{ mcg/mL}$ ) [44]. It is a broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent with high efficacy and low toxicity [20]. It can act as a biocide against aerobic and nonaerobic bacteria through binding between the negatively charged phosphate head groups of the bacterial cell wall and the cationic group of PHMB, and it promotes interaction of hexamethylene spacer groups with the hydrophobic interior of the membrane bilayer, leading to membrane fluidity and permeability interference, and cell death [19]. However, this interaction is rarely found in human and animal cells. Ikeda et al found that PHMB could interact with the phosphatidylglycerol of bacterial cells and a mixture of phosphatidylglycerol and phosphatidylcholamine (PC) but had very little effect on the neutral lipids PC, a principal phospholipid of mammalian cells, and phosphatidylethiolamine (PE), a principal phospholipid of bacteria [166, 167]. Moreover, PHMB can bind to DNA and other nucleic acids of bacteria. The intra-cation spacing in PHMB is optimized for bacterial DNA binding. Strong complex formation of PHMB and bacterial DNA was performed at 0.25 mM [168]. The minimal microbial PHMB concentration for S. aureus was 0.1 mcg/mL, for Bacillus subtilis 0.5 mcg/mL, E. coli 0.5 mcg/mL, and P. aeruginosa 25 mcg/mL [22]. Because of its high tolerability and biocompatibility, PHMB is preferable for chronic wound treatment compared to chlorhexidine and povidone iodine [169]. It can maintain its activity for 14 days. Low toxicity is one of the advantages of PHMB. Mild irritation to skin and no significant cancer induction have been reported in humans. No evidence of the development of resistance has been reported [170]. The mechanism of bacterial resistance, efflux pumps, cannot remove it [160]. Therefore, many wound treatment products are composed of PHMB.

#### 2.6.1 Physical and chemical properties of PHMB

The molecular weight of PHMB depends on the degree of polymerization, and is around 5,049 g/mol at 12 degrees of polymerization

[171]. Its viscosity is close to that of water. The terminal groups of PHMB are amine and cyanoguanidine, which are unlikely to be biodegraded [172]. It has a molecular arrangement as micelles in which hydrophobic methylenic segments point toward the center of the sphere and hydrophilic segments point toward the outside of the sphere. Therefore, it has high solubility in agents with high polarity and hydrogen-bonding tendency. PHMB is soluble in both water (more than 40% w/w) and methanol, with chemical stability but poor solubility in ethanol. Sunlight, water temperature, and pH fluctuation rarely have effects on PHMB stability. Maximum activity is found at pH 5–6 [22]. However, at a temperature more than 463 K, PHMB chain degradation was reported. Aqueous solution of PHMB is absorbed at a UV wavelength of 236 nm.

## 2.6.2 Safety and efficacy of PHMB

PHMB is an antimicrobial agent which has many efficacies [23] including broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent, biocompatibility with human cells, low adsorption, no known bacterial resistance, good clinical tolerability, and low risk of contact sensitization. Therefore, there are several applications of PHMB [171] such as sanitizer in the textile industry and toilets, disinfectant for medical, dental, and farm equipment, ingredient in hand washes and rubs, air filter treatment, water treatment, swimming pools, and hot tubs, preservative in cosmetics, fabric softeners, contact lens solution, and leather. For medical products, PHMB are used as antimicrobial agent in wound irrigation (solution or gel) such as Prontosan<sup>®</sup> solution (0.1% PHMB), Lavasorb<sup>®</sup> solution (0.02/0.04% PHMB), and Lavanid<sup>®</sup> wound gel (0.04% PHMB). PHMB is also composition in antimicrobial dressings such as Telfa<sup>TM</sup> AMD (0.2% PHMB), Kerlix<sup>TM</sup> AMD gauze (0.2% PHMB), Excilon<sup>TM</sup> AMD sponge (0.2% PHMB), Suprasorb<sup>®</sup> X+PHMB biocellulose (0.3% PHMB), and Kendall AMD foam (0.5% PHMB).

The duration of topical antiseptic treatment is usually 2–5 days and in general should not exceed 14–21 days. It should cover the wound for at least 5–15 min.

Dressings containing 0.2% PHMB decreased bacteria in the wound and prevented wound infection, while bacterial resistance was not observed in long-term use [170]. In an *in vitro* study, a low concentration of PHMB (0.5 mcg/mL) accelerated wound healing using a wound model of respiratory ciliary epithelial cells after 96 h [173]. Muller and Kramer found that PHMB at a low concentration (0.005%) did not increase the catabolism of PGs in an *ex vivo* test [174]. *In vivo* and clinical studies are shown in Table 16.



Side effects	No report							
Outcomes	- PHMB dressing significantly reduced by 4	to 5 logs the amount of $P$ . agruginosa at the	wound bed.	- PHMB dressing significantly able to	reduce the inoculum within the dressing	itself at 24 and 48 hours' post-inoculation	compared to control.	
Control treatment	Gauze	without an	antibacterial	agent				
Study group	Gauze	impregnated	0.2% PHMB					
Number of subjects	3 pigs	(18	(spunom)	(Sample	18,	control	18)	
Wound types	Partial-	thickness	wounds	infected	Pseudomonas	aeruginosa of	pigs	
Study design	In vivo test	[221]						

Table 16 In vivo test and clinical studies of PHMB dressing treatment

Vound types of Study group	Number         Control           of         Study group	Study group Control Outcol	Control Outcol	Outcol	mes	Side effects
Vound types of Study group treatment subjects	of Study group treatment subjects	Study group treatment	treatment		Outcomes	
enous leg 112 PHMB Ringer's - PHMB s	112 PHMB Ringer's - PHMB s	PHMB Ringer's - PHMB s	Ringer's - PHMB s	- PHMB s	olution cleansing group had less	ž
cers wounds solution solution or healing til	wounds solution solution or healing til	solution solution or healing ti	solution or healing ti	healing ti	me than control group.	
(Sample - Percentag	(Sample - Percentag	saline - Percentag	saline - Percentag	- Percentag	se of healing wound of PHMB-	
59, solution treated gro	59, solution treated gro	solution treated gro	solution treated gro	treated gro	oup was significantly higher than	
control gr	control control gr	control gr	control gr	control gi	oup after 6 months (97% VS	
53) 89%).	53) 89%).	89%).	89%).	89%).		
- Infect	- Infect	- Infect	- Infect	- Infect	ion of PHMB-treated group was less	
than cor	than cor	than cor	than cor	than cor	ttrol group (3% VS 13).	
cond degree 4 0.04% PHMB Undiluted - The v	4 0.04% PHMB Undiluted - The v	0.04% PHMB Undiluted - The v	Undiluted - The v	- The v	vound areas that treated with	No side
rn wounds patients solution povidone- 0.04%	patients solution povidone- 0.04%	solution povidone- 0.04%	povidone- 0.04%I	0.04%]	PHMB solution showed the best re-	effect or
4 iodine epithel	4 iodine epithel	iodine epithel	iodine epithel	epithel	ialization than control group after 7	adverse
wounds solution or days.	wounds solution or days.	solution or days.	solution or days.	days.		reactions
(Divided 1% silver - The	(Divided 1% silver - The	1% silver - The	1% silver - The	- The	necrosis zone of PHMB-treated group	were
into 3 nitrate was le	into 3 nitrate was le	nitrate was le	nitrate was le	was le	ss than control group.	observed in
zone) - No c	zone) - No c	solution - No c	solution - No c	- No G	ase of wound infection occurred.	PHMB
						group.

Number	Number			Control		
Wound types of	of		Study group	treatment	Outcomes	Side effects
subjects	subjects					
Non-healing 16 PI	16 PI	Ы	HNB-		- PHMB dressing reduced biofilm in the	No irritation
locally patients con	patients con	con	taining		wound more than 20 patients (95%) after 24	
infected and/or bact	bact	bact	erial		weeks.	
critically cellu	cellu	cellu	lose		- PHMB dressing significantly promoted	
colonized dress	dressi	dress	ing		granulation tissue comparing day 0 (77%	
wounds of					VS 38%).	
various					- The wounds treated with PHMB dressing	
etiologies					were complete epithelialization (75%).	
					- PHMB dressing reduced pain.	
Infected 42 PHME	42 PHME	PHME	4	Silver	- PHMB-containing bacterial cellulose	No adverse
wounds contai	wounds contai	contai	ning	dressing	dressing was significantly better reduced	events in
(Sample bacter	(Sample bacter	bacter	ial		pain score than control group.	both groups
24, cellul	24, cellul	cellul	ose		- PHMB-containing bacterial cellulose	
control dressi	control dressi	dressi	ng		dressing was more rapidly and superior	
18)	18)				reduced local wound infection than control.	

		Number		land mark		
Study design	Wound types	of	Study group	COLUTOL	Outcomes	Side effects
		subjects				
Randomize	Second degree	60	PHMB-	Silver	- PHMB-containing bacterial cellulose	PHMB safe
control trial	burn wounds	patients	containing	sulfadiazine	dressing were significantly faster and better	for patients
in clinical		72	bacterial	cream	pain reduction than control group.	
study [37]		wounds	cellulose		- The dressing changes, ease of use, and	
		(Sample	dressing		cost saving of PHMB-containing bacterial	
		34,			cellulose dressing group showed better	
		control			result than silver sulfadiazine cream group	
		38)				
		35	ลัย		- A A - A	

PHMB may not be suitable for treatment of cartilage and the central nervous system because of incompatibility and toxicity [19]. Intraperitoneal instillation of 0.04% PHMB induced systemic hypotension and local vasodilation in mice [22]. Topical PHMB (0.02%) had an effect on vasodilation in the ear skin of hairless mice [19, 175]. A high concentration of PHMB may irritate the respiratory tract and eyes. However, there was no evidence of oral toxicity to rabbits at 20 mg/kg/day and no long-term dermal toxicity at 150 mg/kg/day [19]. The minimal concentration for skin irritation in rats was over 5%, for eye irritation in rabbits was over 25%, and was less than 1% in humans [22]. The general concentration in wound dressings is around 0.3% PHMB which is safe for skin. Moreover, no development of bacterial resistance of PHMB has been reported [23]. No evidence of carcinogenicity or mutagenicity was found in *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies.

Contraindications of PHMB [23]:

- 1. Irrigation solution in the peritoneal cavity
- 2. Antiseptic joint irrigation
- 3. The entire central nervous system
- 4. The middle ear or inner ear or intraocular administration

A new development, a PHMB solution combining aqueous PHMB solution and egg phosphatidylcholine as an oil-in-water emulsion or liposomes, could reduce toxicity of PHMB to L929 cells while maintaining an antiseptic effect. It may be used with sensitive tissues such as the peritoneum, mouth, and joint cavities [176].

The combination of silk sericin and PHMB in a biocellulose wound dressing has advantages for STSG donor site wounds because it may absorb wound exudate, have a cooling effect for pain reduction, keep moisture in the dressing, activate collagen synthesis which promotes wound healing, and have an antibacterial effect to protect against infection.

Our preliminary research found the optimal silk sericin and PHMB concentrations could promote collagen type 1 (Appendix H; Figure 2) [177], had antimicrobial activity against *B. subtilis* (ATCC 6633, Gram-positive), *S. aureus* (ATCC 25923, Gram-positive), MRSA (Gram-positive), *E. coli* (ATCC 25922, Gram-negative), *Acinetobacter baumannii* (ATCC 19606, Gram-negative), and *P.* 

aeruginosa (ATCC 27853, Gram-negative) (Appendix H; Figure 3) [177], and a nonadhesive effect in vitro (Appendix H; Figure 4). The interaction between silk sericin and PHMB was also studied and presented in our previous research [177]. We found that silk sericin and PHMB had a weak interaction which slightly affected the amide I region or the secondary structure of the protein, indicating a change in the secondary structure of the protein. However, this interaction did not affect the activity of silk sericin or PHMB in the dressing. Moreover, interaction between the biocellulose dressing and other molecules (silk sericin and PHMB) was not observed. The structure of the dressing was investigated using scanning electron microscope (SEM). The dressing was an ultrafine network structure. The size of fiber was less than 40 nm and pore size was less than 100 nm (Appendix H; Figure 1). The physical properties of this dressing were moderate wound absorption, no degradation of enzymes, and non-adhesion to the skin [178]. Therefore, it could absorb exudate, did not macerate or split out, stays on the wound, and reduced pain. In vivo tests on the efficacy of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> on full-thickness skin wounds in 24 rats indicated that the area fraction of collagen, a wound healing acceleration parameter of the biocellulose dressing, was significantly higher than controls on day 14 (Appendix H; Figure 5) [24]. The wound size reduction of wounds treated with the biocellulose dressing was also significantly higher than Bactigras<sup>®</sup> on day 14, and wounds were completely closed by day 21 (Appendix H; Figure 6) [24]. There was one infected wound in the biocellulose dressing group and four infected wounds in the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group. The safety study of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> in rats showed that the rats implanted with the biocellulose dressing were healthy and had less irritation and inflammation [24]. However, for materials and methods of some important in vitro and in vivo tests are shown in Appendix H.

According to the literature reviews and the results of our preliminary study on the advantages of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB, the objective of this study is to investigate the safety of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB in healthy volunteers and the clinical efficacy of this dressing for STSG donor site treatment compared to Bactigras<sup>®</sup>, the standard commercially available dressing, for STSG donor site wounds at the King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, in terms of time for complete re-epithelialization and wound quality, which have never been studied before, rate of infection, pain evaluation, and adverse events.



## **CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

### 3.1 Study design

Phase I clinical study

Prospective, randomized, controlled matched-pair study.

Phase II clinical study

Prospective, randomized, controlled matched-pair study.

#### **3.2 Sample and population**

3.2.1 Target population

Phase I clinical study

Healthy volunteers at the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University.

Phase II clinical study

STSG donor site wounds from procedures carried out in the Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital.

#### 3.2.2 Sample

Phase I clinical study

Healthy volunteers at the Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University between October 2014 and February 2015.

## Phase II clinical study

STSG donor site wounds from procedures carried out in the Division of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Department of Surgery, King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital between December 2015 and October 2016.

#### 3.2.3 Sample size calculation

#### Phase I clinical study

The sample size was calculated following McNamee *et al.* [179]. They found that there should be at least 100 subjects in a wound dressing study for a 99% chance

of having a 5% incidence of adverse skin effects. If 10% of subjects drop out, there should be 112 subjects in this study.

#### Phase II clinical study

This study investigated two dependent samples to compare the wound healing time (the day the dressing detached by itself with no exudate or air-contact pain) between the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> groups. The sample size was calculated by the following:

$$N = \frac{(Z_{\alpha} + Z_{\beta})^2 S_p^2}{D^2}$$

Ν	=	sample size
$Z_{\alpha}$	=	Z value for alpha error
$Z_{\beta}$	=	Z value for beta error
$S_p^2$	= _	pooled variance
$D^2$	= )	effect size; difference in time taken for complete healing
		of STSG donor site treated with two types of dressing
		determined as 2 days

According to the study of Lohsiriwat *et al.* [180] which compared an ionic silver-containing hydrofiber dressing with paraffin gauze dressing for STSG donor wound treatment, the wound healing times were  $7.9 \pm 2.47$  and  $11.2 \pm 3.52$  days, respectively (p < 0.05). The primary objective of Lohsiriwat *et al.* study was the wound healing time for STSG donor wound treatment that was the same primary objective as this study. Lohsiriwat *et al.* used an ionic silver-containing hydrofiber dressing as a subject that had characteristics and properties such as absorption capacity and antimicrobial agent composition close to biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB. Moreover, a control in Lohsiriwat *et al.* study was paraffin gauze dressing that had characteristics and properties such as mesh dressing and low absorption capacity close to Bactigras<sup>®</sup> which was the control in this study. Therefore, Lohsiriwat *et al.* study was used for sample size calculation in this study.

Calculation: Confidence level = 
$$95\% (\alpha = 0.05)$$
  $Z_{\alpha} = 1.96$   
Power of the study =  $90\% (\beta = 0.1)$   $Z_{\beta} = 1.28$   
Pooled variance,  $S_{p}^{2} = \frac{S_{1}^{2} + S_{2}^{2}}{2} = \frac{2.47^{2} + 3.52^{2}}{2} = 9.2456$
Sample size: N = 
$$(1.96 + 1.28)^2 \times 9.2456$$
  
 $2^2$   
= 24.26  $\approx 25$  samples  
20% drop out calculation  
N =  $\frac{25}{1-0.2}$   
= 31.25  $\approx 32$  samples

Accordingly, 32 STSG donor site wounds were included in this study.

3.2.4 Inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria

## Phase I clinical study

Inclusion criteria

- 1. Healthy volunteers
- 2. Age 18–65 years
- 3. Signed consent form

Exclusion criteria

- 1. Known allergy or hypersensitivity reaction to silk sericin, PHMB, or chlorhexidine acetate
- 2. Known skin diseases
- 3. Known immunocompromised diseases
- 4. Using antihistamine and anti-inflammatory medications or any patches within 2 weeks before and during evaluation
- 5. Not following all procedures

## Phase II clinical study

Inclusion criteria

- 1. Patients who have STSG donor site wounds on the thigh
- 2. Aged more than 18 years
- 3. Signed consent form

# Exclusion criteria

1. Systemic infection

- 2. Known allergy or hypersensitivity reaction to silk sericin, PHMB, or chlorhexidine acetate
- 3. Known skin diseases
- 4. Known immunocompromised diseases
- 5. Known mental defect or schizophrenia
- 6. Pregnancy or lactation
- 7. Not following all procedures

## **3.3 Random allocation**

## Phase I clinical study

Block randomization (block size 4) was used to separate half of the back to A and half to B by using a random number table; odds equaled A and evens equaled B. A represented the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB, and B represented Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

There were five visits in this clinical phase I study. At the first visit, the skin was randomly patched with dressings A and B  $(2 \times 2 \text{ cm}^2)$ . After 3 days (the second visit), the dressings were changed to new dressings. After another 3 days (the third visit), the dressings were removed. After that, there was a free period of around 7–10 days. At the fourth visit, the skin was patched with dressings on the same area as the first visit. After 3 days, at the last visit, the dressings were removed. Erythema and melanin levels were measured by a Cutometer<sup>®</sup> in mexameter mode (Courage+Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany) at each visit (five visits in all). Photographic assessment of edema, papules, vesicles, and bullae was performed by three dermatologists at every visit.

### Phase II clinical study

Block randomization (block size 4) was used to separate half of the eligible wounds into A and half into B by using a random number table; odds equaled A and evens equaled B. A represented the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB, and B represented Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

# Flow chart of the study





Figure 1 Wound management (a) Wound was generated with electrical dermatome at a thickness selected by the surgeon (b) Half wound randomization for assignment and photos taking (c) The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> covered on the wound (d) The wound was covered with 2 layers of gauze (secondary dressing) (e) The wound was covered with 1 layer of bandage (tertiary dressing)

## 3.4 Wound evaluations

1. Wound healing time

The day that the dressing detached by itself with no exudate or aircontact pain

- 2. Wound quality was evaluated in terms of:
  - 2.1 Erythema levels were the redness of the scar that referred to inflammation.
  - 2.2 Melanin levels were the darkness of the scar that referred to a postinflammatory reaction (hyper or hypo pigmentation).
  - 2.3 Transepidermal water loss (TEWL) was a measure of the quantity of water that passed from inside a body through the epidermis to the outside environment. It referred to skin barrier function.
    - Measurement of erythema levels, melanin levels, and TEWL levels
      - Instrument:

Cutometer<sup>®</sup> in mexameter and tewameter mode (Courage+Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany)

- Location and frequency:

Four points for each wound, five times for each point

(Figure 2) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months

- Assessment by: A researcher



Figure 2 Wound location of measurement (red circles)

- 2.4 Vancouver scar scale (VSS) was used to assess the scar with four parameters: Vascularity (0–3), pigmentation (0–2), pliability (0–5), and height (0–3) (Appendix G). The maximum total score was 13. A higher VSS score represented poor scar quality.
  - Location and frequency: All areas of wounds
  - Assessment by: Two surgeons
- 3. Number of infection was the wound that had:
  - Signs of infection: Swelling, redness, bad odor, purulent discharge, assessed every day by a researcher and one surgeon
  - Swab evaluation when signs of infection were observed (bacteria >10<sup>5</sup> colonies)
  - Amount of WBC or neutrophil counts after treatment was higher than before treatment and normal range.
- 4. Pain levels was evaluated using Visual Analogue Scale (VAS; 0 (no pain) to 10 (unbearable pain)) by patient assessment.
- 5. Adverse events were evaluated in terms of:
  - Skin allergic reaction: Itching or rash, assessed by a researcher and one surgeon
  - Naranjo's algorithm assessed by a researcher
  - Systemic function: Hepatic and renal function (before and after treatment)

# 3.5 Definitions CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

## Phase I clinical study definition

Healthy volunteer represented people who had healthy skin including no open wound, and no scar.

Phase I clinical study definition

- STSG donor site wound was the wound that the skin was detached around 0.008-0.012 inch by dermatome surgical grafting instrument.
- 2. Wound healing time was the day that the dressing detached by itself with no exudate or air-contact pain.
- 3. Wound quality was the degree of excellent scar that was presented in terms of erythema levels, melanin levels, TEWL levels, and VSS.

- 4. Infection was the wound that had signs of infection, bacteria  $>10^5$  colonies, and high WBC or neutrophil levels after treatment than before treatment and normal range.
- 5. Adverse events were any untoward occurrence in a patient treated with wound dressings.

## 3.6 Materials

3.6.1 Test dressings

The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was composed of three major components, biocellulose, silk sericin, and PHMB.

The biocellulose dressings were produced from an *A. xylinum* strain (Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand) in coconut water medium according to the method of Verschuren *et al.* with a slight modification [181]. Briefly, 1 L of coconut water was boiled and 50 g of sucrose, 5 g of ammonium phosphate ((NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>), and 10 mL of acetic acid (CH<sub>3</sub>COOH) were added. The acetic acid was used for adjustment of solution pH (pH 4.5). Then, 10 mL of *A. xylinum* was added to the solution and the mixture was transferred to molds for fermentation. This mixture was incubated under sterilized static conditions at 30 °C for 10–12 days to form biocellulose. After that, 2% w/v aqueous sodium hydroxide (NaOH) solution was used for biocellulose washing at 70 °C until a neutral pH was attained. All processes were controlled and produced by Research X Co., Ltd. (Bangkok, Thailand).

The biocellulose dressing  $(10 \times 10 \times 0.01 \text{ cm}^3)$  was loaded with 4 mL of 1% w/v silk sericin. After that, the dressing was loaded with 10 mL of 0.3% w/v PHMB Finally, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was soaked in 6 mL of 60% w/v glycerin. All processes were carried out in sterile conditions. After preparation, the dressings were packed and sterilized with gamma radiation at 25 kGy by the Thailand Institute of Nuclear Technology (Public Organization), Irradiation Certificate No 61/58 (Nakornnayok, Thailand). For the quality control, in each production, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB were randomly tested about the released concentration. The concentration of silk sericin and PHMB that released from the dressing after 30 minutes were around 40 mcg/ml of silk sericin and 0.01%PHMB.

From previous study, Hasatsri *et al.* found that the bilayered wound dressing prepared from 1% sericin solution could accelerate wound healing [34] and promote collagen type I [182]. *In vitro* and *in vivo* study, the results showed that the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin (1%w/v) could release sericin more than 40 mcg/ml resulting in collagen type I promotion [177]. Moreover, the loading concentrations of PHMB were also evaluated at 0.0125% - 0.6% in order to find concentration that had antimicrobial activity against Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria [177]. The result showed that the appropriated loading concentration of PHMB was at least 0.3% [177] because this dressing could release PHMB more than 0.01% that was higher than minimum bactericidal concentration of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Therefore, in this study, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was loaded with 1%w/v sericin solution and 0.3%PHMB.

## 3.6.2 Control dressings

Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (Smith & Nephew Co., Ltd, London, UK)

## 3.6.3 Chemical agents

Analytical grade acetic acid (CH<sub>3</sub>COOH), ammonium phosphate ((NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>), sodium hydroxide (NaOH), and other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, USA. Silk sericin solution was prepared from *Bombyx mori* cocoons supplied by Chul Thai Silk Co., Ltd. (Petchaboon, Thailand) using a high temperature and high pressure degumming method [147]. PHMB was kindly provided by Lonza Group Ltd. (Basel, Switzerland). Glycerin was analytical grade, obtained from Ajax Finechem (Australia).

## **3.7 Data collection instruments**

Phase I clinical study

- 1. Demographic data (Appendix A)
- 2. Adverse event report (Appendix B)
- 3. Adverse event by erythema and melanin report (Appendix C)

## Phase II clinical study

1. Demographic data (Appendix D)

- 2. Follow-up report (Appendix E)
- 3. Adverse event report (Appendix F)
- 4. VSS (Appendix G)

#### 3.7 Data analysis and statistical evaluations

All statistical evaluations were performed using SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS. Co., Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand). Statistically significant differences of data were considered at p < 0.05.

## Phase I clinical study

- 1. Demographic data were presented in terms of frequency, percentage, mean and standard deviation.
- 2. Comparison of erythema levels and melanin levels between two areas used a repeated measure ANOVA test.
- 3. Comparison of the number of infection, and amount of adverse events between two areas used chi-square tests.

### Phase II clinical study

- 1. Demographic data were presented in terms of frequency, percentage, mean and standard deviation.
- 2. Comparison of wound healing time (days) used Paired t-test.
- Comparison of erythema levels, melanin levels, TEWL levels, pain score, and VSS between two areas used Friedman test and Wilcoxon signed rank tests.
- 4. Comparison of the amount of infection and number of adverse events between two areas used Chi-square test.

#### **3.8 Ethical considerations**

This study was to investigate the safety of a biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB in healthy volunteers, and the clinical efficacy and safety of the dressing for STSG donor site wound treatment compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> which was the standard dressing at King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital. The researcher provided all information of the study including the research objectives, expected duration, methods, benefits, and adverse events to the subjects. All subjects had to sign a consent form before starting. They could withdraw from the study at any

time, which would not impact on their regular treatment. The study was approved by the Ethic Review Committee for Research Involving Human Research Subjects, Health Sciences Group, Chulalongkorn University (COA No. 127/2557) (Appendix J) on 4<sup>th</sup> September 2014 and King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital Human Subjects Institutional Review Board (COA 843/2015) (Appendix J) on 3<sup>rd</sup> December 2015. The data from this study was retained as confidential and only complete results were presented.



**Chulalongkorn University** 

# **CHAPTER 4 RESULTS**

The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was developed for wound healing (Figure 3(a)) comparing with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (Figure 3(b)) in this study.



Figure 3 Dressings in this study (a) The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (b) Bactigras<sup>®</sup>

# 4.1 Phase I clinical study

There were 112 healthy volunteers in this study but three volunteers were excluded because their dressing peeled off before appointment and four volunteers were excluded because they took antihistamine medicines for a common cold. Therefore, there were 105 healthy volunteers in the final results. Most were female with a normal body mass index, non-alcohol drinkers and non-smokers. Demographic data are shown in Table 17.

Document		Volunteer	%
Subjects		105	100.00
Sex	Male	22	21.00
	Female	83	79.00
Average age(years ± SD (Range))		26.60 ± 10.83	
		(18, 60	))
Average body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> $\pm$ SD)		$21.18\pm3.12$	
Occupation	Government officer	3	2.86
	State enterprise officer	2	1.90
4	Employee	31	29.51
Students		69	65.71
Underlying disease	No	102	97.14
	Hypertension	2	1.90
	Diabetes mellitus	1	0.95
Current alcohol drinking		5	4.76
Current smoking		1	0.95

## **Table 17 Demographic data of healthy volunteers**

The safety of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> was evaluated in terms of skin erythema and melanin levels, represented by skin redness and darkness. The results showed that the levels of neither were statistically significantly different for skin covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (Figures 4 and 5). Therefore, inflammation or post-inflammatory reaction of the skin that covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was not different comparing the skin that covered with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>. Photographic assessment of edema, papules, vesicles, and bullae was performed by three dermatologists at every visit (five visits in all) (Appendix K). No significant signs of inflammation or skin irritation were found in either group (Figure 6). Edema and papules were not presented in more than 97% of subjects in both groups. Vesicles and bullae were not observed (Table 18). The results were not statistically

significantly different between the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.









Figure 5 Melanin levels (mean ±SD) of health volunteers' skin covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (black bars) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (grey bars; control group) at visit 1-5



Figure 6 The skins of healthy volunteer after cover with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (left side) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (right side)

Parameters		Biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB	Bactigras <sup>®</sup> (%Total subject)
		(% Total subject)	
	Mild	39.05	50.48
Erythema*	Moderate	1.0	1.0
	Severe	0.0	0.0
	Mild	1.9	0.0
Edema*	Moderate	0.0	0.0
	Severe	0.0	0.0
Papu	le	2.9	2.9
Vesic	le	0.0	0.0
Bullae		0.0	0.0

# Table 18 Adverse events of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> by dermatologists' assessment

\*Erythema scale and edema scale see Appendix B

# 4.2 Phase II clinical study

The clinical efficacy of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB for STSG donor sites was evaluated in terms of wound healing time, wound quality, rate of infection, pain, adverse events, and cost compared with the standard treatment (Bactigras<sup>®</sup>). Thirty-two STSG donor site wounds were enrolled in this study. Demographic data are presented in Table 19. Causes of STSG surgery were malignancy (62.5%), defected wound (31.25%), and scar contracture (6.25%). Each STSG donor site wound was divided into two parts that were randomized to be covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB or Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (Figure 2).

Documents	Subjects	Percentage
Subjects	21	100.00
Sex		
Male	16	76.19
Female	5	23.81
Age (years) (mean ± SD (Range))	$60.00 \pm 19.24 \ (25,90)$	
Body mass index $(kg/m^2)$ (mean $\pm$ SD (Range))	23.79 ± 5.77 (16.4	4,42.24)
Comorbidity	14	66.67
Dyslipidemia	9	42.86
Hypertension	11	52.38
Cardiovascular disease	3	14.29
Diabetes mellitus	5	23.81
Renal Insufficiency	1	4.76
Smoking	6	28.57
Alcohol drinking	2	9.52
Allergic history	3	14.29
Ibuprofen	1	4.76
Morphine	1	4.76
Sulfonamide	<b>UTAU</b> 1	4.76

**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

Documents	Subjects	Percentage
Wounds	32	100.00
Sex		
Male	27	84.38
Female	5	15.63
Area		
Right thigh	20	62.50
Anterior	13	40.62
Posterior	0	0.00
Lateral	7	21.88
Left thigh	12	37.50
Anterior	4	12.50
Posterior	1	3.13
Lateral	7	21.88
Wound area (cm2) (mean ± SD (Range))	60.89 ± 19.82 (28.70,104.71)	
STSG thickness (inch) (mean ± SD (Range))	0.01 ± 0.0014 (0.008,0.012)	

# 4.2.1 Wound healing time of STSG donor sites

An STSG donor site wound was a wound that involves the epidermis and some part of the dermis because of skin detachment by instrument. The standard treatment for STSG donor site wounds in King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital was Bactigras<sup>®</sup>. In general, the wound healing time of this treatment was the day that the dressing detached by itself with no exudate and no air-contact pain.

The results of this study demonstrated that the wound healing time of both dressings was around  $19 \pm 5$  days. There was no statistically significant difference between groups (Figures 7 and 8) (Appendix L).







Figure 7 Wound appearance (a) Split-thickness skin graft donor site wound at day 0, (b) Split-thickness skin graft donor site wound covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (BC/SS/PHMB) (Right side) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (Left side), (c) Splitthickness skin graft donor site wound at healing day

**UHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 





## 4.2.2 Wound quality of STSG donor sites

Wounds treated with good properties' dressings led to better wound quality. The wound quality of STSG donor sites was presented in terms of melanin levels, erythema levels, TEWL levels, and VSS.

# 4.2.2.1 Melanin levels

A post-inflammatory reaction occurred after skin inflammation or injury. A change in skin color was the most common effect. Melanocytes were stimulated by cytokines, chemokines, and inflammatory mediators, resulting in overproduction (hyperpigmentation) or lower production (hypopigmentation) of melanin and irregular pigment dispersion [183]. The melanin levels represented the darkness of the scar and referred to post-inflammatory reaction. A good quality wound should have melanin close to those of normal skin. They were measured by using a Cutometer<sup>®</sup> in mexameter mode (Courage+Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany) at four points for each wound, five times for each point (Figure 2) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months. The results were compared with normal skin. If the results were higher than for normal skin, they were interpreted as hyperpigmentation. If the results were lower than for normal skin, they were interpreted as hypopigmentation.

Melanin levels of wounds treated with both dressings are shown in Figure 9. Melanin levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group at healing time and 1 month were significantly lower than normal skin. However, there were no significant differences at 3 and 6 months.

At healing time and 1 month, the melanin levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group were significantly lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group ( $160.33 \pm 134$  vs  $251.70 \pm 159$ ; p = 0.000014 and  $291.10 \pm 174$  vs  $295.08 \pm 212$ ; p = 0.00033, respectively). Therefore, post-inflammatory reaction of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group. However, 3 and 6 months after wound healing, there was no significant difference between groups.

The melanin levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group continuously significantly increased until 3 months.

Ghulalongkorn University



Figure 9 Melanin levels (median ±IQR) of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (grey bars) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (white bars; control group) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing comparing with normal skin (black bar) (\*Significant difference when compared with the value of normal skin ( $p = 7x10^{-7}$ ,  $p = 7x10^{-7}$ , p = 0.00001, p = 0.015, respectively), \*\*Significant difference when compared with the value of Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (p = 0.000014, p = 0.00033, respectively)

4.2.2.2 Erythema levels

Inflammation occurred after skin injury. The erythema levels represented the redness of the scar and referred to inflammation. A good quality wound should have erythema levels close to those of normal skin. They were measured by using a Cutometer<sup>®</sup> in mexameter mode (Courage+Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany) at four points for each wound, five times for each point (Figure 2) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months. If the erythema levels were higher than normal skin, it was interpreted as inflammation.

Figure 10 shows the erythema levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup>-treated group. The erythema levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the

Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group were significantly higher than normal skin at all-time points.

The erythema levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group were significantly lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group ( $508.75 \pm 138.39 \text{ vs } 571.20 \pm 133.16$ ; p = 0.013 and  $465.53 \pm 97.46 \text{ vs } 512.03 \pm 149.56$ ; p = 0.00033, respectively) at healing time and 1 month after wound healing. Therefore, inflammation of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group. However, 3 and 6 months after wound healing, there were no significant differences between groups.

The erythema levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group continuously significantly decreased until 6 months.



Figure 10 Erythema levels (median ±IQR) of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (grey bars) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (white bars; control group) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing comparing with normal skin (black bar) (\*Significant difference when compared with the value of normal skin ( $p = 9x10^{-7}$ ,  $p = 7x10^{-7}$ ,  $p = 1x10^{-6}$ ,  $p = 8x10^{-7}$ , p =

 $8x10^{-7}$ ,  $p = 8x10^{-7}$ ,  $p = 2x10^{-6}$ ,  $p = 4x10^{-6}$ , respectively), \*\*Significant difference when compared with the value of Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (p = 0.013, p = 0.00033, respectively)

## 4.2.2.3 Transepidermal water loss levels (TEWL)

TEWL was a measure of the quantity of water that passes from inside a body through the epidermis to the outside environment. It referred to skin barrier function. After wound healing, the expected scar should have a low TEWL levels or one close to that of normal skin. It was measured by using a Cutometer<sup>®</sup> in tewameter mode (Courage+Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany) at four points for each wound, five times for each point (Figure 2) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months. The results were compared with normal skin. If the results were higher than for normal skin, they were interpreted as poor skin barrier function.

The TEWL levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup>-treated group are shown in Figure 11. The TEWL levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group were significantly higher than normal skin at all-time points.

At healing time, the results showed that the TEWL levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was not significantly different to the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group. However, the TEWL levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was significantly less than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group after 1, 3, and 6 months (13.08 ± 6.08 vs 16.86 ± 6.39; p = 0.000025, 9.67 ± 5.39 vs 10.68 ± 6.51; p = 0.000028, and 7.69 ± 7.16 vs 9.63 ± 7.53;  $p = 5 \times 10^{-6}$ , respectively). Therefore, skin barrier function of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was better than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group.

The TEWL levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group continuously significantly decreased until 3 months.





# 4.2.2.4 Vancouver scar scale (VSS)

**C** VSS was used to assess the scar with four parameters that were vascularity (0–3), pigmentation (0–2), pliability (0–5), and height (0–3) (Appendix G). The maximum total score was 13. A higher VSS score represented poor scar quality. They were measured at all areas of wounds by two surgeons. VSS total scores were compared between sample and control. If the total score of the sample was lower than the control, it was interpreted that the scar quality of the sample was better than the control.

VSS was used to assess the scar with four parameters that were vascularity, pigmentation, pliability, and height.

The vascularity scores of the dressings were not significantly different. They continuously decreased over time (Figure 12).





The pigmentation scores of both dressings continuously increased over time (Figure 13). However, the pigmentation score of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group 1 month after wound healing  $(0.5 \pm 1 \text{ vs } 0.75 \pm 1; p = 0.013).$ 



Figure 13 Pigmentation score (median  $\pm$ IQR) of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (black bars) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (grey bars; control group) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing (p = 0.013)

The pliability scores of the dressings were not significantly different. They continuously decreased over time (Figure 14).



Figure 14 Pliability score (median ±IQR) of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (black bars) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (grey bars; control group) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing

The height scores of the dressings were not significantly different. They continuously decreased over time (Figure 15).



# Figure 15 Height score (median ±IQR) of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (black bars) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (grey bars; control group) at healing time, 1, 3, and 6 months after wound healing

The results demonstrated that the overall VSS scores of the dressings were not significantly different. However, the VSS score of the

biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group at healing time and 1 month after wound healing ( $2 \pm 1.5$  vs  $2.5 \pm 1.5$ ; p = 0.274 and  $2 \pm 1.5$  vs  $2.5 \pm 1.5$ ; p = 0.069, respectively) because the pigmentation score of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group ( $0.0 \pm 1$  vs  $0.5 \pm 0.5$ ; p = 0.564 and  $0.5 \pm 1$  vs  $0.75 \pm 1$ ; p = 0.013, respectively). Moreover, the VSS score of both groups continuously decreased at 3 and 6 months (Figure 16).





#### 4.2.3 Number of STSG donor sites infection

No signs of infection (swelling, redness, bad odor, or purulent discharge) were observed in wounds that were covered with either dressing. All median patient temperatures (day 1–5) were lower than 37 °C. Biochemistry tests including white blood cell count and neutrophils presented in the normal range at days 0 and 5 after operation (Table 19). After treatment, there was one patient who had a higher WBC than normal. There were two patients who had a higher

neutrophil level than normal level. However, both levels were lower than before treatment (Appendix I).

## 4.2.4 Pain levels of STSG donor sites

Pain scores of wounds covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> gradually decreased from days 1–5. However, the pain scores of wounds covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB were statistically significantly lower than wounds covered with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> at all-time points (4 ± 2.75 vs 7 ± 2.75; p = 0.0000092,  $3.5 \pm 2$  vs 7 ± 3; p = 0.000014,  $1 \pm 1$  vs  $4 \pm 2$ ;  $p = 3 \times 10^{-6}$ ,  $0 \pm 1$  vs  $3 \pm 1$ ;  $p = 4 \times 10^{-6}$ , and  $0 \pm 1$  vs  $3 \pm 1$ ;  $p = 4 \times 10^{-6}$ , respectively). The pain scores of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group continuously significantly decreased until day 5 (Figure 17).



Figure 17 Pain score (median ±IQR) of STSG donor sites wound treated with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (black bars) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (grey bars; control group) at day 1-5 after wound healing (\*Significant difference when compared with the value of control group (p = 0.0000092, p = 0.000014,  $p = 3x10^{-6}$ ,  $p = 4x10^{-6}$ ,  $p = 4x10^{-6}$ , respectively)

# 4.2.5 Adverse events

There were no adverse skin reactions including rash, itching, edema, or papules. Systemic reactions including renal function and hepatic function also showed normal levels at days 0 and 5 after operation (Table 19).



<b>Diachamistry</b> <sup>a</sup>	Normal valua	Day 0	Day 5
Biochemistry	Normai value	Median $\pm$ IQR	Median $\pm$ IQR
WBC $(x10^3/ul)$	4.50 - 11.00	$10.80\pm4.07$	$7.72\pm3.20$
Neutrophil (x10 <sup>3</sup> /ul)	1.80 - 7.80	$7.50\pm5.16$	$5.70\pm2.73$
BUN (mg/dl)	7.00 - 20.00	$14.00\pm8.00$	$14.00\pm7.50$
Cr (mg/dl)	0.50 - 1.00	$0.94\pm0.34$	$0.77\pm0.36$
AST (U/L)	0.00 - 35.00	$26.00 \pm 11.00$	$28.00\pm21.00$
ALT (U/L)	0.00 - 40.00	$18.00\pm22.50$	$21.00 \pm 15.00$
ALP(U/L)	40.00 - 120.00	$64.00 \pm 34.00$	$84.00\pm31.00$
Total bilirubin	0.20 - 1.20	$0.56 \pm 0.34$	$0.45\pm0.38$
		101001101 N.N. MIRZEN.	

Table 20 Biochemistry test (infection, renal function and hepatic function) ofSTSG donor site patients at day 0 and day 5 after operation

<sup>*a*</sup> WBC: White blood cells, BUN: Blood urea nitrogen, Cr: Creatinine, AST: aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, ALP: Alkaline phosphatase

After treatment, there was one patient who had a higher BUN level than normal level. There were five patients who had a higher creatinine level than normal level. However, both levels were close to those recorded before treatment, which were also higher than normal. Furthermore, there were five patients who had a higher AST level than normal level. There were three patients who had a higher ALT level than normal level. There were two patients who had a higher ALT level than normal level. There were two patients who had a higher ALT level than normal level. There were two patients who had a higher ALP level than normal level and one patient who had a higher total bilirubin level than normal level. However, all levels were close to those recorded before treatment, which were also higher than normal (Appendix I).

### 4.2.6 Cost of dressings

The cost of the two dressings was evaluated per square centimeter. The cost of Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (overall' cost) was higher than the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (materials' cost) (0.17 vs 0.07 baht).

# **CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS**

## Discussion

An STSG donor site wound is a wound that has loss of the epidermis and some part of the dermis. It usually produces exudate and may be infectious, leading to delayed wound healing. The concern of most patients is pain leading to a decrease in quality of life. Therefore, developing a dressing with wound healing acceleration, good scar quality production, pain reduction, infection protection, few adverse reactions, and low cost is of benefit for these wounds.

From our previous study, an in vitro test, we found that the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB contained appropriate amounts of silk sericin and PHMB. It could accelerate L929 cells to promote collagen type I and had antimicrobial activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria [177]. The interaction between silk sericin and PHMB was also studied and presented in our previous research [177]. We found that silk sericin and PHMB had a weak interaction, which slightly affected the amide I region or the secondary structure of the protein, indicating a change in the secondary structure of the protein. However, this interaction did not affect the activity of silk sericin or PHMB in the dressing. Moreover, interaction between the biocellulose dressing and other molecules (silk sericin and PHMB) was not observed. The physical properties of this dressing were moderate wound absorption, no degradation of enzymes, and non-adhesion to the skin. Therefore, it could absorb exudate, did not macerate or split out, stayed on the wound, and reduced pain. In *in vivo* tests [24], the efficacy of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> on full-thickness skin wounds in 24 rats indicated that the area fraction of collagen, a wound healing acceleration parameter of the biocellulose dressing, was significantly higher than controls on day 14. The wound size reduction of wounds treated with the biocellulose dressing was also significantly higher than Bactigras<sup>®</sup> on day 14, and wounds were completely closed by day 21 [24]. There was one infected wound in the biocellulose dressing group and four infected wounds in the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group [24]. The safety study of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB compared

with Bactigras<sup>®</sup> in rats showed that the rats implanted with the biocellulose dressing were healthy and had less irritation and inflammation [24].

For the phase I clinical study in healthy volunteers, erythema and melanin levels of skin, representing skin redness and darkness, were evaluated. The results showed that the levels for skin covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB were not statistically significantly different when compared with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>. Moreover, the melanin and erythema levels in this study were close to those of normal skin. These results agreed with Maenthaisong et al. [184], who showed that the mean melanin levels in healthy Thai females was around 230 and the erythema levels was around 220. Siriteintong et al. also found that the mean melanin levels in healthy Thai females was around 220 and the erythema levels was around 250 [13]. No significant signs of inflammation or skin irritation were found in either group. Edema and papules were not presented in more than 97% of subjects in both groups. Vesicles and bullae were not observed [24]. These results conformed to those of Ibarra de Palacios et al. They investigated the skin irritation potential of a 12.5 cm<sup>2</sup> estradiol transdermal patch (Climara<sup>®</sup>, USA) in 99 healthy postmenopausal women. The safety results claimed that 3.0% had moderate erythema, 1.0% severe erythema, 1.0% mild edema, and 34.3% papules [185].

It was expected that the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB would accelerate wound healing. The dressing's property of keeping the wound moist provides a suitable environment for wound healing. Voineskos *et al* carried out a systematic review of skin graft donor site dressings, comparing moist wound dressings with non-moist wound dressings [45]. They reported that moist wound dressings had a faster healing rate, less pain, and were less expensive. These results agreed with the study of Wiechula about the use of moist wound-healing dressings in the management of STSG donor sites [3]. The numbers of day taken for wound healing for hydrocolloid dressings were significantly less than other moist products. In chronic venous insufficiency and lower leg ulceration, Alvarez *et al.* reported that the healing time (> 75% re-epithelialization) of wounds treated with biocellulose was lower than that of the non-adherent petrolatum emulsionimpregnated cellulose acetate gauze (control) group. The percentage wound size reduction of wounds treated with biocellulose was higher than that of the control group after 6 and 12 weeks [7]. Moreover, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB contained a wound healing acceleration agent. Silk sericin from Chul Thai Silk 1/1 (0.2–1.0 mg/mL) could activate growth of L929 mouse fibroblast cells and the production of collagen type I in cell culture medium [10]. It could increase the number of skin fibroblast cells and collagen production, important factors in the wound healing process, to 250% in 72 h [149]. Furthermore, it accelerated proliferation of mammalian cells including human epithelial cells and human hepatoblastoma cells [146].

In STSG donor site wounds, Siritientong *et al.* found that the healing time of wounds treated with ethyl alcohol-precipitated silk sericin/PVA scaffolds was significantly less than that of the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (control) group [13]. These results agreed with Hasatsri *et al.*. They found that the healing time of wounds treated with a bilayered wound dressing containing 1% silk sericin was significantly less than that of the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (control) group [34]. The wound healing time of partial-thickness burn wounds treated with a silver zinc sulfadiazine cream containing silk sericin was also less than that of silver zinc sulfadiazine cream without silk sericin [186]. From all these studies, it indicated that sericin had significant effect on wound healing by acceleration of healing process, which might due to collagen promotion activity as previously reported [10].

In this study, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was evaluated in STSG donor site wounds compared with a standard dressing (Bactigras<sup>®</sup>) in King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital. The wound healing time in this study was the day that the dressing detached by itself with no exudate and no aircontact pain. The results showed that the wound healing time of both dressings was  $19 \pm 5$  days and it was not statistically different between groups (Figure 6). There are many factors which affect STSG donor site wound healing including the depth, site, and size of the wound, along with the age of the patient and comorbidity. According to previous research, it was reported that elderly patients could have delayed wound healing time and a longer wound healing time, as long as 21 days [28], than young patients (7–14 days) because of deteriorated blood supply, declined immunity, and incomplete body function [4]. The patients in this study were old patients with an average age of about 61 years and the eldest was around 90 years. The results in this

study conformed to the study of Hakkarainen et al. [187]. They studied the efficacy of a nanofibrillar cellulose wound dressing compared with a synthetic copolymer of polylactide, trimethylene carbonate, and e-caprolactone (Suprathel<sup>®</sup>) in STSG donor site wounds. The patients in this comparison study had an average age around 56 years. The results found that the nanofibrillar cellulose wound dressing self-detached on average around 18 days after operation and Suprathel® self-detached on average around 22 days after operation [187]. Davidson et al. also reported that the older partial-thickness wound patient group (more than 50 years old) treated with a keratin dressing had a lower epithelialization percentage than younger patients [188]. Lauchli et al. studied the efficacy of calcium alginate versus polyurethane film dressings in STSG donor site treatment. The average ages of the groups were 72.1 and 78.6 years, respectively. The results demonstrated that the healing time of the dressings was not significantly different (18.8 vs 21.9 days) [189]. Moreover, this study found that some patients had a lot of wound exudate, which might prolong the wound healing time of both dressings. Excessive wound exudate also had a direct effect on wounds treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB. Because the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB had a low to moderate wound exudate absorption, overcapacity of the wound dressing led to maceration and loss of the dressing's wound healing properties. Bactigras<sup>®</sup> had no wound exudate absorption property. However, in this study the wounds of both dressings were covered with gauze that could absorb the remaining exudate. Therefore, for excessively exudative wounds, the absorption properties of the two dressings were not different. These cases might be the cause of the non-significant difference of wound healing time between groups in this study. Moreover, sericin was a hydrophilic agent that was easy to dissolve. When the patients had excessively exudative wound, high amounts of sericin were dissolved in that exudate led to loss of sericin healing properties. Consequently, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB might not be appropriate for high-exudate STSG donor site wounds. In addition, some reports found that the healing time of wounds treated with silk sericin was not significantly different to controls. The size of full-thickness wounds treated with 8% silk sericin cream was also not significantly different when compared with silver sulfadiazine cream after 15 days, but the collagen deposits of wounds treated

with 8% silk sericin cream were higher than silver sulfadiazine cream-treated wounds [190]. This result conformed to the scar quality results in this study.

A post-inflammatory reaction occurred after skin inflammation or injury. A change in skin color was the most common effect. Melanocytes were stimulated by cytokines, chemokines, and inflammatory mediators, resulting in overproduction (hyperpigmentation) or lower production (hypopigmentation) of melanin and irregular pigment dispersion [183]. Therefore, wounds treated with dressings with good properties would have higher wound quality. The wound quality of STSG donor sites was presented in terms of melanin levels, erythema levels, TEWL levels, and VSS score.

The melanin levels represented the darkness and the erythema levels represented the redness of the scar, measured by a Cutometer<sup>®</sup> in mexameter mode (Courage+Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany). A good quality wound should have melanin and erythema levels close to those of normal skin. If the results were higher or lower than normal skin, it represented hyperpigmentation or hypopigmentation, respectively, with inflammation and poor scar quality. The scar quality of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group seemed to be better than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup>-treated group. The melanin levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group at healing time and 1 month were significantly lower than normal skin, following the amount of melanocytes developing. The levels were close to those of normal skin at 3 and 6 months. From these results, it might be concluded that neither the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB nor Bactigras<sup>®</sup> induced hyper- or hypopigmentation. The erythema levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup>-treated group were significantly higher than normal skin at all-time points. This result agreed with Danielsen et al. who demonstrated that the erythema and melanin levels of STSG donor site wounds treated with a petrolatum fabric dressing were higher than normal skin 1–3 months post-operation [191]. After 12 months, the erythema levels was still higher than normal skin but the melanin levels decreased to the same as normal skin because melanocytes increase in the first period after injury and decrease in mature scars [191]. However, the melanin and erythema levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group were significantly less than the control group at healing time and 1 month after wound healing (Figures 7 and 8). Therefore, wounds treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB had less inflammation and better scars than the control group. The silk sericin in the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB might activate fibroblasts to produce collagen in appropriate amounts, playing an important role in the wound scar process. It also decreased the inflammatory reaction by suppressing COX-2 and nitric oxide genes in the inflammation process [154], leading to a suitable environment for epithelialization and the collagen formation process. In an in vivo study, the levels of both inflammatory mediators (IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ) in a silk serie cream-treated group were significantly lower than the normal saline-treated and cream base-treated groups after 7 days [12]. In a clinical study, the researchers reported that sericin cream could reduce pruritus in hemodialysis patients. They found that the sericin cream-treated area had lower melanin and erythema levels than cream base-treated areas after 6 weeks [192]. Accordingly, sericin could reduce skin irritation and skin pigmentation resulting from a post-inflammatory reaction.

TEWL was a measure of the quantity of water that passes from inside a body through the epidermis to the outside environment. It was a reliable, noninvasive method to evaluate the functional barrier recovery of skin. After wound healing, the expected scar should have a low TEWL levels or one close to normal skin. It was measured using a Cutometer<sup>®</sup> in tewameter mode (Courage+Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany). If the TEWL values were higher than normal skin, it was characterized as poor quality skin. The TEWL levels of both the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group and the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group were significantly higher than normal skin at all-time points. From previous research, the TEWL of STSG donor sites became normal after around 6–13 months [191, 193]. However, the TEWL levels of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was significantly less than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup>-treated group after 1, 3, and 6 months, and continuously decreased 1 to 6 months post-operation (Figure 9). From these results, wounds treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB had superior scars to the control group. Silk sericin
was also able to keep wounds moist. It prevented water loss from the stratum corneum and allows water to accumulate in the skin layer. The results in this study agreed with the research of Hasatsri *et al.*. They found that the TEWL index of STSG donor site wounds treated with a bilayered wound dressing containing 1% silk sericin was lower than that of the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (control) group after post donor site healing days [34]. Padamwar *et al.* also demonstrated that the TEWL of skin treated with sericin gel was lower than that of non-treated skin [156]. Furthermore, the property of the biocellulose in this study to keep wounds moist was the other important factor for good scar quality. Atiyeh *et al.* found that partial-thickness wounds treated with a moist wound dressing showed lower TEWL and higher scar quality than a semipermeable membrane-occlusive dressing [194].

VSS was used to assess the scar quality with four parameters, vascularity (0-3), pigmentation (0-2), pliability (0-5), and height (0-3) (Appendix G). The maximum total score was 13. A higher VSS score represented poor scar quality. If the total score of the sample was lower than the control, it meant that the scar quality of the sample was better than the control. Overall VSS scores of both dressings were not significantly different. However, the VSS score of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group was lower than the control group at healing time and 1 month after wound healing because the pigmentation and height scores of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB-treated group were lower than the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group (Figures 11, 13, and 14). Moreover, the VSS score of both groups continuously decreased at 3 and 6 months. These results agreed with Barnea et al. who studied the efficacy of a moist wound dressing (carboxy-methylcellulose hydrocolloid dressing) and a non-moist wound dressing (paraffin gauze dressing) in STSG donor site treatment. They found that the VSS of the moist wound dressing-treated group was lower than the non-moist wound dressing-treated group after 1, 2, 3, and 12 months [195]. Innes et al. also found that the VSS of a moist wound dressing (hydrophilic polyurethane dressing)-treated wound was significantly lower than a non-moist wound dressing (non-adherent nanocrystalline silver-coated dressing)-treated wound 1 and 2 months' post-operation but there was no significant difference after 3 months. The biggest difference in the score was for the pigmentation and vascularity parts [196]. Therefore, from the results

of all parameters, it was concluded that wounds treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB had stronger epithelialization than wounds treated with Bactigras<sup>®</sup>.

The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB contained an antimicrobial agent. PHMB was a broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent with high efficacy and low toxicity. It could act as a biocide against aerobic and non-aerobic bacteria through binding between the negatively charged phosphate head groups of the bacterial cell wall and the cationic group of PHMB, and promotes interaction of hexamethylene spacer groups with the hydrophobic interior of the membrane bilayer, leading to membrane fluidity and permeability interference, and cell death [19]. However, this interaction is rarely found in human and animal cells. In this study, there were no signs and symptoms of infection observed in wounds covered with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB or Bactigras<sup>®</sup>. Biochemistry tests including white blood cell count and neutrophils presented in the normal range at days 0 and 5 after operation (Table 18) because both dressings contained an antimicrobial agent. These results agreed with Daeschlein et al. who reported that a PHMB dressing could protect against infection. They reported that no cases of wound infection occurred in secondary burn wounds treated with a 0.04% PHMB solution compared with wounds treated with an undiluted povidone-iodine solution or 1% silver nitrate solution [197]. Eberlein et al. [21] found that a PHMBcontaining biocellulose dressing had more rapid healing and reduced local wound infection compared to a silver dressing. Andriessen et al. also reported that the amount of wound infection of a PHMB solution-treated group was less than Ringer's solution- or saline solution-treated groups in venous leg ulcer treatment [198].

Pain score in this study was assessed by VAS (0 (no pain) to 10 (unbearable pain)). Biocellulose had a cooling property. Moreover, the ultrafine network structures of biocellulose were dense so they are barriers for cell migration into material, which led to pain reduction [6]. Furthermore, silk sericin could reduce an inflammatory reaction by suppressing COX-2 and nitric oxide genes in the inflammation process [154]. Because of these properties of biocellulose and silk sericin, the pain score of the group treated with the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB in this study was significantly lower than the

standard treatment at all times (Figure 15). This result agreed with Alvarez et al. [7] who studied chronic venous insufficiency and lower leg ulceration patients. Their results also indicated that a biocellulose wound dressing had a significantly lower pain score than a non-adherent petrolatum emulsion-impregnated cellulose acetate gauze treatment. Eberlian et al. also reported that the pain score of wounds treated with biocellulose was significantly lower than that of a silver dressing in critically colonized or locally infected wound treatment [21]. Moreover, the biocellulose wound dressing containing PHMB was also demonstrated to significantly reduce pain better and faster than silver sulfadiazine cream in partial-thickness burn patients [33]. Hasatsri et al. compared a bilayered wound dressing containing 1% silk sericin and Bactigras® in STSG donor site treatment. They found that the pain score of STSG donor site wounds treated with the bilayered wound dressing containing 1% silk sericin was significantly lower than that of the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> group 1 to 5 days postoperation [34]. Siritientong et al. also found that the pain score of STSG donor site wounds treated with ethyl alcohol-precipitated silk sericin/PVA scaffolds was significantly less than that of Bactigras<sup>®</sup> 1 to 5 days post-operation [13]. Greater pain reduction increased patient compliance and improved the quality of life of patients.

The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was composed of natural products, biocellulose and silk sericin, that were biocompatible and safe for humans. In this study, no adverse events were observed (Table 19). There were no adverse skin reactions including rash, itching, edema, or papules. Systemic reactions including renal function and hepatic function were normal. These results agreed with Eberlein *et al.*. They studied a biocellulose dressing in critically colonized or locally infected wounds. The results showed that no adverse reactions were observed in either the biocellulose dressing-treated group or the silver dressing (control)-treated group [21]. Alvarez *et al.* also reported that a biocellulose dressing did not significantly induce adverse reactions when compared with a non-adherent petrolatum emulsion-impregnated cellulose acetate gauze in chronic venous insufficiency and lower leg ulceration treatment [7]. No allergic reaction or irritation was found in biocellulose dressing-treated partial-thickness facial burn wounds [8]. Silk sericin was also demonstrated to have no toxicity in full-thickness wound treatment compared with povidone-iodine solution and a cream base without silk

sericin [11]. There were also no adverse effects in silk sericin cream-treated seconddegree burn wounds [186]. In STSG donor site treatment, no adverse events were found in a silk sericin-treated group compared with a Bactigras<sup>®</sup>-treated group [13, 34]. Moreover, PHMB in the dressing is a broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent with high efficacy and low toxicity. It is very friendly to human cells. No adverse reactions or irritation were observed in biocellulose dressing containing PHMB-treated infected wounds [20, 21]. PHMB solution used to treat second-degree burn wounds also had no side effects compared with undiluted povidone-iodine solution or 1% silver nitrate solution [197]. Therefore, this dressing was safe for patients.

The cost of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was lower than the standard treatment. It could save the overall treatment expense of patients. Patients were easy to approach to use this type of dressing. Moreover, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was produced from the natural resources of Thailand. It could increase the value of this resource and improve the economy.

#### Limitations

Phase II clinical study was single blinded study. Population in Phase II clinical study was small sample. Moreover, pain score might be difficult to evaluate because the wounds of both dressings were close. However, the most of patients could assess pain score. For the wound healing time, some patients had misunderstood about dressing detachment. The healing time in this study was the day that the dressing detached by itself with no exudate or air-contact pain. Some patients covered the dressing again when it detached by itself. Therefore, the wound healing time of the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB comparing to the control might be the same.

#### Conclusions

The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was produced from natural materials and contained a wound healing acceleration agent and an antimicrobial agent. For phase I clinical study in healthy volunteers, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was safe. No significant signs of inflammation or skin irritation were found. In phase II clinical study, the results demonstrated benefits to STSG donor site wounds. They showed better scar quality and reduced pain compared to the standard treatment (Bactigras<sup>®</sup>), while there was equal wound healing time because a lot of wound exudate had a direct effect on wounds treated with a low to moderate wound exudate absorption dressing, overcapacity of the wound dressing led to maceration and loss of the dressing's wound healing properties. No signs of infection or adverse events were observed in this study. Moreover, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB was also less expensive than the standard treatment (Bactigras<sup>®</sup>). Accordingly, the biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB is suitable for use as an alternative treatment of STSG donor site wounds.



#### REFERENCES

1. Coban YK, Aytekin AH, Tenekeci Gk. Skin Graft Harvesting and Donor Site Selection. 2011. In: Skin Grafts - Indications, Applications and Current Research [Internet]. InTech. Available from: <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/skin-grafts-indicationsapplications-and-current-research/skin-graft-harvesting-and-donor-site-selection</u>.

2. McCain D, Sutherland S. Nursing essentials: skin grafts for patients with burns. The American journal of nursing. 1998;98(7):34-8; quiz 9.

3. Wiechula R. The use of moist wound-healing dressings in the management of split-thickness skin graft donor sites: a systematic review. International journal of nursing practice. 2003;9(2):S9-17.

4. JBI. Split thickness skin graft donor sites: post harvest management Best Practice. 2002;6(2):1-6.

5. Czaja W, Krystynowicz A, Bielecki S, Brown Jr RM. Microbial cellulose the natural power to heal wounds. Biomaterials. 2006;27(2):145-51.

6. Torres F, Commeaux S, Troncoso O. Biocompatibility of Bacterial Cellulose Based Biomaterials. Journal of Functional Biomaterials. 2012;3(4):864-78.

7. Alvarez OM, Patel M, Booker J, Markowitz L. Effectiveness of a Biocellulose Wound Dressing for the Treatment of Chronic Venous Leg Ulcers: Results of a Single Center Randomized Study Involving 24 Patients. Wounds. 2004;16(7):224-33.

8. Muangman P, Opasanon S, Suwanchot S, Thangthed O. Efficiency of microbial cellulose dressing in partial-thickness burn wounds. The Journal of the American College of Certified Wound Specialists. 2011;3(1):16-9.

9. Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature. 2008;453(7193):314-21.

10. Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, De-Eknamkul W, Kamei K, Srichana T. The effect of sericin with variable amino-acid content from different silk strains on the production of collagen and nitric oxide. Journal of biomaterials science Polymer edition. 2009;20(9):1295-306.

11. Aramwit P, Sangcakul A. The effects of sericin cream on wound healing in rats. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry. 2007;71(10):2473-7.

12. Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, De-Eknamkul W, Srichana T. Monitoring of inflammatory mediators induced by silk sericin. J Biosci Bioeng. 2009;107(5):556-61.

13. Siritientong T, Angspatt A, Ratanavaraporn J, Aramwit P. Clinical potential of a silk sericin-releasing bioactive wound dressing for the treatment of split-thickness skin graft donor sites. Pharmaceutical research. 2014;31(1):104-16.

14. Padamwar MN, Pawar AP. Silk sericin and its applications: A review. Journal of Scientific & Industrial Research. 2004;63:323-9.

15. Artz CP, Soroff HS. MOdern concepts in the treatment of burns. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1955;159(5):411-7.

16. Weber J, McManus A. Infection control in burn patients. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2004;30(8):A16-24.

17. Rafla K, Tredget EE. Infection control in the burn unit. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2011;37(1):5-15.

18. Roth B, Brill FH. Polihexanide for wound treatment--how it began. Skin pharmacology and physiology. 2010;23 Suppl:4-6.

19. Kaehn K. Polihexanide: a safe and highly effective biocide. Skin pharmacology and physiology. 2010;23 Suppl:7-16.

20. Lenselink E, Andriessen A. A cohort study on the efficacy of a polyhexanidecontaining biocellulose dressing in the treatment of biofilms in wounds. Journal of wound care. 2011;20(11):534, 6-9.

21. Eberlein T, Haemmerle G, Signer M, Gruber Moesenbacher U, Traber J, Mittlboeck M, et al. Comparison of PHMB-containing dressing and silver dressings in patients with critically colonised or locally infected wounds. Journal of wound care. 2012;21(1):12, 4-6, 8-20.

22. Hubner NO, Kramer A. Review on the efficacy, safety and clinical applications of polihexanide, a modern wound antiseptic. Skin pharmacology and physiology. 2010;23 Suppl:17-27.

23. Eberlein T, Assadian O. Clinical use of polihexanide on acute and chronic wounds for antisepsis and decontamination. Skin pharmacology and physiology. 2010;23 Suppl:45-51.

24. Napavichayanun S, Yamdech R, Aramwit P. The safety and efficacy of bacterial nanocellulose wound dressing incorporating sericin and polyhexamethylene biguanide: in vitro, in vivo and clinical studies. Archives of dermatological research. 2016;308(2):123-32.

25. Ratner D. SKIN GRAFTING: From Here to There\*. Dermatologic Clinics. 1998;16(1):75-90.

26. Swaim SF. Skin grafts. The Veterinary clinics of North America Small animal practice. 1990;20(1):147-75.

27. Semer NB. Skin grafts. 2001. In: Practical plastic surgery for nonsurgeons [Internet]. Hanley & Belfus Inc; [97-109]. Available from:

www.practicalplasticsurgery.org/docs/PPS\_complete.pdf.

28. Beldon P. What you need to know about skin grafts and donor site infections. Wound Essentials. 2007;2:149-55.

29. Hallock GG. The cosmetic split-thickness skin graft donor site. Plastic and reconstructive surgery. 1999;104(7):2286-8.

30. Verbelen J, Hoeksema H, Heyneman A, Pirayesh A, Monstrey S. Aquacel((R)) Ag dressing versus Acticoat dressing in partial thickness burns: a prospective, randomized, controlled study in 100 patients. Part 1: burn wound healing. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2014;40(3):416-27.

31. Caruso DM, Foster KN, Hermans MH, Rick C. Aquacel Ag in the management of partial-thickness burns: results of a clinical trial. The Journal of burn care & rehabilitation. 2004;25(1):89-97.

32. Huang Y, Li X, Liao Z, Zhang G, Liu Q, Tang J, et al. A randomized comparative trial between Acticoat and SD-Ag in the treatment of residual burn wounds, including safety analysis. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2007;33(2):161-6.

33. Piatkowski A, Drummer N, Andriessen A, Ulrich D, Pallua N. Randomized controlled single center study comparing a polyhexanide containing bio-cellulose dressing with silver sulfadiazine cream in partial-thickness dermal burns. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2011;37(5):800-4.

34. Hasatsri S, Angspatt A, Aramwit P. Randomized Clinical Trial of the Innovative Bilayered Wound Dressing Made of Silk and Gelatin: Safety and Efficacy Tests Using a Split-Thickness Skin Graft Model. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 2015;2015:8.

35. Muangman P, Chuntrasakul C, Silthram S, Suvanchote S, Benjathanung R, Kittidacha S, et al. Comparison of efficacy of 1% silver sulfadiazine and Acticoat for treatment of partial-thickness burn wounds. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand = Chotmaihet thangphaet. 2006;89(7):953-8.

36. Muangman P, Pundee C, Opasanon S, Muangman S. A prospective, randomized trial of silver containing hydrofiber dressing versus 1% silver sulfadiazine for the treatment of partial thickness burns. International wound journal. 2010;7(4):271-6.

37. Caruso DM, Foster KN, Blome-Eberwein SA, Twomey JA, Herndon DN, Luterman A, et al. Randomized clinical study of Hydrofiber dressing with silver or silver sulfadiazine in the management of partial-thickness burns. Journal of burn care & research : official publication of the American Burn Association. 2006;27(3):298-309.

38. Muangman P, Muangman S, Keorochana K, Roeksomtawin S, Somcharit L, Chuntrasakul C. Advantages of Urgotul S.S.D over Silver Sulfadiazine Cream in the Outpatient Management of Partial Thickness Burns. The THAI Journal of SURGERY. 2007;28:98-102.

39. Carsin H, Wassermann D, Pannier M, Dumas R, Bohbot S. A silver sulphadiazine-impregnated lipidocolloid wound dressing to treat second-degree burns. Journal of wound care. 2004;13(4):145-8.

40. Blumenreich MS. The White Blood Cell and Differential Count. In: Walker HK, Hall WD, Hurst JW, editors. Clinical Methods: The History, Physical, and Laboratory Examinations. Boston: Butterworths

Butterworth Publishers, a division of Reed Publishing.; 1990.

41. Young PJ, Saxena M. Fever management in intensive care patients with infections. Critical Care. 2014;18(2):206-.

42. Flores A, Kingsley A. Topical antimicrobial dressings: an overview. Wound Essentials. 2007;2:182-5.

43. Alsbjorn B, Gilbert P, Hartmann B, Kazmierski M, Monstrey S, Palao R, et al. Guidelines for the management of partial-thickness burns in a general hospital or community setting--recommendations of a European working party. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2007;33(2):155-60.

44. Ashraf S, Akhtar N, Ghauri MA, Rajoka MI, Khalid ZM, Hussain I. Polyhexamethylene biguanide functionalized cationic silver nanoparticles for enhanced antimicrobial activity. Nanoscale research letters. 2012;7(1):267.

45. Voineskos SH, Ayeni OA, McKnight L, Thoma A. Systematic review of skin graft donor-site dressings. Plastic and reconstructive surgery. 2009;124(1):298-306.

46. Honari S. Topical therapies and antimicrobials in the management of burn wounds. Critical care nursing clinics of North America. 2004;16(1):1-11.

47. Queen D, Evans JH, Gaylor JDS, Courtney JM, Reid WH. Burn wound dressings—a review. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 1987;13(3):218-28.

48. Balasubramani M, Kumar TR, Babu M. Skin substitutes: a review. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2001;27(5):534-44.

49. Richetta AG, Cantisani C, Li VW, Mattozzi C, Melis L, De Gado F, et al. Hydrofiber dressing and wound repair: review of the literature and new patents. Recent patents on inflammation & allergy drug discovery. 2011;5(2):150-4.

50. Chaby G, Senet P, Vaneau M, Martel P, Guillaume JC, Meaume S, et al. Dressings for acute and chronic wounds: a systematic review. Archives of dermatology. 2007;143(10):1297-304.

51. Jones A, Vaughan D. Hydrogel dressings in the management of a variety of wound types: A review. Journal of Orthopaedic Nursing. 2005;9, Supplement 1:S1-S11.

52. Wasiak J, Cleland H, Campbell F. Dressings for superficial and partial thickness burns. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2008(4):Cd002106.

53. Thomas S. Hydrocolloid dressings in the management of acute wounds: a review of the literature. International wound journal. 2008;5(5):602-13.

54. Meaume S, Senet P, Dumas R, Carsin H, Pannier M, Bohbot S. Urgotul: a novel non-adherent lipidocolloid dressing. British journal of nursing (Mark Allen Publishing). 2002;11(16 Suppl):S42-3, s6-50.

55. Quinn KJ, Courtney JM, Evans JH, Gaylor JDS, Reid WH. Principles of burn dressings. Biomaterials. 1985;6(6):369-77.

56. Baldry MG. The bactericidal, fungicidal and sporicidal properties of hydrogen peroxide and peracetic acid. The Journal of applied bacteriology. 1983;54(3):417-23. 57. Yamada Y, Hoshino K, Ishikawa T. The phylogeny of acetic acid bacteria based on the partial sequences of 16S ribosomal RNA: the elevation of the subgenus Gluconoacetobacter to the generic level. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry. 1997;61(8):1244-51.

58. Krystynowicz A, Czaja W, Wiktorowska-Jezierska A, Goncalves-Miskiewicz M, Turkiewicz M, Bielecki S. Factors affecting the yield and properties of bacterial cellulose. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology. 2002;29(4):189-95.

59. Masaoka S, Ohe T, Sakota N. Production of cellulose from glucose by
Acetobacter xylinum. Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering. 1993;75(1):18-22.
60. Hwang JW, Yang YK, Hwang JK, Pyun YR, Kim YS. Effects of pH and
dissolved oxygen on cellulose production by Acetobacter xylinum BRC5 in agitated
culture. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering. 1999;88(2):183-8.

61. Dahman Y, Jayasuriya KE, Kalis M. Potential of biocellulose nanofibers production from agricultural renewable resources: preliminary study. Applied biochemistry and biotechnology. 2010;162(6):1647-59.

62. Chawla PR, Bajaj IB, Survase SA, Singhal RS. Fermentative Production of Microbial Cellulose. Food Technology and Biotechnology. 2009;47(2):107-24.

63. Ross P, Mayer R, Benziman M. Cellulose biosynthesis and function in bacteria. Microbiological reviews. 1991;55(1):35-58.

64. Iguchi M, Yamanaka S, Budhiono A. Bacterial cellulose—a masterpiece of nature's arts. Journal of Materials Science. 2000;35(2):261-70.

65. Nakagaito AN, Iwamoto S, Yano H. Bacterial cellulose: the ultimate nanoscalar cellulose morphology for the production of high-strength composites. Appl Phys A. 2005;80(1):93-7.

66. Trovatti E, Silva NHCS, Duarte IF, Rosado CF, Almeida IF, Costa P, et al. Biocellulose Membranes as Supports for Dermal Release of Lidocaine. Biomacromolecules. 2011;12(11):4162-8. 67. Czaja WK, Young DJ, Kawecki M, Brown RM, Jr. The future prospects of microbial cellulose in biomedical applications. Biomacromolecules. 2007;8(1):1-12.
68. Helenius G, Backdahl H, Bodin A, Nannmark U, Gatenholm P, Risberg B. In vivo biocompatibility of bacterial cellulose. Journal of biomedical materials research Part A. 2006;76(2):431-8.

69. Mendes PN, Rahal SC, Pereira-Junior OCM, Fabris VE, Lenharo SLR, de Lima-Neto JF, et al. In vivo and in vitro evaluation of an Acetobacter xylinum synthesized microbial cellulose membrane intended for guided tissue repair. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica. 2009;51(1):12-.

70. Park SU, Lee BK, Kim MS, Park KK, Sung WJ, Kim HY, et al. The possibility of microbial cellulose for dressing and scaffold materials. International wound journal. 2014;11(1):35-43.

71. Fontana JD, de Souza AM, Fontana CK, Torriani IL, Moreschi JC, Gallotti BJ, et al. Acetobacter cellulose pellicle as a temporary skin substitute. Applied biochemistry and biotechnology. 1990;24-25:253-64.

72. Napavichayanun S, Aramwit P. Effect of animal products and extracts on wound healing promotion in topical applications: a review. Journal of biomaterials science Polymer edition. 2017;28(8):703-29.

73. Azuma K, Ifuku S, Osaki T, Okamoto Y, Minami S. Preparation and biomedical applications of chitin and chitosan nanofibers. Journal of biomedical nanotechnology. 2014;10(10):2891-920.

74. Younes I, Rinaudo M. Chitin and chitosan preparation from marine sources. Structure, properties and applications. Marine drugs. 2015;13(3):1133-74.

75. Dash M, Chiellini F, Ottenbrite RM, Chiellini E. Chitosan—A versatile semisynthetic polymer in biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci. 2011;36(8):981-1014.

76. Prudden JF, Migel P, Hanson P, Friedrich L, Balassa L. The discovery of a potent pure chemical wound-healing accelerator. American journal of surgery. 1970;119(5):560-4.

77. Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Sudheesh Kumar PT, Nair SV, Tamura H. Biomaterials based on chitin and chitosan in wound dressing applications. Biotechnology advances. 2011;29(3):322-37.

78. Lee DW, Lim H, Chong HN, Shim WS. Advances in Chitosan Material and its Hybrid Derivatives: A Review. TOBIOMTJ. 2009;1:10-20.

79. Ueno H, Nakamura F, Murakami M, Okumura M, Kadosawa T, Fujinag T. Evaluation effects of chitosan for the extracellular matrix production by fibroblasts and the growth factors production by macrophages. Biomaterials. 2001;22(15):2125-30.

80. Nishimura K, Ishihara C, Ukei S, Tokura S, Azuma I. Stimulation of cytokine production in mice using deacetylated chitin. Vaccine. 1986;4(3):151-6.

81. Liu XF, Guan YL, Yang DZ, Li Z, Yao KD. Antibacterial action of chitosan and carboxymethylated chitosan. J Appl Polym Sci. 2001;79:1324–35.

82. Zheng L-Y, Zhu J-F. Study on antimicrobial activity of chitosan with different molecular weights. Carbohydr Polym. 2003;54(4):527-30.

83. Goy RC, Britto Dd, Assis OBG. A review of the antimicrobial activity of chitosan. Polímeros. 2009;19:241-7.

84. Chatelet C, Damour O, Domard A. Influence of the degree of acetylation on some biological properties of chitosan films. Biomaterials. 2001;22(3):261-8.

85. Deng C-M, He L-Z, Zhao M, Yang D, Liu Y. Biological properties of the chitosan-gelatin sponge wound dressing. Carbohydr Polym. 2007;69(3):583-9.

86. Rao SB, Sharma CP. Use of chitosan as a biomaterial: studies on its safety and hemostatic potential. Journal of biomedical materials research. 1997;34(1):21-8.

87. Ishihara M, Nakanishi K, Ono K, Sato M, Kikuchi M, Saito Y, et al. Photocrosslinkable chitosan as a dressing for wound occlusion and accelerator in healing process. Biomaterials. 2002;23(3):833-40.

88. Shoulders MD, Raines RT. COLLAGEN STRUCTURE AND STABILITY. Annu Rev Biochem. 2009;78:929-58.

89. Yamada S, Yamamoto K, Ikeda T, Yanagiguchi K, Hayashi Y. Potency of
Fish Collagen as a Scaffold for Regenerative Medicine. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:8.
90. Fleck CA, Simman R. Modern Collagen Wound Dressings: Function and

Purpose. J Am Col Certif Wound Spec. 2010;2(3):50-4.

91. Kleinman HK, Murray JC, McGoodwin EB, Martin GR. Connective tissue structure: cell binding to collagen. The Journal of investigative dermatology. 1978;71(1):9-11.

92. Postlethwaite AE, Seyer JM, Kang AH. Chemotactic attraction of human fibroblasts to type I, II, and III collagens and collagen-derived peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1978;75(2):871-5.

93. Mosher DF, Schad PE. Cross-linking of fibronectin to collagen by blood coagulation Factor XIIIa. J Clin Invest. 1979;64(3):781-7.

94. Vermylen J, Verstraete M, Fuster V. Role of platelet activation and fibrin formation in thrombogenesis. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 1986;8(6 Suppl B):2b-9b.

95. Sweeney SM, DiLullo G, Slater SJ, Martinez J, Iozzo RV, Lauer-Fields JL, et al. Angiogenesis in collagen I requires alpha2beta1 ligation of a GFP\*GER sequence and possibly p38 MAPK activation and focal adhesion disassembly. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2003;278(33):30516-24.

96. Brett D. A Review of Collagen and Collagen-based Wound Dressings. Wounds. 2008;20(12):347-56.

97. Ulrich D, Smeets R, Unglaub F, Woltje M, Pallua N. Effect of oxidized regenerated cellulose/collagen matrix on proteases in wound exudate of patients with diabetic foot ulcers. Journal of wound, ostomy, and continence nursing : official publication of The Wound, Ostomy and Continence Nurses Society. 2011;38(5):522-8.

98. Graumlich JF, Blough LS, McLaughlin RG, Milbrandt JC, Calderon CL, Agha SA, et al. Healing pressure ulcers with collagen or hydrocolloid: a randomized, controlled trial. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2003;51(2):147-54.

99. Mullins RJ, Richards C, Walker T. Allergic reactions to oral, surgical and topical bovine collagen. Anaphylactic risk for surgeons. Australian and New Zealand journal of ophthalmology. 1996;24(3):257-60.

100. Lee CH, Singla A, Lee Y. Biomedical applications of collagen. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2001;221(1-2):1-22.

101. Shah SV, Chakravarthy D. Evaluation of a bovine 100% native collagen for the treatment of chronic wounds: a case series. Journal of wound, ostomy, and continence nursing : official publication of The Wound, Ostomy and Continence Nurses Society / WOCN. 2015;42(3):226-34.

102. Westgate S, Cutting KF, DeLuca G, Asaad K. Collagen dressings Made Easy. Wounds UK. 2012;8(1):1-4.

103. Olaitan PB, Adeleke OE, Ola IO. Honey: a reservoir for microorganisms and an inhibitory agent for microbes. Afr Health Sci. 2007;7(3):159-65.

104. da Silva PM, Gauche C, Gonzaga LV, Costa ACO, Fett R. Honey: Chemical composition, stability and authenticity. Food Chem. 2016;196:309-23.

105. El Sohaimy SA, Masry SHD, Shehata MG. Physicochemical characteristics of honey from different origins. Ann Agric Sci. 2015;60(2):279-87.

106. Eteraf-Oskouei T, Najafi M. Traditional and Modern Uses of Natural Honey in Human Diseases: A Review. Iranian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences. 2013;16(6):731-42.

107. Molan P, Rhodes T. Honey: A Biologic Wound Dressing. Wounds. 2015;27(6):141-51.

108. Yaghoobi R, Kazerouni A, kazerouni O. Evidence for Clinical Use of Honey in Wound Healing as an Anti-bacterial, Anti-inflammatory Anti-oxidant and Antiviral Agent: A Review. Jundishapur J Nat Pharm Prod. 2013;8(3):100-4.

109. Molan PC. Re-introducing honey in the management of wounds and ulcers - theory and practice. Ostomy/wound management. 2002;48(11):28-40.

110. Adams CJ, Manley-Harris M, Molan PC. The origin of methylglyoxal in New Zealand manuka (Leptospermum scoparium) honey. Carbohydrate research. 2009;344(8):1050-3.

111. Pieper B. Honey-based dressings and wound care: an option for care in the United States. Journal of wound, ostomy, and continence nursing : official publication of The Wound, Ostomy and Continence Nurses Society. 2009;36(1):60-6; quiz 7-8.

112. Simon A, Traynor K, Santos K, Blaser G, Bode U, Molan P. Medical honey for wound care--still the 'latest resort'? Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2009;6(2):165-73.

113. Al-Waili N, Salom K, Al-Ghamdi AA. Honey for wound healing, ulcers, and burns; data supporting its use in clinical practice. TheScientificWorldJournal. 2011;11:766-87.

114. van den Berg AJ, van den Worm E, van Ufford HC, Halkes SB, Hoekstra MJ, Beukelman CJ. An in vitro examination of the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of buckwheat honey. Journal of wound care. 2008;17(4):172-4, 6-8.

115. Alam F, Islam MA, Gan SH, Khalil MI. Honey: A Potential Therapeutic Agent for Managing Diabetic Wounds. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2014;2014:16.

116. Buttner A, Thieme D. Side effects of anabolic androgenic steroids: pathological findings and structure-activity relationships. Handbook of experimental pharmacology. 2010(195):459-84.

117. Lee D-M, Bhat AR, Kim Y-W, Shin DH, Kim J-Y, Kim K-J, et al. Effects of porcine testis extract on wound healing in rat. Animal Cells Syst. 2012;16(6):469-78.
118. Nandrolone [Internet]. National Center for Biotechnology Information. 2016 [cited 18/11/2016]. Available from:

https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/nandrolone#section=Top.

119. Testoterone [Internet]. National Center for Biotechnology Information. 2016 [cited 18/11/2016]. Available from:

https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/6013#section=Top.

120. Estradiol [Internet]. National Center for Biotechnology Information. 2016 [cited 18/11/2016]. Available from:

https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/5757#section=Odor.

121. Demling RH. The Role of Anabolic Hormones for Wound Healing in Catabolic States. J Burns Wounds. 2005;4:e2.

122. Chiu ML, O'Keefe EJ. Placental keratinocyte growth factor: Partial purification and comparison with epidermal growth factor. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1989;269(1):75-85.

123. Presta M, Mignatti P, Mullins DE, Moscatelli DA. Human placental tissue stimulates bovine capillary endothelial cell growth, migration and protease production. Bioscience reports. 1985;5(9):783-90.

124. Hueber F, Schaefer H, Wepierre J. Role of transepidermal and transfollicular routes in percutaneous absorption of steroids: in vitro studies on human skin. Skin pharmacology : the official journal of the Skin Pharmacology Society. 1994;7(5):237-44.

125. Guzmán F, Barberis S, Illanes A. Peptide synthesis: chemical or enzymatic. Electron J Biotechnol [Internet]. 2007 22/11/2016; 10:[279-314 pp.]. Available from: <u>http://www.ejbiotechnology.info/index.php/ejbiotechnology/article/view/v10n2-13</u>.
126. Bell LN. Peptide Stability in Solids and Solutions. Biotechnol Prog. 1997;13(4):342-6.

127. Mu L, Tang J, Liu H, Shen C, Rong M, Zhang Z, et al. A potential woundhealing-promoting peptide from salamander skin. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2014;28(9):3919-29.

128. Liu H, Mu L, Tang J, Shen C, Gao C, Rong M, et al. A potential wound healing-promoting peptide from frog skin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2014;49:32-41.
129. Yamada KM. Fibronectin peptides in cell migration and wound repair. J Clin Invest. 2000;105(11):1507-9.

130. Kawasumi A, Sagawa N, Hayashi S, Yokoyama H, Tamura K. Wound healing in mammals and amphibians: toward limb regeneration in mammals. Current topics in microbiology and immunology. 2013;367:33-49.

131. Perrimon N, Bernfield M. Cellular functions of proteoglycans--an overview. Seminars in cell & developmental biology. 2001;12(2):65-7.

132. Iozzo RV, Schaefer L. Proteoglycan form and function: A comprehensive nomenclature of proteoglycans. Matrix Biol. 2015;42:11-55.

133. Knudson CB, Knudson W. Cartilage proteoglycans. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2001;12(2):69-78.

134. Ito G, Kobayashi T, Takeda Y, Sokabe M. Proteoglycan from salmon nasal cartridge [corrected] promotes in vitro wound healing of fibroblast monolayers via the CD44 receptor. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2015;456(3):792-8.

135. Kakizaki I, Tatara Y, Majima M, Kato Y, Endo M. Identification of proteoglycan from salmon nasal cartilage. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2011;506(1):58-65.

136. Watanabe H, Yamada Y, Kimata K. Roles of aggrecan, a large chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan, in cartilage structure and function. Journal of biochemistry. 1998;124(4):687-93.

137. Kakizaki I, Mineta T, Sasaki M, Tatara Y, Makino E, Kato Y. Biochemical and atomic force microscopic characterization of salmon nasal cartilage proteoglycan. Carbohydr Polym. 2014;103:538-49.

138. Ishikawa LLW, Colavite PM, da Rosa LC, Balbino B, França T, Zorzella-Pezavento S, et al. Commercial Bovine Proteoglycan Is Highly Arthritogenic and Can Be Used as an Alternative Antigen Source for PGIA Model. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014.

139. Poole AR, Reiner A, Tang L-H, Rosenberg L. Proteoglycans from Bovine Nasal Cartilage. J Biol Chem. 1980;255(19):9295-305.

140. Hardingham TE, Fosang AJ. Proteoglycans: many forms and many functions. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 1992;6(3):861-70.

141. Gallo RL. Proteoglycans and Cutaneous Vascular Defense and Repair. J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc. 2000;5(1):55-60.

142. Ghatak S, Maytin EV, Mack JA, Hascall VC, Atanelishvili I, Moreno Rodriguez R, et al. Roles of Proteoglycans and Glycosaminoglycans in Wound Healing and Fibrosis. International journal of cell biology. 2015;2015:834893.

143. Bunman S, Aramwit P, Larbcharoensub N, Towiwat P. Application of proteoglycans from fish cartilage for the acceleration of burn wound healing. TJPS. 2015;39(3).

144. Kudo S, Ito S, Yoshihara S, Kato Y. Safety Evaluation of Salmon Nasal Cartilage Powder Containing Proteoglycan as a Major Constituent. J JPN SOC FOOD SCI. 2011;58(11):542-7.

145. Patel R, Modasiya MK. Sericin: Pharmaceutical Applications. International Journal of Research in Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Sciences. 2011;2(3).

146. Terada S, Nishimura T, Sasaki M, Yamada H, Miki M. Sericin, a protein derived from silkworms, accelerates the proliferation of several mammalian cell lines including a hybridoma. Cytotechnology. 2002;40(1-3):3-12.

147. Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, Nakpheng T, Srichana T. The Effect of Sericin from Various Extraction Methods on Cell Viability and Collagen Production. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2010;11(5):2200-11.

148. Tsujimoto K, Takagi H, Takahashi M, Yamada H, Nakamori S. Cryoprotective effect of the serine-rich repetitive sequence in silk protein sericin. Journal of biochemistry. 2001;129(6):979-86.

149. Tsubouchi K, Igarashi Y, Takasu Y, Yamada H. Sericin enhances attachment of cultured human skin fibroblasts. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry. 2005;69(2):403-5.

150. Rajendran R, Balakumar C, Sivakumar R, Amruta T, Devaki N. Extraction and application of natural silk protein sericin from Bombyx mori as antimicrobial finish for cotton fabrics. J Text I. 2012;103(4):458-62.

151. Senakoon W, Nuchadomrong S, Sirimungkararat S, Senawong T, Kitikoon3 P. Antibacterial action of eri (samia ricini) sericin against escherichia coli and staphylococcus aureus. As J Food Ag-Ind. 2009(Special Issue):S222-S8.

152. Jassim KN, Al-Saree OJ. Study of the antimicrobial activity of silk sericin from silkworm bombyx mori. Iraqi J Comm Med. 2010;23(2):130-3.

153. Kaur J, Rajkhowa R, Afrin T, Tsuzuki T, Wang X. Facts and myths of antibacterial properties of silk. Biopolymers. 2014;101(3):237-45.

154. Aramwit P, Towiwat P, Srichana T. Anti-inflammatory potential of silk sericin. Natural product communications. 2013;8(4):501-4.

155. Khampieng T, Aramwit P, Supaphol P. Silk sericin loaded alginate nanoparticles: Preparation and anti-inflammatory efficacy. International journal of biological macromolecules. 2015;80:636-43.

156. Padamwar MN, Pawar AP, Daithankar AV, Mahadik KR. Silk sericin as a moisturizer: an in vivo study. Journal of cosmetic dermatology. 2005;4(4):250-7.

157. Jang M-K, Kong B-G, Jeong Y-I, Lee CH, Nah J-W. Physicochemical characterization of  $\alpha$ -chitin,  $\beta$ -chitin, and  $\gamma$ -chitin separated from natural resources. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem. 2004;42(14):3423-32.

158. Neely AN, Gardner J, Durkee P, Warden GD, Greenhalgh DG, Gallagher JJ, et al. Are topical antimicrobials effective against bacteria that are highly resistant to systemic antibiotics? Journal of burn care & research : official publication of the American Burn Association. 2009;30(1):19-29.

159. Lio PA, Kaye ET. Topical Antibacterial Agents. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2009;23(4):945-63.

160. Butcher M. PHMB: an effective antimicrobial in wound bioburden management. British journal of nursing (Mark Allen Publishing). 2012;21(12):S16, s8-21.

161. Kutner A, Friedman A. Current and future trends in topical antimicrobials.(NEWS, VIEWS, & REVIEWS)(Report). Journal of Drugs in Dermatology. 2009;12(1):122-6.

162. Gelmetti C. Local antibiotics in dermatology. Dermatologic therapy. 2008;21(3):187-95.

163. Lipsky BA, Hoey C. Topical antimicrobial therapy for treating chronic wounds. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2009;49(10):1541-9.

164. Best Practice Statement: The use of topical antiseptic/antimicrobial agents in wound management [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2013 March, 25]. Available from: http://www.wounds-uk.com/pdf/content\_9627.pdf.

165. Gray D, Barrett S, Battacharyya M, Butcher M, Enoch S, Fumerola S, et al. PHMB and its potential contribution to wound management. Wounds UK. 2010;6(2):40-6.

166. Ikeda T, Tazuke S, Watanabe M. Interaction of biologically active molecules with phospholipid membranes. I. Fluorescence depolarization studies on the effect of polymeric biocide bearing biguanide groups in the main chain. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1983;735(3):380-6.

167. Ikeda T, Ledwith A, Bamford CH, Hann RA. Interaction of a polymeric biguanide biocide with phospholipid membranes. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1984;769(1):57-66.

168. Allen MJ, Morby AP, White GF. Cooperativity in the binding of the cationic biocide polyhexamethylene biguanide to nucleic acids. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2004;318(2):397-404.

169. Koburger T, Hubner NO, Braun M, Siebert J, Kramer A. Standardized comparison of antiseptic efficacy of triclosan, PVP-iodine, octenidine dihydrochloride, polyhexanide and chlorhexidine digluconate. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2010;65(8):1712-9.

170. Moore K, Gray D. Using PHMB antimicrobial to prevent wound infection. Wounds UK. 2007;3(2):96-102.

171. De Paula GF, Netto GI, Mattoso LHC. Physical and Chemical Characterization of Poly(hexamethylene biguanide) Hydrochloride. Polymers. 2011;3(2):928-41.

172. O'Malley LP, Collins AN, White GF. Biodegradability of end-groups of the biocide polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) assessed using model compounds. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology. 2006;33(8):677-84.

173. Roth C, Beule AG, Kramer A, Hosemann W, Kohlmann T, Scharf C. Response analysis of stimulating efficacy of polihexanide in an in vitro wound model with respiratory ciliary epithelial cells. Skin pharmacology and physiology. 2010;23 Suppl:35-40.

174. Muller G, Kramer A. Effect of selected wound antiseptics on adult articular cartilage (bovine sesamoid bone) in the presence of Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society. 2005;23(1):127-33.

175. Langer S, Sedigh Salakdeh M, Goertz O, Steinau HU, Steinstraesser L, Homann HH. The impact of topical antiseptics on skin microcirculation. European journal of medical research. 2004;9(9):449-54.

176. Muller G, Kramer A, Schmitt J, Harden D, Koburger T. Reduced cytotoxicity of polyhexamethylene biguanide hydrochloride (PHMB) by egg phosphatidylcholine while maintaining antimicrobial efficacy. Chemico-biological interactions. 2011;190(2-3):171-8.

177. Napavichayanun S, Amornsudthiwat P, Pienpinijtham P, Aramwit P. Interaction and effectiveness of antimicrobials along with healing-promoting agents in a novel biocellulose wound dressing. Materials Science and Engineering: C. 2015;55:95-104.

178. Napavichayanun S, Yamdech R, Aramwit P. The Development of Bacterial Cellulose Incorporating Silk Sericin, Polyhexamethylene Biguanide, and Glycerin with Enhanced Physical Properties and Antibacterial Activities for Wound Dressing Application2017.

179. McNamee PM, Api AM, Basketter DA, Frank Gerberick G, Gilpin DA, Hall BM, et al. A review of critical factors in the conduct and interpretation of the human repeat insult patch test. Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology : RTP. 2008;52(1):24-34.

180. Lohsiriwat V, Chuangsuwanich A. Comparison of the ionic silver-containing hydrofiber and paraffin gauze dressing on split-thickness skin graft donor sites. Annals of plastic surgery. 2009;62(4):421-2.

181. Verschuren PG, Cardona TD, Nout MJ, De Gooijer KD, Van den Heuvel JC. Location and limitation of cellulose production by Acetobacter xylinum established from oxygen profiles. J Biosci Bioeng. 2000;89(5):414-9.

182. Hasatsri S, Yamdech R, Chanvorachote P, Aramwit P. Physical and biological assessments of the innovative bilayered wound dressing made of silk and gelatin for clinical applications. Journal of biomaterials applications. 2015;29(9):1304-13.

183. Davis EC, Callender VD. Postinflammatory Hyperpigmentation: A Review of the Epidemiology, Clinical Features, and Treatment Options in Skin of Color. The Journal of clinical and aesthetic dermatology. 2010;3(7):20-31.

184. Maenthaisong R, Chaiyakunapruk N, Warnnissorn P, Viyoch J. Cleansing lotion containing tamarind fruit pulp extract. III. Study of lightening efficacy and skin irritation on Asian skin type. ScienceAsia 35. 2009:24-31.

185. Ibarra de Palacios P, Schmidt G, Sergejew T, Quebe-Fehling E, Lockhart L, Krinsky L. Comparative study to evaluate skin irritation and adhesion of Estradot and Climara in healthy postmenopausal women. Climacteric : the journal of the International Menopause Society. 2002;5(4):383-9.

186. Aramwit P, Palapinyo S, Srichana T, Chottanapund S, Muangman P. Silk sericin ameliorates wound healing and its clinical efficacy in burn wounds. Archives of dermatological research. 2013;305(7):585-94.

187. Hakkarainen T, Koivuniemi R, Kosonen M, Escobedo-Lucea C, Sanz-Garcia A, Vuola J, et al. Nanofibrillar cellulose wound dressing in skin graft donor site treatment. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2016;244(Pt B):292-301.

188. Davidson A, Jina NH, Marsh C, Than M, Simcock JW. Do Functional Keratin Dressings Accelerate Epithelialization in Human Partial Thickness Wounds? A Randomized Controlled Trial on Skin Graft Donor Sites. Eplasty. 2013;13:e45.

189. Lauchli S, Hafner J, Ostheeren S, Mayer D, Barysch MJ, French LE. Management of split-thickness skin graft donor sites: a randomized controlled trial of calcium alginate versus polyurethane film dressing. Dermatology (Basel, Switzerland). 2013;227(4):361-6.

190. Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, Punyarit P, Srichana T. Effectiveness of inflammatory cytokines induced by sericin compared to sericin in combination with silver sulfadiazine cream on wound healing. Wounds. 2009;21(8):198-206.

191. Danielsen PL, Jorgensen LN, Jorgensen B, Karlsmark T, Agren MS. Erythema persists longer than one year in split-thickness skin graft donor sites. Acta dermato-venereologica. 2013;93(3):281-5.

192. Aramwit P, Keongamaroon O, Siritientong T, Bang N, Supasyndh O. Sericin cream reduces pruritus in hemodialysis patients: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled experimental study. BMC Nephrology. 2012;13:119-.

193. Suetake T, Sasai S, Zhen YX, Ohi T, Tagami H. Functional analyses of the stratum corneum in scars. Sequential studies after injury and comparison among keloids, hypertrophic scars, and atrophic scars. Archives of dermatology. 1996;132(12):1453-8.

194. Atiyeh BS, El-Musa KA, Dham R. Scar quality and physiologic barrier function restoration after moist and moist-exposed dressings of partial-thickness wounds. Dermatologic surgery : official publication for American Society for Dermatologic Surgery [et al]. 2003;29(1):14-20.

195. Barnea Y, Amir A, Leshem D, Zaretski A, Weiss J, Shafir R, et al. Clinical comparative study of aquacel and paraffin gauze dressing for split-skin donor site treatment. Annals of plastic surgery. 2004;53(2):132-6.

196. Innes ME, Umraw N, Fish JS, Gomez M, Cartotto RC. The use of silver coated dressings on donor site wounds: a prospective, controlled matched pair study. Burns : journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries. 2001;27(6):621-7.

197. Daeschlein G, Assadian O, Bruck JC, Meinl C, Kramer A, Koch S. Feasibility and clinical applicability of polihexanide for treatment of second-degree burn wounds. Skin pharmacology and physiology. 2007;20(6):292-6.

198. Andriessen AE, Eberlein T. Assessment of a Wound Cleansing Solution in the Treatment of Problem Wounds. Wounds. 2008;20(6):171-5.





# Appendix A

แบบบันทึกข้อมูลพื้นฐานของอาสาสมัครเรื่อง ความปลอดภัยของแผ่นปิดแผลไบโอเซลลูโลสผสมโปรตีนกาว ใหมเซริชินและสารฆ่าเชื้อ PHMB ในอาสาสมัครสุขภาพดี

ตัวแปร	หมายเหตุ
ส่วนที่ 1 ข้อมูลอาสาสมัคร	
ข้อมูลพื้นฐาน	
หมายเลขที่ 🗆 🗆 🗆	
เพศ 🗌 1. ชาย 🗌 2. หญิง	SEX 🗌
อายุเดือน เกิด วันที่เดือนบี	AGE 🗌
อาชีพที่ทำเป็นประจำและใช้เวลาเป็นส่วนใหญ่**	
🗆 1. ว่างงาน 🛛 🗋 2. แม่บ้าน/พ่อบ้าน 🔄 🗍 3. เกษตรกร/ประมง	
□4. ผู้ใช้แรงงาน/รับจ้าง □5. นักเรียน/นักศึกษา □6. ข้าราชการ	
□ 7. ตำรวจ/ทหาร □ 8. พนักงานรัฐวิสาหกิจ □ 9. พนักงานบริษัท	
🗆 10. ค้าขาย/ธุรกิจส่วนตัว 🗆 11. อื่นๆ (ระบุ)	
น้ำหนักตัว กิโลกรัม***	MEM 🗌
ความสูง เซนติเมตร***	RO 🗌
ประวัติโรคประจำตัว	
□1.  มี ระบุ	
ยาที่ใช้รักษา	
2. ไม่มี (ปฏิเสธโรคประจำตัว)	
ยาหรือแผ่นแปะที่ใช้ภายใน 2 สัปดาห์ก่อนเข้าร่วมการวิจัย	
🗌 1. มีระบุ	
ยาที่ใช้รักษาGHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY	
🗆 2. ใหม่มี	
ประวัติการแพ้ (ยา/ อาหารเสริม/ สารเคมี) 🛛 มี ระบุ	
🗆 ไม่มี	
ดื่มแอลกอฮอล์****	Alc
🗌 ดื่ม ระบุความถี่ 🗌 🗆 ครั้ง/สัปดาห์ 🗌 ไม่ดื่ม 🗌 เลิกดื่มมาแล้วนาน	
ดื่มชา/กาแฟ****	Caffeine
🗌 ดื่ม ระบุความถี่ 🗌 🗆 แก้ว/วัน 🗌 ไม่ดื่ม	
สูบบุหรี่****	Smoking
🗌 สูบ/เคยสูบ 🗌 🗆 มวน/วัน นานปี 🗌 ไม่สูบ 🗌 เลิกดื่มมาแล้วนาน	

# **Appendix B**

## ประเมินอาการไม่พึงประสงค์โดยแพทย์ผิวหนัง

## Erythema scale:

This scale is used only for grading degree of erythema (redness). A score on this scale will be assigned following every application of a patch.

- 0 No visible erythema.
- 1 Mild erythema (faint pink to definite pink).
- 2 Moderate erythema (definite redness).
- 3 Severe erythema (very intense redness).

# **Designations for Elevated Responses:**

Edema, papules, vesicles, and bullae, if present, are graded as independent responses.

E Edema - definite swelling. (0-4 ; no edema – severe edema)

P Papules - many small, red, solid elevations; surface of reaction has granular feeling.

- V Vesicles small, circumscribed elevations having translucent surfaces so that fluid is visible (blisterlike). Vesicles are no larger than 0.5 cm in diameter.
- B Bullae vesicles with a diameter > 0.5 cm; vesicles may coalesce to form one or a few large blisters that fill the patch site.

จหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

150

# เกณฑ์คะแนนประเมินอาการไม่พึงประสงค์โดยแพทย์ผิวหนัง เลขที่อาสาสมัคร 🗌 🗌 🗍 ตำแหน่งที่ 1

ลักษณะ	คะแนนประเมินสภาพผิวหนัง			คะแนน
	ครั้งที่ 1	ครั้งที่ 2	ครั้งที่ 3	ประเมิน
Erythema				0-3
Edema				0-4
Papules				มี/ไม่มี
Vesicles		11/1222		มี/ไม่มี
Bullae				มี/ไม่มี
ตำแหน่งที่ 2	- Laterala			·

		In a contract of the		
ลักษณะ	คะแบ	คะแนน		
	ครั้งที่ 1	ครั้งที่ 2	ครั้งที่ 3	ประเมิน
Erythema	////3			0-3
Edema	///30		6	0-4
Papules				มี/ไม่มี
Vesicles	<u></u>	ENDING ST		มี/ไม่มี
Bullae	R.	s A mod -	2	มี/ไม่มี
Bullae				มี/ไม่มี

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Chulalongkorn University

# Appendix C

แบบฟอร์่มการวัดความแดงของผิวหนังด้วยเกรื่อง Cutometer® ด้วยโหมด Mexameter ันที่					
ตำแหน่งที่ 🗌 1 🔲 2	3 4				
ความแดงของ	Baseline	ครั้งที่ 1	ครั้งที่ 2	ครั้งที่ 3	
ผิวหนัง					
(วัดตำแหน่งละ 10 ซ้ำ)	110 a.	11122			
1					
2					
3					
4					
5					
6					
7					
8					
9					
10	1 Streeter	A STATES AND A STA			
Mean	200				
SD		B			

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# Appendix D

# Demographic data

Title: Clinical efficacy of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB for STSG donor sites

Patient information and demographics					
Patient	Date:/	/	Sex:	Male	
code:			Female		
Date of	Weight	122	Height	(cm):	
birth://	(kg):	1/2	. <u></u>	_	
Comorbids:	9				
~	Alm &				
Current					
medications:	////				
Smolting Vac	i a anatta a /d are		alza hut quit in		
Smoking: <u>res</u>	rigarettes/day		ioke but quit in	<u>L</u> ]	
Allergies					
· ····································	Treatment	information			
	rieatineitt	mormation			
Diagnosis:	- marin	(B)			
Size of STSG donor site (on	$p^2$ ).	AU			
Area of STSG donor site	1.7				
Date of	Date of	ຄວານຄວວຍ	Date of		
admit: / /	surgerv: /	ា រោមសាសាសាសា /	discharge: /	/	
Medications/	Dose	 Eeoi	men	 Date	
Nutritions		Regi		started	
1.					
2.					
3.					
4.					
5.					
6.					
7.					
8.					
9.					
10.					

# Appendix E

# Follow up report

Title: Clinical efficacy of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB for STSG donor sites

A.(dressing name)	_ <b>B.</b> (dressing name)				
Patient code:	Date:/				
Wound Healing Time					
A. - Area - Secondary dressing change day - Exudates Yes da No - Wound size (cm <sup>2</sup> ) - Healing Yes day No	<ul> <li>B.</li> <li>Area</li> <li>Secondary dressing change day</li> <li>Exudates Yes dayNo</li> <li>Wound size (cm<sup>2</sup>)</li> <li>Healing Yes dayNo</li> </ul>				
Signs	of infection				
A. Pus Yes No - Swelling, redness, bad odor Others Swab result	B. Pus Yes No Swelling, redness, bad odor Others Swab result				
Visual a	nalogue scale				
A. No pain					
B. No pain	Unbearable				
Pain namedose No	e medication				

Pain medication name Yes\_ dose No Pain medication name Yes \_\_\_\_ dose No Vital signs Heart rate (beats per Respiration (breaths per minute):\_\_\_\_\_ minute):\_\_\_\_\_ Temperature (°C):\_\_\_\_\_\_ Blood pressure (mmHg):\_ Blood chemistry BUN: Serum creatinine: AST: ALT: WBC: RBC: Neutrophils: Patient's medication change Medications/ Regimen Dose Date started Nutritions B 1. 2. 3. จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย 4. 5. Chulalongkorn University 6. 7. 8. 9. 10.

# Appendix F

## Adverse event report

## Naranjo's algorithm

Question	Yes	No	Don't
			Know
1. Are there previous conclusive reports on this reaction?	+1	0	0
2. Did the adverse event appear the suspected drug was	+2	-1	0
administered?			
3. Did the adverse reaction improve when the drug was	+1	0	0
discontinued or a specific antagonist was administered?			
4. Did the adverse reaction reappear when the drug was	+2	-1	0
readministered?			
5. Are there alternative causes (other than the drug) that	-1	+2	0
could on their own have caused the reaction?			
6. Did the reaction reappear when a placebo was given?	-1	+1	0
7. Was the drug detected in the blood (or other fluids) in	+1	0	0
concentrations known to be toxic?			
8. Was the reaction more severe when the dose was	+1	0	0
increased, or less severe when the dose was decreased?			
9. Did the patient have a similar reaction to the same or	+1	0	0
similar drugs in any previous exposure?			
10. Was the adverse event confirmed by any objective	+1	0	0
evidence?			
Total Score จหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย			

The total score calculated from this table defines the category an adverse reaction belongs to. The categories are defined as follows:

Definite (Certain) (total score>9)

Probable (total score 5-8)

Possible (total score1-4)

Doubtful (Unlikely) (total score <1)

Sign.....

(Investigator)

Date.....

# Appendix G

# Vancouver scar scale report

Title: Clinical efficacy of biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> in the treatment of STSG donor site Patient code: \_\_\_\_ 

A. (dressing name)\_\_\_\_\_

	Description	Points			
Parameters		F/U 1	F/U 2	F/U 3	F/U 4
	Normal	0	0	0	0
	Pink	-	_	_	-
	(slightly increased in local blood	1	1	1	1
	supply)				
Vascularity	Red				
	(significant increase in local blood	2	2	2	2
	supply)				
	Purple	3	3	3	3
	(excessive local blood supply)	U	Ũ	Ũ	Ū
	Normal	0	0	0	0
Pigmentation	Hypopigmentation	1	1	1	1
	Hyperpigmentation	2	2	2	2
	Normal	0	0	0	0
	Supple	1	1	1	1
	(flexible with minimal resistance)	1	1	1	1
	Yielding สาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัเ	2	2	2	2
	(giving way to pressure)			2	
	Firm-HULALONGKORN UNIVERS	ITY	-		_
Pliability	(solid/inflexible, not easy to move,	3	3	3	3
(Elasticity)	resistant to manual pressure)				
· · · · ·	Banding	4	4	4	4
	(rope-like/blanches with extension of	4	4	4	4
	scar, does not limit range of motion)				
	Contracture (permanent shortening of scor				5
	producing deformity or distortion:	5	5	5	
	limits range of motion)				
Height	Normal (flat)	0	0	0	0
	> 0 and $< 2$ mm	1	1	1	1
	> 2 and $< 5$ mm	2	2	2	2
	> 5mm	3	3	3	3
Total score		/13	/13	/13	/13

B. (dressing name)\_\_\_\_\_

[		Points				
Parameters	Description	F/U 1	F/U 2	F/U 3	F/U 4	
	Normal	0	0	0	0	
	Pink (slightly increased in local blood supply)	1	1	1	1	
Vascularity	Red (significant increase in local blood supply)	2	2	2	2	
	Purple (excessive local blood supply)	3	3	3	3	
	Normal	0	0	0	0	
Pigmentation	Hypopigmentation	1	1	1	1	
	Hyperpigmentation	2	2	2	2	
	Normal	0	0	0	0	
	Supple (flexible with minimal resistance)	1	1	1	1	
Pliability (Elasticity)	Yielding (giving way to pressure)	2	2	2	2	
	Firm (solid/inflexible, not easy to move, resistant to manual pressure)	3	3	3	3	
	Banding (rope-like/blanches with extension of scar, does not limit range of motion)	4 ITY	4	4	4	
	Contracture (permanent shortening of scar, producing deformity or distortion; limits range of motion)	5	5	5	5	
Height	Normal (flat)	0	0	0	0	
	> 0 and < 2mm	1	1	1	1	
	> 2 and < 5mm	2	2	2	2	
	> 5mm	3	3	3	3	
Total score		/13	/13	/13	/13	

## Appendix H

#### Preliminary materials, methods and results

#### 1. Preliminary materials and methods

## **1.1 Releasing test**

The biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin (1%) and PHMB (0.3%) was cut to a size of  $1 \times 1 \times 0.1$  cm<sup>3</sup> and placed in triplicate in a vessel containing 3 ml of phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS, pH 7.4) at 37 °C. The PBS solutions were collected at pre-determined time points (0.5, 2, 4, 8, 24, 48, 72 and 168 hours) and shaken before measurement. In the silk sericin case, the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) was used to measure the released amount of silk sericin protein. The absorbance of the solution was measured with an UV/VIS spectrometer at a wavelength of 562 nm. The amount of silk sericin was determined from a standard curve prepared from different concentrations of bovine serum albumin. For PHMB, the solution absorbance was measured with the same spectrometer at a wavelength of 235.5 nm. The concentrations of released PHMB at different times were calculated by evaluating the solution absorbance against a standard curve, prepared from different known PHMB concentrations.

#### หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# 1.2 In vivo safety test ONGKORN UNIVERSITY

The animal experiments were performed according to Chulalongkorn University Animal Care and Use Committee (CUACUC 13/57) under standard sterile conditions. Briefly, female Wistar rats (8 weeks old, weight (200–300 g) were anesthetized, shaved the hair, and disinfected with 70 % ethyl alcohol. A 1 cm skin incision was made to form pockets in the subcutaneous tissue. Then, the dressing sample (biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin (1%) and PHMB (0.3%) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup>) was inserted into each pocket. The wound was sutured with 6-0 prolene and disinfected with povidone iodine topical antiseptic solution. After 7, 14, 21, and 28 days of implantation, the rats were killed. The samples and surrounding tissue were retrieved, fixed with 10 % formalin solution, and embedded in paraffin. The paraffin embedded samples were sectioned (4  $\mu$ m) and immunohistochemical staining was proceeded as follows. The sections were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated prior to immunohistochemical staining. Endogenous peroxidase of the sample sections was quenched with 1 %v/v hydrogen peroxide in methanol, washed with 0.2 %v/v Tween in phosphate-buffered saline (0.2 %

T-PBS), and blocked with 100 % FBS for 40 min. The sections were then incubated with mouse monoclonal anti FOXP3+ antibody (Santa Cruz, USA) diluted in PBS + 1 %v/v FBS (Vector, USA, S1000) for 60 min, washed with 0.2 % T-PBS or three times, and incubated with labeled polymer HRP antimouse/rabbit EnVision kit (Dako, Denmark, K5007) for 60 min according to the manufacturer's instruction. For visualization, the sections were stained with diaminobenzidine staining (DAB, DAKO, Denmark, K3468) for 3 min, washed, counterstained with hematoxylin, and permanently mounted with DPX. Inflammatory responses to the dressings implanted including foreign body giant cells, fatty infiltration, fibrosis, and degranulation of mast cells were evaluated.

#### 1.3 In vivo efficacy test

The experimental protocol of efficacy test was approved by Mahidol University Animal Care and Use Committee (MU-ACUC) in 2014. Twenty-four Wistar rats (8 weeks old, weight 300 ± 20 g) were anesthetized, shaved the hair, and disinfected with 70 % ethyl alcohol. Then, the full thickness wound (1.5 x 1.5 cm<sup>2</sup>) was created on skin dorsal to subcutaneous depth. One rat received two wounds on left and right sides. The wounds were randomly covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin (1%) and PHMB (0.3%) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup>. All wounds were covered with transparent dressing (Tegaderm<sup>TM</sup>) as a secondary dressing and adherent wrap (Coban<sup>TM</sup>) as a tertiary dressing. The rats received 0.5–1.0 mg/kg of Tramadol via subcutaneous injection every day for 3 days. At days 3, 7, 14 and 21, wound size was evaluated by Visitrak<sup>TM</sup> digital device and wound infection was assessed by swab test. Area fraction of collagen was semi-quantitative measured from those acquired images using ImageJ program, NIH. Briefly,

color images were transformed to gray scale and located collagen bundle as interested area. Thus, the area fraction of positive collagen was determined as the percentage/image.

# 2. Preliminary results



**Figure 1H** The structure of the biocellulose containing silk sericin and PHMB and biocellulose wound dressing using scanning electron microscope (SEM)

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



**Figure 2H** The amount of collagen type 1 in released solution of the biocellulose containing silk sericin and PHMB and biocellulose wound dressing (\* indicates a statistical difference (p < 0.05))





*aureus*, MRSA, *B. subtilis*, *E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa*, and *A. baumannii*), 24 h after placing the biocellulose containing silk sericin and PHMB on bacteria-loaded MH agar plates which were cultured at 37°C (\* indicates a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) between the biocellulose containing silk sericin and PHMB and other commercial dressings).



**Figure 4H** Adhesive force applied to peel off the biocellulose containing silk sericin and PHMB, biocellulose dressings, and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> from wound on porcine skin. (\* indicates a statistical difference (p < 0.05))



**Figure 5H** The percentage of area fraction of collagen of biocellulose containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (control) on days 3, 7, 14, and 21 (\* significant difference when compared with the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (p < 0.05))





**Figure 6H** The percentage of wounds size of biocellulose containing silk sericin and PHMB and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (control) on days 3, 7, 14, and 21 (\* significant difference when compared with the Bactigras<sup>®</sup> (p < 0.05)).


# Appendix I

# **Detail of result documents**

**Table 1I** Healing time of STSG donor site wound covered with biocellulose wounddressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (BC/SS/PHMB) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup>

No	Healing tim	e (days)					
NU	BC/SS/PHMB	<b>Bactigras</b> <sup>®</sup>					
1	16	16					
2	22	22					
3	22	22					
4	18	18					
5	20	20					
6	20	19					
7	19	18					
8	19	19					
9	25	25					
10	31	31					
11	25	25					
12	21	21					
13	131218	าล ย <sub>13</sub>					
HUL14_ON	GKOR11 UNIV	ERSITY					
15	21	21					
16	15	15					
17	15	15					
18	17	15 17					
19	17	17 17					
20	17	17					
21	17	17					
22	23	23					
23	21	21					
24	13	13					

166

No	Healing tim	e (days)
110	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®
25	13	13
26	13	13
27	13	13
28	20	20
29	27	27
30	27	27
31	27	27
32	27	27



จุพาสงกระแมหารทยาสย Chulalongkorn University

**Table 2I** Melanin levels of STSG donor site wound covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (BC/SS/PHMB) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> at healing day, 1, 3, and 6 months

	Bacti-	gras <sup>-</sup> 426.20		227.80	183.40	608.80	248.35	252.10	277.75	91.50	387.35	291.20	196.60	446.70	439.60	329.00	447.00
6 months	BC/SS/	411.05		267.20	179.20	557.50	216.95	232.80	260.25	125.35	336.60	281.80	246.75	454.55	393.20	298.80	423.75
	Normal	265.30		333.30	283.70	443.80	247.25	188.10	238.85	275.30	242.85	327.95	339.75	361.23	301.60	220.05	351.45
	Bacti-	<b>gras</b> <sup>2</sup> 303.75		135.00	156.90	413.05	407.40	395.50	480.15	372.40	520.55	369.00	469.60	378.15	458.65	401.95	360.70
3 months	BC/SS/	301.50		193.30	107.30	419.53	420.05	399.05	438.15	412.65	503.35	352.25	492.45	371.00	538.55	358.05	332.95
	Normal	<b>skin</b> 168.25		236.30	215.80	293.10	367.15	328.55	418.05	434.55	334.65	444.40	439.50	400.65	366.30	246.70	406.20
	Bacti-	gras <sup>-</sup> 129.65		86.90	60.90	192.80	190.40	148.35	249.95	207.00	233.45	384.20	215.40	234.85	411.10	383.65	315.65
1 month	BC/SS/	73.50		57.75	43.20	110.80	147.90	79.35	145.95	272.80	225.60	413.40	221.85	322.50	308.80	278.65	303.55
	Normal	<b>skin</b> 165.95		239.95	208.30	286.80	180.45	133.95	235.70	311.30	180.10	482.55	323.90	442.30	462.85	303.05	434.00
7	Bacti-	gras <sup>o</sup> 91.50		118.80	91.20	128.50	100.85	23.95	126.40	51.75	142.30	265.89	267.65	258.10	307.45	269.35	281.25
ealing day	BC/SS/	86.60		33.75	40.50	110.15	21.75	35.65	37.30	71.50	159.35	184.40	257.25	275.30	248.15	148.25	245.10
H	Normal	181.10		268.50	247.05	293.55	184.85	112.40	225.40	224.30	182.35	344.55	299.20	419.10	477.05	340.20	425.40
	2°		•	2	3	4	5	9	1	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15

Bacti-         Normal         BC/SS/         Bacti-         Normal         BC/SS/         Bacti-         Normal         BC/SS/         Skin         PHMB         gras <sup>6</sup> skin         PHM         BC/SS         303.50         341.05         343.05         386.90         260.65         308.60         286.00         299.25         303.         343.05         343.05         343.05         346.07         333.95         303.95         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         313.35         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.30         303.33         303.30         303.33	Heali	ealin	ng day			1 month			3 months			6 months	
315.80         344.05         386.90         560.65         308.60         286.00         209.25         303.           315.80         344.05         343.65         386.90         260.65         308.60         286.00         209.25         303.           311.50         415.20         471.05         451.60         312.60         488.35         500.95         292.85         407.           324.65         418.45         364.75         451.60         312.60         488.35         500.95         292.85         407.           324.65         418.45         364.75         451.60         312.60         488.35         503.90         313.35         397.           323.65         302.95         319.25         409.15         306.40         538.10         546.60         313.35         397.           291.15         529.40         490.10         497.55         302.95         437.31         108.65         158.           312.20         438.45         314.50         347.55         232.70         337.35         247.60         242.70         349.           312.210         323.86         3187.13         108.65         158.         158.45         158.13         158.15	Normal BC/SS/	BC/SS/		Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-
272.60         350.20         347.70         338.20         250.75         360.70         283.95         232.70         33.           311.50         415.20         421.05         451.60         312.60         488.35         500.95         292.85         407           324.65         418.45         364.75         423.00         306.40         538.10         546.60         312.20         496.           323.65         319.25         409.15         308.45         433.95         503.90         313.35         397.           323.65         319.25         409.10         497.55         405.00         523.25         437.00         380.80         544.           312.20         322.65         314.50         347.55         232.70         433.95         503.90         313.35         347.           291.15         529.40         490.10         497.55         232.70         428.60         312.35         347.           312.20         332.65         314.50         347.55         232.70         385.65         242.70         349.           312.20         438.45         376.60         422.10         337.35         242.80         242.70         349.           214.75	373.40 279.00	279.00		315.80	344.05	343.65	386.90	260.65	308.60	286.00	209.25	303.05	234.00
311.50         415.20         421.05         451.60         312.60         488.35         500.95         292.85         407           324.65         418.45         364.75         423.00         306.40         538.10         546.60         312.20         496.           324.65         418.45         364.75         423.00         306.40         538.10         546.60         312.20         496.           323.65         302.95         314.50         347.55         405.00         523.25         437.00         380.80         544.           291.15         529.40         490.10         497.55         405.00         523.25         437.00         380.80         544.           312.20         333.80         214.05         347.55         232.70         428.60         447.60         242.70         349.           245.30         233.80         214.05         337.35         232.65         336.80         545.         255.           245.30         233.80         214.05         357.05         385.05         305.55         248.           155.20         438.45         376.60         455.50         373.55         375.55         255.           214.75         453.15         3	387.60 214.25	214.25		272.60	350.20	347.70	338.20	250.75	360.70	283.95	232.70	332.30	261.50
324.65         418.45         364.75         423.00         306.40         538.10         546.60         312.20         496.           323.65         302.95         319.25         409.15         308.45         433.95         503.90         313.35         397.           291.15         529.40         490.10         497.55         409.15         308.45         433.95         513.00         313.35         349.           312.20         322.65         314.50         347.55         232.70         428.60         447.60         242.70         349.           312.20         323.80         214.05         251.65         122.15         193.63         187.13         108.65         158.           245.30         233.80         214.05         377.55         232.70         428.60         317.35         297.65         255.           245.30         238.45         376.60         422.10         337.35         242.80         3187.13         108.65         158.           155.20         440.70         357.00         455.50         329.73         357.55         255.           214.75         357.60         316.70         173.85         300.60         331.05         566.           <	360.25 325.25	325.25		311.50	415.20	421.05	451.60	312.60	488.35	500.95	292.85	407.70	394.70
323.65         302.95         319.25         409.15         308.45         433.95         503.90         313.35         397.           291.15         529.40         490.10         497.55         405.00         523.25         437.00         380.80         544.           312.20         322.65         314.50         347.55         232.70         428.60         447.60         242.70         349.           312.20         323.80         214.05         251.65         122.15         193.63         187.13         108.65         158.           155.20         438.45         376.60         422.10         337.35         242.80         219.05         297.25         255.           214.75         440.70         357.00         455.50         337.35         242.80         216.70         340.           187.75         455.15         376.60         442.10         357.05         297.25         257.55         256.           2187.75         455.15         371.50         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           2187.75         455.10         371.50         353.70         467.30         352.55         256.           2187.75         383.60	411.50 199.95	199.95		324.65	418.45	364.75	423.00	306.40	538.10	546.60	312.20	496.05	473.45
291.15         529.40         490.10         497.55         405.00         523.25         437.00         380.80         544.           312.20         322.65         314.50         347.55         232.70         428.60         447.60         242.70         349.           245.30         233.80         214.05         251.65         122.15         193.63         187.13         108.65         158.           155.20         438.45         376.60         422.10         337.35         242.80         219.05         297.25         255.           214.75         440.70         357.00         455.50         329.70         385.05         328.60         305.55         248.           2187.75         455.15         357.45         316.70         173.85         300.60         331.05         164.           225.05         463.35         351.55         357.45         316.70         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           225.05         463.35         351.65         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           288.45         383.60         410.50         316.70         363.70         267.30         352.55         256.           <	336.65 176.00	176.00		323.65	302.95	319.25	409.15	308.45	433.95	503.90	313.35	397.15	369.05
312.20         322.65         314.50         347.55         232.70         428.60         447.60         242.70         349.           245.30         333.80         214.05         251.65         122.15         193.63         187.13         108.65         158.           245.30         233.80         214.05         251.65         122.15         193.63         187.13         108.65         158.           155.20         438.45         376.60         422.10         337.35         242.80         219.05         297.25         255.           214.75         440.70         357.00         455.50         329.70         385.05         306.60         311.05         164.           187.75         455.15         351.55         357.45         316.70         173.85         300.60         331.05         164.           187.75         455.15         351.55         375.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           288.45         383.60         408.40         214.05         310.50         310.55         356. <t< td=""><td>496.95 267.90</td><td>267.90</td><td></td><td>291.15</td><td>529.40</td><td>490.10</td><td>497.55</td><td>405.00</td><td>523.25</td><td>437.00</td><td>380.80</td><td>544.55</td><td>415.00</td></t<>	496.95 267.90	267.90		291.15	529.40	490.10	497.55	405.00	523.25	437.00	380.80	544.55	415.00
245.30         233.80         214.05         251.65         122.15         193.63         187.13         108.65         158.           155.20         438.45         376.60         422.10         337.35         242.80         219.05         297.25         255.           214.75         440.70         357.00         455.50         329.70         385.05         328.60         305.55         248.           187.75         455.15         351.55         357.45         316.70         173.85         300.60         331.05         164.           225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           288.45         383.60         408.40         240.50         399.80         545.00         512.00         393.20         520.           288.45         383.60         408.40         274.50         310.55         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30	360.65 255.15	255.15		312.20	322.65	314.50	347.55	232.70	428.60	447.60	242.70	349.50	359.95
155.20         438.45         376.60         422.10         337.35         242.80         219.05         297.25         255.           214.75         440.70         357.00         455.50         329.70         385.05         305.55         248.           214.75         440.70         357.00         455.50         329.70         385.05         305.65         248.           187.75         455.15         351.55         357.45         316.70         173.85         300.60         331.05         164.           225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           288.45         383.60         408.40         440.50         399.80         545.00         512.00         393.20         520.           297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           186.30         389.20         192.35         195.60         410.55         371.25         354.25         354.25	262.30 194.60	194.60		245.30	233.80	214.05	251.65	122.15	193.63	187.13	108.65	158.40	166.10
214.75         440.70         357.00         455.50         329.70         385.05         328.60         305.55         248.           187.75         455.15         351.55         357.45         316.70         173.85         300.60         310.55         164.           225.05         463.35         351.55         357.45         316.70         173.85         300.60         331.05         164.           225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           288.45         383.60         408.40         440.50         399.80         545.00         512.00         393.20         520.           297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           297.85         426.40         192.35         195.60         410.55         156.40         144.35         394.25         357.           186.30         389.20         192.35         190.35         372.50         394.25         357.           186.30         389.20         190.35         372.50         149.20         159.10         364.25         357. <t< td=""><td>449.55 155.75</td><td>155.75</td><td></td><td>155.20</td><td>438.45</td><td>376.60</td><td>422.10</td><td>337.35</td><td>242.80</td><td>219.05</td><td>297.25</td><td>255.30</td><td>199.90</td></t<>	449.55 155.75	155.75		155.20	438.45	376.60	422.10	337.35	242.80	219.05	297.25	255.30	199.90
187.75         455.15         351.55         357.45         316.70         173.85         300.60         331.05         164.           225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           288.45         383.60         408.40         440.50         399.80         545.00         512.00         393.20         520.           297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           186.30         425.20         192.66         410.55         156.40         144.35         394.25         357.           186.30         389.20         192.35         190.35         372.50         149.20         159.10         360.85         341.           274.90         409.40         222.70         232.80         371.20         230.60         371.90         408.	433.35 161.30	161.30		214.75	440.70	357.00	455.50	329.70	385.05	328.60	305.55	248.80	243.15
225.05         463.35         356.80         415.15         373.10         363.70         467.30         352.55         256.           288.45         383.60         408.40         440.50         399.80         545.00         512.00         393.20         520.           297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           186.30         425.20         192.65         410.95         156.40         144.35         394.25         357.           186.30         389.20         178.50         190.35         372.50         149.20         159.10         360.85         341.           274.90         409.40         222.70         232.80         371.20         230.60         197.50         371.90         408.	472.20 124.25	124.25		187.75	455.15	351.55	357.45	316.70	173.85	300.60	331.05	164.20	168.80
288.45         383.60         408.40         440.50         399.80         545.00         512.00         393.20         520.           297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           186.30         425.20         192.35         195.60         410.55         156.40         144.35         394.25         357.           186.30         425.20         192.35         195.60         410.55         156.40         144.35         394.25         357.           185.10         389.20         178.50         190.35         372.50         149.20         159.10         360.85         341.           274.90         409.40         222.70         232.80         371.20         230.60         197.50         371.90         408.	455.30 124.55	124.55		225.05	463.35	356.80	415.15	373.10	363.70	467.30	352.55	256.05	342.30
297.85         426.40         214.45         274.50         410.95         217.75         221.30         391.25         358.           186.30         425.20         192.35         195.60         410.55         156.40         144.35         391.25         357.           185.10         389.20         178.50         190.35         372.50         149.20         159.10         360.85         341.           274.90         409.40         222.70         232.80         371.20         230.60         197.50         371.90         408.	514.20 251.50	251.50		288.45	383.60	408.40	440.50	399.80	545.00	512.00	393.20	520.55	492.15
186.30         425.20         192.35         195.60         410.55         156.40         144.35         394.25         357.           185.10         389.20         178.50         190.35         372.50         149.20         159.10         360.85         341.           274.90         409.40         222.70         232.80         371.20         230.60         197.50         371.90         408.	419.55 137.20	137.20	1	297.85	426.40	214.45	274.50	410.95	217.75	221.30	391.25	358.40	312.70
185.10         389.20         178.50         190.35         372.50         149.20         159.10         360.85         341.           274.90         409.40         222.70         232.80         371.20         230.60         197.50         371.90         408.	414.50 146.40	146.40		186.30	425.20	192.35	195.60	410.55	156.40	144.35	394.25	357.40	320.80
274.90 409.40 222.70 232.80 371.20 230.60 197.50 371.90 408.	364.20 131.90	131.90	1	185.10	389.20	178.50	190.35	372.50	149.20	159.10	360.85	341.30	399.45
-	369.65 210.75	210.75		274.90	409.40	222.70	232.80	371.20	230.60	197.50	371.90	408.75	425.40

**Table 3I** Erythema levels of STSG donor site wound covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (BC/SS/PHMB) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> at healing day, 1, 3, and 6 months

	H	ealing day			1 month			3 months			6 months	
Normal		BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-
skin		PHMB	gras <sup>8</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>8</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>8</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>8</sup>
256.85		619.40	795.10	301.30	502.40	503.50	359.10	416.85	457.20	294.55	410.25	438.80
221.95		378.85	519.95	209.90	502.70	546.05	225.15	418.50	393.80	180.20	355.25	266.15
219.30		503.45	545.55	214.90	453.35	617.20	228.65	449.45	421.60	213.30	388.80	360.65
188.95		325.25	328.95	234.90	292.00	327.30	300.65	470.35	512.60	378.05	470.25	498.60
267.50		482.05	440.80	248.70	314.20	335.80	305.75	522.75	519.30	338.85	517.55	519.90
205.05		405.20	462.65	191.15	356.85	489.90	314.10	474.30	498.75	348.65	462.00	438.65
377.55		639.55	629.45	393.80	581.65	609.50	385.10	568.20	548.60	363.80	485.85	471.10
255.50		465.20	493.40	227.85	442.05	433.65	268.80	447.30	405.10	268.00	339.90	340.30
93.30		496.00	678.00	95.15	503.25	612.15	114.05	479.04	512.46	77.60	275.70	298.55
313.70		528.70	542.95	276.50	402.15	480.05	308.75	352.40	345.95	264.30	315.00	324.75
306.40		562.25	535.75	290.85	511.70	621.05	306.00	465.55	440.75	293.30	3556.40	330.00
331.15	_	532.95	515.80	291.00	377.75	438.05	285.35	319.75	418.15	299.30	267.65	265.05
311.55		548.50	550.45	294.45	448.95	522.00	322.60	431.35	453.75	300.20	350.60	389.55
353.80		514.05	632.65	319.55	570.60	588.10	336.60	501.05	485.30	301.70	479.20	453.50
316.40		488.85	724.35	365.60	427.30	497.20	342.35	472.90	531.75	397.70	514.95	486.20
298.40		399.10	630.70	345.20	280.35	463.40	355.40	442.00	538.85	405.15	460.20	459.45
	1											

	H	fealing day	•		1 month			3 months			6 months	
ů	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-
	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>a</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>8</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>8</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>®</sup>
31	282.90	411.50	566.55	332.80	450.55	469.75	331.50	476.80	574.60	382.20	450.45	496.85
32	285.60	618.30	485.80	363.60	487.85	378.45	325.70	462.50	514.60	391.30	485.95	496.15



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

**Table 4I** TEWL levels of STSG donor site wound covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (BC/SS/PHMB) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> at healing day, 1, 3, and 6 months

	Η	lealing day			1 month			3 months			6 months		
ů	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	Normal	BC/SS/	Bacti-	
	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>®</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>®</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>®</sup>	skin	PHMB	gras <sup>®</sup>	
-	1.66	11.93	9.79	4.63	20.95	19.22	1.47	6.86	7.29	5.38	7.41	8.10	
7	3.88	19.15	12.81	2.97	15.11	19.26	2.14	6.80	5.95	2.00	5.17	5.48	
•	4.27	11.64	16.84	6.01	21.58	18.37	4.09	6.68	9.18	5.75	5.21	6.54	
4	4.94	22.88	18.32	5.24	30.34	31.28	3.64	8.83	5.92	2.21	4.54	4.64	
S	3.33	16.39	21.71	4.32	6.53	8.12	1.59	1.98	3.37	2.89	1.90	3.88	
6	3.35	19.26	18.09	1.96	13.36	17.02	1.35	11.80	15.27	6.53	6.75	11.18	
5	2.81	22.81	22.25	3.68	17.06	22.72	1.18	5.19	7.15	2.23	5.36	6.11	
×	2.02	20.16	15.31	4.83	5.51	15.60	1.12	6.86	8.12	5.68	18.73	23.20	
•	2.08	8.17	11.60	0.80	9.78	16.27	2.56	10.00	13.21	3.44	4.99	6.80	
10	2.15	7.83	11.92	1.46	7.17	8.75	2.03	5.47	7.93	4.67	7.66	9.51	
Ξ	2.31	10.84	17.31	2.36	11.56	14.05	5.06	6.83	8.27	4.03	11.22	12.60	
12	4.21	18.70	21.47	0.79	11.40	18.91	11.35	32.04	42.64	10.85	13.12	15.88	
13	3.47	16.72	27.04	2.80	23.31	30.95	4.40	17.33	25.37	7.02	10.58	10.41	
14	2.72	25.63	24.79	96.0	8.67	12.83	2.75	10.75	11.01	26.89	32.77	35.71	
15	3.33	12.13	20.46	2.65	11.35	13.49	13.36	21.64	26.42	11.86	13.51	14.77	

	Bacti- gras <sup>®</sup>	7.26	6.11	7.48	13.46	10.17	7.59	3.08	22.14	9.74	8.71	11.07	8.16	7.73	12.08	25.68	19.93	17.13
6 months	BC/SS/ PHMB	7.28	6.84	7.11	10.13	10.00	7.71	2.42	14.86	5.74	8.04	10.49	6.09	5.43	11.33	19.30	15.81	16.51
	Normal skin	2.97	5.27	7.70	6.87	8.04	4.94	1.61	34.31	2.16	5.47	7.31	4.51	5.67	12.25	17.72	9.97	13.04
	Bacti- gras <sup>®</sup>	13.50	12.55	13.26	25.67	14.51	7.79	14.43	18.40	10.35	9.95	12.48	13.66	6.71	10.00	8.89	10.34	16.03
3 months	BC/SS/ PHMB	8.67	13.17	13.42	18.30	12.14	7.28	12.18	17.53	9.04	9.52	9.82	11.54	4.37	7.25	7.50	10.14	12.28
	Normal skin	2.88	9.22	4.00	6.54	7.46	2.84	3.04	9.25	4.05	5.94	5.89	6.89	4.41	2.01	3.96	3.70	3.26
	Bacti- gras <sup>®</sup>	12.79	11.72	25.10	26.95	19.10	19.33	11.07	14.03	21.87	17.47	20.67	17.51	13.22	16.69	12.49	14.21	12.31
1 month	BC/SS/ PHMB	10.82	10.28	22.26	21.87	12.78	16.95	8.57	11.58	13.20	14.69	17.35	15.02	15.22	12.95	12.48	12.47	13.25
	Normal skin	1.83	4.78	7.14	7.89	1.57	1.97	1.22	1.13	2.54	7.60	6.27	4.94	1.18	1.38	3.29	1.94	2.73
	Bacti- gras <sup>®</sup>	19.34	16.38	17.04	19.95	20.87	19.64	13.34	20.10	26.99	23.91	23.53	20.78	18.27	23.66	19.21	19.16	36.25
ealing day	BC/SS/ PHMB	16.70	19.86	15.43	17.24	16.42	17.45	11.27	16.71	30.43	35.13	20.48	24.28	12.97	16.17	25.49	18.63	34.79
H	Normal skin	1.55	4.20	1.87	4.37	4.77	1.75	1.56	0.98	3.18	6.55	4.22	6.82	1.13	1.51	2.42	3.26	5.01
	°2	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32

Г

No	Healing	day	1 mon	th	<b>3 mon</b>	ths	0 mon	ths
	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras <sup>®</sup>	<b>BC/SS/PHMB</b>	Bactigras <sup>®</sup>	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras <sup>®</sup>	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras <sup>®</sup>
-	1.5	2.0	2.0	7.5	4.0	4.5	6.5	7.5
7	1.0	0.5	0.5	2.5	2.0	0.5	0.5	1.0
3	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.0	1.5	1.0	0.5	1.0
4	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	2.0	0.0	1.0	1.0
s	2.0	5.5	5.5	5.0	1.5	1.5	0.5	0.5
6	2.0	2.5	2.5	2.0	3.5	3.0	3.5	3.5
2	1.0	1.5	1.5	3.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	1.0
×	1.0	0.5	0.5	2.5	3.0	1.5	3.0	3.0
6	3.0	2.5	2.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	1.0	2.0
10	3.0	2.5	2.5	1.0	1.0	0.5	1.0	1.0
п	3.5	4.0	4.0	2.5	3.0	1.5	1.5	3.0
12	2.0	1.5	1.5	1.5	5.0	3.0	1.0	2.0
13	2.0	2.0	2.0	1.5	2.0	1.5	1.0	2.0
14	2.0	2.0	2.0	3.5	5.5	5.5	3.0	2.0
15	3.0	3.0	3.0	2.5	5.5	5.5	1.5	2.0

**Table 5I** VSS of STSG donor site wound covered with biocellulose wound dressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (BC/SS/PHMB) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> at healing day, 1, 3, and 6 months

Ň	Healing	day	l mon	th	3 mon	ths	6 mon	ths
	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras <sup>®</sup>	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras <sup>®</sup>
16	2.5	3.0	3.0	2.5	2.0	2.0	1.5	2.0
17	2.0	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.0	2.0	1.5	1.0
18	3.0	3.0	3.0	2.0	2.0	2.5	2.0	0.0
19	2.0	3.0	3.0	3.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
20	1.5	1.5	1.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.0
21	3.0	2.5	2.5	1.5	2.0	0.0	2.0	0.0
22	3.5	3.0	3.0	3.0	4.0	3.5	3.0	3.0
23	2.0	2.5	2.5	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
24	1.5	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
25	1.0	1.0	1.0	4.5	2.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
26	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
27	3.0	2.5	2.5	3.0	3.0	3.0	2.0	2.0
28	3.0	4.5	4.5	2.5	3.0	3.0	4.0	1.0
29	2.0	3.0	3.0	3.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
30	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0	3.0	2.0	4.0	1.0
31	2.5	3.0	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.0	4.0	5.0
32	4.0	4.5	4.5	3.0	3.0	3.0	4.0	4.0

5	Bacti-	gras <sup>8</sup>	9	5	4	3	-	2	2	2	1	3	0	4	0
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	2	5	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	4	0
4	Bacti-	gras <sup>®</sup>	6	5	4	2	3	3	3	2	1	4	1	4	0
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	2	5	1	0	0	0	0	0	-	2	0	4	0
3	Bacti-	gras <sup>®</sup>	7	9	5	4	9	4	9	3	2	5	2	5	9
Day	BC/SS	PHMB	4	6	2	2	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	5	1
2	Bacti-	gras <sup>®</sup>	8	7	9	4	7	5	7	4	4	6	3	9	3
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	6	8	4	3	4	3	4	3	5	8	4	7	3
1	Bacti-	gras <sup>e</sup>	6	8	7	5	8	6	8	5	5	6	5	7	6
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	6	∞	4	3	4	8	4	3	5	7	5	7	3
	No.		1	7	3	4	S	9	1	*	6	10	11	12	13

**Table 6I** Pain score of STSG donor site wound covered with biocellulose wounddressing containing silk sericin and PHMB (BC/SS/PHMB) and Bactigras<sup>®</sup> at day 1-5

5	Bacti-	gras <sup>8</sup>	4	4	3	3	2	2	2	2	5	8	3	3	3	3	3	3
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
4	Bacti-	gras <sup>e</sup>	2	4	3	3	2	2	2	3	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	2
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
3	Bacti-	gras <sup>e</sup>	3	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	5	3	4	4	4	4	9	6
Day	BC/SS	PHMB	1	5	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	2
2	Bacti-	gras <sup>e</sup>	5	6	5	5	7	7	7	5	10	4	6	<u>6</u>	6	6	8	8
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	3	7	4	4	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	4
۲ <b>۱</b>	Bacti-	gras <sup>e</sup>	8	7	7	7	4	4	11	7	<u>6</u>	7	7	7	7	7	6	6
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	6	7	9	6	4	4	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	5
	°N0		14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29

г

5	Bacti-	gras <sup>e</sup>	3	3	3
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	1	1	1
4	Bacti-	gras <sup>8</sup>	2	2	2
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	1	1	1
3	Bacti-	gras <sup>a</sup>	9	9	9
Day	BC/SS	PHMB	2	2	2
2	Bacti-	gras <sup>®</sup>	8	8	8
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	4	4	4
r 1	Bacti-	gras <sup>e</sup>	6	6	6
Day	BC/SS/	PHMB	5	5	5
	No		30	31	32



าลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ALONGKORN UNIVERSIT 179

	M	8Cª	Neuth	rophil	BU	Ra Na	Ű	ą	AS	Ta	I	EL.	T	Pa	Tol	al
No	(4 IXII	.5- 0 <sup>3</sup> /ul)	(1. 7.8x1	.8- 0 <sup>3</sup> /ul)	(7-201	(lb/gm	(0.5-1	(lb/gm	(0-35	(T/N	(0-40	(T/I)	(40-12(	(T/I) (	Bilir (0.2-	ıbin 1.2)
	Day 0	Day 5	Day 0	Day 5	Day 0	Day 5	Day 0	Day 5	Day 0	Day 5	Day 0	Day 5	Day 0	Day 5	Day 0	Day 5
-	6.97	6.40	4.69	4.40	11.00	<u>9.00</u>	0.66	0.62	25.00	18.00	17.00	13.00	60.00	66.00	0.56	0.37
7	13.13	9.77	7.50	5.76	16.00	16.00	0.76	0.73	35.00	43.00	17.00	16.00	60.00	89.00	0.56	0.45
3	8.09	5.72	2.80	2.80	13.00	8.00	1.06	0.80	25.00	31.00	9.00	2.00	111.0	93.00	1.00	0.99
4	10.89	7.72	6.90	5.70	32.00	14.00	2.45	0.77	42.00	28.00	29.00	21.00	164.0	84.00	0.23	0.45
5	5.89	6.42	3.39	4.60	10.00	13.00	0.99	0.98	25.00	25.00	17.00	14.00	60.00	52.00	0.56	0.32
9	9.34	10.43	7.50	8.10	27.00	15.00	1.32	1.36	27.00	21.00	19.00	24.00	68.00	65.00	0.69	0.55
2	13.18	<u>9.65</u>	9.77	7.70	18.00	8.00	1.67	1.02	34.00	51.00	12.00	11.00	58.00	88.00	0.39	0.32
~	11.53	7.64	10.60	5.70	16.00	17.00	0.66	0.91	17.00	21.00	18.00	31.00	49.00	54.00	0.39	0.37
0	10.71	6.83	7.80	4.19	14.00	14.00	0.96	0.57	35.00	54.00	40.00	51.00	139.0	151.0	0.79	0.26
10	10.28	6.11	6.30	3.72	30.00	27.00	1.04	1.23	31.00	24.00	32.00	28.00	81.00	80.00	0.20	0.33
Ξ	12.44	9.78	9.57	7.66	11.00	16.00	0.94	0.87	35.00	41.00	9.00	25.00	156.0	192.0	2.84	1.32

**Table 7I** Biochemistry value of STSG donor site wound patients at day 0 and day 5 after operation

Fotal lirubin 2-1.2)	Day 5	0.39	0.79	1.77	0.64	0.35	0.80	0.32	0.36	0.62
Bil 0	Day (	1.09	0.52	1.11	0.50	0.44	0.56	0.36	0.43	0.71
"Pa 0 U/L)	Day 5	95.00	46.00	00.66	61.00	84.00	84.00	95.00	63.00	100.0
AL (40-12)	Day 0	51.00	42.00	74.00	60.00	60.00	78.00	88.00	64.00	100.0
,T <sup>a</sup> U/L)	Day 5	39.00	15.00	52.00	15.00	45.00	23.00	21.00	19.00	28.00
AI (0-40	Day 0	20.00	21.00	40.00	14.00	49.00	49.00	12.00	52.00	13.00
(Ta U/L)	Day 5	69.00	31.00	32.00	26.00	3.00	21.00	28.00	19.00	48.00
AS (0-35	Day 0	36.00	24.00	26.00	28.00	16.00	32.00	19.00	23.00	25.00
r <sup>a</sup> mg/dl)	Day 5	0.72	1.21	09.0	0.63	1.06	0.77	0.73	0.64	0.65
C (0.5-1	Day 0	0.84	1.40	1.07	09.0	1.02	0.88	0.73	0.72	0.69
Nª mg/dl)	Day 5	18.00	15.00	7.00	9.00	19.00	12.00	10.00	18.00	3.00
BU (7-201	Day 0	19.00	14.00	13.00	9.00	17.00	12.00	7.00	20.00	6.00
ophil 8- p³/ul)	Day 5	4.91	6.07	12.17	4.50	5.70	6.10	11.36	4.14	4.11
Neutr (1. 7.8x1(	Day 0	9.46	14.60	14.81	5.07	7.50	4.79	12.62	4.47	7.36
3Ca 5- ) <sup>3</sup> /ul)	Day 5	6.30	8.94	15.18	6.53	7.72	9.57	8.24	8.32	7.72
WF (4. 11x10	Day 0	10.41	18.58	19.90	7.55	10.80	7.76	15.56	9.84	11.78
No		13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21

<sup>a</sup> WBC: White blood cells, BUN: Blood urea nitrogen, Cr: Creatinine, AST: aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, ALP: Alkaline phosphatase

## Appendix J

### **Ethic certification approval**



The Ethics Review Committee for Research Involving Human Research Subjects, Health Science Group, Chulalongkorn University Institute Building 2, 4 Floor, Soi Chulalongkorn 62, Phyat hai Rd., Bangkok 10330, Thailand, Tel: 0-2218-8147 Fax: 0-2218-8147 E-mail: eccu@chula.ac.th

COA No. 127/2014

AF 02-12

## Certificate of Approval

Study Title No.113.1/57	3	SAFETY	OF BIOCELLULOSE WITH SILK SERICIN AND PHMB NG IN HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS
Principal Investigator		ASSOC.	PROF.DR.PORNANONG ARAMWIT
Place of Proposed Study/In	nstit	ution :	Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences,
			Chulalongkorn University

The Ethics Review Committee for Research Involving Human Research Subjects, Health Science Group, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand, has approved constituted in accordance with the International Conference on Harmonization – Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP) and/or Code of Conduct in Animal Use of NRCT version 2000.

Signature: Numeru Chuldramaron asoma tradi Signature: ..... (Associate Professor Prida Tasanapradit, M.D.) (Assistant Professor Dr. Nuntaree Chaichanawongsaroj) Chairman Secretary

Date of Approval : 4 September 2014

Approval Expire date : 3 September 2015

113.1 57

The approval documents including

1) Research proposal

- 2) Patient/Participant Information Sheet and Informed Consent Form
- 3) Researcher Protocol No.
- 4) Questionnate Date of Approval. 4 SEP 2014 Approval Expire Date. - 3 SEP 2015

The approved investigator must comply with the following conditions:

- 1. The research/project activities must end on the approval expired date of the Ethics Review Committee for Research Involving Human Research Subjects, Health Science Group, Chulalongkorn University (ECCU). In case the research/project is unable to complete within that date, the project extension can be applied one month prior to the ECCU approval expired date.
- 2. Strictly conduct the research/project activities as written in the proposal.
- Using only the documents that bearing the ECCU's seal of approval with the subjects/volunteers (including subject information sheet, consent form, invitation letter for project/research participation (if available).
   Report to the ECCU for any serious adverse events within 5 working days
- Report to the ECCU for any change of the research/project activities prior to conduct the activities.
- 6. Final report (AF 03-12) and abstract is required for a one year (or less) research/project and report within 30 days after the completion of the research/project. For thesis, abstract is required and report within 30 days after the completion of the research/project.
- Annual progress report is needed for a two-year (or more) research/project and submit the progress report before the expire date of certificate. After the completion of the research/project processes as No. 6.



<mark>คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัยในคน กลุ่มสหสอาบัน ชุดที่ 1 จุฬาองกรณ์มหาวิทยาอัย</mark> อาศารสถาบัน 2 ชั้น 4 ของจุฬาลงกรณ์ 62 อนนพญาไท เขตปทุมวัน กรุงเทพฯ 10330 โทรศัพท์: 0-2218-8147 ใทรสาร: 0-2218-8147 E-mail: eccu@chula.ac.th

#### COA No. 127/2557

## ใบรับรองโครงการวิจัย

โครงการวิจัยที่ 113.1/57	ŧ	ความปลอดภัยของแผ่นปีดแผลใบโอเซลลูโลสผสมโปรดีนกาวไหม เซริซินและสารฆ่าเชื้อ PHMB ในอาสาสมัครสุขภาพดี
ผู้วิจัยหลัก	53	รองศาสตราจารย์ คร.พรอนงค์ อร่ามวิทย์
หน่วยงาน	Ð	คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัยในคน กลุ่มสหสถาบัน ชุดที่ 1 จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ได้พิจารณา โดยใช้หลัก ของ The International Conference on Harmonization – Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP) อนูมัดิให้ดำเนินการศึกษาวิจัยเรื่องดังกล่าวได้

anna a ton day and สงนาม ส่วยกรี รีรรวรการที่ไกร์ (รองศาสตราจารย์ นายแพทย์ปรีดา ทัศนุประดิษฐ) (ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ คร.นันทรี ชัยชนะวงศาโรจน์) ประธาน กรรมการและเลขานุการ วันที่รับรอง : 4 กันชายน 2557 : 3 กันยายน 2558 วันหมดอายุ เอกสารที่คณะกรรมการรับรอง

1) โครงการวิจัย

ข้อมูลสำหรับกลุ่มประชาณหรือผู้มีส่วนร่วมในการวิจัยและใบขินของหลุ่มประชากรหรือผู้มีส่วนร่วมในการวิจัย

 ผู้วิจัย 113.1 (57 - 4 N.U. 2557 4) แบบสอบถาน วันที่รับรอง - 3 N.E. 2558 วันหมดอาย

### เงื่อนไข

- 1. ข้าพเข้ารับทราบว่นป็นการผิดจริยธรรม หากดำเนินการเก็บข้อมูอการวิจัยก่อนได้รับการอนุมัติจากคณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัยฯ
- หากใบรับรองโครงการวิจังหมดอายุ การดำเนินการวิจังด้องอุดิ เมื่อด้องการต่ออายุต้องขออนุมัติใหม่อ่างหน้าไม่สำหว่า 1 เดือน พร้อมส่งรายงาน ความก้าวหน้าการริจัง
- ล้องสำเนินการวิจัอลามที่ระบุไว้ในโครงการวิจัอออ่างครั้งครัด
- ใช้เอกสารข้อมูลสำหรับกลุ่มประชากรหรือผู้มีส่วนร่วมในการวิจัอ ใบอินขอมของกลุ่มประชากรหรือผู้มีส่วนร่วมในการวิจัย และเอกสารเซิญเข้า ร่วยวิจัอ (ถ้ามี) เฉพาะที่ประทับทราคณะกรรมการเท่านั้น
- หากเกิดเหตุการณ์ไม่พึงประสงค์ร้ายแรงในสถานที่เก็บข้อมูลพื่อออนุมัติจากคณะกรรมการ ด้องรายงานคณะกรรมการภายใน 5 วันทำการ
- หากมีการเปลี่ยนแปลงการคำเนินการวิจัย ให้ส่งคณะกรรมการพิจารณารีบรองก่อนดำเนินการ
- โครงการวิจัยใน่เกิน 1 ปี ส่งแบบรายงานสิ้นสุดโครงการวิจัย (AF 03-12) และบทคัดช่อผลการวิจัยภายใน 30 วัน เมื่อโครงการวิจัยเสร็จสิ้น สำหรับ โครงการวิจัยที่เป็นวิทยานิพนร์ได้ส่งบทคัดช่อผลการวิจัย ภายใน 30 วัน เมื่อโครงการวิจัยเสร็จสิ้น

AF 01-12



COA No. 843/2015 IRB No. 242/58

### INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

## Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University

1873 Rama 4 Road, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand, Tel 662-256-4493

## Certificate of Approval

The Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, has approved the following study in compliance with the International guidelines for human research protection as Declaration of Helsinki, The Belmont Report, CIOMS Guideline and International Conference on Harmonization in Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP)

Study Title	: Clinical efficacy of the novel biocellulose wound dressing containing
	silk sericin and polyhexamethylene biguanide for split-thickness skin
	graft donor sites
Study Code	1
Principal Investigator	: Miss Supamas Napavichayanun
Affiliation of PI	: Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Chulalongkorn University.
Review Method	: Full board
Continuing Report	: At least once annually or submit the final report if finished.

#### Document Reviewed

- 1. Research Proposal Version 5 Date 23 November 2015
- 2. Protocol Synopsis Version 5 Date 23 November 2015
- 3. Information sheet for research participant Version 4 Dated 23 November 2015
- 4. Informed Consent Form Version 3 Dated 2 November 2015
- 5. Curriculum Vitae
- 6. GCP Training
- 7. Appendix A : Demographic data Version 3 Date 23 November 2015
- 8. Appendix B : Follow up report Version 3 Date 23 November 2015



- 9. Appendix C : Adverse event report Version 3 Date 23 November 2015.
- 10. Appendix D : Vancouver scar scale report Version 3 Date 23 November 2015
- 11. Questionnaire Version 2 Date 2 November 2015
- 12. Budgets Version 3 Date 2 November 2015

Ooda Sultanon

mm Signature:

(Emeritus Professor Tada Sueblinvong MD) Chairperson The Institutional Review Board

.

Signature:

(Assistant Professor Prapapan Rajatapiti MD, PhD) Member and Secretary Secretary The Institutional Review Board

Date of Approval	: December 3, 2015
Approval Expire Date	: December 2, 2016
Approval eranted is subject	t to the followine conditions: (see back of this Certificate)

# จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

All approved investigators must comply with the following conditions:

1. Strictly conduct the research as required by the protocol;

- Use only the information sheet, consent form (and recruitment materials, If any), interview outlines and/or questionnaires bearing the Institutional Review Board's seal of approval; and return one copy of such documents of the first subject recruited to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for the record;
- Report to the Institutional Review Board any serious adverse event or any changes in the research activity within five working days;
- Provide reports to the Institutional Review Board concerning the progress of the research upon the specified period of time or when requested;
- If the study cannot be finished within the expire date of the approval certificate, the investigator is obliged to reapply for approval at least one month before the date of expiration.
- If the research project is completed, the researcher must be form the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University.

\* A list of the Institutional Review Board members (names and positions) present at the meeting of Institutional Review Board on the date of approval of this study has been attached. All approved documents will be forwarded to the principal investigator.



COA No. 843/2015 IRB No. 242/58

# คณะกรรมการพี่จารณาจรียธรรมการวิจัย คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย 1873 ถ.พระราม 4 เขตปทุมวัน กรุงเทพฯ 10330 โทร. 0-2256-4493

## เอกสารรับรองโครงการวิจัย

คณะกรรมการจริยธรรมการวิจัยในคน คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ตำเนินการให้การ รับรองโครงการวิจัยตามแนวทางหลักจริยธรรมการวิจัยในคนที่เป็นมาตรฐานสากลได้แก่ Declaration of Helsinki, The Belmont Report, CIOMS Guideline และ International Conference on Harmonization in Good Clinical Practice หรือ ICH-GCP

ซื่อโครงการ	: ประสิทธิศักย์ทางคลินิกของแผ่นปัดแผลไปโอเซลลูโลสผสมโปรตีนกาวไหมแชริชิน และสารฆ่าเชื้อ โพลีเขกชะเมธิลินไบกัวไนค์ในการรักษาบาคแผลที่ถูกตัดผิวหนัง บางส่วนเพื่อการปลูกถ่าย
เลขที่โครงการวิจัย	
ผู้วิจัยหลัก	: นางสาวศุภมาส นภาวิชยานันท์
สังกัดหน่วยงาน	: คณะเภสัขศาสตร์ จุฬาสงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย
วิธีทบทวน	: คณะกรรมการเต็มชุด
รายงานความก้าวหน้า	: ส่งรายงานความก้าวพน้าอย่างน้อย 1 ครั้ง/ปี หรือส่งรายงานฉบับสมบูรณ์หาก ดำเนินโครงการเสร็จสิ้นก่อน 1 ปี

## เอกสารรับรอง

1. Research Proposal Version 5 Date 23 November 2015

5

- 2. โครงการวิจัยฉบับย่อ Version 5 Date 23 November 2015
- 3. เอกสารข้อมูลค่าอธิบายสำหรับผู้เข้าร่วมในโครงการวิจัย Version 4 Dated 23 November 2015
- 4. เอกสารแสดงความยินยอมเข้าร่วมในโครงการวิจัย Version 3 Dated 2 November 2015
- ประวัติผู้วิจัย
- 6. GCP Training



7. Appendix A : Demographic data Version 3 Date 23 November 2015

8. Appendix B : Follow up report Version 3 Date 23 November 2015

9. Appendix C : Adverse event report Version 3 Date 23 November 2015

10. Appendix D : Vancouver scar scale report Version 3 Date 23 November 2015

11. แบบสอบอาม Version 2 Date 2 November 2015

12. Budgets Version 3 Date 2 November 2015

TAI Studio 65

ลงนาม

Jumm Sonth ถงนาม....

(ศาสตราจารย์กิตติคุณแพทย์หญิงธาคา สืบหลินวงศ์) ประธาน คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย (ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ คร.พญ.ประภาพรรณ รัชตะปิติ) กรรมการและเลขาบุการ คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจรียธรรมการวิจัย

วันที่รับรอง : 3 ธันวาคม 2558 วันหมดอายุ : 2 ธันวาคม 2559 ทั้งนี้ การรับรองนี้มีเงื่อนไขดังที่ระบุไว้ด้านหลังทุกข้อ (ดูด้านหลังของเอกสารรับรองโครงการวิจัย)

**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

นักวิจัยทุกท่านที่ผ่านการรับรองจริยธรรมการวิจัยต้องปฏิบัติดังต่อไปนี้

- ดำเนินการวิจัยตามที่ระบุไว้ในใครงร่างการวิจัยอย่างเคร่งครัด
- ใช้เขกสารแนะนำอาสาสมัคร ใบยินยอม (และเอกสารเชิญเข้าร่วมวิจัยหรือใบโฆษณาถ้ามี) แบบสัมภาษณ์ และหรือ แบบสอบถาม เอพาะที่มีตราประทับของคณะกรรมการพิจารณา จริยธรรมเท่านั้น และส่งสำเนาเอกสารดังกล่าวที่ใช้กับผู้เข้าร่ามวิจัยจริงรายแรกมาที่ฝ่ายวิจัย คณะแพทยศาสตร์ เพื่อเก็บไว้เป็นหลักฐาน
- รายงานเหตุการณ์ไม่พึงประสงศร้ายแรงที่เกิดขึ้นหรือการเปลี่ยนแปลงกิจกรรมวิจัยใดๆ ต่อ คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย ภายใน 5 วันทำการ
- ส่งรายงานความก้าวหน้าต่อคณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย ตามเวลาที่กำหนดหรือ เมื่อได้รับการร้องขอ
- หากการวิจัยไม่สามารถดำเนินการเสร็จสิ้นภายในกำหนด ผู้วิจัยต้องยื่นขออนุมัติใหม่ก่อน อย่างน้อย 1 เดือน
- หากการวิจัยเสร็จสมบูรณ์ผู้วิจัยต้องแจ้งปิดใครงการตามแบบพ่อร์มของคณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

 รายชื่อของคณะกรรมการจริยธรรมการวิจัยในคน (ชื่อและคำแหน่ง) ที่อยู่ในพี่ประชุมวันที่รับรอง โครงการวิจัยได้แนบมาด้วย เบกสารที่รับรองทั้งหมดจะถูกส่งไปยังผู้วิจัยหลัก

# **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**



IRB. No. 242/58

## INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University 1873 Rama IV Road, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand, Tel 662-256-4493 Approval of Documents related to Study Protocol

The Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, has approved/acknowledged the following study which is to be carried out in compliance with the International guidelines for human research protection as Declaration of Helsinki, The Belmont Report, CIOMS Guidelines and International Conference on Harmonization in Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP)

Study Title	: CLINICAL EFFICACY OF BIOCELLULOSE WOUND DRESSING CONTAINING
	SILK SERICIN AND POLYHEXAMETHYLENE BIGUANIDE FOR SPLIT-THICKNESS
	SKIN GRAFT DONOR SITES

Study Code

Principal Investigator : Miss Supamas Napavichayanun

:-

Affiliation of PI : Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Chulalongkorn University

Document Reviewed :

1. Change Protocol title (Thai and English)

A. Voro Signature ...

..... Signature ...

(Napakkawat Buathong, PhD)

(Assistant Professor Apichai Vasuratna MD) Vice-Chairman, Acting Chairman The Institutional Review Board

(Napakkawat Buathong, PhD) Member and Assistant Secretary, Acting Secretary The Institutional Review Board

Date of Approval : November 30, 2017

Approval granted is subject to the following conditions: (see back of this Certificate)

All approved investigators must comply with the following conditions:

- 1. Strictly conduct the research as required by the protocol;
- Use only the information sheet, consent form (and recruitment materials, if any), interview outlines and/or questionnaires bearing the Institutional Review Board's seal of approval ; and return one copy of such documents of the first subject recruited to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for record keeping;
- Report to the Institutional Review Board any serious adverse event or any changes in the research activity within five working days;
- Provide reports to the Institutional Review Board concerning the progress of the research upon the specified period of time or when requested;
- If the study cannot be finished within the expiring date of the approval on the certificate, the investigator is obliged to reapply for approval at least one month before the date of expiration.



IRB. No. 242/58

## คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย 1873 ถนนพระราม 4 เขตปทุมวัน กรุงเทพฯ 10330 โทร 02-256-4493 เอกสารรับรองโครงการวิจัยส่วนเพิ่มเติม

คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ดำเนินการให้การ รับรอง/รับทราบ เอกสารที่เกี่ยวข้องกับโครงการวิจัยตามแนวทางหลักจริยธรรมการวิจัยในคนที่เป็น มาตรฐานสากลได้แก่ Declaration of Helsinki, The Belmont Report, CIOMS Guideline และ International Conference on Harmonization in Good Clinical Practice หรือ ICH-GCP

ชื่อโครงการ : ประสิทธิศักย์ทางคลินิกของสิ่งตกแต่งแผลไบโอเซลลูโลสผสมเซริซินจากไหมและโพ ลีเฮกซะเมธิลีน ไบกัวไนด์ในการรักษาบาดแผลที่ถูกตัดผิวหนังบางส่วนเพื่อปลูกถ่าย

เลขที่โครงการวิจัย

ผู้วิจัยหลัก : นางสาว ศุภมาส นภาวิชยานันท์

:

:

: คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย สังกัดหน่วยงาน

เอกสารรับรอง 1. เปลี่ยนชื่อเรื่องงานวิจัย

prim Non ลงนาม. ลงนาม . (ดร.ณภัควรรต บัวทอง) (ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์นายแพทย์อภิชัย วสุรัตน์) กรรมการและผู้ช่วยเลขานุการฯ ปฏิบัติหน้าที่แทน รองประธานปฏิบัติหน้าที่แทนประธาน เลขานุการฯ คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย คณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย

วันที่รับรอง : 30 พฤศจิกายน 2560

ทั้งนี้ การรับรองนี้มีเงื่อนไขดังที่ระบุไว้ด้านหลังทุกข้อ (ดูด้านหลังของเอกสารรับรองโครงการวิจัย)

นักวิจัยทุกท่านที่ผ่านการรับรองจริยธรรมการวิจัยต้องปฏิบัติดังต่อไปนี้

- ดำเนินการวิจัยตามที่ระบุไว้ในโครงร่างการวิจัยอย่างเคร่งครัด
- ใช้เอกสารแนะนำอาลาสมัคร ใบยินยอม (และเอกสารเชิญเข้าร่วมวิจัยหรือใบโฆษณาถ้ามี) แบบสัมภาษณ์ และ หรือ แบบสอบถาม เฉพาะที่มีตราประทับของคณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมเท่านั้น และส่งสำเนาเอกสาร ดังกล่าวที่ใช้กับผู้เข้าร่วมวิจัยจริงรายแรกมาที่ฝ่ายวิจัย คณะแพทยศาสตร์ เพื่อเก็บไว้เป็นหลักฐาน
- รายงานเหตุการณ์ไม่พึงประสงศ์ร้ายแรงที่เกิดขึ้นหรือการเปลี่ยนแปลงกิจกรรมวิจัยใดๆ ต่อคณะกรรมการ พิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย ภายใน 5 วันทำการ
- ส่งรายงานความก้าวหน้าต่อคณะกรรมการพิจารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัย ตามเวลาที่กำหนดหรือเมื่อได้รับการร้อง ขอ
- หากการวิจัยไม่สามารถดำเนินการเสร็จสิ้นภายในกำหนด ผู้วิจัยต้องยื่นขออนุมัติใหม่ก่อน อย่างน้อย 1 เดือน
- เอกสารทุกฉบับที่ได้รับการรับรองครั้งนี้ หมดอายุตามอายุของโครงร่างการวิจัยที่ได้รับการรับรองก่อนหน้านี้ (หมายเลขโครงการ. 243-58)

# Appendix K

# Skin picture of healthy volunteers after covered with dressings





		ę				1.00
	it 5	Bactigras				P
	Vis	BC/SS/PHMB				
	it 3	Bactigras®	A			
	Vis	BC/SS/PHMB				
	sit 2	Bactigras®		1		
Vis	Vi	BC/SS/PHMB				
		No	6	10	Ξ	12





it 5	Bactigras®				
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 3	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB			0	
it 2	Bactigras®				
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB	D.*			
	No	21	22	23	24


	actigras®	D			
Visit 5	BC/SS/PHMB B				
3	Bactigras®				
Visit.	BC/SS/PHMB				
sit 2	Bactigras®				
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB				
	No	33	34	35	36





	ctigras®				
Visit 5	Ba				
	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 3	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 2	Bactigras®			1	
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB				
	No	45	46	47	48



t 5	Bactigras®			F.C.	
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB			HAR -	ARC .
it 3	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 2	Bactigras®				
VE	BC/SS/PHMB				
	No	53	<mark>5</mark> 4	55	56

	Bactigras®				
Visit 5	BC/SS/PHMB				
13	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 2	Bactigras®				
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB				h
	No	57	58	59	60

	0.100	A COLORED AND	Contract of the second s			
192	Vi	sit 2	Vis	it 3	Visi	it 5
No	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®
61						
62	No.					
63						
64						

it 5	Bactigras®	- D			
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB		2.9		
it 3	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 2	Bactigras®				
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB	C.			
	No	65	66	67	68

Visit 2	BC/SS/PHMB		
	Bactigras®		
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB		
it 3	Bactigras®		7
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB	There are	
it 5	Bactigras®		

	Ņ	sit 2	Vis	it 3	Visi	it 5
No	BC/SS/PHIMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHIMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®
73	-					
74						
75				- State		
76						



t 5	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB		D		D
it 3	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 2	Bactigras®				
Vis	BC/SS/PHMB		E		
	No	81	82	83	84

sit 5	Bactigras®				
Visit	BC/SS/PHMB				
it 3	Bactigras®				
it 2 Visi	BC/SS/PHMB				
	Bactigras®				
V	BC/SS/PHMB				
	No	85	86	87	88



2						
	Vi	sit 2	Vis	it 3	Vis	it 5
No	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®
93						
94						
95						
96	THE REAL					El an
2 0						

it 5	Bactigras®				
Visi	BC/SS/PHMB			E	NS/2
it 3	Bactigras®				
lt 2 Vis	BC/SS/PHMB		E		
	Bactigras®				
VE	BC/SS/PHMB			E.S.	
	No	67	<mark>98</mark>	66	100

	Vi	sit 2	Visi	it 3	Visi	t 5
No	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®	BC/SS/PHMB	Bactigras®
101						
102	•		)		• 0	
103		6			A DA	
104						

	BC/S	2	
Vis	SS/PHIMB		
it 2	Bactigras®		ฬาลงกร ILALONG
Vis	<b>BC/SS/PHMB</b>		
it 3	Bactigras®		
Visi	<b>BC/SS/PHMB</b>		
it 5	Bactigras®		



# Appendix L

# STSG donor site wound picture after covered with dressings

6 months after wound healing	Inter Cara			1
3 months after wound healing	THE REAL	I I		
l month after wound healing	and the second se			
Healing time				where margin
Day 0		There are a first the second s		
No	01	02	03	04

6 months after wound healing			ter and		are are
3 months after wound healing					
l month after wound healing		The second secon			The second secon
Healing time		The second se			And the second s
Day 0		The second se			the state of the s
No	05	90	07	08	60

No	Day 0	Healing time	l month after wound healing	3 months after wound healing	6 months after wound healing
10			1	The second se	HAR AN
11				I I	
12				E F	and the second
13		-			
14		Rano I		an an	
15				ana ana	And the second s

No	Day 0	Healing time	1 month after wound healing	3 months after wound healing	6 months after wound healing
16					
17				the second se	
18					
19			The state		and re-
20			-		
21	1.1 de 26 de 100				and the

6 months after wound healing	A CONTRACTOR	ngan mension	I I		
3 months after wound healing					
l month after wound healing					and the second se
Healing time		And An	1		
Day 0	A REAL PROPERTY OF A				
No	22	23	24	25	26

No	Day 0	Healing time	l month after wound healing	3 months after wound healing	6 months after wound healing
27			N. NO		
28			The second se		and and
29					AND THE REAL PROPERTY OF
30					The Read
31					AT IT IS
32			No.		And



Materials Science and Engineering C 55 (2015) 95-104



### Interaction and effectiveness of antimicrobials along with healing-promoting agents in a novel biocellulose wound dressing



Supamas Napavichayanun <sup>a,b</sup>, Phakdee Amornsudthiwat <sup>c</sup>, Prompong Pienpinijtham <sup>d</sup>, Pornanong Aramwit <sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Bioactive Resources for Innovative Clinical Applications Research Unit, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand <sup>b</sup> Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Phyathai Road, Phatumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand <sup>c</sup> Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Chulalongkorn University, Phyathai Road, Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand <sup>d</sup> Sensor Research Unit, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Phyathai Road, Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

#### ARTICLE INFO

## ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 4 November 2014 Received 4 November 2014 Received in revised form 15 March 2015 Accepted 7 May 2015 Available online 09 May 2015

Keywords: Biocellulose Silk sericin Polyhexamethylene biguanide Antimicrobial activity Wound dressing Interaction

An ideal wound dressing should keep the wound moist, allow oxygen permeation, adsorb wound exudate, accel-erate re-epithelialization for wound closure, reduce pain and healing time, and prevent infection. Our novel biocellulose-based wound dressing was composed of three components: 1) biocellulose (BC), intended to create a moist and oxygen-permeated environment with exudate adsorption; 2) silk sericin (SS) known for its en-hancement of collagen type I production, which is critical for re-epithelialization; and 3) the antiseptic polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB). To deliver an effective BC wound dressing, the interactions between the components (PHMB vs. SS) needed to be thoroughly analyzed. In this study, we investigated important parameters such as the loading sequence, loading concentration, and loading amount of the active compounds to ensure that the BC wound dressing could provide both antimicrobial activity and promote collagen production during healing. The loading sequence of SS and PHMB into BC was critical to maintain PHMB antimicrobial activity; silk sericin needed to be loaded before PHMB to avoid any negative impacts. The minimum PHMB concentra-tion was 0.3% w/v for effective elimination of all tested bacteria (*Bacillus sublilis, Staphylococcus aureus*, methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*, *Escherichia coli*, *Acinetobacter baumannii*, and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*). The amounts of SS and PHMB in BC were optimized to ensure that the dressings released the optimal amounts of both SS to enhance fibroblast collagen production and PHMB for effective antimicrobial activity.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved

#### 1. Introduction

The ideal wound dressing should promote a suitable environment for wound healing, enable fast tissue regeneration, reduce pain, and prevent infection during the healing process [1]. To accelerate the healing, the wound needs to be moisturized while the excess exudate and toxins must be removed to minimize maceration. In addition, oxygen must be able to permeate through the dressing to supply regenerating cells. Recently, biocellulose (also known as bacterial cellulose) has been developed for several applications, including wound dressing [2,3]. Unlike plant-based cellulose, biocellulose (BC) has an ultrafine network with high porosity which allows a high capability for water uptake [2,4], making it becomes an ideal material for the healing of high exudate wound. The highly uniaxial-oriented nanofibers (3-8 nm) of BC contribute to a high crystallinity content (60–80%) [2], providing impressive mechanical strength for ease of handling in the wet state. Furthermore, BC is considered as an electrostatically neutral material [5], enabling it

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, PhayaThai Road, Phatumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

E-mail address: aramwit@gmail.com (P. Aramwit).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2015.05.026 0928-4931/© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

appropriate for the loading of either positively-charged or negativelycharged bioactive compounds. In addition, the high water retention characteristics of BC create a moist wound healing environment [2,4], which allows for faster healing than a dried environment [6–8].

Up to date, commercial BC wound dressings are available. Some of them are incorporated with drugs or active compounds (i.e., iodine, chlorhexidine, and silver) for antimicrobial purpose. In this study, polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) was chosen as an antiseptic drug to be incorporated in the BC dressing because it displays advantages over other antiseptics [1,9,10]. PHMB (molecular weight 3000 Da) is known as a cationic and strong base which interacts with acids and negatively charged molecules, such as phospholipids found in bacterial membranes [11]. The antimicrobial activity is based on the interaction between PHMB and bacterial phospholipids, which disrupts the integrity of the bacterial membrane, leading to the intrusion of PHMB into the cytoplasm, causing a malfunction in metabolic activity and resulting in the death of the bacterium [12,13]. It is reported that PHMB shows antimicrobial effect against various microorganisms such as yeasts, fungi, and bacteria (both Gram-positive and Gram-negative) with low toxicity in mammalian cells [1,11–13]. PHMB has been loaded into different types of wound dressings, e.g., gauze and bandages [14,15], foam [16,17], nanofibrous membranes of cellulose acetate and polyester urethane

[18], or BC dressings [10,19,20]. Some of BC dressings loaded with PHMB are commercially available.

To improve the effectiveness of this BC dressing, we here introduce another bioactive factor for an enhancement of the re-epithelialization process which is one of the critical steps in wound healing process. Silk sericin (SS) is chosen for this purpose. SS (molecular weight of 20–310 kDa) is an adhesive protein that binds two fibroin strands in silk fibers [21]. It is a hydrophilic, biocompatible, biodegradable, negatively-charged material [22,23] with various biological properties [24]. It has been used to promote proliferation of human fibroblasts [25] or human epithelial HeLa cells [26] and prevent the UVB-induced apoptosis in human skin keratinocytes [27]. The addition of SS to culture media enhances collagen type I production by the L929 mouse fibroblast cell line [23] and promotes L929 migration [28]. An animal model revealed that SS-treated wounds had reduced inflammatory reactions and faster healing time than Betadine®-treated wounds [29]. In the clinical tests of split-thickness skin wounds, the complete healing time of wounds treated with a SS-releasing dressing was significantly shorter than that required for wounds treated with Bactigras® [30]. Furthermore, SS was shown to enhance re-epithelialization [23,28-33].

To our design, the combination of SS and PHMB into a BC wound dressing should capture the unique benefits of both SS and PHME. In this study, the interactions between these components that affect the biological properties of BC dressing were investigated. The interaction between PHMB and SS was evaluated by attenuated total reflection Fourier Transform Infrared spectroscopy (ATR-FTIR). The loading quantities and sequence of both compounds were optimized. The antimicrobial test was performed by both the disc diffusion and broth dilution techniques using both Gram-positive (*Bacillus subtilis, Staphylococcus aureus*, and methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*) and Gram-negative bacteria (*Escherichia coli, Acinetobacter baumanii, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa*) to determine minimum bactericidal concentration of PHMB. Then, the SS loading amount was varied to achieve an effective released amount which was suitable for collagen-1 production by fibroblast cells. The in vitro release of PHMB and SS from the BC dressing was also evaluated. Finally, the effects of the dual-loaded SS/PHMB released from the BC dressing on the antimicrobial effect were compared with other commercially available antimicrobial wound dressings.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Materials

Coconut water was obtained from coconuts purchased locally. Ammonium phosphate ((INH4)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>), glacial acetic acid (CH<sub>3</sub>COOH), and other chemicals used were of analytical grade (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Polyhexamethylene biguanide was kindly provided by Lonza Group Ltd. (Basel, Switzerland). Silk sericin was extracted according to a high temperature and high pressure degumming method described in a previous report [23]. Proteoglycan-IPC, a soluble PG extracted from the nasal cartilage of Oncorhynchus keta (Salmonidae), was purchased from Icimaru Pharcos Co., Ltd. (Gifu, Japan).

#### 2.2. Preparation of biocellulose

Biocellulose was prepared from a static culture of an Acetobacter xylinum strain (Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand) which was isolated from nata de coco, using a coconut water-based medium. The preparation of the medium was slightly modified from the method developed by Verschuren et al. [34]. One liter of coconut water was boiled and supplemented with 50 g of sucrose, 5 g of (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, and 10 mL of CH<sub>5</sub>COOH. The pH of the medium was adjusted to 4.5 with CH<sub>5</sub>COOH. Then, 10 mL of *A. xylinum* was added into the pH-adjusted coconut water based medium and poured into molds for fermentation. The fermentation was carried out under sterilized static conditions at 30 °C for 3–5 days to pre-culture the *A. xylinum* strain. After obtaining the

stock solution of A. xylinum, the fermentation was incubated at 30 °C under static conditions for another 7 days to form the BC. The formed bacterial nanocellulose gels were washed with 2% aqueous NaOH solution at 70 °C for 10 min, and then washed repeatedly until a neutral pH was obtained.

### 2.3. Preparation of the BC wound dressing containing bioactive compounds

The BC wound dressing was loaded with PHMB and SS. Proteoglycan (PG) which is known as a healing-promoting agent was used as a control for SS. All samples prepared in this study were summarized in Table 1. Each dressing was loaded with either one or two components. In the first study, the BC wound dressing was immersed into PHMB solutions with different concentrations (0.0125–0.6% w/v) for 2 h to determine the minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of PHMB loaded into the BC wound dressing. The second experiment was intended to study the interaction be-

The second experiment was intended to study the interaction between PHMB and two compounds (SS or PG), the loading sequence of each compound and MBC of PHMB in the dual-loaded BC. The BC wound dressing was immersed in a solution of the first compound for 2 h. Subsequently, the soaked BC was allowed to dry before being soaked in a solution of the second compound for another 2 h. The dual-loaded BC was air-dried before the tests. The PHMB concentration was varied from 0.2–0.4% w/v while the concentration of SS or PG was fixed at 1% w/v.

After the MBC of PHMB was obtained, the loading amount of PHMB was then optimized. In this experiment, SS was first loaded into the BC (the size of BC was  $10 \times 10 \times 0.01 \text{ cm}^3$ ) before PHMB. The loading amount of SS was fixed at 2 mL of SS solution (1% w/v) per side of the BC wound dressing (or total loading of 4 mL). After 2 h of SS adsorption, PHMB was added into the BC/SS wound dressing; the loading amount ranged from 3 to 6 mL of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v) per side of BC/SS (or total loading was from 6 to 12 mL). Before the tests, the dual-loaded BC was air-dried for 2 h.

Finally, the loading amount of SS on BC was optimized for the effective release amount of sericin. In this experiment, SS was first loaded into BC with different loading amounts, ranging from 2 to 3 mL of SS solution (1% w/v) per side of the BC wound dressing (or total loading of 4 to 6 mL). After 2 h of SS adsorption, the PHMB solution (0.3% w/v) was added to the BC/SS wound dressing at a fixed amount of 5 mL per side of BC/SS or total loading of 10 mL. The dual-loaded BC was air-dried for 2 h before the in vitro release test of SS. In this experiment, the single loaded PHMB on BC was used as a negative control for the SS release experiment.

#### 2.4. Antimicrobial efficacy test

Antimicrobial efficacy of different types of PHMB loaded on BC was evaluated in triplicate by the disc diffusion method (CLSI M2-A9) and the broth dilution method (CLSI M7-A7). Six strains of bacteria were selected for these tests: *B. subtilis* (ATCC 6633, Gram-positive), *S. aureus* (ATCC 25923, Gram-nogative), methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA, Gram-positive), *E. coli* (ATCC 25922, Gram-negative), *A. baumannii* (ATCC 19606, Gram-negative), and *P. aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853, Gram-negative). Müller Hinton (MH) agar was used for culture, inoculation and antimicrobial efficacy tests. All bacterial strains were cultured on an agar plate at 37 °C for 24 h right before preparation of the inoculum. The inoculum was prepared by selecting three to five isolated colonies of bacteria into 5 mL of Tryptone Soya Broth (TSB), and followed by incubation at 37 °C for 4–6 h. The content of bacteria was verified by a UV/MS spectrometer (Lambda 25, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA) at 625 nm. The absorbance of the inoculum should be between 0.08 and 0.13 for a bacterial content of 1.5 × 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/mL.

For the disc diffusion method (CLSI M2-A9), one swab was applied on the entire surface of the MH agar plate. Then, the BC containing PHMB ( $1 \times 1 \times 0.1 \text{ cm}^3$ ) was placed on the MH agar plate and incubated

#### S. Napavichayanun et al. / Materials Science and Engineering C 55 (2015) 95-104

Table 1 Summary of components loaded in different BC wound dressings used in this study.

Experimental aim(s)	Sample	1st bioactive com	pound loading	2nd bioactive con	npound loading
		Compound	Conc./amount	Compound	Conc./amoun
Effective PHMB concentration in BC	PHMB	PHMB	0.0125-0.6%	N/A	
Interaction study between two compounds & effective PHMB	SS	Silk sericin	1%	N/A	12
concentration in the dual loaded BC	PG	Proteoglycan	1%	N/A	020
	SS/PHMB	Silk sericin	1%	PHMB	0.2-0.4%
	PHMB/SS	PHMB	0.2-0.4%	Silk sericin	1%
	PG/PHMB	Proteoglycan	1%	PHMB	0.2-0.4%
	PHMB/PG	PHMB	0.2-0.4%	Proteoglycan	1%
Optimization of PHMB loading amount in the dual loaded BC	SS2/PHMB3	Silk sericin	2 mL	PHMB <sup>a</sup>	3 mL
	SS2/PHMB4	Silk sericin	2 mL	PHMB*	4 mL
	SS2/PHMB5	Silk sericin	2 mL	PHMB <sup>a</sup>	5 mL
	SS2/PHMB6	Silk sericin	2 mL	PHMB <sup>a</sup>	6 mL
Optimization of SS loading amount in the dual loaded BC	PHMB5	PHMB <sup>a</sup>	5 mL	N/A	-
	SS2/PHMB5	Silk sericin	2 mL	PHMB <sup>a</sup>	5 mL
	SS3/PHMB5	Silk sericin	3 mL	PHMB <sup>a</sup>	5 mL

\* Concentration of PHMB for loading on BC was 0.3% w/v

at 37 °C for 24 h. The distance between each BC was much higher than the inhibition zone. After incubation, the size of the inhibition zone was immediately measured. The size of the inhibition zone was reported as the diameter with reference to the diagonal length of the BC square.

For the broth dilution method (CLSI M7-A7), the inoculum was diluted to achieve a bacterial concentration of  $5 \times 10^5$  CFU/mL before placing the BC containing different amounts of PHMB in a test tube. After 24 h of incubation at 37 °C, one swab of the broth was applied to the entire surface of the MH agar plate. The agar plate was then incubated for another 24 h at 37 °C before evaluating the MBC, which was based on no observation of bacterial colony on the agar plate.

#### 2.5. Attenuated total reflection Fourier Transform Infrared spectroscopy

Attenuated total reflection Fourier Transform Infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy was employed to investigate the molecular interactions between PHIMB and SS or PG molecules. The spectra of pure compounds and their mixtures were collected by a Nicolet 6700 FTIR spectrometer coupled to a continuum FTIR microscope and a mercury-cadmium-telluride (MCT) detector. A homemade slide-on Ge micro internal reflection element (µRE) accessory was employed for all spectral acquisitions. The IRE was aligned and fixed at the optimum position of the slide-on housing where the contact tip coincided with the focal point of the built-in 15× Cassegrain infrared objective lens. The spectral acquisitions were performed in the reflection mode of infrared spectroscopy. A sample was prepared by dropping 1% of SS, 1% of PG, 0.3% of PHMB, and their mixture sample solutions on a glass slide and drying them using a vacuum pump at room temperature. For spectral acquisition of the sample, a dried sample on a glass slide was brought into contact with the IRE. All spectra were collected with 256 scans at a resolution of 4 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Each sample was examined at several points for comparison purposes.

#### 2.6. In vitro release test of PHMB and SS

The BC wound dressing was cut to a size of  $1 \times 1 \times 0.1$  cm<sup>3</sup> and placed in triplicate in a vessel containing 3 mL of phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS, pH 7.4) at 37 °C. The PBS solutions were collected at pre-determined time points (0.5, 2, 4, 8, 24, 48, 72 and 168 h) and shake-en before measurement. In the SS case, the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) was used to measure the released amount of SS protein. The absorbance of the solution was measured with an UV/VIS spectrometer at a wavelength of 562 nm. The amount of SS was determined from a standard curve prepared from different concentrations of bovine serum albumin. For PHMB, the solution absorbance was measured with

the same spectrometer at a wavelength of 235.5 nm. The concentrations of released PHMB at different times were calculated by evaluating the solution absorbance against a standard curve, prepared from different known PHMB concentrations.

#### 2.7. Preparation of fibroblast cell for collagen type 1 production test

The fibroblast cells were produced with slightly modified method of our previous work [23]. Brielly, Dulbecco Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and antibiotics (100 U penicillin and 100 U streptomycin per mL) was used to culture the mouse fibroblast cell lines 1929 which were purchased from the Chinese Academy of Preventive Medical Sciences, Beijing, China under 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C. The medium was replaced every 2 days. Then, cells were collected by using 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Gibco®, California, USA) and added fresh culture medium to create a new single cell suspension for further incubation.

#### 2.8. Collagen type 1 production test

The 2.5  $\times$  10<sup>4</sup> cells/well of mouse fibroblast cell lines 1929 were seeded in a 48-well plate DMEM solution containing 10% FBS. After 24 h, the mediums were replaced with released solution of SS2/PHMB5 and BC wound dressing which were filter sterilized by 0.22 µm membrane filters (triplicate samples). After 30 min, the mediums were changed with DMEM containing the same sericin concentration as the 24 h released sericin solution from SS2/PHMB5 dressing. After 3 days, the total amounts of soluble collagen type 1 were assayed by using the Sircol® collagen assay kit (Biocolor Ltd., Northern Ireland, UK). Microplate reader (Biohit 830, Biohit®, Helsinki, Finland) was used for detection of the outcomes at 500 nm. The results were calculated compared with standard curve of soluble collagen which was prepared from standard bovine collagen type 1.

#### 2.9. Statistical analysis

All statistical evaluations were performed using SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS. Co., Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand). Differences in the data were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05, using one way ANOVA.

#### 3. Results and discussion

3.1. PHMB minimum bactericidal concentration used for loading into the BC wound dressing

The BC wound dressing was immersed in different concentrations of PHMB (0.0125%, 0.025%, 0.05%, 0.1%, 0.2%, 0.3%, 0.4%, and 0.6% w/v) for

2 h to determine the effective concentration for antimicrobial activity. The broth dilution technique was employed for this evaluation

Table 2 shows the PHMB concentration which killed all bacteria entirely as no colonies were observed after 24 h when one swab of the bacterial broth (which had been incubated with BC loaded with different PHMB concentrations for 24 h at 37 °C) was applied on the MH agar plate and culture continued for 24 h at 37 °C. The MBC of PHMB was 0.2% w/v for effective bactericidal activity. The highest PHMB concentration was needed to kill MRSA in the group of the Gram-positive bacteria and P. aeruginosa for the Gram-negative case. This concentration range was close to the reported values of commercial wound dressings: 0.2% PHMB in Kerlix AMD™ antimicrobial gauze and bandages [14], 0.3% PHMB in Suprasorb® X + PHMB, and 0.5% PHMB in the KendalI™ AMD antimicrobial foam [16].

3.2. Interaction study between two compounds and the effective PHMB concentration in the dual loaded BC wound dressing

The BC wound dressing was loaded with two different compounds to evaluate the dual release of two bioactive compounds: PHMB for its antimicrobial activity, and either SS or PG to enhance wound repair. However, the interaction between the two bioactive compounds needed to be investigated in terms of the loading sequence and loading amount since they could impair the antimicrobial activity, which is the main requirement of using a BC dressing to treat infected wounds. In this test, only *P. aeruginosa* was selected because it had the highest re-sistance to PHMB, as shown in the previous section. The single loaded PHMB dressing was used as a positive control, while the single loaded SS and PG dressings were used as the negative control. Fig. 1 shows the results from the disc diffusion test regarding the

P. aeruginosa inhibition zone distance, influenced by different types of BC wound dressings (note: <u>SS/PHMB</u>: silk sericin was loaded into the dressing before PHMB; PHMB/SS: PHMB was loaded into the dressing before SS;  $\underline{PG/PHMB}$ : proteoglycan was loaded into the dressing before PHMB;  $\underline{PHMB/PG}$ : PHMB was loaded into the dressing before PG; PHMB: this dressing was only loaded with PHMB; SS: this dressing was only loaded with SS; and PG: this dressing was only loaded with PG). The effects of the loading sequences and the interactions among all ingredients were obvious. There was no antimicrobial activity which could be seen in the SS, PG, PHMB/SS, PG/PHMB, and PHMB/PG dressings. For the dual-loaded dressing, the antimicrobial activity was only observed in the SS/PHMB dressing. The larger SS molecules  $(MW = 20-310 \text{ kDa}, [29]) \text{ could potentially block the smaller PHMB molecules (MW = 3 kDa, [1]) if PHMB was loaded before SS in the case of the PHMB/SS dressing (see Fig. 2B for a graphical illustration).$ This situation might hinder PHMB from reacting with the bacterial membrane, compared with the SS/PHMB dressing. In the SS/PHMB dressing, there would be higher amount of PHMB available for inhibiting bacterial activities (Fig. 2A). There was some interaction between SS and PHMB because the effective concentration of PHMB was increased to 0.3% w/v, compared to 0.2% w/v in the single PHMB loaded dressing. However, this interaction between SS and PHMB was

 Table 2

 The PHMB minimal bactericidal concentrations of the tested bacteria, observed after applying one swab of bacterial broth dilution (which had incubated with BC loaded with dilfferent PHMB concentrations for 24 h at 37 °C) on the MH agar plate and continued culture for 24 h at 37 °C.

Bacteria strain	PHMB minimal bactericidal concentration for loading into the BC wound dressing (% w/v)
B. subtilis	0.025
S. aureus	0.050
MRSA	0.100
E. coli	0.050
A. baumannii	0.025
P. aeruginosa	0.200



Fig. 1. The inhibition zone distance against *P. aeruginasa*, 24 h after placing different types of loaded BC wound dressings on a MH agar plate, which was cultured at 37  $^{\circ}$ C (\* indicates statistical difference between the pair, *p* < 0.05).

probably weak because PHMB still maintained its antimicrobial activity with a higher loaded PHMB concentration.

In the case of the proteoglycan-containing dressings (PG/PHMB and PHMB/PG). PHMB was ineffective at inhibiting P. aeruginosa, regardless of the loading sequence. PHMB might have been caught in the highly branched PG network (Fig. 2C & D). In addition, the positively charged PHMB might form strong interactions with the highly negativelycharged PG molecules [12,13]. Müller et al. [35] also found that highly negatively-charged glycosaminoglycan (chondroitin sulfate) complete ly neutralized the antimicrobial effects of PHMB against S. aureus, Enterococcus faecium, and E. coli.

The electrostatic force was found to be a major interaction between positively-charged PHMB and other charged molecules. The attraction force was reported in the case of PHMB with a negatively-charged plant cellulose [36] through hydrogen bonding. Dilamian et al. [37] reported that PHMB formed an attractive interacteraction with negative-ly-charged poly(ethylene oxide) and a repulsive interaction with and positively-charged chitosan; however these electrostatic interactions with and did not impair the antimicrobial activity of PHMB. The electrostatic in-teraction issue would be elevated if PHMB interacts with highly negatively-charged molecules such as PG (reported in this work) or chondroitin sulfate (reported by Müller et al. [35]). The antimicrobial activity of PHMB might be totally ineffective for certain bacterial strains which are difficult to treat.

#### 3.3. ATR-FTIR study investigating the interaction between two compounds

In order to understand the interaction details, ATR-FTIR was employed to evaluate the molecular interaction between two compounds (PHMB vs. SS, and PHMB vs. PG).

In Fig. 3A, the pure SS sample shows three peaks at 1650, 1624, and 1518 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed to amide I, amide I, and amide II, respectively, which are characteristic of protein. When the SS sample was mixed with the PHMB sample, the peak shoulder at 1650 cm<sup>-1</sup> (in the spec-trum of the mixture) of amide I (from SS molecules) slightly decreased, which indicates a change in the secondary structure of the protein [2]. The amide I peak at 1624 cm<sup>-1</sup> was unaffected. However, the band at  $1544 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ (in the spectrum of the mixture) was a combination of the peaks at 1545 and 1518 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed to the C=N stretching vibra-tion mode of PHMB molecules and amide II of SS molecules, respectively, It seems that there was no interaction between C=N of PHMB molecules and amide II of SS molecules. These results also suggest that there was a weak interaction between SS and PHMB molecules which slightly affected the amide I region or the secondary structure of the protein. This finding corresponds to the previous conclusion of the bacterial test that SS only had a weak interaction with PHMB, necessitating

#### S. Napavichayanun et al. / Materials Science and Engineering C 55 (2015) 95-104



Fig. 2. An illustration of the loading sequence of bioactive compounds: positively charged PHMB, SS, and highly negatively-charged PG into the neutral BC wound dressing: A) SS/PHMB dressing in which SS was loaded into the dressing before PHMB, B) PHMB/SS dressing in which PHMB was loaded into the dressing before SS, C) PG/PHMB dressing in which PG was loaded into the dressing before PG.

a higher PHMB concentration (0.3% w/v compared to 0.2% w/v in single loaded PHMB dressing).

In Fig. 3B, the pure PG sample shows a peak at 1650 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed to C=O stretching vibration mode and the pure PHMB sample shows a peak at 1545 cm<sup>-1</sup> attributed to C=N stretching vibration mode. In the mixture of PG and PHMB, the C=O peak slightly shifted from 1650 cm<sup>-1</sup>, compared to the pure PG sample, while the C=N peak significantly shifted to 1558 cm<sup>-1</sup> from 1545 cm<sup>-1</sup> in the pure PHMB sample. This shift indicates that there was a strong molecular interaction between the C=O functional group of PG molecules and the C=N functional group of PHMB molecules in the mixture [38]. It is possible that lone pair electrons from the C=O of PG formed a hydrogen bond with H-N=C of PHMB, as hown in Fig. 4.

This finding is in agreement with those reported by Zhang and Magnes, who indicated that peak shifts are caused by hydrogen bonding [39,40]. Moreover, the precipitation of PG and PHMB could be observed when the PG solution was mixed with the PHMB solution during the preparation of the PG/PHMB mixture. The precipitation might result from electrostatic interactions between the negatively charged

functional group of PG and positively charged PHMB. From the above findings, it can be concluded that there was a strong molecular interaction between PHMB and PG molecules. This strong interaction could explain the previous results in Section 3.2 in that there was no antimicrobial activity found in the PG/PHMB and PG/PHMB dressings (Fig. 1).

In addition, the interaction between BC and other molecules (SS, PHMB, and PG) could not be observed as a change in the ATR-FTIR spectra (data was not shown here). The interaction was suspected to be a hydrogen bond between the –OH groups of BC and the C=O groups of the protein in SS, H–N=C in PHMB, or C=O/–OH groups in PG, as shown in Fig. 5. However, the strength of these interactions might not be strong enough to shift the peak of BC due to the molecular size and steric hindrance of structures.

In summary, PG should not be loaded with PHMB if antimicrobial activity is required against various bacterial strains. The dual loading system of SS and PHMB into the BC dressing was still effective if SS was loaded before PHMB. In additon, the concentration of PHMB must be at least 0.3% w/v to maintain antimicrobial effectiveness.



Fig. 3. ATR-FTIR spectra: A) shows the spectra of pure SS, pure PHMB, and the SS and PHMB mixture (SS + PHMB) while B) shows the spectra of pure PG, pure PHMB, and the PG and PHMB mixture (PG + PHMB), the downward arrows indicating a noticeable difference between the mixture and either pure SS or pure PHMB.



Fig. 4. An illustration of hydrogen bonding between PHMB and chondroitin sulfate A, which is a part of the PG molecule

3.4. Optimization of the PHMB loading amount in pre-adsorbed SS on the BC wound dressing

100

*P. aeruginosa* was the only bacterial strain selected for the optimization of the PHMB (0.3% w/v) loading amount on pre-adsorbed SS (2 mL/ side of a 1% w/v SS solution) on the BC wound dressing, since this strain showed the highest resistance to the antimicrobial activity of PHMB. Fig. 6 illustrates the results from the disc diffusion test of the inhibition zone size, as influenced by different PHMB loading amounts on pre-adsorbed SS on the BC wound dressing against *P. aeruginosa*. PHMB solution (0.3% w/v) needed to be loaded in a minimum amount of 4 mL per side of the wound dressing loaded with 5 mL and 6 mL of PHMB solution showed significantly higher inhibition zone than that loaded with 4 mL of PHMB doution. The borth dilution results also indicated that the loading of 4 mL of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v) was essential for complete elimination of *P. aeruginosa*.

3.5. Optimization of the SS loading amount in the dual loaded BC for effective SS release in PBS

This experiment was intended to determine the right SS loading amounts into the BC wound dressing, so the optimal concentration of

the released SS was at 100 µg/mL to promote fibroblast collagen production, without losing cell viability [23]. Fig. 7 illustrates the released profile of SS in PBS. For both formulations (SS2/PHMB5 and SS3/PHMB5), an initial burst release of SS was observed. In the first 4 h, the concentration of SS reached the effective level (100 µg/mL) to promote fibroblast collagen production. A steady release period was observed from 24 h onward. During the whole test, there were no statistical differences between the SS2/PHMB5 formulation was preferable over SS3/PHMB5 in terms of promoting fibroblast collagen production, since the released amount was closer to 100 µg/mL.

3.6. Collagen type 1 production from SS2/PHMB5 and BC wound dressing

The enhancement of collagen type 1 produced by fibroblast cells cultured with the released solution of SS2/PHMB5 formulation was elucidated in Fig. 8. It was shown that the cells cultured with the released solution of SS2/PHMB5 formulation produced significantly higher amount of collagen type 1 than those cultured with the BC wound dressing. This data supported our results that SS which released from SS2/PHMB5 steadily at around 100 µg/mL could efficiently induce the production of collagen type 1 by fibroblast cells.



Fig. 5. An illustration of hydrogen bonding between BC and other molecules (SS protein, PHMB, and PG).



Fig. 6. The effects of different PHMB loading amounts (mL per side) loaded on the BC wound dressing which was pre-adsorbed with 2 mL/side of SS solution (1% w/v) on the inhibition zone distance against *P*. *aeruginosa*, 24 h after placing the BC dressing containing PHMB on a bacteria-loaded MH agar plate, cultured at 37 °C (\* indicates a statistical difference (p < 0.05) between the pair).

#### 3.7. Minimum bactericidal concentration of the PHMB solution

Before the in vitro release of PHMB from the BC wound dressings, the minimum PHMB concentration was evaluated for its antimicrobial activity against various bacterial strains by the broth dilution technique. In this test, the MBC was evaluated directly with PHMB solutions at different concentrations. There were no BC wound dressings involved in these tests, unlike in Section 3.1. These test results were used as a guideline for selecting the effective formulation of the BC dressing. The concentration of the released PHMB must be at least equal to the minimum bactericidal concentration, obtained in these tests. Table 3 summarizes the PHMB concentration which killed all bacteria entirely as no colonies were observed after 24 h when one swab of bacterial broth dilution (which had been incubated with different PHMB concentrations for 24 h at 37 °C). Was applied on the MH agar plate and culture was continued for 24 h at 37 °C.

The concentration of PHMB must be at least 0.005% w/v to be able to kill all bacterial strains. Previously Müller et al., reported that a PHMB



Fig. 7. The amount of SS released in a PBS solution from different types of BC wound dressings: SS2/PHMB5 [2 mL/side of SS solution (1% w/v)] loaded onto the BC wound dressing before adding 5 mL/side of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v)]. SS3/PHMB5 [3 mL/side of SS solution (1% w/v)] loaded onto the BC wound dressing before adding 5 mL/side of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v)], and PHMB5 [5 mL/side of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v) only loaded in the BC wound dressing] (there were no statistically significant differences in the amount of SS released from SS2/PHMB5 and SS3/PHMB5 formulations at the same time points).



Fig. 8. The amount of collagen type 1 in released solution of SS2/PHMB5 and BC wound dressing; SS2/PHMB5 [2 m]/side of SS solution (1% w/v) loaded onto the BC wound dressing before adding 5 ml/side of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v)] (\* indicates a statistical difference (p < 0.05) between the pair).

concentration of 0.005% is effective for the extermination of *S. aureus* and *E. coli* [41].

#### 3.8. In vitro release of PHMB in PBS

Fig. 9 shows the amount of PHMB released from different types of BC wound dressings during the week-long testing period. After only 30 min, the concentrations of released PHMB in PBS were higher than 0.005% w/v, as observed from all BC wound dressings (SS2/PHMB5, SS3/PHMB5, and PHMB5). This concentration was sufficient for effective elimination of all bacterial strains as found in the previous test (Section 3.7). The PHMB concentration in PBS released from the SS2/PHMB5 dressing was found to be insignificantly higher than the amount released from the SS3/PHMB5 dressing at all time points during the test; this was because there was a weak interaction between SS and PHMB molecules, which slightly affected the secondary structure of the protein in the amidel region (Fig. 3A). The PHMB concentration released from the SS2/PHMB5 dressing was significantly higher than the level released from the SS2/PHMB5 dressing to S3/PHMB5 dressing (p < 0.05).

From in vitro release results of both SS and PHMB, it could be concluded that the formulation of SS2/PHMB5 was better than SS3/ PHMB5 since the released SS concentration was close to the optimal value which enhances fibroblast collagen production. In addition, the release of PHMB was slightly higher in the SS2/PHMB5 formulation than the SS3/PHMB5 formulation.

3.9. The comparison of antimicrobial activities between the dual loaded SS/PHMB BC wound dressing (SS2/PHMB5) and the single loaded PHMB BC wound dressing (PHMB5)

The dual-loaded SS/PHMB BC wound dressing (SS2/PHMB5) had more benefit than the single loaded PHMB BC wound dressing (PHMB5), since SS released from the SS2/PHMB5 wound dressing enhanced fibroblast collagen production. In Section 3.2, the interaction

#### Table 3

Minimal bactericidal concentrations of PHMB solution against the tested bacteria, observed after applying one swab of bacterial broth dilution (which had incubated with different PHMB concentration for 24 h at 37 °C) on the MH agar plate and continued culture for 24 h at 37 °C.

Bacteria strain	Minimal bactericidal concentration of PHMB solution (% w/v)
B. subtilis	0.00375
S. aureus	0.00150
MRSA	0.00150
E. coli	0.00150
A. baumannii	0.00375
P. aeruginosa	0.00500





Fig. 9. The amount PHMB released into PBS solution from different types of BC wound dressings: SS2/PHMB5 [2 mL/side of SS solution (1% w/v) loaded onto the BC wound dressing before adding 5 mL/side of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v)], SS3/PHMB5 [3 mL/side of SS solution (1% w/v) loaded onto the BC wound dressing before adding 5 mL/side of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v), and PHMB5 [5 mL/side of PHMB solution (0.3% w/v) only loaded onto the BC wound dressing before adding the PHMB solution (0.3% w/v) and the same time were no statistically significant differences in the amount of PHMB released from SS2/PHMB5, SS3/PHMB5 and PHMB5 formulations at the same time points).

between SS and PHMB was found to have minimal negative effects on PHMB antimicrobial activity against *P. aeruginosa* if SS was loaded before PHMB in the BC wound dressing. However, there might be some variation against other bacterial strains. In this experiment, the antimicrobial effectiveness of dual-loaded SS2/PHMB5 was compared to the PHMB5 formulation against all bacterial strains using both discs the diffusion and broth dilution techniques.

Fig. 10 shows the comparison of antimicrobial activity between the dual loaded SS/PHMB BC wound dressing (SS2/PHMB5) and the single loaded PHMB BC wound dressing (PHMB5) against all bacterial strains. There were no statistical differences in the inhibition zone observed between the two types of wound dressing with the same bacteria. This finding confirmed that the PHMB antimicrobial activities against all tested bacteria were not compromised by the addition of SS, if it was loaded first in the BC wound dressing before PHMB. Based on the broth dilution results, there were no differences in the PHMB antimicrobial activity observed between the SS2/PHMB5 and PHMB5 formulation wound dressings even after the agar plates were left for 72 h.



Fig. 10. The comparison of antimicrobial activity between two wound dressings: the dual loaded SS/PHMB BC wound dressing (SS2/PHMBS) and the single loaded PHMB BC wound dressing (PHMB5) against all tested bacteria (*B. subtilis, S. aureus, MRSA, E. oti, A. baunamii, and P. aeruginosa), 24* h after placing the BC dressings containing PHMB on bacteria-loaded MH agar plates which were cultured at 37 °C (there were no statistically significant differences in the inhibition zone observed between the two types of wound dressing using the same bacteria). 3.10. The comparison of the antimicrobial activity of the BC wound dressing (SS2/PHMB5) with other commercially available antimicrobial wound dressings

To evaluate the potential of commercialization of our novel BC wound dressing, the comparison of antimicrobial activity was conducted between the SS2/PHMB5 wound dressing and other commercially available antimicrobial dressings such as Bactigras® (Smith & Nephew plc., London, UK), Acticoat® (Smith & Nephew plc), and Suprasorb®X + PHMB.

It is clear from Fig. 11 that SS2/PHMB5 is far superior in terms of antimicrobial activity against all bacterial strains than Bactigras, a paraffinimpregnated gauze dressing containing chlorhexidine acetate. In comparison with silver-loaded Acticoat®, the antimicrobial activity of the SS2/PHMB5 dressing was better against Gram-positive bacteria often found in chronic wounds (*S. aureus* and MRSA). In the case of Gram-negative bacteria, the antimicrobial activity of the SS2/PHMB5 dressing was comparable to that of Acticoat®, but had less of an effect on inhibiting P. aeruginosa growth. The antimicrobial difference between the SS2/PHMB5 dressing and Suprasorb®X + PHMB was only noticed for *B. subtilis*. However, it is inconclusive that Suprasorb®X + PHMB would be better than the SS2/PHMB5 dressing for treating chronically infected wounds, because B. subtilis has not been reported in infected wounds [42,43]. These results suggest that the antimicrobial activity of the SS2/PHMB5 dressing is comparable to that of commercially available dressings. There was no single dressing which was more effective than others for treating all tested bacteria. The advantage of SS2/ PHMB5 over the commercial dressings is the promotion of wound healing from SS.

Comparing to the report on BC dressing of other studies, our SS2/ PHMB5 dressing would show higher potential in term of the enhancement of collagen type 1 production than the single-loading of antiseptics in BC dressings, such as silver/silver chloride nanoparticles [44–52], silver sulfadiazine [5], benzalkonium chloride [53], chitosan [54,55], and PHMB [56]. Considering the study that loaded two compounds into BC dressing (negatively-charged gold nanoparticles and positively-charged tysozyme [57], or negatively-charged phosvitin and positively-charged chitosan [58] loaded into negativelycharged cellulose acetate by a layer-by-layer self-assembly technique), the goal of the compounds loaded was difference from ours. Best on our best knowledge, this study is the first report of the release of the antiseptic and the bioactive compound simultaneously from BC wound dressing for the antimicrobial activity and acceleration of



Fig. 11. A comparison of the antimicrobial activity of the BC wound dressing developed in this work (SS2/PHMBS) with commercially available antimicrobial wound dressings BCatigasa9, Actiona0 and Suprasorb9X + PHMB against all tested bacteria (*B. subtilis*, *S. aureus*, MRSA, *E. coli*, *A. baumannii*, and *P. aeruginosa*), 24 h after placing the BC dressings containing PHMB on bacteria-loaded MH agar plates which were cultured at 37 °C (' indicates a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) between the SS2/PHMB5 dressing and other commercial dressings).

#### 4. Conclusions

We have successfully developed a BC wound dressing loaded with SS, a compound known to enhance fibroblast collagen production without negative impacts on the antimicrobial effects of PHMB. The loading concentration of PHMB needed to be at least 0.3% w/v for effective elimination of all tested bacteria (B. subtilis, S. aureus, MRSA, E. coli, A. baumannii, and P. aeruginosa). For dual loading, the type of compound and the loading sequence could have an undesirable negative impact on PHMB antimicrobial activity. Highly negatively-charged PG completely impaired PHMB antimicrobial activity against certain bacteria that are difficult to treat, e.g., *P. aeruginosa*. The loading sequence was crucial in the formulation containing PHMB and SS. Silk sericin needed to be loaded first to maintain the antimicrobial effects of PHMB. The SS2/PHMB5 formulation was found to be the best, since it released SS at a concentration close to the optimal conditions to enhance fi-broblast collagen production and released PHMB at a higher concentration than the other dual formulations. In addition, the antimicrobial activity of SS2/PHMB5 was comparable to that of commercially available antimicrobial wound dressings.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support from the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Pro-gram (Grant No. PHD/0200/2553) to Supamas Napavichayanun and Pornanong Aramwit and the Thailand Research Fund at Chulalongkorn University (Contract number RSA5680004).

#### References

- <section-header>
  Performens
  N. Kawards-Jones, Antimicrobial Dressings, Russell, Hugo & Ayliffe's, Principles and Proceedings of Disinfection, Preservation and Stenilization, 2012. 514–518.
  N. Caaja, A. Krystynowicz, S. Bielecki, R.M. Borwn Jr, Microbial cellulose the cellulose in biomedical applications, Biomacromolecules 8 (2007) 1-12.
  W. Caaja, D. Kynstynowicz, R.M. Borwn, Structural Investigations of Normal and Stenilization of Stere Stafe.
  C. Caaja, D. Kynstynowicz, R.M. Borwn, Structural Investigations of Normal and Stafe Stafe

- K. Liu, T. Lin, Y. Gao, Z. Xu, C. Huang, G. Yao, L. Jiang, Y. Tang, X. Wang, Antimicrobial electrospun nanofibers of cellulose acetate and polyester urethane composite for wound dressing, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater. 100 (B) (2012) 1556–1565.
   J.G. Alblas, A. Andriessen, R.J. Klicks, A.M. Wiersema, J. Van Doorn, G. Elzinga, H. Spits, A. Post, M. Van Gent, Clinical evaluation of a PHMB-impregnated biocellulose dressing on paediatric lacerations, J. Wound Care 20 (2011) 280–284.
   P. Basmaji, G.M. de Olyveira, M.L. dos Santos, A.C. Guastaldi, Novel antimicrobial biguanide (PHMB) and green tea, J. Biomateria, Prog. Polym. Sci. 32 (2007) 991–1007.
   N. Minoura, S.J. Aiba, Y. Gotoh, M. Tsukada, Y. Imai, Attachment and growth of cul-tured fibroblast cells on silk protein matrices. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 29 (1995) 1215–1221.
   P. Basmai, K. & Gebrasport, T. Nakebeen, T. Scichara, The affect of caricin form ward.
- 1 horounae cens was an -1221. amwit, S. Kanokpanont, T. Nakpheng, T. Srichana, The effect of sericin from var-extraction methods on cell viability and collagen production, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 11 [23]

- [23] P. Aramwit, S. Kanoxparona, L. Long-Long, and Collagen production, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 11 (2010) 2200–2211.
  [24] W. Tao, M. Li, R. Xie, Preparation and structure of porous silk sericin materials, Macromol Mater. Eng. 290 (2005) 188–194.
  [25] K. Tsubouchi, Y. Igarashi, Y. Takasu, H. Yamada, Sericin enhances attachment of cultured human skin fibrothasts. Biosci Biotechnol. Biochem. 69 (2005) 403–405.
  [26] S. Terada, T. Nishimura, M. Sasaki, H. Yamada, M. Miki, Sericin, a protein derived from silkworms, accelerates the proliferation of several mammalian cell lines in chaing a hybridoma, Cytotechnology 40 (2003) 3–12.
  [27] R. Dash, M. Mandal, S.K. Ghob, S.C. Kundu, Silk sericin protein of tropical tasar silkworm inhibits UVB-induced approtosis in human skin fibrotytes. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 311 (2008) 111–119.
- Worth minutes Oreandeed approximation minimum sum kerannovjets, work cerk Biochem. 311 (2008) 111–119.
  P. Aramwit, S. Palapinyo, T. Srichana, S. Chottanapund, P. Muangman, Silk sericin ameliorates wound healing and its clinical efficacy in burn wounds, Arch. Dermatol. Res. 305 (2013) 585–594. [28]

- [28] P. Aramwit, S. Palapinyo, T. Srichana, S. Chottanapurd, P. Muargman, Silk sericin ameliorates wound healing and its clinical efficacy in burn wounds, Arch. Dermatol. Res. 305 (2013) 585–594.
  [29] P. Aramwit, A. Sangcalu, I. The effects of sericin cream on wound healing in rats. Biosci. P. Aramwit, C. Sangcalu, I. The effects of sericin cream on wound healing in rats. Biosci. Biosci. Biosci. Biosci. Biosci. P. Aramwit, S. Kanelyanon, W. De-Biomaku, K. Kamel, T. Sritientong, J. Angspati, J. Ratanavaraporn, P. Aramwit, Clinical potential of a silk sericin releasing bioactive wound dressing for the treatment of split-thickness skin graft donor sites, Pharm. Res. 31 (2014) 104–116.
  [31] P. Aramwit, S. Kanolyanont, W. De-Biomaku, K. Kamel, T. Srichana, The effect of sericin with variable amino-acid content from different silk strains on the production of collagen and nitric oxide, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 20 (2009) 1225–1306.
  [32] P. Aramwit, T. Srittienthong, T. Srichana, J. Ratanavaraporn, Accelerated healing of full-thickness wounds, Int. J. Pharm. 439 (2012) 175–136.
  [33] P. Aramwit, T. Srittienhong, T. Srichana, J. Ratanavaraporn, Accelerated healing of full-thickness wounds by genipin-crosslinked silk sericin/PVA scaffolds. Cells Tissues Organs 197 (2013) 224–238.
  [34] P.G. Verschuren, T.D. Cardona, M.J.R. Nout, K.D. De Goojer, J.C. Van Den Heuvel Location and limitation of cellulose preduction by Accelbacter xylinum established from oxygen profiles. J. Biosci. Bioerg. 89 (2000) 414–419.
  [35] G. Miller, A. Kramer, I. witro action of a combination of selected antimicrobial agents and chondrolin sulfate. Chem.-Biol. Interact. 124 (2000) 77–85.
  [36] R.S. Blackburn, A. Harvey, L.L. Kettle, J.D. Payne, S.J. Russell, Sorption of polythexamethylene biguanide) to recollatose: mechanism of binding and molecular condine. Carobolytt, Polym. 94 (2013) 364–3

- [41] G. Müller, A. Kramer, Effect of selected wound antiseptics on adult articular cartilage (bovine seamold bone) in the presence of *Escherichia coli* and *Stophylococcus aureus*, J. Orthop. Res. 28 (2005) 127–133.
  [42] C. E. Davies, MJ. Wilson, K.E. Hill, P. Stephens, C.M. Hill, K.G. Handing, D.W. Thomas, Use of molecular techniques to study microbial diversity in the skin: chronic wounds reevaluated. Wound Repair Regen. 9 (2001) 332–340.
  [43] K. Gjadshol, J.J. Christensen, T. Karfsmark, B. Jorgensen, B.M. Klein, K.A. Krogfelt, Multiple bacterial species reside in chronic wounds: a longitudinal study. Int. Wound J. 2 (2006) 22–231.
  [44] T. Maneerung, S. Tokura, R. Rujiravanit, Impregnation of silver nanoparticles into bacterial cellulose for antimicrobial wound dressing. Carbohydr. Polym. 72 (2008) 43–51.
- 43-51
- [45]
- 43–51. J. Wu, Y. Zheng, W. Song, J. Luan, X. Wen, Z. Wu, X. Chen, Q. Wang, S. Guo, In situ synthesis of silver-nanoparticles/bacterial cellulose composites for slow-released antimicrobial wound dressing. Carbohydr. Polym. 102 (2014) 762–771. J. Wu, Y. Zheng, X. Wen, Q. Lin, X. Chen, Z. Wu, Silver nanoparticle/bacterial cellulose gel membranes for antibacterial wound dressing: investigation in vitro and in vivo. Biomed. Mater. (Bristol) 9 (2014) 1–12. D. Sun, J. Yang, J. Yu, X. Yang, Preparation of novel Ag/bacterial cellulose hybrid nanofibers for antimicrobial wound dressing, Adv. Mater. Res. 152–153 (2011) 1771–1774. [46]
- [47]
- nationaries for antionaries of antimicrobial bacterial 1771–1774, Y. Wang, J. Shi, Z. Jiang, Fabrication of antimicrobial bacterial cellulose-gA/gGT anacomposite using bacteria as versatile biofactory. J. Nanopar-ticle Res. 14 (2012) 1–12.

#### S. Napavichayanun et al. / Materials Science and Engineering C 55 (2015) 95-104

- [49] Z. Peršin, U. Maver, T. Pivec, T. Maver, A. Vesel, M. Mozetič, K. Stana-Kleinschek, Novel cellulose based materials for safe and efficient wound treatment, Carobydr. Polym. 100 (2014) 55–64.
  [50] S. Berndt, F. Wesarg, C. Wiegand, D. Kralisch, F.A. Müller, Antimicrobial porous hy-rids consisting of bacterial nanocellulose and silver nanoparticles, Cellulose 20 (2013) 771–783.
  [51] W. Hu, S. Chen, X. Li, S. Shi, W. Shen, X. Zhang, H. Wang, In situ synthesis of silver chloride nanoparticles into bacterial cellulose membranes, Mater. Sci. Eng. C 29 (2009) 1216–1219.
  [52] X. Zhang, Y. Fang, W. Chen, Preparation of silver/bacterial cellulose composite mem-brane and study on its antimicrobial activity. Synth. React. Inorg. Metc. Org., Nano-Met. Chem. 43 (2013) 907–913.
  [53] B. Wei, G. Yang, F. Hong, Preparation and evaluation of a kind of bacterial cellu-lose dry films with antibacterial properties, Carbohydr. Polym. 84 (2011) 533–538.
- [54] A.L. Harkins, S. Duri, L.C. Kloth, C.D. Tran, Chitosan-cellulose composite for wound dressing material. Part 2. Antimicrobial activity, blood absorption abil-ity, and biocompatibility, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater, 102 (2014) 1193–1206.
  [55] U. Fu, W. Wang, L. Yu, S. Zhang, G. Yang, Fabrication of novel cellulose/chitosan ar-tificial skin composite. Mater. Sci. Forum (2009) 1034–1038.
  [56] C. Wiegand, M. Abel, P. Ruth, U.C. Hipler, HaCaT Exeratinocytes in co-culture with Staphylococcus aureus can be protected from hacterial damage by polihexanide. Wound Repair Regen. 17 (2009) 730–738.
  [57] B. Zhou, Y. Hu, J. Li B. Li. Chitosan/phosvitin antibacterial films fabricated via layer-by-layer deposition. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 64 (2014) 402–408.
  [58] B. Zhou, Y. Li, H. Deng, Y. Hu, B. Li, Antibacterial multilayer films fabricated by layer-by-layer immobilizing typozyme and gold nanoparticles on nanofibers. Colloids Surf. B 116 (2014) 432–438.
Arch Dermatol Res (2016) 308:123-132 DOI 10.1007/s00403-016-1621-3

ORIGINAL PAPER

## CrossMark

The safety and efficacy of bacterial nanocellulose wound dressing incorporating sericin and polyhexamethylene biguanide: in vitro, in vivo and clinical studies

Supamas Napavichayanun<sup>1,2</sup> · Rungnapha Yamdech<sup>1</sup> · Pornanong Aramwit<sup>1,2</sup>

Received: 12 September 2015/Revised: 6 November 2015/Accepted: 8 January 2016/Published online: 21 January 2016 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract In our previous work, we have attempted to develop a novel bacterial nanocellulose wound dressing which composed of both polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) as an antimicrobial agent and sericin as an accelerative wound healing component. The loading sequence and concentration of PHMB and sericin were optimized to provide the wound dressing with the most effective antimicrobial activity and enhanced collagen production. In this study, further in vitro, in vivo, and clinical studies of this novel wound dressing were performed to evaluate its safety, efficacy, and applicability. For the in vitro cytotoxic test with L929 mouse fibroblast cells, our novel dressing was not toxic to the cells and also promoted cell migration as good as the commercially available dressing, possibly due to the component of sericin released. When implanted subcutaneously in rats, the lower inflammation response was observed for the novel dressing implanted, comparing to the commercially available dressing. This might be that the antimicrobial PHMB component of the novel dressing played a role to reduce infection and inflammation reaction. The clinical trial patch test was performed on the normal skin of healthy volunteers to evaluate the irritation effect of the dressing. Our novel dressing did not irritate the skin of any volunteers, as characterized by the normal levels of ervthema and

Pornanong Aramwit aramwit@gmail.com melanin and the absence of edema, papule, vesicle, and bullae. Then, the novel dressing was applied for the treatment of full-thickness wounds in rats. The wounds treated with our novel dressing showed significantly lower percentage of wound size and higher extent of collagen formation mainly due to the activity of sericin. We concluded that our novel bacterial nanocellulose incorporating PHMB and sericin was a safe and efficient wound dressing material for further investigation in the wound healing efficacy in clinic.

Keywords Bacterial nanocellulose · Sericin · PHMB · Wound dressing · Safety · Efficacy

#### Introduction

Nowadays, a variety of wound dressings are developed for acceleration of wound healing by reducing wound infection and controlling the appropriate wound environment. However, some of them show adverse side effects such as pain, skin discoloration and renal toxicity [8]. Biosynthetic bacterial nanocellulose shows appealing characteristics to be applied as wound dressing. First, it has an ultrafine fiber structure with high capability to absorb and retain large amount of water (more than 200 times of its dry state). bringing the high capacity to absorb wound exudate and controlled moist environment over the wound [10]. Second, its nano-porous structure allows the easy transportation of active molecules or compounds to the wound. Third, the high tensile strength and flexibility make the bacterial nanocellulose to be a good barrier for wound protection. Fourth, it has cooling effect that can reduce pain [1]. Finally, the bacterial nanocellulose has high purity, nontoxicity, and does not activate allergic reaction [19].

D Springer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bioactive Resources for Innovative Clinical Applications Research Unit, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, PhayaThai Road, Phatumwan, Banekok 10330, Thailand

Arch Dermatol Res (2016) 308:123-132

In addition to the base bacterial nanocellulose wound dressing, active compounds incorporated in the dressing are important factors to accelerate wound healing. Either antimicrobial agent or accelerative wound healing agent are usually introduced to incorporate in the wound dressing. In terms of antimicrobial agent, polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) is known as a broad spectrum antimicrobial agent having high antimicrobial activity against both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria and low toxicity [22]. The PHMB-containing bacterial nanocellulose dressing has been reported to reduce biofilm and promote granulation tissue in wound without irritation [14]. In terms of accelerative wound healing agents, the high cost agents like growth factors, glycosaminoglycans, peptides, etc., are usually chosen, thus the resulting dressings are rather expensive so that most patients cannot afford for the treatment and loss the opportunity to use the advanced developing products. Sericin is a water-soluble protein extracted from silk cocoons. In the past, sericin was considered as a waste material in the textile industry. Recently, various biological activities of sericin such as antioxidation, bioadhesion, and activation of cell proliferation, collagen production and epithelialization in wounds have been recognized [4, 6, 7, 9, 12]. Thus, sericin is a biologically and cost effective accelerative wound healing compound for this purpose.

In fact, there is rarely that both antimicrobial and accelerative wound healing compounds are incorporated in one dressing. Therefore, we have attempted to develop an alternative wound dressing which composed of both PHMB as an antimicrobial agent and sericin as an accelerative wound healing component. The bacterial nanocellulose incorporating both PHMB and sericin has been introduced as novel wound dressing in our recent work [20]. The interaction, loading sequence, and loading concentration of PHMB and sericin were investigated to ensure that the wound dressing could provide both antimicrobial activity and promote collagen production during healing. We found that, in term of loading sequence, sericin needed to be loaded before PHMB to avoid any negative impacts. The optimal concentrations of the loaded sericin and PHMB to obtain the wound dressing with the most effective antimicrobial activity and enhanced collagen production were also reported [20]. In this study, the further in vitro, in vivo, and clinical safety of this novel wound dressing were performed. The in vitro cytotoxicity and cell migration tests, in vivo subcutaneous implantation and full-thickness wound healing tests in Wistar rats, and the clinical patch test in healthy volunteers were carried out to evaluate the biocompatibility, safety, and applicability of our novel bacterial nanocellulose incorporating both PHMB and sericin.

D Springer

#### Materials and methods

#### Materials

Acetic acid (CH<sub>3</sub>COOH), sodium hydroxide (NaOH), ammonium phosphate [(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>], and other chemicals were of analytical grade purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, USA. Silk sericin solution was prepared from *Bombyx mori* cocoons supplied by Chul Thai Silk Co., Ltd. (Petchaboon province, Thailand) using a high temperature and high pressure degumming method [6]. Polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) was kindly provided by Lonza Group Ltd. (Basel, Switzerland). Glycerin was an analytical grade from Ajax Finechem, Australia.

#### Preparation of bacterial nanocellulose dressing

Bacterial nanocellulose was produced by static culture of Acetobacter xylinum strain (Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand) in coconut water medium according to the method of Verschuren et al. with a slight modification [29]. Briefly, 50 g of sucrose, 5 g of ammonium phosphate [(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>], and 10 mL of acetic acid (CH3COOH) was added into 1 L of boiled coconut water. The pH of solution was adjusted to 4.5 using acetic acid. Then, 10 mL of A. xylinum was added into the solution and the mixture was transferred to molds for fermentation. This mixture was incubated under sterilized static conditions at 30 °C for 10-12 days to form bacterial nanocellulose. Then, the bacterial nanocellulose was washed with 2 %w/v aqueous sodium hydroxide (NaOH) solution at 70 °C until a neutral pH was achieved. After that, 4 mL of 1 %w/v silk sericin was loaded on the bacterial nanocellulose  $(10 \times 10 \times 0.01 \text{ cm}^3)$  by physical absorption. After silk sericin was absorbed, 10 mL of 0.3 %w/v PHMB was loaded on the silk sericin-containing bacterial nanocellulose. Finally, the PHMB/silk sericin-containing bacterial nanocellulose was immersed in 6 mL of 60 %w/v glycerin. The bacterial nanocellulose dressing containing PHMB and silk sericin, named as dressing A, was obtained. Bactigras (0.5 % chlorhexidine acetate in white soft paraffin, Smith & Nephew Co., Ltd. London, UK), a commercially available wound dressing, was used as control dressings, named as dressing B.

#### In vitro cytotoxicity and migration tests

L929 mouse fibroblast cells (Chinese Academy of Preventive Medical Sciences, Beijing, China) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) containing 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and antibiotics (100 U penicillin and 100 U streptomycin per mL) under 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C. The medium was changed every 2 days. For cytotoxicity test, each of the sterilized dressings A and B  $(1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2)$  was soaked in 3 mL of DMEM for 24 h. The extracted solutions of dressing were diluted with DMEM to 10, 20, 30, and 40 times (1/10, 1/20, 1/30, and 1/40). On the other hand, the cells ( $5 \times 10^4$  cells/well) were seeded in six-well plate and cultured for 24 h to allow cell attachment. Then, the medium was replaced with the diluted extracted solution or control (DMEM and Zn) and cultured for further 24 h. The number of viable cells was determined using the conventional 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay.

A scratch test (injury to the cell monolayer) was performed following the method reported previously [24] to evaluate cell migration representing the expansion of a cell population on the surface. A six-well plate which contained  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/well in DMEM and 10 % FBS was cultured to form a cell monolayer. After that, a linear scratch was generated in the monolayer using a sterile pipette tip (six points/scratch and two scratches/well). The cellular debris was removed by washing with phosphate buffer saline (PBS). Then, the extracted solutions of each dressing (1/15 dilution) and DMEM (control) were added to the wells and incubated at 37 °C with 5 % CO2. After 24, 48, and 72 h, the photos of cells were taken under microscope  $(10\times,$ Olympus CK2, Japan) and the distance of cell migrated was measured using Image J 1.42q/Java 1.6.0.10 program. The percentages of cell migration were calculated as follows:

Percentage of cell migration (%)  
= 
$$(D_t - D_0)/D_0 \times 100,$$
 (1)

where  $D_0$  and  $D_t$  represent the initial distance between scratches and average distance between scratches at each time point, respectively (n = 4).

A Boyden's chamber assay was carried out to evaluate the chemotactic activity of L929 cells towards the medium containing dressings A and B [3]. Briefly, L929 cells were seeded in the upper chamber (5  $\times$  10<sup>4</sup> cells/well in 100  $\mu$ L) of 24-well transwell culture plates with 8- $\mu$ m pore size-polycarbonate filter (Corning/Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany). The extracted solutions of each dressing (1/15 dilution) were added into the lower chamber. The DMEM without dressing was used as a control. Cells were incubated at 37 °C, 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 h, then the migration of cells was evaluated. The migrated cells were fixed with 4 % paraformaldehyde for 30 min, washed with PBS, stained with trypan blue, and counted using light microscope at high magnification field (20 $\times$ ).

#### In vivo safety test

The animal experiments were performed according to Chulalongkorn University Animal Care and Use Committee (CUACUC 13/57) under standard sterile conditions. The experimental protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University. Briefly, female Wistar rats (8 weeks old, weight  $\sim$  200–300 g) were anesthetized, shaved the hair, and disinfected with 70 % ethyl alcohol. A 1 cm skin incision was made to form pockets in the subcutaneous tissue. Then, the dressing sample was inserted into each pocket. The wound was sutured with 6-0 prolene and disinfected with povidone iodine topical antiseptic solution. After 7, 14, 21, and 28 days of implantation, the rats were killed. The samples and surrounding tissue were retrieved, fixed with 10 vol% formalin solution, and embedded in paraffin. The paraffinembedded samples were sectioned (4 µm) and immunohistochemical staining was proceeded as follows. The sections were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated prior to immunohistochemical staining. Endogenous peroxidase of the sample sections was quenched with 1 %v/v hydrogen peroxide in methanol, washed with 0.2 %v/v Tween in phosphate-buffered saline (0.2 % T-PBS), and blocked with 100 % FBS for 40 min. The sections were then incubated with mouse monoclonal anti FOXP3+ antibody (Santa Cruz, USA) diluted in PBS + 1 %v/v FBS (Vector, USA, S1000) for 60 min, washed with 0.2 % T-PBS or three times, and incubated with labeled polymer HRP antimouse/rabbit EnVision kit (Dako, Denmark, K5007) for 60 min according to the manufacturer's instruction. For visualization, the sections were stained with diaminobenzidine staining (DAB, DAKO, Denmark, K3468) for 3 min, washed, counterstained with hematoxylin, and permanently mounted with DPX. Inflammatory responses to the dressings implanted including foreign body giant cells, fatty infiltration, fibrosis, and degranulation of mast cells were evaluated.

#### Clinical safety test in healthy volunteers

The safety test protocol of the dressings in healthy volunteers was approved by the ethic review committee for research involving human research subjects, Health Sciences group, Chulalongkorn University (COA No. 127/2557). It is a prospective, single-blinded, controlled study between October 2014 and February 2015 at the Department of Pharmacy Practice, Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University. One hundred and five eligible healthy volunteers (18-65 years old) who could follow the instruction were recruited in this study. The exclusion criteria were the volunteers who used antihistamine and anti-inflammatory medications or any patches within 2 weeks before and during evaluation and were allergic to silk sericin and PHMB [24]. They would receive all information and signed consent form before starting. The demographic data of all volunteers, as presented in Table 1, were recorded at first time. The study was

Springer

125

126

Table 1 Demographic data of healthy volunteers for patch test

Document	Volunteer	%
Subjects	105	100.00
Sex		
Male	22	21.00
Female	83	79.0
Average age (years $\pm$ SD)	$26.60\pm10.83$	
Average body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> $\pm$ SD)	$21.18\pm3.12$	
Occupation		
Government officer	3	2.8
State enterprise officer	2	1.9
Employee	31	29.5
Students	69	65.7
Underlying disease		
No	102	97.14
Hypertension	2	1.9
Diabetes mellitus	1	0.9
Current alcohol drinking	5	4.7
Current smoking	1	0.9

composed of five visits. Visits 1-3 were called as induction phase while visits 4 and 5 were called as re-challenge phase. At the first visit, the skins were randomly patched with the dressing A and B ( $2 \times 2 \text{ cm}^2$ ). After 3 days (the second visit), the dressings were changed. The new dressings were patched onto the same area as the first visit. After another 3 days (the third visit), the dressings were removed. After that, there was a free period around 7-10 days. At the fourth visit, the skins were patched with the dressings on the same area as the first visit. After 3 days, at last visit, the dressings were removed. Both redness and darkness (erythema and melanin level) on skin of healthy volunteers were evaluated using Cutometer<sup>®</sup> with Mexameter mode (Courage + Khazaka electronic GmbH, Germany), and the photos were taken within 30 min after dressings were removed. The assessment in edema, papule, vesicle, and bullae has been performed by three dermatologists in every visit.

#### In vivo efficacy test

The experimental protocol of efficacy test was approved by Mahidol University Animal Care and Use Committee (MU-ACUC) in 2014. Twenty-four Wistar rats (8 weeks old, weight 300  $\pm$  20 g) were anesthetized, shaved the hair, and disinfected with 70 % ethyl alcohol. Then, the full thickness wound (1.5  $\times$  1.5 cm<sup>2</sup>) was created on skin dorsal to subcutaneous depth. One rat received two wounds on left and right sides. The wounds were randomly covered with dressing A and B. All wounds were covered with transparent dressing (Tegaderm<sup>TM</sup>) as a secondary dressing

#### Deringer

241

Arch Dermatol Res (2016) 308:123-132

and adherent wrap (Coban<sup>TM</sup>) as a tertiary dressing. The rats received 0.5-1.0 mg/kg of Tramadol via subcutaneous injection every day for 3 days. At days 3, 7, 14 and 21, wound size was evaluated by Visitrak<sup>TM</sup> digital device and wound infection was assessed by swab test [26]. Histomorphometric study was carried out to measure collagen formation in the wound at each period of post wounding. At days 3, 7, 14 and 21, six rats were euthanized and their wounded skins were removed and fixed in 10 % neutral buffered formalin. Then, the fixed tissues were processed following the standard tissue procedure. All tissue sections (4 µm) were stained with Masson's trichrome. From each section, ten fields (at 400×) were randomly examined and color images of 640 × 480 pixel resolution were acquired with a light microscope (BX51, Olympus®) and digital camera (DP20, Olympus®). Area fraction of collagen was semi-quantitative measured from those acquired images using ImageJ program, NIH. Briefly, color images were transformed to gray scale and located collagen bundle as interested area. Thus, the area fraction of positive collagen was determined as the percentage/image.

## Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis among sample groups was evaluated using SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS Co., Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand). For cytotoxicity and migration tests, one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed. Mann– Whitney U test was used to calculate statistical difference of wound size. The difference in area fraction of collagen and FOXP3<sup>+</sup> was analyzed by two way ANOVA. Repeated measure ANOVA was performed for erythema and melanin levels. The significant difference in edema and papule was analyzed by Kruskal–Wallis test and Chi-square test, respectively. The statistical difference among the sample groups was considered when p < 0.05.

#### **Results and discussion**

#### In vitro biological properties of the dressings

The in vitro biological properties of our novel dressings in terms of cytotoxicity and the promotion of cells migration were elucidated. Figure 1 presents the number of L929 cells cultured in the various dilutions of medium extracted solution of our novel dressing A, compared to that of the commercially available dressing B, DMEM, and Zn controls. The number of viable cells when cultured in the dressing A's extracted solution at all dilutions was comparable to that of the cells cultured in the dressing B's extracted solution and DMEM. This indicated that our novel dressing A was not toxic to the cells.



Fig. 1 Number of L929 cells after cultured in the various dilutions (1/10 black bars, 1/20 dark grey bars, 1/30 grey bars, 1/40 light grey bars) of medium extracted solution of the dressings A and B for 24 h. The cells cultured in DMEM and Zn (black bars) were served as negative and positive controls, respectively

Cell migration is also crucial for the wound healing. The cells with high ability of migration would accelerate the wound closure. Figure 2a shows the percentage of L929 cell migration when cultured in the medium extracted solution of the dressing A, compared to that of the dressing B and DMEM control, which was evaluated from the scratch assay. No significant difference in the cell migration percentage among all sample groups. In addition, the chemotactic activity of L929 cells migrated towards the medium containing the dressings, evaluated from Boyden's chamber assay, is shown in Fig. 2b. There was also no difference in the number of cell migration among all sample groups. The dressing A, possibly due to the sericin released, seemed to promote the migration of L929 cells as good as the commercially available dressing B and the DMEM control. The promotion of cell migration by sericin was described in our previous work [13]. These in vitro data confirmed the biological properties of our novel dressing A to support wound healing.

#### In vivo safety of the dressings

The in vivo subcutaneously implantation and full-thickness wound models were performed with the dressing A to confirm its safety and wound healing efficacy prior to the clinical trial. Figure 3a shows the histopathological changes in tissue when the dressings A and B were implanted for 14 days. Severe inflammatory response as characterized by highly infiltration of foreign body giant cells, fatty, and fibrosis was found throughout the commercially available dressing B implanted. The implantation of the novel dressing A showed the lower inflammatory response and the inflammation was limited to the tissue interim of the



Fig. 2 a Percentage of L929 cell migration (scratch assay) when cultured in the undiluted medium extracted solution of the dressings A (black bars) and B (grey bars) and the DMEM control (light grey bars) for 1, 2, and 3 days. b Number of L929 cells migration towards the medium containing dressings A and B (Boyden's chamber assay). DMEM without the dressing was served as a control

dressing. The percentage of mast cell degranulation in the dressings implanted which indicated the extent of inflammatory reaction was presented in Fig. 3b. The percentage of mast cell degranulation in the commercially available dressing B was significantly higher than that of dressing A along the implantation period. Noticeably, the mast cell degranulation in the dressing A was not observed after 21 days of implantation. For the degranulated mast cells, the granules were released from the cytoplasm due to the rupture of cell membrane. This could activate neutrophil and histamine and led to acute inflammatory.

Furthermore, the immunohistochemical staining of monoclonal mouse anti FOXP3<sup>+</sup> of the dressings implanted for 28 days was shown in Fig. 4a. The transcription factor FOXP3<sup>+</sup> is known to control the development and function of natural and adaptive T regulatory cells (Tregs)

D Springer

Arch Dermatol Res (2016) 308:123-132

Fig. 3 a Histopathological changes on tissue when the dressings A and B were implanted for 14 days (lefipointing triangle diffused accumulation of numerous, diamond foreign body giant cells, four-pointed star fatty infiltration, asterisks implanted materials, upward black arrows tissue interface). b Percentage of mast cell degranulation in dressings A (closed circle) and B (open circle) implanted for 7, 14, 21, and 28 days. \*Significant difference when compared with the value of dressing B at corresponding implantation period (p < 0.05)



which can promote peripheral self-tolerance by suppressing excessive immune responses [23]. Several studies demonstrated that tolerogenic dendritic cells enhance FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs development [16, 25, 27, 30]. Mutation or lack of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs is a cause of autoimmune disease, inflammation and allergy [23]. Therefore, it is a widely used marker for in vivo allergic evaluation. Herein, the higher number of Tregs was clearly seen in the dressing A than the dressing B. Figure 4b presented the *H* score of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in both dressings after implantation for 7, 14, 21, and 28 days. The *H* score of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs of dressing A showed increasing trend and it was significantly higher than that of dressing B along the implantation period. The FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs also had positive correlation to

Deringer

polymorphoneuclear cells or neutrophil infiltration to the tissue interface. This was in agreement with the study of Tateosian et al. that elastase enzyme in neutrophil can enhance tolerogenic dendritic cell to generate CD4<sup>+</sup> FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs [28]. The more expression of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> related with hypo-responsiveness of activated T cell which led to low inflammatory response [31]. Lin et al. also found that FOXP3 mutation in mice can be a cause of allergic inflammation response and uncontrolled T cell action [15]. Moreover, adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs from healthy to disease mice could improve allergy, thus the FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs were important factor in the allergic regulation [21]. In this study, we found that FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs had negative correlation to giant cell Fig. 4 a Immunohistochemical staining of monoclonal mouse anti FOXP3<sup>+</sup> of the dressing A and B implanted for 28 days. b H score of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs of the dressings A (closed circle) and B (open circle) implanted for 7, 14, 21, and 28 days. \*Significant difference when compared with the value of dressing B at corresponding implantation period (p < 0.05)



infiltration and mast cell degranulation which were both characterized as high immunogenic inflammatory responses and severity of pathological lesions. In overall, our novel dressing A showed lower inflammatory response and allergic reaction than the commercially available dressing B. This could be that the antimicrobial PHMB component of the dressing A reduced the risk of infection and inflammatory reaction during the implantation. The PHMB-containing dressing was shown to decrease the bacteria in wound and prevent wound infection [18]. Eberlein et al. also reported that PHMB-containing bacterial nanocellulose dressing potentially reduced the local wound infection better than the silver dressing [11]. Moreover, sericin and bacterial nanocellulose components of the dressing A have been shown to induce minimal inflammatory reaction [2, 7, 24].

#### Clinical safety of the dressings

After the in vivo safety and efficacy of the dressing A were confirmed, its safety for the clinical use was tested in the normal skin of healthy volunteers using a patch test. The results were reported as a erythema level represented redness and a melanin level represented darkness of the skin patched with the dressings, as shown in Fig. 5. From the total 105 healthy volunteers of this study, the levels of erythema and melanin were not different for every visit. These levels were closed to the levels of healthy skin, as reported by Maenthaisong et al. [17] ( $\sim$  220 of erythema and  $\sim$  230 of melanin). Furthermore, the assessment data from three dermatologists demonstrated that most of the patched skins did not show edema (more than 98 %) and papule (more than 97 %). No vesicle and bullae was observed on the skins after patched with either dressing A or B. Therefore, it could be concluded that the bacterial nanocellulose incorporating PHMB and sericin (dressing A) was non-irritant and safe for the further evaluation of clinical wound healing efficacy.

#### In vivo wound healing efficacy of the dressings

The in vivo wound healing efficacy of the dressings was tested in a full-thickness wound in rats. After the created full-thickness wounds were treated with the dressings A and B for 3, 7, 14, and 21 days, the percentage of wound size was measured as shown in Fig. 6a. At 3 and 7 days after treatment, the percentage of wound size treated with both dressings was not different ( $\sim$ 85 % at 3 days and

D Springer

Arch Dermatol Res (2016) 308:123-132



Fig. 5 a Erythema and b melanin levels of the skin of healthy volunteers patched with the dressings A (closed square) and B (open square) at different visits

~60 % at 7 days). The percentage of wound size treated with the dressing A tended to be lower than that of dressing B from day 14. Furthermore, at 21 days after treatment, the percentage of wound size treated with dressing A was close to zero, indicating that the wound was almost closed completely. This was agreed with the results of previous study reported that sericin cream could reduce wound size in rats without allergic reaction and causing of inflammation [5, 7].

Collagen synthesized by fibroblast cells is one of key indicators of wound healing efficacy. Figure 6b, c demonstrates the extent of collagen formation in the wounds treated with dressings A and B for 3, 7, 14, and 21 days. The extent of collagen formation in both wounds was increased with time. The difference in collagen formation in both wounds was not observed for the first week of treatment. However, at 14 days of treatment, the formation of collagen in the wound treated with the novel dressing A reached about 65 % which was significantly





Fig. 6 a Percentage of wounds size and b collagen formation in the wounds after treating with the dressings A (closed square) and B (open square) for 3, 7, 14, and 21 days. \*Significant difference when compared with the value of dressing B at corresponding implantation period (p < 0.05). c The area fraction of collagen formed in the younds after treated with the dressings A and B for 3, 7, 14, and 21 days

higher than that of the wound treated with dressing B  $(\sim 36 \%)$ . It has been reported that the optimum concentration of sericin could induce the production of type I collagen in wound [6]. Therefore, we supposed that the sericin in our novel dressing A was a potential component to promote collagen production and wound healing. The bacterial nanocellulose may also provide the appropriate environment that supported the wound healing. Furthermore, the reduced inflammation responses of the wound treated with the dressing A as described previously might accelerate the subsequently wound healing cascades.

#### Conclusions

The novel bacterial nanocellulose incorporating sericin and PHMB was developed to be applied as a wound dressing material. For this purpose, the biological properties of the novel dressing were tested in vitro, in vivo, and clinic in comparison to the commercially available dressing. The in vitro data demonstrated that our novel dressing was not toxic and promoted the migration of L929 mouse fibroblast cells as good as the commercially available dressing. The in vivo results confirmed the safety and wound healing efficacy of the novel dressing as characterized by the low inflammation response and potentially reduced wound size with high extent of collagen formation. Finally, we showed that our novel dressing did not irritate the skin of healthy volunteers. The wound healing efficacy of this novel dressing in clinical trial has been investigated. It is expected that this novel wound dressing would have antimicrobial property to prevent the wound infection due to the PHMB activity and have accelerated wound healing property due to the sericin activity while the bacterial nanocellulose based dressing would preserve other properties to be suitable for wound healing.

Acknowledgments The authors gratefully acknowledge all supports from the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalor University.

#### References

1. Alvarez OM, Patel M, Booker J, Markowitz L (2004) effectiveness of a biocellulose wound dressing for the treatment of chronic venous leg ulcers: results of a single center randomized study

- involving 24 patients. Wounds 16(7):224-233 2. Aramwit P, Bang N (2014) The characteristics of bacterial nanocellulose gel releasing silk sericin for facial treatment. BMC Biotechnol 14:104
- 3. Aramwit P, Bang N, Ratanavaraporn J, Nakpheng T, Srichana T (2014) An anti-cancer cordycepin produced by Cordyceps mili-taris growing on the dead larva of Bombyx mori Silkworm. J Agr Sci 6(6):41-53
- 4. Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, De-Eknamkul W, Kamei K, Srichana T (2009) The effect of sericin with variable amino-acid content from different silk strains on the production of collagen and nitric oxide. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 20(9):1295-1306
- 5. Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, De-Eknamkul W, Srichana T (2009) Monitoring of inflammatory mediators induced by silk sericin. J Biosci Bioeng 107(5):556-561
- Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, Nakpheng T, Srichana T (2010) The effect of sericin from various extraction methods on cell viability and collagen production. Int J Mol Sci 11(5):2200-2211 7. Aramwit P, Sangcakul A (2007) The effects of sericin cream on
- wound healing in rats. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 71(10):2473-2477
- Chaby G, Viseux V, Poulain JF, De Cagny B, Denoeux JP, Lok C (2005) Topical silver sulfadiazine-induced acute renal failure. Ann Dermatol Venereol 132(11 Pt 1):891-893
- Cuttle L, Kempf M, Phillips GE, Mill J, Hayes MT, Fraser JF, Wang XQ, Kimble RM (2006) A porcine deep dermal partial thickness burn model with hypertrophic scarring. Burns Cuttle L 32(7):806-820
- 10. Czaja W, Krystynowicz A, Bielecki S, Brown RM Jr (2006) Microbial cellulose-the natural power to heal wounds. Bioma terials 27(2):145-151
- 11. Eberlein T, Haemmerle G, Signer M, Gruber Moesenbacher U, Traber J, Mittlboeck M, Abel M, Strohal R (2012) Comparison of PHMB-containing dressing and silver dressings in patients with critically colonised or locally infected wounds. J Wound Care 21(1):12, 14-16, 18-20
- Gibran NS, Boyce S, Greenhalgh DG (2007) Cutaneous wound healing. J Burn Care Res 28(4):577–579
- Hasatsri S, Yamdech R, Chanvorachote P, Aramwit P (2015) Physical and biological assessments of the innovative bilayered wound dressing made of silk and gelatin for clinical applications. J Biomater Appl 29(9):1304-1313
- 14. Lenselink E, Andriessen A (2011) A cohort study on the efficacy of a polyhexanide-containing biocellulose dressing in the treat-ment of biofilms in wounds. J Wound Care 20(11):534, 536–539
- Lin W, Truong N, Grossman WJ, Haribhai D, Williams CB, Wang J, Martin MG, Chatila TA (2005) Allergic dysregulation and hyperimmunoglobulinemia E in Foxp3 mutant mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol 116(5):1106-1115
- Loddenkemper C, Schernus M, Noutsias M, Stein H, Thiel E, Nagorsen D (2006) In situ analysis of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells in human colorectal cancer. J Transl Med 4:52 17. Maenthaisong R, Chaiyakunapruk N, Warnnissorn P, Viyoch J
- (2009) Cleansing lotion containing tamarind fruit pulp extract. III. Study of lightening efficacy and skin irritation on Asian skin Kore K, Gray D (2007) Using PHMB antimicrobial to prevent
- wound infection. Wounds UK 3(2):96-102 Muangman P, Opasanon S, Suwanchot S, Thangthed O (2011)
- 19. Efficiency of microbial cellulose dressing in partial-thickness burn wounds. J Am Col Certif Wound Spec 3(1):16-19
- Napavichayanun S, Amomsudthiwat P, Pienpinijtham P, Ara-mwit P (2015) Interaction and effectiveness of antimicrobials along with healing-promoting agents in a novel biocellulose wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 55:95-104

D Springer

131

#### Arch Dermatol Res (2016) 308:123-132

- Nouri-Aria KT (2009) Foxp3 expressing regulatory T-cells in allergic disease. Adv Exp Med Biol 665:180–194
   Roth B, Brill FH (2010) Polyhexanide for wound treatment—how it began. Skin Pharmacol Physiol 23(Suppl):4-6
   Sakaguchi S, Wing K, Miyara M (2007) Regulatory T cells—a brief history and perspective. Eur J Immunol 37(Suppl 1):S116– S123
- S123
- 24. Siritientong T, Angspatt A, Ratanavaraporn J, Aramwit P (2014) Clinical potential of a silk sericin-releasing bioactive wound dressing for the treatment of split-thickness skin graft donor sites. Pharm Res 31(1):104–116 25. Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC (2003) Tolerogenic
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC (2003) Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 21:685–711
   Sullivan PK, Conner-Kerr TA, Hamilton H, Smith EP, Tefertiller C, Webb A (2004) Assessment of wound bioburden development in a rat acute wound model: quantitative swab versus tissue biopsy. Wounds 16(4):115–123
   Takahashi H, Ruiz P, Ricordi C, Delacruz V, Miki A, Mita A, Misawa R, Barker S, Burke GW, Tzakis AG, Ichii H (2012)

Quantitative in situ analysis of FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T regulatory cells on transplant tissue using laser scanning cytometry. Cell Transplant 21(1):113-125

- Tateosian NL, Reiteri RM, Amiano NO, Costa MJ, Villalonga X, Pateosian NJ, Reitell KM, Annaho KO, Costa MJ, Vinalonga X, Guerrieri D, Maffia PC (2011) Neutrophil elastase treated den-dritic cells promote the generation of CD4(+)FOXP3(+) regu-latory T cells in vitro. Cell Immunol 269(2):128–134
   Verschuren PG, Cardona TD, Nout MJ, De Gooijer KD, Van den Verschuren PG, Cardona TD, Nout MJ, De Gooijer KD, Van den
- Verschlach PS, Caloba ID, Nour MJ, De Oodjel KD, van den Heuvel JC (2000) Location and limitation of cellulose production by Acetobacter xylinum established from oxygen profiles. J Biosci Bioeng 89(5):414–419
   Vorobjova T, Uibo O, Heilman K, Uibo R (2015) Increased
- density of tolerogenic dendritic cells in the small bowel mucosa of celiac patients. World J Gastroenterol 21(2):439-452
- Wang J, Ioan-Facsinay A, van der Voort EI, Huizinga TW, Toes RE (2007) Transient expression of FOXP3 in human activated nonregulatory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Eur J Immunol 37(1):129–138

## 132

JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION, 2017 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09205063.2017.1301772



**REVIEW ARTICLE** 

# Effect of animal products and extracts on wound healing promotion in topical applications: a review

Supamas Napavichayanun<sup>a,b</sup> and Pornanong Aramwit<sup>a,b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Bioactive Resources for Innovative Clinical Applications Research Unit, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand; <sup>b</sup>Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Department of Pharmacy Practice, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand

#### ABSTRACT

Wound healing is a natural process of body reaction to repair itself after injury. Nonetheless, many internal and external factors such as aging, comorbidity, stress, smoking, alcohol drinking, infections, malnutrition, or wound environment significantly affect the quality and speed of wound healing. The unsuitable conditions may delay wound healing process and cause chronic wound or scar formation. Therefore, many researches have attempted to search for agents that can accelerate wound healing with safety and biocompatibility to human body. Widely studied wound healing agents are those derived from either natural sources including plants and animals or chemical synthesis. The natural products seem to be safer and more biocompatible to human tissue. This review paper demonstrated various kinds of the animal-derived products including chitosan, collagen, honey, anabolic steroids, silk sericin, peptides, and proteoglycan in term of mechanisms of action, advantages, and disadvantages when applied as wound healing accelerator. The benefits of these animalderived products are wound healing promotion, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial activity, moisturizing effect, biocompatibility, and safety. However, the drawbacks such as allergy, low stability, batch-to-batch variability, and high extraction and purification costs could not be avoided in some products.

## **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received 8 December 2016 Accepted 20 February 2017

#### KEYWORDS

Wound healing; honey; silk sericin; chitosan; collagen; proteoglycan; anabolic steroids; peptides; hyaluronic acid; keratin

## 1. Wound healing process

Wound healing is a natural process in which a body response after injury to protect itself from outer environments while the repairing is occurred simultaneously. The process composes of three major phases which are inflammation, proliferation and remodeling [1]. After skin is injured, the wound healing process immediately begins with the formation of clotting at the wound site by vasoconstriction and platelet aggregation. The pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines including interleukin (IL-1), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ , TNF- $\beta$ ) are released to activate inflammatory cells [2]. Neutrophil, macrophage, and fibroblasts are infiltrated to the wound site. Then, nitric oxide, oxygen free radicals, and

CONTACT Pornanong Aramwit aramwit@gmail.com, pornanong.a@pharm.chula.ac.th © 2017 Informa UK Limited. trading as Taylor & Francis Group

## 2 😣 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) are generated to prepare for next proliferation phase [3]. The proliferation phase involves epithelialization and angiogenesis in which transforming growth factors (TGF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) are important factors to stimulate proliferation, migration, and differentiation of fibroblasts and keratinocytes [4]. Type I collagen is produced by fibroblasts to form the neotissue. Subsequently, in remodeling phase, the newly formed collagen is rearranged into tissue while keratinocytes migrate from the edge to close the wound site. Moreover, transforming growth factors beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) plays an important role in collagen matrix remodeling and inhibiting MMP production to control an appropriate healing environment [5].

It has been recognized that many internal and external factors such as aging, comorbidity, stress, smoking, alcohol drinking, infections, malnutrition, or wound environment had significantly effect on the quality and speed of wound healing. The unsuitable conditions may delay wound healing process and cause chronic wound or scar formation [6]. Many researches have attempted to search for wound healing agents that can accelerate wound healing process with safe and biocompatibility to human body. Among these, the products derived from animals have been widely investigated because they usually have biological activities that support wound healing and show minimal toxicity.

## 2. Wound healing accelerators derived from animals

In this study, the wound healing accelerators derived from animals including chitosan, collagen, honey, anabolic steroids, silk sericin, peptides, and proteoglycan were reviewed and compared in term of mechanisms of action, advantages, and disadvantages when applied in topical applications.

## 2.1. Chitosan

Chitosan is a deacetylated derivative of chitin which is mostly found in exoskeletons of arthropods including shrimp, crab, and insects [7]. The major sources of chitin for commercial products are crab and shrimp shells, which are the most abundant waste in food production [8]. There are alpha, beta, and gamma forms of chitin. Alpha chitins are composed of two antiparallel molecules per unit cell with inter-sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure while beta chitins are composed of one parallel molecule per unit cell without inter-sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure. Gamma chitins are composed of two antiparallel chains alternating with one parallel strand. The differences in characteristics of alpha, beta, and gamma chitin are summarized in Table 1. Chitosan is a polysaccharide composes of  $\beta$  (1  $\rightarrow$  4) glucosamine linked N-acetyl-D-glucosamine. It can have molecular weight between 50 and 2000 kDa. Physical and chemical properties of chitosan depend on degree of acetylation and acetyl group [9]. Chitosan is soluble in acidic solution and insoluble in high pH environment because amine group is deprotonated and lost its charge [8]. It is biodegradable; the low degree of deacetylation or low molecular weight is degraded more rapidly [8]. Chitosan is also biocompatible and low toxic. It was reported that the glucosamine units of chitosan are an effective wound healing accelerator [10]. Therefore, various forms of chitosan were widely used for wound healing including powders, gels, films, fibers, and scaffolds. The commercial products of chitosan and derivative for wound healing are Tegasorb<sup>°</sup>, Tegasderm<sup>°</sup>, HemCon Bandage<sup>™</sup>, Chitodin<sup>°</sup>, and Trauma Dex<sup>°</sup>[11].

Chitin	Source	Molecular arrangement	Reactivity for chemical and enzymatic transformation	Thermal degradation	Solubility in common solvent	Chitosan viscosity [165]	Chitosan Mola Mass [165]
a -Chitin	Crab tendons Shrimp shells Lobster Krill Insect cuticle Fungal and yeast cell wall	Two antiparallel molecule per unit cell with inter and intra-sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure	+	+	+	* * *	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
3 -Chitin	Squid pens Pogonophoran tubes Vestimetiferan worms tubes	One parallel molecule per unit cell with intra but without inter-sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure	+ + +	+ + +	+	+	.+
/-Chitin	Cocoon fibers of the <i>Ptinus</i> beetle Stomach of <i>Loligo</i> squid	Two antiparallel molecule and one parallel molecule per unit with inter and intra-sheet hydrogen bonds in crystal structure dike a -Chitin than B -Chitin)	ŧ	ŧ	+	‡	÷

JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🕥 3

#### 4 🛞 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

#### 2.1.1. Processing methods

For chitosan extraction, there are two major methods which are chemical deacetylation and enzymatic deacetylation [9]. For chemical deacetylation process, chitin is treated in concentrated sodium hydroxide to produce chitosan. It is widely used process due to the low cost. However, it consumes a lot of energy and produces a lot of waste. Moreover, temperature, time, and solvent concentration have effects on chitosan characteristics. For enzymatic deacetylation process, the chitin deacetylase enzyme is used to produce chitosan by N-acetamino bonds hydrolysis. Enzymatic deacetylation by fungi may be an alternative process. Chitosan may contain bacterial and metal contamination because it is produced from exoskeletons of arthropods. However, the extraction process including deproteinization and demineralization step can remove many contaminations [12,13]. For biomedical grade chitosan product, further purification step including endotoxin removal and sterilization should be added. Filter sterilization is the most simple method that can remove bacterial contamination and did not have an effect on stability of chitosan products. Moreover, ethylene oxide sterilization seems to be the most appropriate for chitosan materials because it has less effect on chemical and physical properties of chitosan comparing with other methods such as autoclaving, dry heat, gramma irradiation, and ultraviolet light radiation [14]. It is reported that the endotoxin in chitosan wound dressing was less than collagen and did not induce pyrogenicity in rabbits [15].

## 2.1.2. Mechanisms on wound healing

Chitosan promotes wound healing through two major pathways. Firstly, the N-acetyl-Dglucosamine unit of chitosan initiates fibroblast proliferation and collagen production [10]. Its positive charge of chitosan has an electrostatic interaction with glucoaminoglycans, leading to growth factor attraction [16]. Secondly, macrophages are activated by N-acetyl-D-glucosamine lead to phagocytosis, and the release of mediators including TGF- $\beta$ 1 and platelet derived growth factor. These biological mediators subsequently accelerate extracellular matrix (ECM) synthesis [17]. Moreover, chitosan activates the production of IL-1 that controls the fibroblast proliferation and collagen synthesis [18]. It is also reported that chitosan stimulates the release of IL-8 by fibroblasts which leads to angiogenesis and migration of neutrophils. The blood vessel was found in the granulation tissue in wound treated with chitosan after 17 day of treatment [19,20]. Chitosan can act as a hemostat that supports in blood clotting through fibrinogen and plasma protein attraction. It contained amine group that can bind with negative charge on red blood cell membrane leads to hemaggulation [21]. Moreover, it can block nerve ending resulting in pain reduction [11]. Therefore, it helps in faster wound healing and scar prevention.

The previous study applied chitosan cotton fiber for the treatment of open dorsal skin wound of beagles. They found that granulation tissue of full thickness layer was significantly elevated in chitosan-treated wound after 6, 9 and 15 incision day comparing with the bandage without chitosan (control group). The results of this study showed that chitosan could accelerate the proliferation of fibroblasts and the production of type III collagen [22]. Chitosan sponge dressing and hydrogel were shown to decrease wound healing time and wound size of dorsal wound in rabbits [23] and rats together with significant increasing of granulation tissue formation and epithelialization [20]. For the treatment of second degree burn wound in rats, epithelialization rate of the wound treated with chitosan gel incorporating EGF (10  $\mu$ g/ml) was significant higher than that of the EGF gel-treated group [24].

#### JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🖌 5

Chitosan nanofiber mats showed the faster wound size reduction than gauze dressing at first week after tissue damage [25]. In addition, the molecular weight of chitosan has significant effect on wound healing. The burn wounds treated with high molecular weight chitosan (MW = 2,000,000) topical gel showed the highest extent of epithelial and granulation tissue, and fastest wound closure when compared with that treated with the low molecular weight chitosan (MW = 70,000) gel and gel without chitosan [26]. In skin graft donor site patients' treatment, chitosan membrane also showed positive effect on the re-epithelialization and regeneration of the granulation layer than the control (Bactigras<sup>\*</sup>; chlorhexidine paraffin gauze dressing) [27].

#### 2.1.3. Antibacterial effect

The chitosan structure is composed of amine groups (cationic polymers) which can strongly bind to the anionic proteins in cytoplasmic membrane of bacterial cells, leading to imbalance of cell membrane and cell death [11]. Moreover, low molecular weight chitosan (less than 5 kDa) could penetrate cell wall of bacteria, combined with DNA, and inhibiting mRNA and DNA transcription [28]. The differences in antibacterial mechanisms of chitosan against gram positive and gram negative bacteria were reported. Zheng L-Y et al. found that antimicrobial activity of chitosan against gram positive bacteria (*Staphylococcus aureus; S. aureus*) increased when molecular weight is increased because the high molecular weight chitosan can form an external barrier to block nutritional intake. Nevertheless, antimicrobial activity of chitosan against gram negative bacteria (*Escherichia coli; E. coli*) increased when the molecular weight is decreased because the low molecular weight chitosan easily entered to bacterial cell [29]. Chitosan with low pH (pH < 6.5) and low degree of acetylation was also more rapidly absorbed to the bacterial cell wall and cation of chitosan was augmented [9,30].

For antimicrobial test, chitosan can inhibit either gram positive or gram negative bacteria. The inhibition zone of *S. aureus* was higher in the chitosan fabric dressing group (1% w/w) when compared with the non-chitosan dressing. Furthermore, the inhibition zone increased with the amount of chitosan applied [31]. In antimicrobial broth test, the optical density of *E. coli* in the chitosan with silk fibroin nanofiber membrane broth was lower (lower bacteria) than the non-chitosan membrane broth. However, this difference was not observed in *S. aureus* [32]. The chitosan/gelatin sponges were shown to have the higher antimicrobial activity against a gram positive (*Streptopcpccus*) than cefradine but less than ciprofioxacin and penicillin. Its antibacterial effect against gram negative bacteria (*E. coli* K88) was also better than penicillin but less than ciprofioxacin and cefradine [23].

## 2.1.4. Biological safety

Degree of deacetylation of chitosan has no significant influence to keratinocytes and fibroblasts cytocompatibility [33]. The chitosan dressing materials including gel, membrane, and sponge were proved to be safe *in vivo* and showed no erythema, irritation, and toxicity [20,23,34]. Chitosan sponge treated group had no irritation on rabbit skin which was comparable to the vaseline gauze treated group [23].

## 2.2. Collagen

Collagen is the protein which is the important component in human ECM of skin, bone, and other tissues. It can also be extracted from many kinds of animal including bovine

## 6 😸 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

(cow), porcine (pig), or marine (fish, jellyfish, star fish, and squid). Table 2 demonstrates the type, properties, and limitations of collagen obtained from different sources. The basic structure of collagen is composes of three polypeptide chains formed into triple helix and has molecular weight around 300 kDa [35]. The amino acid sequence of collagen contains arginine-glycine-aspartic acid motif which is the specific cell adhesion domains that promote cell growth, differentiation, and activities [36]. Collagen is biocompatible and safe. However, it has a fast rate of biodegradation and low denaturation temperature. Some denatured collagen such as gelatin may lose wound healing property in the production [37].

#### 2.2.1. Processing methods

Different processes are used to extract collagen depending on the source of collagen. The raw material collected from animals is preserved at -25 or -4 °C. Then, non-collagen was removed by sodium chloride, sodium hydroxide, and calcium hydroxide. After that, acetic acid or hydrochloric acid solution was used for demineralization process. The product was further digested by enzyme and acid to obtain the collagen [38]. Sterilization methods of collagen for using as biomaterial were studied. Ethylene oxide sterilization was the effective method in term of maintaining the physical and chemical stability of collagen products. Furthermore, the effectiveness of gamma and beta irradiation (up to max dose 20 kGy) sterilization was less than porcine collagen dressing. Nevertheless, both of them did not induce pyrogenicity in rabbits [15].

## 2.2.2. Mechanisms on wound healing

Collagen plays a chemotactic role to attract skin fibroblast to the wound [41,42] and supports fibroblast activity to produce the granulation tissue. It can cross-link with fibronectin to generate appropriate surrounding environment for re-epithelialization process [43]. Moreover, collagen also binds platelet and generates thrombin in hemostasis [44]. It also activate macrophage and important factors to induce angiogenesis for wound healing process [37,45,46]. Collagen type I and III are reported as the important factors in wound healing process.

Normally, the native collagen may be destroyed by elevated level of MMPs, leading to non-healing wound [47]. Therefore, collagen dressing shows a superior property by delivery the substitute collagen to the wound and reduces elastase level in a wound environment [48]. The MMPs binding activity of substitute collagen also delayed non-healing wound process. The collagen supports chemotaxis action between fibroblast and native collagen to promote natural wound healing [37]. Moreover, collagen dressing can absorb wound exudate and provide the moist wound environment [47].

There are many studies about wound healing property of collagen. The gel and membrane made of bovine collagen were reported to accelerate wound healing by activating granulation in the wound bed [46,49]. The oxidized regenerated cellulose/collagen also promoted fibroblast proliferation and cell migration. *In vivo* test showed that the diabetic wound size of collagen treated group was statistically smaller than standard treatment (gauze dressing) [50]. Moreover, collagen-base dressing such as Promagan<sup>\*</sup> dressing (55% collagen) also decrease wound area and painful [51–53] than conventional dressing such as Adaptic<sup>\*</sup> non-adherent dressing or gauze dressing. However, some studies showed no significant result of collagen on wound healing. The ulcer closure percentage of bovine collagen gel treated group and standard moist dressing treated group were not

Table 2. Type, J	properties ;	and limitatio.	ns of collagen (	obtained from diff	erent sources.				
				Prop	erties				Cost
Collagen sources	Most collagen type	Quality for skin treatment	Cell binding property	Fibroblast viabil- ity when contact with collagen	Biocompatibility	Antigenicity	Denaturation temperature (Td)	Limitation	
Bovine (Achilles tendon)	I, II	ŧ	ŧ	+	ŧ	+	37°C	<ul> <li>Allergic report around 3% [38]</li> <li>Concerning about Bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) or Transmissible</li> </ul>	÷
Porcine (Skin)	Ш. 1	+	‡	‡	‡	+	37°C	spongiform encephalopathy (TSE) [60] - Forbidden in some culture - Integration of porcine collagen into scar fissue [60] - Concerning about zoonosis contamination	+
Marine (Bone, skin, fin, scales)	-	+ + +	‡	+++ [167]	‡	+	18–30 °C [168]	<ul> <li>[38,166]</li> <li>Forbidden in some religion and culture</li> <li>Gross reactivity among fish gelatin [169]</li> <li>Lower yield obtained (12 g of collagen per 1 kg of raw material [38]</li> <li>Low denaturation temperature</li> </ul>	‡
Note: +, ++, +++	indicate the	extent of activi	ty from low to hig	सं					

e.
2
20
÷
E.
1
Ψ
Ŧ
č
E
19
-
ĕ
⊒.
(O)
ā
0
5
g
õ
=
U
5t
Ň
Ê
.9
at
Ë;
Ξ
=
p
a
S
<u>e</u> .
ť
e e
ő
ō
-
e e
15
-
N
e

JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🕥 7

#### 8 😸 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

significantly different after 12 weeks [54]. Graumlich et al. demonstrated that healing time and percentage of complete wound healing of pressure ulcer after 8 weeks between topical collagen treated wound and hydrocolloid treated wound were not statistically different (51% vs. 50%, respectively) [55]. Donaghue et al. studied in 75 diabetic foot ulcer. Forty-eight percent of the patients received the treatment with alginate dressing containing 90% collagen achieved complete healing while those treated with normal saline moistened gauze was only 36% [56]. The comparison between collagen dressing and conventional dressing (including silver sulfadiazine, nadifloxacin, povidone iodine, or honey) in burn and chronic wound treatment demonstrated that percentages of healing of both groups after 8 weeks were not different (87% vs. 80%, respectively). However, the conventional treatment group required more treatment of partial split thickness skin graft than the collagen dressing treated group [57].

## 2.2.3. Biological safety

In term of safety, adverse reactions of collagen to wound tissue were rarely found [55]. There were few cases reported about the IgE-mediated reaction of bovine collagen leading to allergic reaction. It was presented in conjunctival edema after highly purified bovine collagen contacted to the eye during ophthalmic surgery [58,59]. The bovine-derived type I collagen dressing showed the developed dermatitis three case from 20 case [49]. Collagen dressing may induce overgranulation [60]. In addition, the topical collagen products are expensive so that they may not be the best choice of wound dressing.

## 2.3. Honey

Honey is produced from nectar that is stored and transferred by bees to honeycomb. The enzyme secreted from the bee influences the physical and chemical characteristics of honey. The main compositions of honey are sugar and water. The major sugar components in the honey are fructose (38.2%) and glucose (31.3%) [61]. Moreover, it has other components including enzyme, amino acid, organic acid, carotenoids, vitamin, mineral, and aromatic substance [62]. These components are varied depending on botanical origins, geographic origins, storage conditions and temperature [63]. The composition of honey also has effects on its physical and chemical properties. For example, the water content in various type of honey lead to differentiate of viscosity, crystallization, color, flavor, specific gravity, and solubility [62]. Physical properties also change to darker color. Honey contains acidity pH around 3.2-4.5 [62]. It has a hygroscopic property to absorb water from environment. Because of 18.8% water content of honey, it can absorb moisture from environment humidity above 60% [64]. Various types of honey such as manuka honey, fynbos honey, and tualang honey obtained from different tree or nectar have been studied for wound treatment. Examples of clinical studies of topical honey treatment are shown in Table 3.

#### 2.3.1. Processing methods

Honey for medical treatment has to be sterilized by gamma irradiation to kill bacterial spore [65]. However, gamma irradiation cannot eliminate endotoxin in honey. The low amount of endotoxin in natural honey (~56 to 690 pg/ml) does not induce inflammatory. Nonetheless, higher endotoxin concentration may induce inflammatory response [66].

		Number of	Honey	Control treat-	
ub	Wound type	subjects	type	ment	

Study design	Wound type	Number of subjects	Honey type	Control treat- ment	Outcome	Side effects
				e		
Randomize	<ul> <li>Shallow wounds</li> </ul>	8/ (Sample	Natural	Intrasite gel	<ul> <li>Healing times of both groups were not significantly different</li> </ul>	Itching: Honey 2 /%, Intrasite
control trial	(deeper $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$ ,	40, control	honey	(am orphous	<ul> <li>Satisfactions of both groups were not significantly different</li> </ul>	gel° 31%
[170]	size $\leq 100 \text{ cm}^2$ )	42, dropped		hydrogel	<ul> <li>Honey was low average cost of treatment per patient than IntraSite<sup>®</sup></li> </ul>	Pain: Honey 10%
	<ul> <li>Abrasions wound</li> </ul>	out 5)		contain	Gel (R0.49 vs. R12.03)	Short time burning: Honey 2
	(size 10 -100 cm <sup>2</sup> )			propylene glycol)		case
Randomize	Partial-thickness	100 (Sample	Natural	Mafenide	<ul> <li>Epithelialization of honey-treated group was significantly higher than</li> </ul>	No irritation, allergy, or other
control trial	burns of less than 4006 of TPS A (Total	50, control	honey	acetate	the control (100% vs. 84%, respectively, after 21 days)	side effects in both groups
	body surface area)	for			than control (45 vs. 32, respectively, after 21 days)	
Randomize	First and second	78 (Sample 37,	Natural	Silver-sulfadi-	<ul> <li>Healing times of honey-treated group were less than the control</li> </ul>	No report
control trial	degree of burn of	control 41)	honey	azine (SSD)	(18.16 vs. 32.68 days, respectively)	
[172]	less than 50% of				<ul> <li>Bacterial reduction rate of honey-treated group was faster than control</li> </ul>	
	TBSA				Percentage of complete healing wounds of honey-treated group were     invite methods have the end of the rest.	
50 X 20		500 2021 27 501001	1		significantly higher than the control (81% vs. 37%, respectively)	
Randomize	Chronic wounds	42 (Sample 22, control 20)	Natural honev	Povidone-io- dina drassing	<ul> <li>Percentage of complete healing wounds of honey-treated group were higher than the control (21.8.2%, v. 0%, v. concertively, after 6 works)</li> </ul>	Honey: no adverse skin reaction Dovidona-iodina drassing: 2
[173]					Wound surface area and pain score in honey-treated group were	adverse skin reaction
					significantly less than the control group	
Randomize	Split-thickness skin	100 (Sample	Natural	Vaseline gauze	<ul> <li>Percentage of complete healing wounds of honey-treated group were</li> </ul>	No allergic reaction in both
Control trial	graft donor site	50, control 50)	honey		significantly higher than the control (100% vs. 76%, respectively, after 10 dave)	groups
		6.5			<ul> <li>No bacterial growth was found in both groups</li> </ul>	
					<ul> <li>Pain in honey-treated group was not significantly less than the control</li> </ul>	
					group	
Randomize	Neuropathic diabetic	63 (Sample 32,	Manuka	Saline-soaked	<ul> <li>Healing times of honey-treated group were significantly less than the</li> </ul>	No report
control trial	toot ulcers	control 31)	honey	gauze	control group (31 ± 4 vs. 43 ± 3 days, respectively) Number of extincts required antibiotic frontmost of honey fronted	
[[[]]]					<ul> <li>Nutliber of parents required antibuous reautient of thoriey-u sated aroum user none built that of the control aroum user 2006</li> </ul>	

JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🛞 9

#### 10 🕑 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

#### 2.3.2. Antibacterial effects

Honey is reported as bacteriostatic and bactericidal agent depending on its concentration. Low concentration of honey (4-8% v/v of honey and 5-11% v/v of manuka honey) showed the bacteriostatic property while the high concentration of honey (5-10% v/v of honey and 8-15% v/v of manuka honey) had the bactericidal property [64]. The honey contains high concentration of sugar, so it presents the high osmolality property. It draws fluid out of the environment to create an unsuitable environment for organism existence [65]. Low pH of honey (pH 3.2-4.5) created inappropriate environment for the growth of microorganism [64]. Another mechanism of honey for antibacterial activity is a hydrogen peroxide production. Hydrogen peroxide is a broad spectrum antimicrobial molecule that is produced by glucose oxidase enzyme from bees. The hydrogen peroxide produced from bees is not toxic to the cells due to its low concentration, which differ from the chemical synthesized hydrogen peroxide [67]. However, the osmolality property may not be sufficient when the honey is diluted or interacted with enzyme catalyze in wound exudate [68]. Therefore, bee's honey may not be suitable for the treatment of high exudate wound. On the other hand, manuka honey has a methylgloxal component as an antimicrobial agent that is unrelated with hydrogen peroxide production [69]. It also shows antibacterial effect against biofilm and various microorganisms such as Methicillin-resistant S. aureus, S. aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and E. coli [70]. In addition, honey is reported to reduce odor of the wound and has a debridement activity [65].

## 2.3.3. Anti-inflammation effects

The excessive inflammatory reaction can delay wound healing process. Honey can reduce the extent of inflammatory. Honey suppresses protease activity which is an important enzyme in inflammatory process. The acidic property of honey produces low pH environment that is not appropriate for protease activity [71]. It increases nitric oxide that plays an important role in angiogenesis and healing process. It also decreases prostaglandin in blood circulation and reduce inflammation and pain in wound [72]. Moreover, honey contains antioxidants including flavonoids, phenolics, and vitamin C that interact with reactive oxygen species and reduce the cellular damage [67,73].

### 2.3.4. Biological safety

Honey is non-toxic, non-allergic, and non-irritate to wound tissue [74]. However, there are some cautions of using. Patients who have pollen allergic history may be allergic to honey. Furthermore, dehydration of tissue may be found in the extensive honey treatment. Some patients may be sensitive to acidity of honey [64].

## 2.4. Anabolic steroids

Anabolic steroids are steroidal androgenic hormone, usually a steroid hormone, that obtained from either chemical synthesis or part of animals. Natural anabolic steroids are produced in porcine (pig), boar, horse, and sheep [75]. Among these, porcine is the most common source of anabolic steroids for wound healing especially the porcine placenta and testis. Anabolic steroids compose of four aromatic base structures which are three cyclohexane rings and one cyclopentane ring. There are more than 100 substances following molecular substitution to ring base. For porcine testis extracts, the highest contents of steroids are

#### JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🙆 11

19-nortestosterone (nandrolone) (MW = 274.4 g/mol), testosterone (MW = 288.43 g/mol), and 17 $\beta$ -estradiol (MW = 272.39 g/mol) [76]. They are easily soluble in alcohol but hardly soluble in water. Moreover, they have low stability that are easily oxidized [77–79]. Topical anabolic steroids have been used for wound treatment in the forms of solution and cream.

## 2.4.1. Processing methods

Chloroform with methanol extraction was used to extract crude materials [76,80]. Gamma irradiation and autoclaving were usually applied to sterilize porcine placenta extract [81].

#### 2.4.2. Mechanisms on wound healing

The activity of anabolic steroids is to increase net protein preservation to the wound for new tissue formation process. They have an anticortisol activity that can decease catabolic response of cortisol, and decrease protein degradation without altering its anti-inflammatory response [82]. They also have direct effect on insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), TGF- $\beta$ , and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) which play important roles in activation of cell proliferation, cell migration, collagen synthesis, tissue formation, and angiogenesis,[76,83,84]. leading to wound closure.

Wu C-H et al. found that proliferation of fibroblast cells cultured in porcine placental extracts (30 mg/ml) was significantly higher than that cultured in 0.5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) [85]. *In vivo* test also showed that the TGF- $\beta$ 1 and bFGF levels in wound skin of rat which was treated with porcine placental extracts were significantly greater than that treated with normal saline at day 5–15 after burns. Healing time of the wound treated with porcine placental extracts was significantly less than that of normal saline group [85]. Lee D-M et al. have studied the topical anabolic steroid extracted from porcine testis for wound treatment [76]. Sixty rats with full thickness wound were divided into two groups which were cream + porcine testis-extracted steroid and cream without porcine testis-extracted steroid. The healing efficiency in terms of collagen formation and tensile strength of the wound treated porcine testis-extracted steroid was higher after 7 days of treatment.

#### 2.4.3. Biological safety

The numbers of clinical study on topical anabolic steroids extracted from animals are very limit because the most of topical steroid are modified by chemical synthesis. One study has assessed the toxicity of cream + porcine testis-extracted steroid in wound healing by counting the while blood cells. There was no significant difference of WBC counts between cream + porcine testis-extracted steroid - treated group and cream without porcine testis-extracted steroid treated group. Skin rash was not found in both groups [76]. However, limitation of using the topical anabolic steroids is that the anabolic steroids could enter to blood circulation and cause the systemic effects [86].

## 2.5. Sericin

Sericin is a protein extracted from silk cocoons of *Bombyx mori*. It contains 18 amino acids. Serine, a moisturizing acid, is found around 30% of total amino acid content [87–89]. Following serine, aspartic acid and glycine are also found at around 10–20% [89,90]. The molecular weights of silk sericin depend on the extraction methods. Silk sericin obtained from heat extraction using autoclave at 120° C for 60 min has molecular weight around

## 12 😧 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

25–150 kDa [90]. Silk sericin is a hydrophilic molecule which is water-soluble [91]. The secondary structure of silk sericin composes of two forms which are random coil and  $\beta$ -sheet. At high temperature (more than 50 °C), the major form of silk sericin is random coil which is easily soluble. On the other hand, at lower temperature, the major form of silk sericin is  $\beta$ -sheet which has strong hydrogen bonds, making it more difficult to dissolve and may form gel upon cooling [87]. Recently, various biological properties of silk sericin have been elucidated such as wound healing, antibacterial effect, and anti-inflammatory. It was then introduced to use in medical and pharmaceutical applications in various forms such as lotion, cream, ointment, gel, dressing, and bandage [87]. Sericin has been widely studied as accelerating agent for wound healing. Examples of clinical studies on topical wound treatment using silk sericin are shown in Table 4.

## 2.5.1. Processing methods

Silk sericin can be extracted by many methods including high temperature and high pressure degumming method using autoclave at 120 °C for 60 min, acid extraction using citric acid, alkaline extraction using sodium carbonate, and urea extraction [90]. Aramwit et al. found that sericin product from high temperature and high pressure showed the lowest toxicity to cells and showed the highest collagen promotion [90]. Gamma irradiation is reported to have high potential to sterilize the sericin scaffold and film [92,93].

#### 2.5.2. Mechanisms on wound healing

Silk sericin is reported to accelerate proliferation of fibroblast cells and collagen synthesis [94]. Silk sericin from heat extraction using autoclave at 120 °C for 60 min activated the highest production of type I collagen and showed the lowest toxicity to cells at the concentration range of 8-100 µg/ml. Silk sericin from Chul Thai Silk 1/1 (0.2-1.0 mg/ml) can activate growth of L929 mouse fibroblast cells and the production of collagen type I in cell culture medium [95]. It could increase the number of skin fibroblast cells and collagen production to 250% of non sericin after 72 h [96]. Furthermore, it accelerated proliferation of mammalian cells including human epithelial cells and human hepatoblastoma [89]. For in vivo test, 3% silk sericin solution and 8% silk sericin cream significantly reduced wound size, increased healing score, and increased type III collagen formation without allergic reaction [97,98]. For burn wounds and split-thickness skin graft wounds, silk sericin could reduce wound healing time and pain score without sign of irritation [99-101]. Silk sericin could activate angiogenesis for wound healing process. Aramwit et al. found that the genipin-crosslinked sericin/PVA scaffolds could promote new blood vessel in full thickness wound together with vessel density increasing after 7 day of treatment [102]. Moreover, it can increase skin elasticity, and has anti-aging effect.

#### 2.5.3. Antibacterial effects

Some researches found that silk sericin could inhibit bacterial growth. Fabric coating with silk sericin exacted by ethanol could inhibit *S. aureus* and *E. coli* in the disk diffusion test. Moreover, it decreased these bacteria more than 80% in a broth test [103]. Silk sericin extracted by alkali process (0.25% sodium bicarbonate) showed a potent antibacterial activity to *E. coli*. Silk sericin extracted by water degumming process possessed antibacterial activity to *S. aureus*. It caused membrane dysfunction and disturbed division and growth of both *E. coli* and *S. aureus* [104]. It also decreased colonies of gram positive bacteria when

Table 4. Clinic	al studies of topical	wound treatment usin	ig silk sericin.		
Study design	Wound type	Number of subjects	Control treat- ment	Outcome	Side effects
Randomize control trial [100]	Split-thickness skin graft donor site	30 (Split wound and treated one side with sample and another side with control)	Bactigras° (chlorhexidine paraffin gauze dressino)	- Healing time of the wound treated with 3% sllk sericin was significantly less than that of the control group (12 ± 5 v. $14 \pm 5.2$ days, respectively). Pain score of the wound treated with 3% sllk sericin was lower than that of the control group from day 1.4	Noreport
Randomize control trial [99]	Second degree burn wounds	29 (Sample 15, control 14)	Silver zinc sulfadiazine gream	<ul> <li>Healing time of the wound treated with silver zinc sulfadiazine cream containing 8% silk sericin was significantly less than that of the control group (22.42±6.33 vs. 22.98±9.27 days, respectively)</li> <li>Percentage of wound zeric enduction of the wound treated with silver zinc</li> </ul>	No severe adverse reaction in both groups
				sumanazine deam containing sin seriour recerce group was significantly higher than that of the control group after 14 and 42 days • Pain score of both groups were not significant difference • No infection was found in both groups	
Randomize control trial [101]	Split-thickness skin graft donor site	30 (Split wound and treated one side with sample and another side with control)	Bactigras°	<ul> <li>Healing time of the wound treated with 1% silk sericin was significantly less than that of the control group (11 ± 6/s, 13 ± 6 days, respectively)</li> <li>Pain score of the wound treated with 1% silk sericin was significantly lower than that of the control group from day 1–5</li> </ul>	No systemic adverse reac- tion in both groups
				<ul> <li>Transepidermal water loss index of the wound treated with 1% silk sericin was lower than that of the control group after healing days</li> <li>No sign of infection was found in both groups</li> </ul>	

JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 😔 13

#### 14 🛞 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

the sericin concentration was increased [105]. However, some researches showed that the purified silk sericin extracted by degumming process without Tris-HCl and alkali did not have antibacterial effect [106].

## 2.5.4. Anti-inflammation effects

Silk sericin decreases the inflammatory reaction by suppressing cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) and nitric oxide genes in inflammation process. This effect was a concentration dependence [107]. The silk sericin nanoparticles also decreased the paw edema that induced by carrageenan injection. It decreased the number of cellular infiltration and inflammation reaction [108].

#### 2.5.5. Moisturizing effect

The main amino acid of silk sericin is serine which is a moisturizing acid. Serine can preserve the skin moisture by generating a film on the surface of skin [88]. It was reported that 2% silk sericin gel can decrease transepidermal water loss and improve the smoothness of the skin [109].

#### 2.5.6. Biological safety

Sericin was not toxic to the cell [95]. However, it was found that sericin at high concentration (more than 100  $\mu$ g/ml) may decrease cell availability [90]. When sericin material was implanted subcutaneously in rats, the local effect in terms of the infiltration of inflammatory cells, necrosis, fibrosis and neovascularization showed that it was a non-irritating material [100,110].

## 2.6. Peptide

Peptides are biological molecules that are important factor in enzyme, healing process and other metabolic function of living organism. They are polymers that compose of amino acid residues linked with amide bond (carboxyl group and  $\alpha$ -amino group linking) [111]. The molecular weight of peptides is less than 6000 Da, more than that is proteins [111]. Peptides have low stability and short half-life, so they are easily degraded. The biotechnology such as pH or temperature adjustment could control the stability of peptides [112]. Peptides can be obtained from chemical synthesis or extracted from natural sources especially amphibians. Amphibians such as salamander and frog have a special wound repair process. They can repair wound by regeneration like a mammalian fetal skin and show a perfect wound healing. In contrast, the wound repair process in a mammalian adult skin is the scar formation which lead to imperfect wound healing. Therefore, amphibian peptides were extracted and applied for wound treatment. The tylotoin extracted from salamander (*Tylototriton verrucosus*) is composed of 12 amino acid residues including 2 cysteines forming an intramolecular disulfide bridge [113]. AH90 was the peptides extracted from frog skin (*Odorrana grahami*). It composed of 24 amino acid residues [114].

#### 2.6.1. Processing methods

Peptides from animal skin were extracted by freeze dried method [113,115]. Most of peptides that were extracted from amphibian skin were purified by gel filtration and HPLC [113,116]. Moreover, the peptides can be simply sterilized by filter-sterilization [117]. JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🙆 15

#### 2.6.2. Wound healing activity

Peptides provide function in wound healing. They bound the cell surface integrin, leading to cell adhesion and migration. They also trigger the invasion of fibroblast or keratinocytes [118]. The transcription factor *Prx1* is one of the key factor that activates fibroblast in amphibians skin wound healing [119]. However, there are many peptides that involve in this process. The previous researches have investigated the peptides extracted from salamander and frog skin as wound healing accelerator. The results showed that topical treatment with tylotoin extracted from salamander at concentration 20 µg/ml accelerated full thickness wound healing process in mice. After 10 days, the wound areas of tylotoin-treated group were almost completely closed but the wound areas of the control group (vehicle) were closed around 74%. Moreover, tylotoin increased proliferation and migration of keratinocyte, fibroblast and vascular endothelial cells. It also enhanced secretion of TGF-B1 and IL-6 that are important factors in wound healing process [113]. Liu H et al. found that the AH90 extracted from frog skin at concentration 250 µg/ml significantly accelerated wound healing in mice compared with vehicle. It promoted re-epithelialization and TGF-B1 secretion to the wound. AH-90 also increased cell adhesion to fibronectin and laminin [114]. Frog skin was also applied in other pharmaceutical formulations including ointment. Mashreghi M et al. found that the frog skin extract in ointment significantly increased percentage of wound closure and increase area of neovascularization in rats comparing with ointment without the extract after 4 and 6 days' post-injury. Fibroblast cells and collagen production of the wound treated with frog skin extract were also significantly higher than those of the control group after 2, 4, and 6 days' post injury [115]. The results of Bazaz et al. demonstrated that frog skin powder in ointment significant accelerated wound contraction and enhanced amount of collagen after 6 days of treatment comparing ointment without powder. It significantly reduced inflammation after 2, 4, 6 days of treatment. Moreover, there was higher growth of new vessels in the frog skin extract powder in ointment treated group comparing with the powder treated group after 4 and 6 day of treatment [120].

## 2.6.3. Biological safety

The safety evaluation of peptides has not been reported Further researches on the sequence, stability and physical properties of these peptides were required

## 2.7. Proteoglycans

Proteoglycans (PGs) are complex extracellular macromolecules consisting of a core protein in which one or more covalently attached to glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) [121]. The chemical structure of PGs is complex. It composes of many types of proteins such as aggrecan, versican and GAGs including hyaluronan, chondroitin sulfate, and keratin sulfate [121]. The properties of PGs also depend on their chemical structure. For example, aggrecan with hyaluronic acid are structural components of ECM in cartilage, brain, intervertebral disc, tendon, and cornea [122,123]. They provide water retention, osmotic pressure, and proper collagen organization to the cell. Small leucine-rich proteoglycans are the most PGs that found in extra cellular matrix. They regulate cell process including migration, proliferation, and angiogenesis. Decorin that is a class I of small leucine-rich proteoglycans had an effect on collagen fibrillogenesis, fibroblast function, and wound healing. A part of cartilage, PGs structures are similar to EGF-like module which is the one factor in wound healing process [122,123]. Among various sources of PGs, the PGs extracted from salmon nasal cartilages

## 16 😸 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

are widely studied as wound healing agent [124]. Aggregan with chondroitin sulfate are the major component of PGs extracted from salmon nasal cartilages [125]. Three glubular domains and two glycosaminoglycan-attachment domains are provided in its core protein. Its physical properties are a hydrated, and viscous gel because of the attached chondroitin sulfate chains with its domain [126]. Chondroitin 6-sulfate which has an effect on wound healing are also found in PGs extracted salmon nasal cartilage at around 60% comparing with bovine PGs (40%) [127]. Therefore, PGs from bovine are more studied as joint treatment and others than wound treatment [128,129].

#### 2.7.1. Processing methods

The salmon cartilage was extracted by hydrochloric acid containing protease inhibitor or by acetic acid. It was freeze-dried and filtered by ultrafiltration method. Then, it was purified by anion exchanges chromatography and gel filtration exchange chromatography [125,127,130].

## 2.7.2. Mechanisms on wound healing

Proteoglycans bind growth factors, cytokines, enzyme and ECM components including FGF, IL-8, EGF, and collagen [131] and regulate cell proliferation, migration, and angiogenesis in tissue repair process and host defense mechanism [132,133].

*In vitro* test, PGs extracted salmon nasal cartilage at concentration  $0.1-10 \mu g/ml$  could stimulate fibroblast proliferation and migration leading to wound healing acceleration. The important mechanism for wound closure was the interaction between chondroitin sulfate in the PGs and cell surface. This interaction activated intracellular signaling pathway to promote cell proliferation and migration. Moreover, PGs extracted from salmon nasal cartilage contained core polypeptide as EGF ligand to stimulate cellular proliferation and migration. However, this effect was reduced when the PGs concentration was  $10-1000 \mu g/ml$  [124]. The cream containing 1 and 2% PGs extracted from fish cartilage was used to treat second degree burn wounds in rats. The results showed that the percentage of wound healing of PGs cream-treated group was higher than cream without PGs group after 7, 14, 21, and 28 days. Amount of PGs had an effect on wound healing than that containing lower content (1%). Re-epithelialization and neovascularization of PGs cream-treated group were found to be greater than the control. The number of giant cells and macrophage were not significantly different and continuously decreased after 14 day [134].

## 2.7.3. Biological safety

There was no clinical report on the biological safety of using PGs for wound treatment. However, there was no abnormality in the rats treated with salmon cartilage powder containing PGs (1000 mg/kg/day) for 90 days. Moreover, there were no clinical side effects or abnormality in blood test in adults who received salmon cartilage powder containing PGs (1500 mg/kg/day) for 5 days [135].

## 2.8. Hyaluronic acid

Hyaluronic acid (HA) is an important component in synovial fluid and ECM. It contains disaccharide structure composed of D-glucuronic acid and N-acetylglucosamine [136]. The

JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🚱 17

polymer molecule of HA has molecular mass around 4000 kDa [137]. Hyaluronic acid can be synthesized by physiochemical process or extracted from bacteria and animals including rooster combs, bovine nasal cartilage, rabbit skin, shark skin, fish eyeball [137–139]. The highest amount of HA in extracted animals is rooster combs that have molecular mass around 2500 kDa. Therefore, the combs are the most popular source of HA production in medical materials [138]. Hyaluronic acid has effects on cell proliferation, differentiation, and tissue repair. Long chain HA (1000–5000 saccharides) activates fibroblast proliferation, migration and increases collagen deposit [140]. Small and medium chain HA (4–25 and 1000–1250 saccharides) involve in angiogenesis, and inflammation [136,140]. Hyaluronic acid molecule can dissolve in water to form viscous gel and contains hygroscopic property [141]. However, it has the problem about low stability. The esterification method is used for modified HA structure to improve stability and reduce degradation [140].

## 2.8.1. Processing methods

Hyaluronic acid was extracted with acetone, distilled water, and sodium chloride solution [142]. Purification process of HA are protease digestion, HA ion-pair precipitation, protein electrodeposition, ultrafiltration, HA non-solvent precipitation, and lyophilization [138,139].

#### 2.8.2. Mechanisms on wound healing

In wound healing process, HA can bind to fibrinogen influenced clotting pathway. At the high concentration of HA, a porous network structure is formed to diffuse cells and proteins for cell migration [136]. For angiogenesis, HA binds to CD44 supporting new blood vessels formation [143]. It can activate keratinocyte proliferation, migration and increase collagen deposit leading to wound healing [141]. HA reduced pain by decrease of nerve sensitivity [137]. Moreover, it can control the hydration environment between wound healing process because of its hygroscopic property [144]. Cerqueira et al. studied in full thickness wounds of rats. They demonstrated that the percentage of wound closure treated with gellan gum HA spongy-like hydrogel was significant higher than the wound without treatment. Vessel density in gellan gums HA spongy-like hydrogel treated group was also significant higher than without treatment group after 7 days' post injury [145]. Humbert et al. studied in 89 leg ulcer patients. They found that percentage of wound size reduction and numbers of wound healing of 0.05%HA gauze pad treated group was significant higher than gauze without HA. Moreover, pain score of 0.05%HA gauze pad treated group was also significant less than gauze without HA [146]. Wound healing time of secondary burn wound treated with 0.2% HA and 1% silver sulfadiazine was also significantly less than wound treated with only 1% silver sulfadiazine [147].

#### 2.8.2. Anti-inflammation effects

Exogenous HA could reduce the production and activity of inflammatory mediators and MMPs [137]. It can interact with TNF-stimulated gene-6 (TSG-6) to decrease neutrophil migration leading to inflammatory reduction [136].

## 2.8.3. Biological safety

HA from rooster combs showed better safety profile than HA that extracted from Streptococci bacteria [148]. No adverse event was observed in the HA cream treated group [147]. However, it may induce allergic reaction especially in avian allergy history [138].

18 🕒 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

#### 2.9. Keratin

Keratin is a protein that contains high amount of cysteine. It is found in human skin and hair. The structures of keratin are polypeptide chain together with fine filament-matrix structure that have been divided into two form; alpha and beta structure. In animals, the alpha keratin is found in wools, hair, skin, nails, hooves, and horns of mammal structure. The beta keratin is found in feathers, avian beaks and claws, reptilian claw and scales. Both of keratin structures are found in reptilian epidermis and pangolin [149]. The molecular mass of alpha keratin contains is around 40–68 kDa and beta keratin is around 10–22 kDa [149]. Keratin is insoluble material so modified chemical reaction including acid, base, enzyme, and sulfitolysis method are used for medical preparation [150]. For wound healing, keratin was produced in many form including powder, gel, dressing, scaffolds.

## 2.9.1. Processing methods

Keratin was extracted by acid, alkali, high concentration of salt solution [151], oxidation [152], reduction [153], ion liquid extraction [154], or sulfitolysis [155,156]. Soxhlet apparatus or dialysis was used for removal external lipid and impurities [155–157].

## 2.9.2. Mechanisms on wound healing

The mechanisms of action of exogenous keratin to promote wound healing are to stimulate keratinocyte, induce endogenous keratin expression, and accelerate epithelialization together with upregulation migration and proliferation of keratinocytes [158]. It activates keratinocytes through expression of KRT6, KRT16, and KRT17 genes [159]. In vivo test, Park et al. reported that the full thickness wound size of keratin hydrogel treated group was significantly lower than hydrocolloid dressing treated group and non-treated group at day 7 and 14 post' injury. Amounts of fibroblast and epithelial cells of keratin hydrogel treated group were also significantly higher than hydrocolloid dressing treated group and non-treated group at day 7 post' injury. Collagen deposition in keratin treated group was also higher than control [155]. The keratin hydrogel also showed the same results in Wang et al. study. It significantly accelerated wound healing comparing with non-treated group in rats. Cell proliferation and neovascularization were found in keratin hydrogel treated group in 7 days. After 14, and 21 days, collagen deposition in hydrogel treated group was higher than non-treated group [160]. In clinical research, Davidson et al. demonstrated that epithelialization rate of keratin dressing treated group was significantly higher than alginate dressing treated group in the elderly patients with partial thickness wound [158]. Keratin gel also significantly decreased wound healing time in superficial and partial thickness burn patients comparing with standard care (non-adherent dressings and topical liquids) [161]. Moreover, keratin could induce coagulation mechanism including platelet adhesion, fibrin polymerization [153,162,163]. In vitro test, Wang et al. found that extracted feather keratin from chicken significantly reduced whole blood clotting time comparing without keratin [153]. In rat tail amputation and liver scratch experiments, blood clotting time and mass of blood loss of keratin treated group were significantly less than non-keratin treated group [153].

## 2.9.3. Biological safety

Keratin was biocompatibility and safety for wound healing. No adverse effect was observed in keratin treated group [158]. Immunotoxicity and systemic toxicity was also not found in keratin treated group [160].

## JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 😔 19

 Table 5. Advantage and disadvantage of animal-derived products in topical wound application.

		Ad	Ivantage		
Animal- derived products	Wound healing promotion	Anti- bacteria	Anti-inflammation	Safety	Disadvantage
Chitosan	+	+		+	<ul> <li>Molecular weight has significant effect on wound healing properties</li> <li>Allergy in patients who are allergic to arthropods including shrimp, crab, insects, and shell fish</li> </ul>
Collagen	±			+	Fast degradation rate     Concerning zoonosis contamination     Case report of allergic reaction to bovine     collagen     Expensive
Honey	+	+	+	+	<ul> <li>Antibacterial property can be decreased when in contact to wound exudate except manuka honey</li> <li>Pain in sensitive nerve ending patients</li> <li>local atopic reaction</li> </ul>
Anabolic steroids	+			+	<ul> <li>Absorbed to blood circulation, leading to systemic side effect</li> </ul>
Sericin	+	±	+	+	<ul> <li>Cell viability is decreased at high concentration</li> <li>Antimicrobial activity depends on degumming process</li> </ul>
Peptide	+			+	Limited research document
Proteoglycan	+			+	<ul> <li>Poor wound healing property at high concentration</li> <li>Limited research document</li> </ul>
Hyaluronic acid	+		+	+	<ul> <li>May induce allergic reaction especially in avian allergy history</li> </ul>
Keratin	+			+	Chemical modified process of keratin extraction may not be friendly with environments

Notes: +: positive activity; ±: may have positive or negative activity.



Figure 1. Wound healing mechanisms of animals products and extracts.

#### 20 🕒 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

The advantages (in terms of wound healing promotion, anti-bacteria, anti-inflammation, and safety) and disadvantages of these animal-derived products and extracts are demonstrated in Table 5. Moreover, wound healing mechanisms of these animal-derived products and extracts were concluded in Figure 1.

## 3. Conclusion

The agents from animals including chitosan, collagen, honey, anabolic steroids, silk sericin, peptides, and proteoglycan can promote wound healing. Moreover, they may contain other activities such as anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial activity, and moisturizing effect which can also improve wound healing property. In addition, the biocompatibility and safety of these agents are needed to be considered. The disadvantage such allergy, low stability, high cost may be found. Some animal-derived products required more researches and documents to support its wound healing properties.

## Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge financial support from the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program (Grant No. PHD/0200/2553) to Supamas Napavichayanun and Pornanong Aramwit.

#### **Disclosure statement**

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

## Funding

This work was financially supported by the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program (grant number PHD/0200/2553).

#### References

- Dryden SV, Shoemaker WG, Kim JH. Wound management and nutrition for optimal wound healing. Atlas Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am. 2013;21(1):37–47.
- [2] Stojadinovic A, Carlson JW, Schultz GS, et al. Topical advances in wound care. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;111(2 Suppl):S70–S80.
- [3] Schreml S, Szeimies RM, Prantl L, et al. Wound healing in the 21st century. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2010;63(5):866–881.
- [4] Hardwicke J, Schmaljohann D, Boyce D, et al. Epidermal growth factor therapy and wound healing-past, present and future perspectives. Surgeon. 2008;6(3):172–177.
- [5] Meyer-Ingold W. Wound therapy: growth factors as agents to promote healing. Trends Biotechnol. 1993;11(9):387–392.
- [6] Guo S, DiPietro LA. Factors affecting wound healing. J Dent Res. 2010;89(3):219-229.
- [7] Azuma K, Ifuku S, Osaki T, et al. Preparation and biomedical applications of chitin and chitosan nanofibers. J Biomed Nanotechnol. 2014;10(10):2891–2920.
- [8] Dash M, Chiellini F, Ottenbrite RM, et al. Chitosan a versatile semi-synthetic polymer in biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci. 2011;36(8):981–1014.
- [9] Younes I, Rinaudo M. Chitin and chitosan preparation from marine sources. Structure, properties and applications. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(3):1133–1174.

## JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 😉 21

- [10] Prudden JF, Migel P, Hanson P, et al. The discovery of a potent pure chemical wound-healing accelerator. Am J Surg. 1970;119(5):560–564.
- [11] Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Sudheesh Kumar PT, et al. Biomaterials based on chitin and chitosan in wound dressing applications. Biotechnol Adv. 2011;29(3):322–337.
- [12] Divya K, Sharrel R, Jisha SM. A simple and effective method for extraction of high purity chitosan from shrimp shell waste. Proceedings of the International Conference on Advances in Applied Science and Environmental Engineering-ASEE; Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia; 2014.
- [13] Dornish M, Kaplan DS, Arepalli SR. Regulatory status of chitosan and derivatives. Chitosanbased systems for biopharmaceuticals. West Sussex: Wiley; 2012. p. 463–481.
- [14] Szymańska E, Winnicka K. Stability of chitosan a challenge for pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(4):1819–1846.
- [15] Nakagawa Y, Murai T, Hasegawa C, et al. Endotoxin contamination in wound dressings made of natural biomaterials. J Biomed Mater Res. 2003;66B(1):347–355.
- [16] Lee DW, Lim H, Chong HN, et al. Advances in chitosan material and its hybrid derivatives: a review. Open Biomater J. 2009;1:10–20.
- [17] Ueno H, Nakamura F, Murakami M, et al. Evaluation effects of chitosan for the extracellular matrix production by fibroblasts and the growth factors production by macrophages. Biomaterials. 2001;22(15):2125–2130.
- [18] Nishimura K, Ishihara C, Ukei S, et al. Stimulation of cytokine production in mice using deacetylated chitin. Vaccine. 1986;4(3):151–156.
- [19] Boucard N, Viton C, Agay D, et al. The use of physical hydrogels of chitosan for skin regeneration following third-degree burns. Biomaterials. 2007;28(24):3478–3488.
- [20] Ishihara M, Nakanishi K, Ono K, et al. Photocrosslinkable chitosan as a dressing for wound occlusion and accelerator in healing process. Biomaterials. 2002;23(3):833–840.
- [21] Ong SY, Wu J, Moochhala SM, et al. Development of a chitosan-based wound dressing with improved hemostatic and antimicrobial properties. Biomaterials. 2008;29(32):4323–4332.
- [22] Ueno H, Yamada H, Tanaka I, et al. Accelerating effects of chitosan for healing at early phase of experimental open wound in dogs. Biomaterials. 1999;20(15):1407–1414.
- [23] Deng C-M, He L-Z, Zhao M, et al. Biological properties of the chitosan-gelatin sponge wound dressing. Carbohydr Polym. 2007;69(3):583–589.
- [24] Alemdaroglu C, Degim Z, Celebi N, et al. An investigation on burn wound healing in rats with chitosan gel formulation containing epidermal growth factor. Burns. 2006;32(3):319–327.
- [25] Charernsriwilaiwat N, Rojanarata T, Ngawhirunpat T, et al. Electrospun chitosan/polyvinyl alcohol nanofibre mats for wound healing. Int Wound J. 2014;11(2):215–222.
- [26] Alsarra IA. Chitosan topical gel formulation in the management of burn wounds. Int J Biol Macromol. 2009;45(1):16–21.
- [27] Azad AK, Sermsintham N, Chandrkrachang S, et al. Chitosan membrane as a wound-healing dressing: characterization and clinical application. J Biomed Mater Res. 2004;69B(2):216–222.
- [28] Liu XF, Guan YL, Yang DZ, et al. Antibacterial action of chitosan and carboxymethylated chitosan. J Appl Polym Sci. 2001;79:1324–1335.
- [29] Zheng L-Y, Zhu J-F. Study on antimicrobial activity of chitosan with different molecular weights. Carbohydr Polym. 2003;54(4):527–530.
- [30] Goy RC, Britto Dd, Assis OBG. A review of the antimicrobial activity of chitosan. Polímeros. 2009;19:241–247.
- [31] Wang CC, Su CH, Chen CC. Water absorbing and antibacterial properties of N-isopropyl acrylamide grafted and collagen/chitosan immobilized polypropylene nonwoven fabric and its application on wound healing enhancement. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2008;84(4):1006–1017.
- [32] Z-x Cai, X-m Mo, K-h Zhang, et al. Fabrication of chitosan/silk fibroin composite nanofibers for wound-dressing applications. Int J Mol Sci. 2010;11(9):3529–3539.
- [33] Chatelet C, Damour O, Domard A. Influence of the degree of acetylation on some biological properties of chitosan films. Biomaterials. 2001;22(3):261–268.
- [34] Rao SB, Sharma CP. Use of chitosan as a biomaterial: studies on its safety and hemostatic potential. J Biomed Mater Res. 1997;34(1):21-28.

## 22 😧 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

- [35] Shoulders MD, Raines RT. Collagen structure and stability. Annu Rev Biochem. 2009;78:929– 958.
- [36] Yamada S, Yamamoto K, Ikeda T, et al. Potency of fish collagen as a scaffold for regenerative medicine. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:1–8.
- [37] Fleck CA, Simman R. Modern collagen wound dressings: function and purpose. J Am Col Certif Wound Spec. 2010;2(3):50–54.
- [38] Silvipriya KS, Kumar KK, Bhat AR, et al. Collagen: animal sources and biomedical application. J App Pharm Sci. 2015;5(3):123–127.
- [39] Wiegand C, Abel M, Ruth P, et al. Effect of the sterilization method on the performance of collagen type I on chronic wound parameters *in vitro*. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2009;90(2):710–719.
- [40] Gorham SD, Srivastava S, French DA, et al. The effect of gamma-ray and ethylene oxide sterilization on collagen-based wound-repair materials. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 1993;4(1):40– 49.
- [41] Kleinman HK, Murray JC, McGoodwin EB, et al. Connective tissue structure: cell binding to collagen. J Invest Dermatol. 1978;71(1):9–11.
- [42] Postlethwaite AE, Seyer JM, Kang AH. Chemotactic attraction of human fibroblasts to type I, II, and III collagens and collagen-derived peptides. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA. 1978;75(2):871–875.
- [43] Mosher DF, Schad PE. Cross-linking of fibronectin to collagen by blood coagulation Factor XIIIa. J Clin Invest. 1979;64(3):781–787.
- [44] Vermylen J, Verstraete M, Fuster V. Role of platelet activation and fibrin formation in thrombogenesis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1986;8(6 Suppl B):2b-9b.
- [45] Sweeney SM, DiLullo G, Slater SJ, et al. Angiogenesis in collagen I requires alpha2beta1 ligation of a GFP\*GER sequence and possibly p38 MAPK activation and focal adhesion disassembly. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(33):30516–30524.
- [46] Spenceri EA, Nahass GT. Topically applied bovine collagen in the treatment of ulcerative necrobiosis lipoidica diabeticorum. Arch Dermatol. 1997;133(7):817–818.
- [47] Brett D. A review of collagen and collagen-based wound dressings. Wounds. 2008;20(12):347– 356.
- [48] Ulrich D, Smeets R, Unglaub F, et al. Effect of oxidized regenerated cellulose/collagen matrix on proteases in wound exudate of patients with diabetic foot ulcers. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2011;38(5):522–528.
- [49] Shah SV, Chakravarthy D. Evaluation of a bovine 100% native collagen for the treatment of chronic wounds: a case series. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2015;42(3):226–234.
- [50] Hart J, Silcock D, Gunnigle S, et al. The role of oxidised regenerated cellulose/collagen in wound repair: effects *in vitro* on fibroblast biology and *in vivo* in a model of compromised healing. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2002;34(12):1557–1570.
- [51] Griswold JA, Cepica T, Rossi L, et al. A comparison of xeroform and skintemp dressings in the healing of skin graft donor sites. J Burn Care Rehabil. 1995;16(2 Pt 1):136–140.
- [52] Vin F, Teot L, Meaume S. The healing properties of Promogram in venous leg ulcers. J Wound Care. 2002;11(9):335–341.
- [53] Nisi G, Brandi C, Grimaldi L, et al. Use of a protease-modulating matrix in the treatment of pressure sores. Chir Ital. 2005;57(4):465–468.
- [54] Blume P, Driver VR, Tallis AJ, et al. Formulated collagen gel accelerates healing rate immediately after application in patients with diabetic neuropathic foot ulcers. Wound Repair Regen. 2011;19(3):302–308.
- [55] Graumlich JF, Blough LS, McLaughlin RG, et al. Healing pressure ulcers with collagen or hydrocolloid: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51(2):147–154.
- [56] Donaghue VM, Chrzan JS, Rosenblum BI, et al. Evaluation of a collagen-alginate wound dressing in the management of diabetic foot ulcers. Adv Wound Care. 1998;11(3):114–119.
- [57] Singh O, Gupta SS, Soni M, et al. Collagen dressing versus conventional dressings in burn and chronic wounds: a retrospective study. J Cutan Aesthet Surg. 2011;4(1):12–16.
- [58] Mullins RJ, Richards C, Walker T. Allergic reactions to oral, surgical and topical bovine collagen. Anaphylactic risk for surgeons. Aust N Z J Ophthalmol. 1996;24(3):257–260.

#### JOURNAL OF BIOMATERIALS SCIENCE, POLYMER EDITION 🚱 23

- [59] Lee CH, Singla A, Lee Y. Biomedical applications of collagen. Int J Pharm. 2001;221(1–2):1–22.
- [60] Westgate S, Cutting KF, DeLuca G, et al. Collagen dressings Made Easy. Wounds UK. 2012;8(1):1-4.
- [61] Olaitan PB, Adeleke OE, Ola IO. Honey: a reservoir for microorganisms and an inhibitory agent for microbes. Afr Health Sci. 2007;7(3):159–165.
- [62] da Silva PM, Gauche C, Gonzaga LV, et al. Honey: chemical composition, stability and authenticity. Food Chem. 2016;196:309-323.
- [63] El Sohaimy SA, Masry SHD, Shehata MG. Physicochemical characteristics of honey from different origins. Ann Agric Sci. 2015;60(2):279–287.
- [64] Eteraf-Oskouei T, Najafi M. Traditional and modern uses of natural honey in human diseases: a review. Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2013;16(6):731–742.
- [65] Molan P, Rhodes T. Honey: a biologic wound dressing. Wounds. 2015;27(6):141–151.
- [66] Majtan J. Honey: an immunomodulator in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen. 2014;22(2):187–192.
- [67] Yaghoobi R, Kazerouni A, kazerouni O. Evidence for clinical use of honey in wound healing as an anti-bacterial, anti-inflammatory anti-oxidant and anti-viral agent: a review. Jundishapur J Nat Pharm Prod. 2013;8(3):100–104.
- [68] Molan PC. Re-introducing honey in the management of wounds and ulcers theory and practice. Ostomy Wound Manage. 2002;48(11):28–40.
- [69] Adams CJ, Manley-Harris M, Molan PC. The origin of methylglyoxal in New Zealand manuka (Leptospermum scoparium) honey. Carbohydr Res. 2009;344(8):1050–1053.
- [70] Pieper B. Honey-based dressings and wound care: an option for care in the United States. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2009;36(1):60–66; quiz 67–68.
- [71] Simon A, Traynor K, Santos K, et al. Medical honey for wound care—still the 'latest resort'? Evid Based Complement Altern Med. 2009;6(2):165–173.
- [72] Al-Waili N, Salom K, Al-Ghamdi AA. Honey for wound healing, ulcers, and burns; data supporting its use in clinical practice. Sci World J. 2011;11:766–787.
- [73] van den Berg AJ, van den Worm E, van Ufford HC, et al. An *in vitro* examination of the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of buckwheat honey. J Wound Care. 2008;17(4):172–178, 176–178.
- [74] Alam F, Islam MA, Gan SH, et al. Honey: a potential therapeutic agent for managing diabetic wounds. Evid Based Complement Altern Med. 2014;2014:1–16.
- [75] Buttner A, Thieme D. Side effects of anabolic androgenic steroids: pathological findings and structure-activity relationships. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2010;195:459–484.
- [76] Lee D-M, Bhat AR, Kim Y-W, et al. Effects of porcine testis extract on wound healing in rat. Anim Cells Syst. 2012;16(6):469–478.
- [77] Nandrolone [Internet]. National center for biotechnology information. 2016 [cited 2016 Nov 18]. Available from: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/nandrolone#section=Top
- [78] Testoterone [Internet]. National center for biotechnology information. 2016 [cited 2016 Nov 18]. Available from: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/6013#section=Top
- [79] Estradiol [Internet]. National center for biotechnology information. 2016 [cited 2016 Nov 18]. Available from: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/5757#section=Odor
- [80] Lee EJ, Kamli MR, Bhat AR, et al. Effect of porcine placenta steroid extract on myogenic satellite cell proliferation, transdifferentiation, and lipid accumulation. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2012;48(5):326–333.
- [81] Kim KC, Heo JH, Yoon JK, et al. Enhanced anti-inflammatory effects of gamma-irradiated pig placenta extracts. Korean J Food Sci Anim Resour. 2015;35(3):293–298.
- [82] Demling RH. The role of anabolic hormones for wound healing in catabolic states. J Burns Wounds. 2005;4:e2.
- [83] Chiu ML, O'Keefe EJ. Placental keratinocyte growth factor: partial purification and comparison with epidermal growth factor. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1989;269(1):75–85.
- [84] Presta M, Mignatti P, Mullins DE, et al. Human placental tissue stimulates bovine capillary endothelial cell growth, migration and protease production. Biosci Rep. 1985;5(9):783–790.

#### 24 🕒 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

- [85] Wu CH, Chang GY, Chang WC, et al. Wound healing effects of porcine placental extracts on rats with thermal injury. Br J Dermatol. 2003;148(2):236–245.
- [86] Hueber F, Schaefer H, Wepierre J. Role of transepidermal and transfollicular routes in percutaneous absorption of steroids: *in vitro* studies on human skin. Skin Pharm Phys. 1994;7(5):237–244.
- [87] Padamwar MN, Pawar AP. Silk sericin and its applications: a review. J Sci Ind Res. 2004;63:323– 329.
- [88] Patel R, Modasiya MK. Sericin: pharmaceutical applications. Int J Res Pharm Biomed Sci. 2011;2(323):913–917.
- [89] Terada S, Nishimura T, Sasaki M, et al. Sericin, a protein derived from silkworms, accelerates the proliferation of several mammalian cell lines including a hybridoma. Cytotechnology. 2002;40(1–3):3–12.
- [90] Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, Nakpheng T, et al. The effect of sericin from various extraction methods on cell viability and collagen production. Int J Mol Sci. 2010;11(5):2200–2211.
- [91] Tsujimoto K, Takagi H, Takahashi M, et al. Cryoprotective effect of the serine-rich repetitive sequence in silk protein sericin. J Biochem. 2001;129(6):979–986.
- [92] Siritientong T, Srichana T, Aramwit P. The effect of sterilization methods on the physical properties of silk sericin scaffolds. AAPS Pharmscitech. 2011;12(2):771–781.
- [93] Aramwit P, Namviriyachote N. The influence of gamma irradiation and ethylene oxide treatment on the physical properties of silk sericin film. J Biobased Mater Bioenergy. 2013;7(2):283–289.
- [94] Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, et al. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature. 2008;453(7193):314–321.
- [95] Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, De-Eknamkul W, et al. The effect of sericin with variable aminoacid content from different silk strains on the production of collagen and nitric oxide. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed. 2009;20(9):1295–1306.
- [96] Tsubouchi K, Igarashi Y, Takasu Y, et al. Sericin enhances attachment of cultured human skin fibroblasts. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2005;69(2):403–405.
- [97] Aramwit P, Sangcakul A. The effects of sericin cream on wound healing in rats. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2007;71(10):2473–2477.
- [98] Siritienthong T, Ratanavaraporn J, Aramwit P. Development of ethyl alcohol-precipitated silk sericin/polyvinyl alcohol scaffolds for accelerated healing of full-thickness wounds. Int J Pharm. 2012;439(1–2):175–186.
- [99] Aramwit P, Palapinyo S, Srichana T, et al. Silk sericin ameliorates wound healing and its clinical efficacy in burn wounds. Arch Dermatol Res. 2013;305(7):585–594.
- [100] Siritientong T, Angspatt A, Ratanavaraporn J, et al. Clinical potential of a silk sericin-releasing bioactive wound dressing for the treatment of split-thickness skin graft donor sites. Pharm Res. 2014;31(1):104–116.
- [101] Hasatsri S, Angspatt A, Aramwit P. Randomized clinical trial of the innovative bilayered wound dressing made of silk and gelatin: safety and efficacy tests using a split-thickness skin graft model. Evid-Based Complement Altern Med. 2015;2015:1–8.
- [102] Aramwit P, Siritienthong T, Srichana T, et al. Accelerated healing of full-thickness wounds by genipin-crosslinked silk sericin/PVA scaffolds. Cells Tissues Organs. 2013;197(3):224–238.
- [103] Rajendran R, Balakumar C, Sivakumar R, et al. Extraction and application of natural silk protein sericin from Bombyx mori as antimicrobial finish for cotton fabrics. J Text Inst. 2012;103(4):458–462.
- [104] Senakoon W, Nuchadomrong S, Sirimungkararat S, et al. Antibacterial action of eri (samia ricini) sericin against *Escherichia coli* and staphylococcus aureus. As J Food Ag-Ind. 2009(Special Issue):S222–S228.
- [105] Jassim KN, Al-Saree OJ. Study of the antimicrobial activity of silk sericin from silkworm bombyx mori. Iraqi J Comm Med. 2010;23(2):130–133.
- [106] Kaur J, Rajkhowa R, Afrin T, et al. Facts and myths of antibacterial properties of silk. Biopolymers. 2014;101(3):237–245.
- [107] Aramwit P, Towiwat P, Srichana T. Anti-inflammatory potential of silk sericin. Nat Prod Commun. 2013;8(4):501–504.

- [108] Khampieng T, Aramwit P, Supaphol P. Silk sericin loaded alginate nanoparticles: preparation and anti-inflammatory efficacy. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;80:636–643.
- [109] Padamwar MN, Pawar AP, Daithankar AV, et al. Silk sericin as a moisturizer: an *in vivo* study. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2005;4(4):250–257.
- [110] Aramwit P, Kanokpanont S, De-Eknamkul W, et al. Monitoring of inflammatory mediators induced by silk sericin. J Biosci Bioeng. 2009;107(5):556–561.
- [111] Guzmán F, Barberis S, Illanes A [Internet]. Peptide synthesis: chemical or enzymatic. Electron J Biotechnol. 2007;10:279–314. 22/11/2016. Available from: http://www.ejbiotechnology.info/ index.php/ejbiotechnology/article/view/v10n2-13
- [112] Bell LN. Peptide stability in solids and solutions. Biotechnol Prog. 1997;13(4):342-346.
- [113] Mu L, Tang J, Liu H, et al. A potential wound-healing-promoting peptide from salamander skin. FASEB J. 2014;28(9):3919–3929.
- [114] Liu H, Mu L, Tang J, et al. A potential wound healing-promoting peptide from frog skin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2014;49:32–41.
- [115] Mashreghi M, Rezazade Bazaz M, Mahdavi Shahri N, et al. Topical effects of frog "Rana ridibunda" skin secretions on wound healing and reduction of wound microbial load. J Ethnopharmacol. 2013;145(3):793–797.
- [116] Song Y, Lu Y, Wang L, et al. Purification, characterization and cloning of two novel tigerininlike peptides from skin secretions of Fejervarya cancrivora. Peptides. 2009;30(7):1228–1232.
- [117] Sheafor B, Davidson EW, Parr L, et al. Antimicrobial peptide defenses in the salamander, ambystoma tigrinum, against emerging amphibian pathogens. J Wildl Dis. 2008;44(2):226–236.
- [118] Yamada KM. Fibronectin peptides in cell migration and wound repair. J Clin Invest. 2000;105(11):1507–1509.
- [119] Kawasumi A, Sagawa N, Hayashi S, et al. Wound healing in mammals and amphibians: toward limb regeneration in mammals. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2013;367:33–49.
- [120] Rezazade Bazaz M, Mashreghi M, Mahdavi Shahri N, et al. Pharmaceutical application of frog skin on full-thickness skin wound healing in mice. Pharm Biol. 2013;51(12):1600–1606.
- [121] Perrimon N, Bernfield M. Cellular functions of proteoglycans an overview. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2001;12(2):65–67.
- [122] Iozzo RV, Schaefer L. Proteoglycan form and function: a comprehensive nomenclature of proteoglycans. Matrix Biol. 2015;42:11-55.
- [123] Knudson CB, Knudson W. Cartilage proteoglycans. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2001;12(2):69-78.
- [124] Ito G, Kobayashi T, Takeda Y, et al. Proteoglycan from salmon nasal cartridge [corrected] promotes *in vitro* wound healing of fibroblast monolayers via the CD44 receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015;456(3):792–798.
- [125] Kakizaki I, Tatara Y, Majima M, et al. Identification of proteoglycan from salmon nasal cartilage. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2011;506(1):58–65.
- [126] Watanabe H, Yamada Y, Kimata K. Roles of aggrecan, a large chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan, in cartilage structure and function. J Biochem. 1998;124(4):687–693.
- [127] Kakizaki I, Mineta T, Sasaki M, et al. Biochemical and atomic force microscopic characterization of salmon nasal cartilage proteoglycan. Carbohydr Polym. 2014;103:538–549.
- [128] Ishikawa LLW, Colavite PM, da Rosa LC, et al. Commercial bovine proteoglycan is highly arthritogenic and can be used as an alternative antigen source for PGIA model. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:1–12.
- [129] Poole AR, Reiner A, Tang L-H, et al. Proteoglycans from bovine nasal cartilage. J Biol Chem. 1980;255(19):9295–9305.
- [130] Kobayashi T, Kakizaki I, Nozaka H, et al. Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans from salmon nasal cartilage inhibit angiogenesis. Biochem Biophys Rep. 2017;9:72–78.
- [131] Hardingham TE, Fosang AJ. Proteoglycans: many forms and many functions. Faseb J. 1992;6(3):861–870.
- [132] Gallo RL. Proteoglycans and cutaneous vascular defense and repair. J Invest Dermatol Symp Proc. 2000;5(1):55–60.
- [133] Ghatak S, Maytin EV, Mack JA, et al. Roles of proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans in wound healing and fibrosis. Int J Cell Biol. 2015;2015:834893.

#### 26 🕒 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN AND P. ARAMWIT

- [134] Bunman S, Aramwit P, Larbcharoensub N, et al. Application of proteoglycans from fish cartilage for the acceleration of burn wound healing. Thai J Pharm Sci. 2015;39(3):64–69.
- [135] Kudo S, Ito S, Yoshihara S, et al. Safety evaluation of salmon nasal cartilage powder containing proteoglycan as a major constituent. J Jpn Soc Food Sci. 2011;58(11):542–547.
- [136] Frenkel JS. The role of hyaluronan in wound healing. Int Wound J. 2014;11(2):159–163.
- [137] Necas J, Bartosikova L, Brauner P, et al. Hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan): a review. Vet Med. 2008;53(8):397–411.
- [138] Kogan G, Soltes L, Stern R, et al. Hyaluronic acid: a natural biopolymer with a broad range of biomedical and industrial applications. Biotechnol Lett. 2007;29(1):17–25.
- [139] Murado MA, Montemayor MI, Cabo ML, et al. Optimization of extraction and purification process of hyaluronic acid from fish eyeball. Food Bioprod. Process. 2012;90(3):491–498.
- [140] Price RD, Berry MG, Navsaria HA. Hyaluronic acid: the scientific and clinical evidence. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2007;60(10):1110–1119.
- [141] Price RD, Myers S, Leigh IM, et al. The role of hyaluronic acid in wound healing: assessment of clinical evidence. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2005;6(6):393–402.
- [142] Swann DA. Studies on hyaluronic acid. I. The preparation and properties of rooster comb hyaluronic acid. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj. 1968;156(1):17–30.
- [143] Savani RC, Cao G, Pooler PM, et al. Differential involvement of the hyaluronan (HA) receptors CD44 and receptor for HA-mediated motility in endothelial cell function and angiogenesis. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(39):36770–36778.
- [144] Voigt J, Driver VR. Hyaluronic acid derivatives and their healing effect on burns, epithelial surgical wounds, and chronic wounds: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Wound Repair Regen. 2012;20(3):317–331.
- [145] Cerqueira MT, da Silva LP, Santos TC, et al. Human skin cell fractions fail to self-organize within a gellan gum/hyaluronic acid matrix but positively influence early wound healing. Tissue Eng Part A. 2014;20(9–10):1369–1378.
- [146] Humbert P, Mikosinki J, Benchikhi H, et al. Efficacy and safety of a gauze pad containing hyaluronic acid in treatment of leg ulcers of venous or mixed origin: a double-blind, randomised, controlled trial. Int Wound J. 2013;10(2):159–166.
- [147] Costagliola M, Agrosi M. Second-degree burns: a comparative, multicenter, randomized trial of hyaluronic acid plus silver sulfadiazine vs. silver sulfadiazine alone. Curr Med Res Opin. 2005;21(8):1235–1240.
- [148] Manna F, Dentini M, Desideri P, et al. Comparative chemical evaluation of two commercially available derivatives of hyaluronic acid (hylaform from rooster combs and restylane from streptococcus) used for soft tissue augmentation. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 1999;13(3):183–192.
- [149] Wang B, Yang W, McKittrick J, et al. Keratin: structure, mechanical properties, occurrence in biological organisms, and efforts at bioinspiration. Prog Mater Sci. 2016;76:229–318.
- [150] Vasconcelos A, Cavaco-Paulo A. The use of keratin in biomedical applications. Curr Drug Targets. 2013;14(5):612–619.
- [151] Schrooyen PMM, Dijkstra PJ, Oberthür RC, et al. Stabilization of solutions of feather keratins by sodium dodecyl sulfate. J Colloid Interface Sci. 2001;240(1):30–39.
- [152] Zhang Q, Shan G, Cao P, et al. Mechanical and biological properties of oxidized horn keratin. Mater Sci Eng C. 2015;47:123–134.
- [153] Wang J, Hao S, Luo T, et al. Development of feather keratin nanoparticles and investigation of their hemostatic efficacy. Mater Sci Eng C. 2016;68:768–773.
- [154] Ji Y, Chen J, Lv J, et al. Extraction of keratin with ionic liquids from poultry feather. Sep Purif Technol. 2014;132:577–583.
- [155] Park M, Shin HK, Kim B-S, et al. Effect of discarded keratin-based biocomposite hydrogels on the wound healing process *in vivo*. Mater Sci Eng C. 2015;55:88–94.
- [156] Fortunati E, Aluigi A, Armentano I, et al. Keratins extracted from Merino wool and Brown Alpaca fibres: Thermal, mechanical and biological properties of PLLA based biocomposites. Mater Sci Eng C. 2015;47:394–406.
- [157] Wang Y-X, Cao X-J. Extracting keratin from chicken feathers by using a hydrophobic ionic liquid. Process Biochem. 2012;47(5):896–899.
- [158] Davidson A, Jina NH, Marsh C, et al. Do functional keratin dressings accelerate epithelialization in human partial thickness wounds? A randomized controlled trial on skin graft donor sites. Eplasty. 2013;13:e45.
- [159] Pechter PM, Gil J, Valdes J, et al. Keratin dressings speed epithelialization of deep partialthickness wounds. Wound Repair Regen. 2012;20(2):236–242.
- [160] Wang J, Hao S, Luo T, et al. Feather keratin hydrogel for wound repair: preparation, healing effect and biocompatibility evaluation. Colloids Surf B. 2017;149:341–350.
- [161] Loan F, Cassidy S, Marsh C, et al. Keratin-based products for effective wound care management in superficial and partial thickness burns injuries. Burns. 2016;42(3):541–547.
- [162] Burnett LR, Rahmany MB, Richter JR, et al. Hemostatic properties and the role of cell receptor recognition in human hair keratin protein hydrogels. Biomaterials. 2013;34(11):2632–2640.
- [163] Rahmany MB, Hantgan RR, Van Dyke M. A mechanistic investigation of the effect of keratinbased hemostatic agents on coagulation. Biomaterials. 2013;34(10):2492–2500.
- [164] Jang M-K, Kong B-G, Jeong Y-I, et al. Physicochemical characterization of α-chitin, β-chitin, and γ-chitin separated from natural resources. J Polym Sci Part A Polym Chem. 2004;42(14):3423–3432.
- [165] Hajji S, Younes I, Ghorbel-Bellaaj O, et al. Structural differences between chitin and chitosan extracted from three different marine sources. Int J Biol Macromol. 2014;65:298–306.
- [166] Lee CH, Singla A, Lee Y. Biomedical applications of collagen. Int J Pharm. 2001;221(1–2):1–22.
- [167] Song E, Yeon Kim S, Chun T, et al. Collagen scaffolds derived from a marine source and their biocompatibility. Biomaterials. 2006;27(15):2951–2961.
- [168] Nagai T, Yamashita E, Taniguchi K, et al. Isolation and characterisation of collagen from the outer skin waste material of cuttlefish (Sepia lycidas). Food Chem. 2001;72(4):425–429.
- [169] Sakaguchi M, Toda M, Ebihara T, et al. IgE antibody to fish gelatin (type I collagen) in patients with fish allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2000;106(3):579–584.
- [170] Ingle R, Levin J, Polinder K. Wound healing with honey a randomised controlled trial. S Afr Med J. 2006;96(9):831–835.
- [171] Maghsoudi H, Salehi F, Khosrowshahi MK, et al. Comparison between topical honey and mafenide acetate in treatment of burn wounds. Ann Burns Fire Disasters. 2011;24(3):132–137.
- [172] Baghel PS, Shukla S, Mathur RK, et al. A comparative study to evaluate the effect of honey dressing and silver sulfadiazene dressing on wound healing in burn patients. Indian J Plast Surg. 2009;42(2):176–181.
- [173] Gulati S, Qureshi A, Srivastava A, et al. A prospective randomized study to compare the effectiveness of honey dressing vs. povidone iodine dressing in chronic wound healing. Indian J Surg. 2014;76(3):193–198.
- [174] Subrahmanyam M. Honey dressing accelerates split-thickness skin graft donor site healing. Indian J Surg. 2015;77(Suppl 2):261–263.
- [175] Kamaratos AV, Tzirogiannis KN, Iraklianou SA, et al. Manuka honey-impregnated dressings in the treatment of neuropathic diabetic foot ulcers. Int Wound J. 2014;11(3):259–263.

INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF POLYMERIC MATERIALS AND POLYMERIC BIOMATERIALS https://doi.org/10.1080/00914037.2017.1297943

## Development of bacterial cellulose incorporating silk sericin, polyhexamethylene biguanide, and glycerin with enhanced physical properties and antibacterial activities for wound dressing application

Supamas Napavichayanunab, Rungnapha Yamdecha and Pornanong Aramwitab

<sup>a</sup>Bioactive Resources for Innovative Clinical Applications Research Unit, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand; <sup>b</sup>Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand

#### ABSTRACT

ABSTRACT cellulose (BC) has been applied for wound dressing application. In this study, physical and biological properties of the BC dressing were improved by incorporation of silk sericin (SS), polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB), and glycerin. The glycerin incorporation reduced dehydration rate and wound adhesion of the BC dressing in a concentration-dependent manner. PHMB, an antiseptic agent, provided antibacterial activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Meanwhile, SS would enhance collagen and tissue formation in wounds. Finally, we confirmed that the BC dressing incorporating SS, PHMB, and glycerin was safe to be used as a medical material according to ISO 10993-6 standard.

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



ARTICLE HISTORY

Received 23 November 2016 Accepted 18 February 2017 **KEYWORDS** 

Taylor & Francis

() Check for updates

Bacterial cellulose; glycerin; polyhexamethylene biguanide; silk sericin; wound dressing

#### 1. Introduction

Wound healing is a complicated process involving multiple factors that are crucial for the repair of the injured area [1]. The healing time depends on nutrition status, age, systemic diseases, and the wound environment, especially bacterial infection. Thus, one aim of promoting the healing process is to control the wound environment appropriately [2]. Accordingly, the basic strategy to control the wound environment is treatment with a wound dressing. An ideal wound dressing should be able to maintain a moist environment to the wound, which is necessary for pain reduction and tissue-forming promotion [3]. Moreover, it should activate collagen synthesis, allow oxygen permeation, and absorb exudate from wound. To reduce pain upon removal, the wound dressing should not be adherent to the wound surface. It may also possess an antibacterial effect to prevent infection of the wound. Last, it should be cost effective [4-6].

derived BC is biocompatible and minimally toxic [10]. Another advantage of BC is that it can be produced from several kinds of agricultural products that are cheap and can be scaled up to a commercial level easily. Due to its ultrafine network structure, BC has high water absorption capacity and oxygen permeation [11]. BC dressings are, therefore, reported to provide wound exudate absorption ability, a controlled moist environment, and a cooling effect for pain reduction in wound dressing application [12-14]. In previous studies, it was found that the BC dressing was not only effective for healing of burn and chronic ulcers [12,15] but also as a potential topical drug-delivery system [11]. Drug or active compounds could be loaded and released in a controlled manner from the BC dressing [16].

Silk sericin (SS) is a water-soluble protein extracted from the silk cocoon (Bombyx mori) [17]. SS is reported to activate proliferation of fibroblast cells and type I collagen synthesis without causing inflammation or toxicity [18-21]. It is widely used as an active compound in several applications, including cosmetic and medical products. Previously, we

Bacterial cellulose (BC) is a kind of cellulose that is synthesized by nonpathogenic bacteria, such as Acetobacter xylinum, in an appropriate static media [7-9]. The naturally

CONTACT Pornanong Aramwit a aramwit@gmail.com Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Phayathai Road, Phatumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand. Color versions of one or more of the figures in this article can be found online at www.tandfonline.com/gpom.

© 2017 Taylor & Francis

#### 2 🛞 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN ET AL.

found that SS cream and wound dressings that released SS decreased the wound healing time in rats [22] and in human split-thickness skin graft donor sites [23]. Therefore, SS is considered as a tissue-forming promoter for wound healing process.

In terms of antibacterial activity, polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) is an antiseptic agent that has potential against both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and with low toxicity toward human cells [24,25]. PHMB binds phospholipids of the bacterial membrane and disturbs the lipid bilayers, thus causing ion leakage and loss of function, which consequently results in cell death [26,27]. Furthermore, it shows low skin irritation [28,29] and has a higher efficacy than povidone iodine and chlorhexidine after long-term exposure [30]. It has been reported that PHMB can reduce bacterial infection in acute and chronic wounds, leading to an accelerated healing rate [31,32] without development of micro-organism resistance [33,34].

In addition to a tissue-forming promoter and antibacterial agent, a good humectant, such as glycerin, adds some advantageous properties to the dressing. Glycerin—a glycerol in water—is a clear, odorless, colorless, and viscous liquid, and it is highly soluble in water and alcohols [35]. It has been used as a water-absorption ingredient in cosmetics, food, and pharmaceutical products [36]. For wound dressings, glycerin has an advantage in terms of protecting against water loss protecting, changing plasticity [37], and increasing hydration [38,39] with minimal toxicity [40]. It also reduces the adhesive property of the wound dressing [41,42].

In this study, to obtain a wound dressing with improved properties, a BC dressing was combined with SS, PHMB, and glycerin. The advantageous effects of these components were expected to be found in this BC dressing. Furthermore, it was hypothesized that the glycerin incorporation would alter some important characteristics of the BC dressing. Herein, the amount of glycerin incorporated into the BC wound dressing was optimized. The physical and biological properties and safety of this dressing were investigated. Physical properties in terms of absorption of wound exudate, dehydration rate, and adhesive property of the wound dressing were assessed. Antibacterial activity of the wound dressing against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria was assessed. Last, the developed BC dressing incorporating SS, PHMB, and glycerin was subcutaneously implanted into Wistar rats to evaluate its safety and was compared to the clinically available products, Suprasorb X and Bactigras.

#### 2. Experimental

#### 2.1. Materials

Bacterial cellulose (BC) was produced from the *A. xylinum* strain (Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand) in coconut water medium following the method of Verschuren et al. [43] with a slight modification. Briefly, 50 g sucrose, 5 g ammonium phosphate  $[(NH_4)_3PO_4]$ , and 10 mL acetic acid (CH<sub>3</sub>COOH) were added into 1L of boiled coconut water.

The solution was adjusted with CH<sub>3</sub>COOH to pH 4.5. Then, 10 mL of A. xylinum was added to the adjusted solution and transferred to fermentation molds. The molds were maintained at 30°C under sterilized static conditions for 10-12 days to form bacterial cellulose. After that, the BC was washed with 2% w/v aqueous sodium hydroxide (NaOH) solution at 70°C until neutral pH is reached. Glycerin was of analytical grade and was from Aiax Finechem, Australia, Acetic acid, sodium hydroxide, ammonium phosphate, and other chemicals were of analytical grade and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (USA). Silk sericin solution was prepared from *B. mori* cocoons supplied by Chul Thai Silk Co., Ltd (Petchabun Province, Thailand) using a high-temperature and high-pressure degumming method [19]. PHMB was kindly provided by Lonza Group Ltd (Basel, Switzerland). Bactigras (0.5% chlorhexidine acetate in a white soft paraffin) was purchased from Smith & Nephew Co., Ltd (London, UK). Suprasorb X + PHMB (0.3% PHMB in bacterial cellulose wound dressing) was purchased from Lohmann & Rauscher GmbH & Co. KG (Neuwied, Germany).

## 2.2. Preparation of the BC dressing incorporating SS, PHMB, and glycerin

Bacterial cellulose  $(10 \times 10 \times 0.01 \text{ cm})$  was subsequently loaded with three agents as follows. First, 1% w/v SS was dropped on BC dressing (2 mL per side) and incubated at 4°C for 2 h. Second, 0.3% w/v PHMB was dropped on the dressing (5 mL per side) and incubated at 4°C for another 2 h. Last, glycerin at different concentrations (0, 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, and 60%) was absorbed on dressing. Between each step of loading, the dressing was left to dry before loading the next step to ensure the complete adsorption of previous agent. In other words, the dressing adsorbed the whole amount of loaded agents for all three steps. The SS/PHMB/glycerin bacterial cellulose dressings were obtained.

#### 2.3. Methods

2.3.1. Exudate absorption test using a wound bed model

To mimic the absorption of exudate from wounds, a blue agar plate test was used as a model [44]. The sample dressings  $(2 \times 2 \times 0.1 \text{ cm})$  were placed on a blue agar plate (0.6% w/v agar in 0.9% w/v saline solution with 0.1% v/v bromophenol blue dye) and incubated at 37°C for 7 days. The blue agar plate composed of two parts, which are agar, representing wound tissue, and blue solution, representing wound exudate. The color of the blue agar plates after the removal of dressings is evaluated using a chroma meter (Konica Minolta Model: CR-400, Japan) and is reported as the *b* value (a negative *b* value represents a change in the color to blue) at the seventh day (n = 3).

#### 2.3.2. Dehydration test

The sample dressings  $(2 \times 2 \times 0.1 \text{ cm})$  were immersed in 1 mL of reverse osmosis water. After complete absorption (maximum loading), the dressings were incubated at 37°C. At different periods, the dressings were weighed and their

Eq. (1):

percentage dehydration (%) =  $(W_0 - W_t)/W_0 \times 100$  (1)

where  $W_0$  and  $W_t$  represent the initial weight and the weight of the dressing at each time point, respectively (n = 3).

#### 2.3.3. Peel test

Porcine skin obtained within 2 h of sacrifice was used for the experiment. The wound was created on porcine skin at a depth of 1 cm (representative of a full-thickness skin wound), length of 20 cm, and width of 3 cm. The sample dressings  $(2.5 \times 15 \times 0.1 \text{ cm})$  and Bactigras (control) were randomly attached on the wound (n = 3). After 12 h of attachment, the adhesive force applied to peel the dressings off was evaluated using a universal testing machine (Instron, no. 5567) with 1 kN constant loading, tensile rate of 5 mm/min, and a fixed peeling angle of 135°. The adhesive force was calculated at the steady state of peeling force (n = 3) [23].

Furthermore, the number of cells attached to the dressings after being peeled off from the wound was analyzed by fluorometric quantification of cellular DNA [45]. Hoechst dye solution was used to stain the DNA of cells, and the fluorescent intensity was evaluated at 355 nm (excitation) and 460 nm (emission) using a fluorescent microplate reader (n = 3).

#### 2.3.4. Antibacterial test

The antibacterial effect of the dressings was tested using disk diffusion method (CLSI M2-A9). Six bacteria were chosen for the test: Bacillus subtilis (ATCC 6633), Staphylococcus aureus (ATCC 25923), and methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA) of Gram-positive bacteria, and Escherichia coli (ATCC 25922), Acinetobacter baumannii (ATCC 19606), and Pseudomonas aeruginosa (ATCC 27853) of Gram-negative bacteria. All bacterial strains were cultured on a Müller-Hinton (MH) agar plate at 37°C for 24 h to prepare bacterial solutions. Three to five colonies of each bacteria were selected and transferred to 5 mL of tryptone soy broth and incubated at 37°C for 4-6 h until the final concentration of bacteria was  $1.5 \times 10^8$  CFU/mL, as measured by a UV/VIS spectrometer (Lambda 25, PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) at 625 nm. The bacterial solution was swabbed on the MH agar plate. Then, the sample dressings and the Bactigras (control)  $(1 \times 1 \text{ cm})$  were placed onto the plate and incubated at 37°C. After 24 h, the inhibition zone was evaluated.

### 2.3.5. In vivo safety test

The in vivo safety test of samples was performed following the ISO 10993-6 standard: biological evaluation of medical devices (part 6: tests for local effects after implantation). The sample dressings, Suprasorb X + PHMB, and Bactigras  $(1 \times 1 \text{ cm})$  were subcutaneously implanted into 16 healthy female Wistar rats (8 weeks old, 200-300 g) those were received from National Laboratory Animal Center, Mahidol University. One rat received three samples randomly.

dehydration percentages were calculated using the following Suprasorb X + PHMB and Bactigras were used as control groups because they are clinically used dressing. The animal experiments were performed according to the Chulalongkorn University Animal Care and Use Committee (CUACUC 13/57) under standard sterile conditions. The test was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine. Chulalongkorn University. Briefly, subcutaneous tissue was incised (1.5  $\times$  1.5 cm), and the dressing sample was inserted into each pocket by block randomization (block size 3). Then, the wound was sutured and disinfected with povidone-iodine solution. The rats were kept in stainless steel cage (1 rat/cage) at strictly hygienic conventional room and were fed with standard diet. After 7, 14, 21, and 28 days of implantation, four rats were euthanatized using carbon dioxide inhalation. The samples and surrounding tissues were collected and fixed in 10% v/v formalin solution. Subsequently, the embedded samples were sectioned and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). For histological assessment, the inflammatory cell types, neovascularization, fibrosis, and fatty infiltrate were semiquantitatively scored following ISO 10993-6 standard and were assessed by pathologist (double-blind) at two different times. The score composed of four levels (0 = notobserved, 1 = rare, 2 = minimal, 3 = heavily infiltrated, and 4 = packed infiltrate), and the final score was calculated following Eq. (2):

final score = 
$$(2C_t + M_t) - (2C_c + M_c)$$
 (2)

where C is the total score of polymorphonuclear cells, lymphocytes, plasma cells, macrophages, giant cells, and necrosis of the sample, M is the total score of fibrosis, neovascularization, and fatty infiltrate of sample (t = test sample and  $c=\mbox{control}).$  The final score was classified as follows: 0.0–2.9 (non-irritant), 3.0-8.9 (slight irritant), 9.0-15 (moderate irritant), and >15 (severely irritant). The level of irritation was compared with the control [46].

#### 2.4. Statistical analysis

SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS Co., Ltd, Bangkok, Thailand) was used for statistical evaluation. One-way ANOVA was calculated with statistical significance at p < 0.05 for comparing test groups with the control, and a post hoc test evaluated the difference between groups at different times.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Absorption ability of the dressings

Figure 1a presents the images of the BC dressings after adsorption with the blue agar wound exudate model. A blue color could be seen on all SS/PHMB/BC dressings and BC dressings. The negative b values, which indicate the blue color on the blue agar gel after the removal of dressings, are reported in Figure 1b. Low negative b means blue agar was adsorbed a large amount of exudate. Each agar plate beneath the BC dressing and the SS/PHMB/BC dressings showed low negative *b* values compared to the blue agar gel, which indicates that all SS/PHMB/BC dressings and the BC dressing could adsorb wound exudate and had a similar absorption ability. Addition

#### 4 🕑 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN ET AL.





Figure 1. (a) Macroscopic images of the BC dressing and SS/PHMB/BC dressings with 0–60% glycerin after adsorbed with blue agar wound exudate. (b) b value of blue agar gel after the dressings was removed, determined by a chromameter (minus b value represents a change in the color to blue). \* and # significant difference when compared with the blue agar gel and BC dressing, respectively ( $\rho < 0.05$ ). Note: PHMB, polyhexamethylene biguanide.

of SS, PHMB, and glycerin into the BC dressing did not decrease its absorption ability.

#### 3.2. Dehydration ability of the dressings

The percentage weight losses of dehydrated dressings are shown in Figure 2. For all dressings, a high weight-loss percentage of the dressings was observed initially and then it became steady after that. The weight-loss percentages of the SS/PHMB/BC dressings with 10-60% glycerin were lower than that of the BC dressing. The weight loss of the dressings was inversely proportional to the percentage of glycerin incorporated, and the SS/PHMB/BC dressing composed of a highest amount of glycerin (60%) and had a lowest percentage weight loss during the assay.

#### 3.3. Adhesive property of the dressings

The adhesive properties of the dressings are presented in terms of adhesive force applied to peel off the dressings (Figure 3a) and the number of cells attached to the dressings after being



Figure 2. The percentage of weight loss of BC dressing and SS/PHMB/BC dressings with 0-60% glycerin after incubated at 37°C for different periods. Note: PHMB, polyhexamethylene biguanide.

peeled off (Figure 3b). The adhesive forces applied to peel off all BC dressings were significantly less than that of the Bactigras. The incorporation of glycerin slightly decreased



Figure 3. (a) Adhesive force applied to peel off the BC dressing, SS/PHMB/BC dressings with 0–60% glycerin, and Bactigras from wound on porcine skin. (b) Number of cells attached on the BC dressing, SS/PHMB/BC dressings with 0–60% glycerin, and Bactigras after peeled off from wound on porcine skin. \* Significant difference when compared with the Bactigras (p < 0.05), # significant difference when compared with the BC dressing (p < 0.05). Note: PHMB, polyhexamethylene biguaride.





Figure 4. Inhibition zone of the BC dressing, SS/PHMB/BC dressings without and with 60% glycerin, and Bactigras on *B. subtilis, S. aureus,* MRSA, *E. coli, A. baumannii,* and *P. aeruginosa* agar plate. \* Significant difference when compared with the Bactigras (*g. e. o.o.S)*. *Note:* PHMB, polyhexamethylene biguanide; MRSA, methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*.

the adhesion of the BC dressings. Furthermore, significantly fewer cells were found on the BC dressings compared to the Bactigras. A high amount of glycerin incorporated into the BC dressings (30-60%) resulted in a significantly lower number of cells being attached.

#### 3.4. Antibacterial activity of the dressings

Figure 4 shows the bacterial inhibition zones of the dressings after being incubated with Gram-negative and Gram-positive

bacteria for 24 h. The BC dressing without incorporation of SS, PHMB, and glycerin did not inhibit the growth of any strains of bacteria. On the other hand, the BC dressings with SS and PHMB incorporated strongly inhibited the growth of all bacteria. The bacterial inhibition zones of SS/PHMB/BC dressings without and with 60% glycerin were significantly larger than those of Bactigras for all bacterial strains. The presence of 60% glycerin did not affect the bacterial inhibition of the BC dressing.

#### 3.5. In vivo safety of the dressings

The standard safety test was performed according to ISO 10993-6 to evaluate the safety of the SS/PHMB/BC dressing with 60% glycerin in comparison with the clinically available Suprasorb X + PHMB and Bactigras. All rats implanted with dressings were healthy and had no signs of inflammation (pain, swelling, redness, heat). Figure 5 shows the images of H&E-stained sections of the implanted dressings. Excessive infiltration of inflammatory cells or other signs of infection were not observed with any dressing. The intensity of inflammatory cells, necrosis, fibrosis, neovascularization, and fatty infiltrate was graded as presented in Table 1. Overall, the intensity of all signs of infection in the SS/PHMB/BC dressing with 60% glycerin was comparable to that of Suprasorb X + PHMB and Bactigras. The implantation of the SS/PHMB/BC dressing with 60% glycerin did not irritate the surrounding tissue throughout the implantation period.



Figure 5. Microscopic images of H&E-stained sections indicating inflammatory cells of SS/PHMB/BC dressings with 60% glycerin, Suprasorb X + PHMB, and Bactigras at 7, 14, 21, and 28 days (scale bar = 30 µm). Note: PHMB, polyhexamethylene biguanide.

#### 6 🛞 S. NAPAVICHAYANUN ET AL.

Table 1. Average intensity of inflammatory cells, necrosis, fibrosis, neovascularization, and fatty in the SS/PHIMB/BC + 60% Gly dressing, Suprasorb, and Bactigras after subcutaneous implantation for 7, 14, 21, and 28 days.

	7		14		21			28				
Day	A	В	С	A	В	С	A	В	C	A	В	C
Polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN)	4ª	4	3	4	3	0	3	2.3	0	3.8	2.8	0
Lymphocytes	3	1	3	2	2	2.3	1.5	2	2	2	1.8	2
Plasma cells	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macrophages	1	2.5	3	3	1	2.5	1	2.3	1.5	2	1.5	2
Giant cells	0	0	3	0	0	4	0	0	4	0	0	4
Necrosis	0	0.5	2	0	0.5	0	0	0.5	0	0	0	0
Fibrosis	2	2	3	2	2	3.8	1.3	1	1.5	2	2	3
Neovascularization	3	2.5	4	2	2.3	2.3	1	2.5	1.5	2	2	3
Fatty infiltrate	2.5	2.8	2	1	0	4	0	1.8	2.5	0	0	3.5
Total [calculated formula (2)]	23.5	23.3	37	23	17.3	27.5	13.3	19.3	20.5	19.5	16	25.5
Score (test -control)	-13.5	-13.7		-4.5	-10.2		-7.2	-1.2		-6	-9.5	
Ranking of irritant	Non	Non		Non	Non		Non	Non		Non	Non	

A, SS/PHMB/BC + 60% Gly dressing; B, Suprasorb; C, Bactigras. <sup>4</sup>Intensity 0-4: 0 = not observed, 1 = rare, 2 = minimal, 3 = heavily infiltrate, and 4 = packed infiltrate. Final score = 0.0–2.9 (non-irritant), 3.0–8.9 (slight irritant), 9.0–15 (moderate irritant), and >15 (severely irritant).

#### 4. Discussion

In our previous work, an SS-releasing BC gel was developed to be applied as a bioactive mask for facial treatment [47]. The gel showed appropriate physical and biological properties, while silk sericin could be control-released from the gel to continuously promote the collagen production of skin cells [48]. In the present study, this SS-releasing BC gel was used as a wound dressing. It has been widely reported that the BC gel has high water absorption capacity, oxygen permeation, and wound exudate absorption ability and maintains a moist environment [12-14], which are all the essential properties of an ideal wound dressing.

However, the BC dressing still lacks the tissue-forming promotion and antibacterial activities. It was shown previously that SS could activate collagen production, epithelialization, and tissue formation in wounds [17,19,22]. Thus, SS was incorporated into the BC dressing for this purpose. The controlled release of SS from the BC gel and the continuously promoted proliferation of fibroblasts, collagen production, and epithelialization in wounds were demonstrated previously [23,47,49,50]. To introduce a direct antibacterial effect against various bacteria, PHMB was also incorporated into SSreleasing BC dressings. PHMB has been reported to show effective antibacterial activity against both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria [24,25]. Herein, it was shown that the SS/PHMB/BC dressing without or with 60% glycerin could inhibit the growth of B. subtilis, S. aureus, MRSA, E. coli, A. baumannii, and P. aeruginosa, comparable to the Bactigras, which is the commercial wound dressing composed of chlorhexidine as an antiseptic (Figure 4).

Additionally, glycerin incorporated in the BC dressing was supposed to reduce the adhesion of the wound dressing over wound surface due to its lubricant property, consequently resulted in less pain. We here showed that the incorporation of glycerin, particularly at 30-60%, produced a less-adhesive BC dressing, as confirmed by the lower adhesive force and the fewer number of cells attached (Figure 3). Stout and McKessor [42] reported that glycerin-based hydrogel was a nonadhesive dressing and did not cause surrounding wound damage.

Furthermore, glycerin incorporation reduced the dehydration rate of the BC dressing in a concentration-dependent manner (Figure 2). This can be explained by the humectant and hygroscopic nature of glycerin, which attracts and holds water molecules from the surrounding environment. It was reported that glycerin could swell the outer layer of the stratum corneum to keep the skin moist and to prolong the shelf life of the product [35,51]. We also proved that the incorporation of glycerin retained the wound exudate absorption ability (Figure 1) of the BC dressing. Therefore, our developed BC dressing would be appropriate for moderate to high exudate wounds.

Last, the safety of the SS/PHMB/BC dressings with 60% glycerin according to ISO 10993-6 standard is shown (Table 1 and Figure 5). No signs of inflammation or infection were observed on our developed BC dressing because all components at this appropriate concentration were reported to be safe for human skin [19,24,40,52].

#### 5. Conclusion

The physical properties and activities of BC were improved by incorporation with SS, PHMB, and glycerin. SS/PHMB/Gly bacterial cellulose dressing provided antibacterial activity. Glycerin incorporation reduced the adhesive property and dehydration rate of the BC dressing in a concentrationdependent manner. Furthermore, it was found that the resultant SS/PHMB/BC dressing with 60% glycerin could absorb a high amount of wound exudate and was safe to be used as a wound dressing or as a medical material, comparable to the clinically available dressing, Bactigras. The clinical efficacy and safety of this dressing will be further evaluated in future work.

#### Funding

The authors gratefully acknowledge financial support from the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program (Grant No. PHD/0200/2553) to Supamas Napavichayanun and Pornanong Aramwit.

#### References

[1] Gurtner, G. C.; Werner, S.; Barrandon, Y.; Longaker, M. T. Nature 2008 453 314-321.

- [2] Singer, A. J.; Clark, R. A. N. Engl. J. Med. 1999, 341, 738-746. [3] Helfman, T.; Ovington, L.; Falanga, V. Clin. Dermatol. 1994, 12, 121-127.
- [4] Jones, V.; Grey, J. E.; Harding, K. G. BMJ 2006, 332, 777-780.
- Rheinecker, S. B. J. Athl. Train. 1995, 30, 143-146. Watson, N. F. S.; Hodgkin, W. Surgery (Oxford) 2005, 23, 52-55.
- Krystynowicz, A.; Czaja, W.; Wiktorwska-Jezierska, A.; Goncalves-Miskiewicz, M.; Turkiewicz, M.; Bielecki, S. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2002, 29, 189–195. [7]
- [8] Dahman, Y.; Jayasuriya, K. E.; Kalis, M. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 2010, 162, 1647–1659. [9] Bielecki, S.; Krystynowicz, A.; Turkiewicz, M.; Kalinowska, H.
- Bacterial Cellulose; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Germany, 2005.
- [10] Czaja, W. K.; Young, D. J.; Kawecki, M.; Brown, R. M. Jr. Biomacromolecules 2007, 8, 1-12. [11] Czaja, W.; Krystynowicz, A.; Bielecki, S.; Brown, R. M. Jr. Biomater-
- ials 2006, 27, 145-151. [12] Muangman, P.; Opasanon, S.; Suwanchot, S.; Thangthed, O. J. Am.
- Col. Certif. Wound. Spec. 2011, 3, 16-19. [13] Fontana, J. D.; de Souza, A. M.; Fontana, C. K.; Torriani, I. L.;
- Moreschi, J. C.; Gallotti, B. J.; de Souza, S. J.; Narcisco, G. P.; Bichara, J. A.; Farah, L. F. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 1990, 24–25, 253-264. [14] Huang, Y.; Zhu, C.; Yang, J.; Nie, Y.; Chen, C.; Sun, D. Cellulose
- 2014, 21, 1-30. [15] Alvarez, O.; Patel, M.; Booker, I.; Markowitz, L. Wounds 2004, 16,
- 224-233. [16] Trovatti, E.; Silva, N. H.; Duarte, I. F.; Rosado, C. F.; Almeida, I. F.;
- Costa, P.; Freire, C. S.; Silvestre, A. J.; Neto, C. P. *Biomacromolecules* 2011, 12, 4162–4168. [17] Aramwit, P.; Kanokpanont, S.; De-Eknamkul, W.; Kamei, K.; Srichana, T. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 2009, 20, 1295-1306.
- [18] Aramwit, P.; Kanokpanont, S.; De-Eknamkul, W.; Srichana, T. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 2009, 107, 556-561.
- [19] Aramwit, P.; Kanokpanont, S.; Nakpheng, T.; Srichana, T. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2010, 11, 2200-2211.
- [20] Tsubouchi, K.; Igarashi, Y.; Takasu, Y.; Yamada, H. Biosci. Biotech-nol. Biochem. 2005, 69, 403–405.
- [21] Sasaki, M.; Kato, Y.; Yamada, H.; Terada, S. Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem. 2005, 42, 183-188.
- [22] Aramwit, P.; Sangcakul, A. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 2007, 71, 2473-2477. [23] Siritientong, T.; Angspatt, A.; Ratanavaraporn, J.; Aramwit, P.
- Pharm. Res. 2014, 31, 104-116.
- [24] Hubner, N. O.; Kramer, A. Skin. Pharmacol. Physiol. 2010, 23, 17–27.
   [25] Muller, G.; Kramer, A. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 2008, 61, 1281-1287.

- [26] Ikeda, T.; Ledwith, A.; Bamford, C. H.; Hann, R. A. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1984, 769, 57-66.
  [27] Gilbert, P.; Moore, L. E. J. Appl. Microbiol. 2005, 99, 703-715.
  [28] PHMB Product Stewardship Summary 2008 [updated 9 Jan 2013;
- cited 30 Jan 2016; accessed 20 November 2016]. Available at: http://www.archchemicals.com/Fed/Corporate/Docs/ACC/ARCH\_ CHEMICALS-PHMB.pdf.
- [29] De Paula, G. F.; Netto, G. I.; Mattoso, L. H. C. Polymers 2011, 3, 928-941.
- [30] Koburger, T.; Hubner, N. O.; Braun, M.; Siebert, J.; Kramer, A. I. Antimicrob. Chemother. 2010, 65, 1712-1719.
- Johnson, S.; Leak, K. Wounds UK 2011, 7, 20–25.
   Daeschlein, G.; Assadian, O.; Bruck, J. C.; Meinl, C.; Kramer, A.; Koch, S. Skin. Pharmacol. Physiol. 2007, 20, 292–296.
- [33] Eberlein, T.; Assadian, O. Skin. Pharmacol. Physiol. 2010, 23, 45-51.
- Kaehn, K. Skin. Pharmacol. Physiol. 2010, 23, 7-16. [35]
- Pagliaro, M.; Rossi, M. Chapter 1 Glycerol: Properties and Production; The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK, 2008. Fisher, A. A. Cutis 1980, 26, 243–244, 269. [36]
- Pedersen, L. K.; Jemec, G. B. J. Dermatol. Sci. 1999, 19, 48-52. Loden, M.; Wessman, W. Int. J. Cosmet. Sci. 2001, 23, 115-119.
- [38] Bettinger, J.; Gloor, M.; Vollert, A.; Kleesz, P.; Fluhr, J.; Gehring, W. [39]
- Skin. Res. Technol. 1999, 5, 21-27. [40] Loden, M.; Andersson, A. C.; Anderson, C.; Bergbrant, I. M.; Frodin, T.; Ohman, H.; Sandstrom, M. H.; Sarnhult, T.; Voog, E.; Stenberg, B.; Pawlik, E.; Preisler-Haggqvist, A.; Svensson, A.; Lindberg, M. Acta. Derm. Venereol. 2002, 82, 45-47.
- [41] Okan, G.; Rendon, M. I. I. Cosmet. Laser. Ther. 2011, 13, 162–165.
   [42] Stout, E. I.; McKessor, A. Adv. Wound Care 2012, 1, 48–51. [41]
- [43]
- Verschuren, P. G.; Cardona, T. D.; Nout, M. J.; De Gooijer, K. D.; Van den Heuvel, J. C. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 2000, 89, 414-419. [44] Hasatsri, S.; Yamdech, R.; Chanvorachote, P.; Aramwit, P. J. Biomater. Appl. 2015, 29, 1304–1313.
- [45] Takahashi, Y.; Yamamoto, M.; Tabata, Y. Biomaterials 2005, 26, 3587-3596.
- [46] Siritientong, T.; Ratanavaraporn, J.; Srichana, T.; Aramwit, P. Biomed. Res. Int. 2013, 2013, 904314.
- Biomed. Res. Int. 2013, 2013, 904314.
  [47] Aramwit, P.; Bang, N. BMC Biotechnol. 2014, 14, 104.
  [48] Napavichayanun, S.; Amornsudthiwat, P.; Pienpinijtham, P.; Aramwit, P. Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 2015, 55, 95–104.
  [49] Aramwit, P.; Siritienthong, T.; Srichana, T.; Ratanavaraporn, J. Cells
- Tissues Organs 2013, 197, 224–238. Siritienthong, T.; Ratanavaraporn, J.; Aramwit, P. Int. J. Pharm. [50]
- 2012, 439, 175-186. Batt, M. D.; Davis, W. B.; Fairhurst, E.; Gerrard, W. A.; Ridge, B. D. [51]
- I. Soc. Cosmet. Chem. 1988, 39, 367-381. Torres, F. G.; Commeaux, S.; Troncoso, O. P. J. Funct. Biomater. [52] 2012, 3, 864-878.

Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 631 (2017) 58-65 Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

SEVIEF

# Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yabbi

## Identification and quantification and antioxidant activity of flavonoids in different strains of silk cocoon, Bombyx mori



Supamas Napavichayanun <sup>a, b</sup>, Oliver Lutz <sup>c</sup>, Martin Fischnaller <sup>c</sup>, Thomas Jakschitz <sup>c</sup>, Günther Bonn <sup>c</sup>, Pornanong Aramwit <sup>a, t</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Bioactive Resources for Innovative Clinical Applications Research Unit, Chulalongkorn University, Phatumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand <sup>b</sup> Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, PhayaThai Road, Phatumwan, Bangkok 1 <sup>c</sup> Austrian Drug Screening Institute (ADSI), University of Innsbruck, Innrain 66a, Innsbruck, 6020, Austria wan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history Article history: Received 31 May 2017 Received in revised form 7 August 2017 Accepted 9 August 2017 Available online 12 August 2017

Keywords: Silk cocoon Flavonoid Quercetin Kaempferol Antioxidant activity

#### ABSTRACT

Silk cocoon is produced from silkworm (Bombyx mori) to protect itself from outer environment. Various strains of cocoon contain different forms and amounts of flavonoids, which may affect on their antioxdant activity. Moreover, the extraction method would influence the amount of flavonoids extracted. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to identify and quantify the flavonoids in 3 strains of bivoltine *Bombyx mori* silk cocoon (Chul 1/1; white cocoon, Chul 3/2; greenish cocoon, and Chul 4/2; yellow cocoon) extracted by 6 different solvents including acetone, ethyl acetate, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), ethanol, methanol, and purified water. The flavonoids extracted were identified and quantified by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS). The antioxidant activity of flavonoids extracted was also investigated by visible spectroscopy at 517 nm. The results showed that Chul 3/2 silk cocoon contained the highest amount of flavonoids. Purified water seemed to be the best solvent that preserved most antioxidant activity of the flavonoids extracted. Flavonoids in Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon were rarely found, however they contained some antioxidant activities. The data from this study can provide basic information for flavonoid extraction from silk cocoon which can also apply for other flavonoid-containing natural biomaterials.

© 2017 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Silk cocoon is produced from silkworm (Bombyx mori) to protect itself from outer environment. It composes of many advantageous substances including proteins and pigments. The proteins, sericin and fibroin, are widely studied for medical applications due to their good physiochemical properties and biological activities such as anti-oxidation, anti-inflammatory, biocompatibility, acceleration of cell proliferation, and activation of collagen synthesis [1]. On the other hand, pigments in silk cocoon also have antioxidant activity. The compounds in these pigments depend on food of larvae (mulberry leaves) and silk worm strain [2,3]. The phenolic compound including flavonoids from mulberry are transferred and modified within silkworm by glucosyltransferase to accumulate in

\* Corresponding author. Department of Pharmacy Practice, Faculty of Pharma ceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, PhayaThai Road, Phatumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand. E-mail address: aramwit@gmail.com (P. Aramwit).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2017.08.010 0003-9861/@ 2017 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

silk cocoon, [4-6]. Flavonoids in silk cocoon were found in various forms such as quercetin or kaempferol derivative [3]. It was demonstrated that different strains of cocoon contains different forms and amounts of flavonoids, which may affect their antioxi-dant activities. Moreover, the extraction method would influence the amount of flavonoids extracted. Prommuak et al. reported that the highest amount of flavonoids were found in ethanol extraction at 70 °C for 12 h but the yield decreased at higher temperature [7] Nonetheless, Yamzaki et al. found that 80% methanol could extract the high amount of flavonoids from yellow-green silk cocoon [8]. However, the comparative study on the extraction methods for identification and quantification of flavonoids in different strains of silk cocoon has not been well document. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to identify and quantify the flavonoids extracted from 3 strains of silk cocoon using various extraction solvents including acetone, ethyl acetate, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), activity of the flavonoids extracted was also investigated.

## 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Materials

Silk cocoon from Bombyx mori silkworm of 3 different strains (Chul 1/1; white cocoon, Chul 3/2; greenish cocoon, and Chul 4/2; yellow cocoon) were supplied from Chul Thai Silk Co., Ltd. (Petchaboon, Thailand). Quercetin and kaempferol standards were purchased from Extrasynthèse (Genay, France). Acetone, ethyl acetate, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), ethanol, methanol, sulfuric acid, hydrochloric acid, DPPH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl), trolox (6hydroxy-2.5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid), rutin standard, and other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Handels GmbH (Vienna, Austria).

#### 2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Identification of flavonoids in silk cocoons Silk cocoons were cut to small pieces. Three hundred milligrams of silk cocoon were added into 3 mL of 6 different solvents including acetone (99.8%), ethyl acetate (99.5%), dimethyl sulfoxide (99.8%), ethanol (99.9%), methanol (99.9%), and purified water. Then, the mixture was shaken and incubated at 25 °C and 50 °C, 1400 rpm for 1 h. Each type of silk cocoon was repeatedly extracted in each solvent for 4 times. Then, all extracts were collected and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 min. The components in the ex-tracts were identified by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS).

2.2.2. Optimization of flavonoid glycoside hydrolysis Rutin (quercetin-3-O-rutinoside) was used as a flavonoid glycoside in this study. Rutin (0.1% in ethanol) was hydrolyzed with 2 different acids, sulfuric acid and hydrochloric acid, at 0.125, 0.25, 0.5, 1, and 2 M of final concentration. After that, the mixture was shaken and diluted in the mixture of purified water:ethanol (1:10). Finally, the mixture was incubated at 75 °C, 1400 rpm for 1 h, centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 min, and analyzed by liquid chromatography-ultraviolet detection LC-UV. The degradation of rutin and the amount of quercetin were calculated by peak area.

#### 2.2.3. Quantification of flavonoids in silk cocoons

Silk cocoons were cut to small pieces. Three hundred milligrams of silk cocoon were added into 3 ml of 3 different solvents which were ethanol (99.9%), methanol (99.9%), and purified water. Then, the mixture was incubated at 50 °C, 1400 rpm for 1 h. Each type of silk cocoon was repeatedly extracted in each solvent for 4 times. Then, all extracts were collected. Then, the extracts were altogether. After that, sulfuric acid was added into the extract to be 2 M of sulfuric acid in final concentration. The mixture was shaken and diluted in the mixture of purified water: solvents (1:10). Finally, the mixture was incubated at 75 °C, 1400 rpm for 1 h. The extract was also centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 min and analyzed by LC-MS. The amount of flavonoids in the extract was calculated by Progenesis QI software version 1.0 (Nonlinear Dynamics, Newcastle, UK). The MS measurements were carried out on a Bruker maxis

impact q-TOF (quadrupole-time-of-flight) instrument (Bruker Daltonics GmbH, Bremen, Germany). The preceding chromatographic separation was carried out on a Thermo Scientific/Dionex Ultimate 3000 high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) on a 2.1  $\times$  100.0 mm Agilent RRHD Zorbax C<sub>18</sub> column (particle size 1.8 µm). Parameters of LC-MS for identifications and quantifications were shown in Table 1.

General parameters	
LC - General parameters:	
Solvent A: Water (Mill	iQ) + 0.01% formic acid
Solvent B: Acetonitrile	(LC-MS grade; Fisher Scientific, Germany)
Gradient: 5%B to 100%	B in 12 min
Column Temperature:	40 °C
Injection volume: 5 µL	
Flow: 0.6 ml/min	
MS - General parameters	
Scan Region: 50-800 r	m/z
Source Voltage: 4500 V	/ with 500 V End-Plate Offset
Nebulizer gas was Nitr	ogen with a pressure of 3,0 bar
Dry gas flow (nitrogen	) was set to 12 ml/min at a temperature of 200 °C
Parameters during iden	tification and quantification
MS - Parameters during	MS/MS (identification):
Three precursors have	been analyzed per second alongside a full-scan,
resulting in a cycle rat	te of 1.0 s.
MS - Parameters during	full-scan (quantification):
Funnel radiofrequencie	es: 300 Vpp
Hexapole Radiofrequer	ncy: 50 Vpp
Quadrupol acceleration	n voltage: 5 eV
Low Mass Filter: 50 m/	z
Pre-Pulse Storage: 6,0	μs
Transfer time: 50,0 µs	
Collission Energy: 10,0	eV
<b>Collission Radiofrequen</b>	ncy: 500 V <sub>pp</sub>
Scan Rate: 4 Hz	

2.2.4. Evaluation of antioxidant activity of the flavonoids extracted

Silk cocoons were cut to small pieces. Three hundred milligrams of silk cocoon were added into 3 mL of 3 different solvents which were ethanol (99.9%), methanol (99.9%), and purified water. Then, the mixture was incubated at 50 °C, 1400 rpm for 1 h. Each type of silk cocoon was repeatedly extracted in each solvent for 4 times. Then, all extracts were collected. DPPH (0.3 mM) in ethanol was added into the extract. After that, the mixture was incubated in the dark room for 30 min. The absorbance of the mixture was measured using Biospectrometer (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) at 517 nm. Trolox was used as antioxidant standard agent (Trolox calibration range k = -0.004, d = 0.4224,  $r^2 = 0.9918$ ).

#### 3. Results

Three strains of silk cocoon (Chul 1/1; white cocoon, Chul 3/2; greenish cocoon, and Chul 4/2; yellow cocoon) were shown in Fig. 1.

#### 3.1. Identification of flavonoids in silk cocoons

Quercetin and kaempferol data of the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extracted by methanol were shown in Table 2. LC-MS spectrum of the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocon extracted by methanol at 50 °C was shown in Fig. 2. Quercetin (peak 11) was detected around 5.2 min with 303.0503 m/z. This actual quercetin peak was confirmed by MSMS data at 153, 229, 137, 165, 257 m/z. Peak 2, 5, and 6 had protonated molecular and aglycone ions at 465 and 303 m/z, suggesting that it was a quercetin glycoside. Moreover, the results from MSMS showed that quercetin derivatives in the silk cocoon were only found in monosaccharide form at retention time 3.3, 3.9, and 4.1 min. These retention times were shorter than quercetin aglycone, implying that the compound might have a sugar at some position. Kaempferol (peak 12) was detected around 5.8 min with 287.0548 m/z. MSMS data at 153, 165, 121, 213, 258 m/z were used to confirm that it was the actual kaempferol peak. Kaempferol derivatives were also found in monosaccharide form at retention times 2.9, 3.4, 3.6, 4.3, 4.4, 4.5



Fig. 1. Silk cocoon strain (A) Chul 1/1; white cocoon (B) Chul 3/2; greenish cocoon (C) Chul 4/2; yellow cocoon.

#### Table 2

Lance 2 (LC-MS data, protonated molecules (m/z) for peaks, the retention times (Rt), and MSMS fragments of the quercetin and kaempferol in the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extracted by methanol at 50 °C.



and 4.6 min with 449 and 287 m/z (peak 1, 3,4,7-10). These retention times were shorter than kaempferol aglycone, implying that the compound might have a sugar at some position

that the compound might have a sugar at some position. The quercetin and kaempferol were not found in all types of cocoon extracted by acetone and ethyl acetate at 25 °C and 50 °C. For DMSO and methanol extraction at 25 °C and 50 °C, quercetin, quercetin derivative, kaempferol, and kaempferol derivative were identified in Chul 3/2 silk cocoon. In contrast, the quercetin and kaempferol peaks were not found in the extract of Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon. For ethanol extraction, quercetin derivative, kaempferol, and kampferol derivative were identified only in the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extracted at 50 °C. However, in purified water extraction, quercetin and kaempferol derivatives were identified in Chul 3/2 silk cocoon both at 25 °C and 50 °C (Fig. 3).

#### 3.2. The optimal condition of flavonoid glycoside hydrolysis

The optimal condition of flavonoid glycosides hydrolysis was reported in this study. Rutin (quercetin-3-O-rutinoside) as a quercetin glycoside was hydrolyzed to measure amount of pure quercetin. Sulfuric acid and hydrochloric acid were used as hydrolyzing agent. The concentrations of rutin after hydrolysis with sulfuric acid and hydrochloric acid continuously decreased following the accumulation of acid while the concentrations of quercetin continuously increased (Fig. 4). Comparing between 2 different acids hydrolysis, the concentration of quercetin after hydrolysis with sulfuric acid was higher than that of hydrochloric acid. The highest quercetin concentration was found when hydrolyzed with 2 M of acids at final concentration. Therefore, the optimal acid for flavonoid glycoside hydrolysis was 2 M of sulfuric acid at final concentration.

#### 3.3. Amounts of flavonoids in silk cocoons

The amounts of quercetin and kaempferol were highest in the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extracted by purified water comparing with Chul 1/1 and 4/2 (Table 3). Moreover, methanol and ethanol were found to extract the higher amounts of quercetin and kaempferol from Chul 3/2 silk cocoon than Chul 1/1 and 4/2. Nonetheless, there was no quercetin and kaempferol detected in any extract of Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon extracted by any solvents. Comparing among different solvents for Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extraction, purified water could extract the higher amount



Fig. 2. LC-MS spectrum of the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extracted by methanol at 50 °C (1, 3, 4, 7–10: kaempferol derivative; 2, 5, 6: quercetin derivative; 11: quercetin; 12: kaempferol) (Isolation mass at 303.0505; 325.0324; 465.0505; 487.0524; 287.0555; 309.0375; 449.0553; 471.0372 ± 0.01) and MSMS spectrum of quercetin and kaempferol derivatives of the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extracted by methanol at 50 °C.

of quercetin and kaempferol than the methanol and ethanol. Methanol seemed to be better than ethanol for extraction (see Table 4).

#### 3.4. Antioxidant activity of silk cocoons

The antioxidant activity of the flavonoids extracted from different strains of silk cocoon was shown in Fig. 5. The extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon extracted by purified water showed the highest antioxidant activity (101 µmole of trolox equivalence/1 g of dried cocoon). Comparing among different solvents in each strain of silk cocoon, the purified water extract showed the highest antioxidant activities, followed by methanol and ethanol extracts, respectively. Comparing among different strains of cocoon in each solvent, antioxidant activities of the extract of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon. Antioxidant activities in purified water of Chul 1/1 silk cocoon were also higher than those of Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon. Antioxidant activities in ethanol solvents of Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon were not difference (see Fig. 6).

#### 4. Discussion

Silk cocoon in each strain has different colors. The color of silk cocoon is a result of the pigment components. The major components of these pigments are flavonoid and carotenoid. Flavonoids in silk cocoon have function to protect the worm inside from outer environment including microorganism protection and UV shielding [3,9]. It was reported that different food of larvae (mulberry leaves) and silk worm strain may affect on the amount and activity of flavonoids [2,3]. In this study, flavonoids in 3 strains of silk cocoon

extracted by 6 solvents were identified. The results demonstrated that quercetin, quercetin derivative, kaempferol, and kaempferol derivative were identified in Chul 3/2 silk cocoon (greenish cocoon). Because of some flavonoid was closely mass spectrum such as luteolin (287.0555 m/z) and kaempferol (287.0556 m/z). However the MSMS of luteolin were shown at 269, 241, 153, 137, 135 m/z while the MSMS of kaempferol were shown at 269, 241, 213, 259, 231,165, 153, 121, 133 m/z [10]. Moreover, luteolin and kaempferol have totally different retention times. On C18 column with the gradient that was used in this study, the retention time of luteolin was shorter than kaemoferol around 0.5–0.6 min. Therefore, the MSMS fragments in this study could confirm that the flavonoids inside the silk cocoon were quercetin and kaempferol (Table 2). Additionally, the quercetin and kaempferol derivatives were also confirmed by MSMS fragments that they were composed of monosaccharide (Fig. 2). These results agreed with the results of Kurioka et al. They found that yellow green cocoon (Sasamayu) contained 3 quercetin glycosides and 2 kaempferol glycosides [3]. Lin et al. reported that quercetin and kaempferol (M+H)+ were identified at 303 and 287 m/z respectively [11]. Quercetin glycoside also contained 465 and 303 m/z. Kaempferol glycoside was found at 449 and 287 m/z [11,12]. Quercetin and kaempferol were also identified in greenish cocoon (Daizo) of methanol extraction [13]. However, flavonoids in Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon in this study could not identify, the flavonoid inside that types of silk cocoon may be too low for identification. The previous study also reported that the color of greenish cocoon is mostly from flavonoid glycosides while the color of yellow is mostly from carotenoids [14,15] but white cocoon did not contain pigments. For solvent extraction, obvious peak of flavonoids was found in DMSO, ethanol, methanol, and purified water extract but they could not identify in





Fig. 3. LC-MS spectrum of the extracts of Chul 1/1, Chul 3/2, and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon extracted by purified water at 50 °C (Isolation mass at 303.0505; 325.0324; 465.0505; 487.0524; 287.0555; 309.0375; 449.0553; 471.0372 ± 0.01).



Fig. 4. Rutin and quercetin concentration (%) after hydrolysis with 0.125, 0.25, 0.5, 1, and 2 M of sulfuric acid and hydrochloric acid (black line = rutin concentration; grey line = quercetin concentration; solid line = sulfuric acid hydrolysis; dash line = hydrochloric hydrolysis).

acetone and ethyl acetate extract owing to polar structure of flavonoids [5]. Temperature also had an effect on flavonoid extraction. In ethanol extraction, higher temperature (50°C) showed the peak of quercetin and kaempferol but there were no obvious peaks of flavonoids in 25°C. These results conformed with Zhao et al. They

62

found that higher temperature extract was effective than lower temperature [13]. For the quantification flavonoids of silk cocoon, 2 M of sulfuric

For the quantification flavonoids of silk cocoon, 2 M of surfuric acid was the optimizing hydrolysis agent that could hydrolyze flavonoid glycoside to aglycone (Fig. 4). This result conformed with

 Table 3
 I.C-MS data, identified flavonoids in the extract of Chul 1/1, 3/2, and 4/2 silk cocoon extracted by 6 solvents at 25 °C, 50 °C.

Joivent	Sink cocourtypes								
	Chul 1/1		Chul 3/2	Chul4/2					
	25 °C	50 °C	25 °C	50 °C	25 °C	50 °C			
Acetone	NF	NF	NF	NF	NF	NF			
Ethyl acetate	NF	NF	NF	NF	NF	NF			
DMSO	NF	NF	Quercetin	Quercetin	NF	NF			
			Quercetin derivative	Quercetin derivative					
			Kaempferol	Kaempferol					
			Kaempferol derivative	Kaempferol derivative					
Methanol	NF	NF	Quercetin	Quercetin	NF	NF			
			Quercetin derivative	Quercetin derivative					
			Kaempferol	Kaempferol					
			Kaempferol derivative	Kaempferol derivative					
Ethanol	NF	NF	NF	Quercetin	NF	NF			
				Quercetin derivative					
				Kaempferol					
				Kaempferol derivative					
Water	NF	NF	Quercetin derivative	Quercetin derivative	NF	NF			
			Kaempferol derivative	Kaempferol derivative					

\*NF; not found.

Table 4 Quercetin and kaempferol concentration ( $\mu$ g/1 g of dried silk cocoon) in the extract of silk cocoons (Chul 3/2 silk cocoon) extracted by ethanol, methanol, and purified water.

Type of silk cocoon	Solvent	Quercetin (µg/g)	Kaempferol (µg/g)
Chul 3/2	Ethanol	$0.3811 \pm 0.0080$	0.0346 ± 0.0025
	Methanol	$20.2055 \pm 0.2268$	$2.5491 \pm 0.00313$
	Purified water	$23.6336 \pm 0.2529$	$5.2077 \pm 0.1124$

previous study that 2 M of sulfuric acid could hydrolyze quercetin glycoside to quercetin [16]. The amount of flavonoids, Chul 3/2 silk cocoon showed highest amounts of flavonoids and purified water was the best solvent for silk cocoon extraction (Table 3). Methanol was the best solvent for silk cocoon extraction (Table 5). Methanol was the other choice for silk cocoon extraction but the amounts of flavonoids may be rarely found in ethanol extraction. These results agreed with Wang et al. They found that greenish cocoon (Daizo) contained the highest amount of flavonoids. The white cocoon contained the lowest amount of flavonoids [17]. Butkhup et al.



Fig. 5. Sericin concentration (µg/ml) of the extract of silk cocoons (Chul 1/1, Chul 3/2, Chul 4/2 silk cocoon type) extracted by ethanol, methanol, and purified water.



Fig. 6. Antioxidant activity (trolox equivalence (µmole/1 g of dried cocoon)) of the extract of silk cocoons (Chul 1/1, Chul 3/2, Chul 4/2 silk cocoon type) extracted by ethanol, methanol, and purified water.

reported that total amounts of flavonoids of silk cocoon in water extract were significantly higher than that in ethanol extract because of many polar hydroxyl groups within compounds [5]. Prommuak et al. also revealed that the amounts of flavonoids of cocoon (Nangnoi) in water extract were higher than ethanol extract [7]. Moreover, these results also agreed with Wach et al. They confirmed that amounts of quercetin in water extraction was higher than methanol and ethanol extraction, respectively [18]. Zhao et al. also presented that the amounts of flavonoids in methanol with hydrochloric acid and water extract [13]. The antioxidant activity in Chul 3/2 silk cocoon was higher than

The antioxidant activity in Chul 3/2 silk coccon was higher than other types (Fig. 5) in this study. It may be result of higher flavonoids that contained in Chul 3/2 silk coccon. This results conformed with Aramwit et al. Chul 3/2 silk coccon. This results conformed with Aramwit et al. Chul 3/2 silk coccon. This results conformed with a can catalyze the ortho-hydroxylation of monophenols to catechols and their subsequent oxidation to *ortho*-qunones) among other types (Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk coccon) [19]. The antioxidant activity of coccon (Nangnoi) with pigment was higher than coccon extract without pigment [7,17]. Moreover, the antioxidant activities of silk coccon in water extract in this study were higher than methanol and ethanol extract, respectively. Butkhup et al. reported that antioxidant activity of both yellow and white silk coccon in water extract was higher than that in ethanol extract. Moreover, they found that phenolic compounds that included other substances had an effect on increased antioxidant activity [5]. From Table 3, there were almost no flavonoids in silk cocoon type Chul 1/ 1 and Chul 4/2 extraction but there was antioxidant activity (Fig. 5). For antioxidant activity test, all substances including flavonoids and other substances such as sericin or phenolic compound that had an antioxidant activity were extracted. Therefore, other substances may have an effect on these results. Aramwit et al. found that water extraction with heat could extract high amount of sericin from silk cocoon [20]. The sericin also contained potent antioxidant activity [21–23].

#### 5. Conclusion

Three types of silk cocoon were extracted in 6 solvents. The highest amount of quercetin and kaempferol was found in Chul 3/2 silk cocoon. Purified water was the solvent that could extract the highest amount of quercetin and kaempferol. Moreover, antioxidant activity of Chul 3/2 silk cocoon in purified water was also higher than methanol and ethanol. No quercetin and kaempferol were identified in acetone and ethyl acetate extraction. Quercetin and kaempferol in Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon in all solvents were too low for this identification. However, Chul 1/1 and Chul 4/2 silk cocoon had still contained antioxidant activity.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

None.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support from the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program (Grant No. PHD/0200/2553) to Supamas Napavichayanun and Pornanong Aramwit.

### References

- References
  [1] G.C. Gurtner, S. Werner, Y. Barrandon, M.T. Longaker, Wound repair and regeneration, Nature 453 (7193) (2008) 314–321.
  [2] V. Tamura, K.-i. Nakajima, K.-i. Nagayasu, C. Takabayashi, Flavonoid 5-glucosides from the cocon shell of the silkworm. Bombyx mori, Phytochemistry 59 (3) (2002) 275–278.
  [3] A. Kurioka, M. Yamazaki, Purification and identification of flavonoids from the yellow green cocons hell (Sasamayu) of the silkworm. Bombyx mori, Biotchino 1998, 1999.
  [4] C. Hirayama, H. Ono, Y. Tamura, K. Konno, M. Nakamura, Regioselective formation of quercetin 5-oglucoside from orally administered quercetin in the silkworm, Bombyx mori, Phytochemistry 69 (5) (2008) 1141–1149.
  [5] L. ButKhug, M. Jeenphakede, S. Jorigong, S. Samappito, J. Butimal, Phenolic composition and antioxidant activity of Thai and Eri silk sericins, Food. Sci. Biotechnol. 21 (2) (2012) 3289–398.
  [6] C. Hirayama, H. Ono, Y. Meng, T. Shimada, T. Daimon, Flavonoids from the cocon of Rondotia mencian, Phytochemistry 64 (2013) 108–112.
  [7] C. Prommuak, W. De-Eknamkul, A. Shotipruk, Extraction of flavonoids and carotenoids from Thai silk waste and antioxidant activity of extracts. Sep. Purif Technol. 63 (2) (2008) 444–448.
  [8] M. Yamazaki, A. Kurioka, Study on the distribution of flavonoids in the yellow green Indoin cocoon, J. Silk Sci. Lech. Jpn. 18 (2010) 27–31.
  [9] T. Daimon, C. Hirayama, M. Kamai, Y. Ruike, Y. Meng, E. Kosegawa, M. Nakamura, G. Tsuyimoto, S. Katawa, T. Kaiaka, The alkoworm Green of cocoons with IV-shielding properties. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 107 (25) (2007) 593–606.
  [10] D. Tsimogiannis, M. Samiotaki, G. Panayotou, V. Oreopoulou, Characterization of flavonoid subgroups and hydroxy substitution by HPLC-MS/MS, Molecules 12 (3) (2007) 593–606.
  [11] Li-Zitin of new phenolic components of Ginkgo bioba leaves and selected products, J. Agric. Food. Chem. 36 (15) (2008) 6671–6679.

- LM. Abu-Reidah, M.S. Ali-Shtayeh, R.M. Jamous, D. Arráez-Román, A. Segura-Carretero, HPLC-DAD-ESI-MS/MS screening of bioactive components from Rhus coriaria L (Sumac) fruits, Food. Chem. 166 (2015) 179-191.
   J.-G. Zhao, Y.-Q. Zhang, A new estimation of the total lavonoids in silkworm cocoon sericin layer through aglycone determination by hydrolysis-assisted extraction and HPLC-DAD analysis, Food. Nutr. Res. 60 (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/finve03.0932.
   W. Bergmann, The natural pigments of silk, Text. Res. J. 9 (11) (1939) 397-408.

- dxdoiorg/10.3402/fmxv60.30932.
  W. Bergmann. The natural pigments of silk, Text. Res. J. 9 (11) (1939) 397-408.
  M. Ma, M. Hussain, S. Dong, W. Zhou, Characterization of the pigment in naturally yellow-colored domestic silk, Dyes. Pigments 124 (2016) 6-11.
  H.W. Siegelman, Quercetin glycosides of Grimes Golden apple skin, J. Biol. Chem. 213 (2) (1955) 647-654.
  H.Y. Wang, Y.J. Wang, L.X. Zhou, L. Zhu, Y.Q. Zhang, Isolation and bioactivities of a non-sericin component from coccon shell silk sericin of the silkworm Bombyx mori, Food. Funct. 3 (2) (2012) 150-158.
  A. Wach, K. Pyrzyńska, M. Biesaga, Quercetin content in some food and herbal samples. Food. Chem. 100 (2) (2007) 699-704.
  P. Aramwit, S. Damrongsakkul, S. Kanokpanont, T. Srichana, Properties and antityrosinas activity of sericin from various extraction methods, Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem. 55 (2) (2010) 91-98.
  P. Aramwit, S. Kanokpanont, T. Nakpheng, T. Srichana, The effect of sericin from various extraction methods on cell viability and collagen production, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 11 (5) (2010) 2200-2211.
  N. Kato, S. Sato, A. Yamanaka, H. Yamada, N. Fuwa, M. Nomura, Silk protein, sericin, inhibits lipid peroxidation and tyrosinase activity, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 62 (1) (1998) 145-147.
  T. Takechi, R. Wada, T. Fukuda, K. Harada, H. Takamura, Antioxidant activities of two sericin proteins extracted from coccon of silkovm (Bombyx mori) measured by DPPH, chemiluminescence, ORAC and ESR methods, Biomed. Rep. 2 (3) (2014) 364-369.
  R. L. Kunz, R.M.C. Brancalhao, Ld.F.C. Ribeiro, M.R.M.N. Natali, Silkworm sericin: properties and biomedical applications, Biomed. Res. Int. 2016 (2016) 19.

VITA

Miss Supamas Napavichayanun was born in 1987. In 2011, I graduated Bachelor's degree from faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University with Magna Cum Laude (GPAX 3.34). I used to be pharmacist trainee at Osothsala, Chulalongkorn University in 2008-2009, hospital pharmacist trainee at Bangkok Primary Health Care Unit in 2009, hospital pharmacist trainee at Bangkok Phuket Hospital and Chulalongkorn Hospital in 2010. In the last year of pharmacist student, I had the thesis about Antimicrobials used in pediatric patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia at Queen Sirikit National Institute of child health. In 2011, I was a hospital pharmacist, Bumrungrad International Hospital. Now, I am a Ph.D student in faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University. For my publications, there is one publication in Thai Pediatric Journal after I graduated Bachelor's degree. Now, there were other five publications which are "Interaction and effectiveness of antimicrobials along with healingpromoting agents in a novel biocellulose wound dressing, Materials Science and Engineering: C (2015), The safety and efficacy of bacterial nanocellulose wound dressing incorporating sericin and polyhexamethylene biguanide: in vitro, in vivo and clinical studies, Archives of Dermatological Research (2016), Effect of animal products and extracts on wound healing promotion in topical applications: a review, Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition. (2017), Identification and quantification and antioxidant activity of flavonoids in different strains of silk cocoon, Bombyx mori, Archives of biochemistry and biophysics (2017), and Development of bacterial cellulose incorporating silk sericin, polyhexamethylene biguanide, and glycerin with enhanced physical properties and antibacterial activities for wound dressing application, International Journal of Polymeric Materials and Polymeric Biomaterials (2017)". I also have experiences about oral and poster presentation in international conferences (Netherland and Belgium).